
1

Contact Officer:
Nicola Gittins 01352 702345
nicola.gittins@flintshire.gov.uk

To: Cllr Aaron Shotton (Leader)

Councillors: Bernie Attridge, Chris Bithell, Helen Brown, Derek Butler, 
Christine Jones, Kevin Jones and Billy Mullin

13 January 2016

Dear Councillor

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet which will be held at 9.30 am on 
Tuesday, 19th January, 2016 in the Clwyd Committee Room, County Hall, Mold CH7 
6NA to consider the following items

A G E N D A

1 APOLOGIES 
Purpose: To receive any apologies.

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Purpose: To receive any Declarations and advise Members accordingly.

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 14)
Purpose: To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting.

TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING REPORTS

STRATEGIC REPORTS

4 PROVISIONAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT SETTLEMENT (Pages 15 - 30)

Report of Chief Executive - Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Purpose: To invite the Cabinet to make a response to the Welsh 
Government Consultation. 



2

5 COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (Pages 31 - 158)

Report of Chief Executive - Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Purpose: 1 To adopt the first stage – first phase of budget 
proposals for the Council Fund Revenue Budget 
2016/17 for recommendation to Council

2 To adopt the first stage – second phase proposals for 
the Council Fund Revenue Budget 2016/17 for referral 
to the respective Overview and Scrutiny Committees, 
and secondly to Cabinet and then final consideration by 
Cabinet in February

3 To endorse the strategy for the ongoing work to seek to 
close the remaining budget ‘gap’ and recommend a 
balanced annual budget to Cabinet in February

6 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME (Pages 159 - 162)

Report of Chief Officer (Community and Enterprise) - Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Management

Purpose: The requirement to adopt the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
for 2016/2017 by 31st January 2016. 

7 REVIEW OF DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF (Pages 163 - 168)

Report of Chief Officer (Community and Enterprise) - Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Management

Purpose: To seek approval on the need to carry out a Discretionary Rate 
Relief review. 

8 WELSH LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (WLGA) MANIFESTO 
LOCALISM 2016-21 (Pages 169 - 172)

Report of Chief Executive - Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Purpose: To invite the Cabinet to formally support the Manifesto 'Locally 
2016-21' and the case it makes for the future of Local 
Government in Wales. 



3

9 SCHOOL ORGANISATION - YSGOL LLANFYNYDD (Pages 173 - 370)

Report of Chief Officer (Education and Youth) - Cabinet Member for Education

Purpose: Report back from consultation in accordance with the Council’s 
school organisation policy. 

10 SCHOOL ORGANISATION - YSGOL MAES EDWIN (Pages 371 - 600)

Report of Chief Officer (Education and Youth) - Cabinet Member for Education

Purpose: Report back from consultation in accordance with the Council’s 
school organisation policy. 

11 STRATEGIC HOUSING AND REGENERATION PROJECT (SHARP) (Pages 
601 - 630)

Report of Chief Officer (Community and Enterprise) - Cabinet Member for 
Housing

Purpose: To agree the next stages of the Council's Strategic Housing 
and Regeneration Programme (SHARP). 

12 MEDIUM TERM LIBRARIES PLAN: HOPE, MYNYDD ISA AND SALTNEY 
LIBRARIES (Pages 631 - 658)

Report of Chief Officer (Organisational Change) - Cabinet Member for 
Education

Purpose: To assess and determine the feasibility of a Community Asset 
Transfer or to decide on alternative way forward. 

OPERATIONAL REPORTS

13 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2015/16 (MONTH 7) (Pages 659 - 688)

Report of Corporate Finance Manager - Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Purpose: To provide the latest revenue budget monitoring information for 
2015/16 for the Council Fund and Housing Revenue Account 
based on actual income and expenditure as at month 7 and 
projected forward to year-end based on the most up to date 
information available. 



4

14 PARKING PROVISION IN TALACRE (Pages 689 - 694)

Report of Chief Officer (Streetscene and Transportation) - Deputy Leader of 
the Council and Cabinet Member for Environment

Purpose: To seek approval for the introduction of a parking strategy for 
Talacre. 

15 EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS (Pages 695 - 696)
Report of the Chief Executive enclosed.

Purpose: To provide details of actions taken under delegated powers.

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - COUNTY COUNCIL, CABINET, AUDIT 
AND OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - FOR INFORMATION

Yours faithfully

Peter Evans
Democracy & Governance Manager



CABINET
15 DECEMBER 2015

Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet of Flintshire County Council held in the 
Clwyd Committee Room, County Hall, Mold on Tuesday, 15 December 2015

PRESENT: Councillor Aaron Shotton (Chair)
Councillors: Bernie Attridge, Chris Bithell, Derek Butler, Christine Jones and 
Kevin Jones

APOLOGIES:
Councillors: Helen Brown and Billy Mullin

IN ATTENDANCE: 
Chief Executive, Chief Officer (Community & Enterprise), Chief Officer 
(Governance), Chief Officer (Streetscene & Transportation), Chief Officer 
(Organisational Change), Corporate Finance Manager and Committee Officer

102. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillors Attridge and Shotton both declared a personal interest in 
agenda item number 14 - Connah’s Quay Swimming Pool Community Asset 
Transfer, as members of Connah’s Quay Town Council.

103. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2015 had been 
circulated with the agenda.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes be approved as a correct record.

104. PROVISIONAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT SETTLEMENT AND THE COUNCIL 
FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17

Councillor Shotton introduced the report on the Provisional Local 
Government Settlement and explained that the headline figures, which had not 
been available at the time of preparing the report, had been shared at the last 
meeting of the Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  He pointed out that a 
significant challenge remained for the Council despite the scaling down of cuts 
from Welsh Government (WG).

The Chief Executive delivered a presentation on the initial analysis of the 
Provisional Settlement and its implications for Flintshire, covering the following:

 Settlement Context
 Settlement Headlines
 Flintshire Position in the Settlement
 Known Impacts for Flintshire
 Ongoing Local Budget Work



 Ongoing National Budget Work
 Timescale for Phasing the Budget

A reduction of 1.5% in the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) - slightly above 
the average reduction and an improved position against the forecast - put 
Flintshire in 12th place out of the 22 Authorities in Wales.  However, under the 
current funding formula, Flintshire was ranked 19th as its funding per capita was 
below the Welsh average.  If this was brought up in line with the Welsh average, 
Flintshire would benefit by an additional £17.455M per annum in the RSG.

Under the Intermediate Care Funds (ICF), the amounts ringfenced for 
mental health and older people would require discussion in the New Year on how 
these could be accessed.  It was indicated that many specific grants would 
remain the same or decrease marginally, although details were subject to 
change.  There was some protection given for the Supporting People Grant and 
an increase in the Pupil Deprivation Grant, however the Single Environment 
Grant was to be cut by 6.4% across Wales and the Families First grant reduced 
by at least 10%.  The Council was currently working through the implications of 
these reductions.

Councillor Kevin Jones said that concerns would be raised with WG on the 
significant reduction to the new Single Environment Grant and its implications for 
the Council.

Following comments on the impact of cuts to the Families First grant on 
the provision of playschemes, Councillor Christine Jones spoke about the impact 
on contributions from town and community councils.  Whilst she welcomed the 
additional funding for social care, she pointed out that this was not extra money 
as it was already part of the RSG allocation and should be used to benefit 
ongoing projects rather than new initiatives.

Councillor Shotton said that the Council would engage with the Welsh 
Local Government Association to make representations on the negative impact 
from the funding formula on per capita spend and referred to recognition by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) on the high 
performance and low funding of Flintshire.  Whilst he said that the Council’s 
strong representations on restricting cuts to the RSG had proved successful, 
more needed to be done on lobbying for a review of the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme and greater flexibility on fees and charges.

In response to comments from Councillor Bithell on the importance of 
senior officers and Members’ input to the Independent Commission on Local 
Government Funding in Wales, Councillor Shotton said that Flintshire was one of 
the more vocal councils in recognising the importance of the commission.

The Chief Executive hoped that the contributions being made by 
individuals through various routes would prove influential on the Commission and 
that the Medium Term Financial Strategy had been well received and 
demonstrated the need for a review of the funding formula.  He spoke about the 
negative effect on rural counties in receipt of low per capita funding, based on the 
formula for population growth and deprivation.



Councillor Attridge praised the approach taken by Flintshire on lobbying for 
positive changes which he felt had achieved positive outcomes for all, through 
the joint efforts of Cabinet Members and the Chief Officer team.

Members were reminded by Councillor Shotton that this was a draft 
settlement only at this stage, with important aspects to be discussed before 
finalising early in March 2016.  The final settlement was not expected to change 
significantly from the draft stage.

On the second recommendation in the report, the Chief Executive said that 
more clarity could be given on the precise timetable in the New Year.  This was 
supported by Members.

RESOLVED:

(a) That the initial assessment of the Provisional Local Government settlement 
be received as the basis for a fuller report for Cabinet and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees in January 2016 to inform (1) the annual budget 
setting process and (2) a revision of the Medium Term Financial Strategy; 
and

(b) To set out a timetable in the New Year for recommendation of the budget 
in stages through January to March 2016 including the further 
development of ‘fall back’ options to reach a balanced budget.

105. QUARTER 2 IMPROVEMENT PLAN MONITORING REPORT

The Chief Executive provided information on the 2015/16 Improvement 
Plan which was a positive report, with the majority of activities being assessed as 
making good progress (72%) and likely to achieve the desired outcome (78%).  In 
addition, 55% of the performance indicators met or exceeded target for the 
quarter.  Risks were also being successfully managed with the majority being 
assessed as moderate (69%) or minor (20%).  The new format of reporting had 
generally been well received and Overview & Scrutiny Committees had so far 
been satisfied with explanations given for their respective risk areas.

RESOLVED:

(a) That the following be agreed;
 The level of progress and confidence in the achievement of high 

level activities which seek to deliver the impacts of the Improvement 
Plan;

 The performance against improvement plan performance indicators, 
for the quarter and half year position; and

 The current risk levels identified in the Improvement Plan

(b) That Cabinet Members be assured by plans and actions to manage the 
delivery of the 2015/16 Improvement Priority impacts.



106. LOCAL LETTINGS POLICY

The Chief Officer (Community & Enterprise) presented an overview of the 
framework for the implementation of local lettings policies by setting out the 
approach and procedure that could be adopted by the Council, to respond and 
address local housing issues.  The framework gave consideration to good 
practice and the relevant legal and legislative requirements and guidance by 
setting out clear aims and objectives, evidence required, consultation and 
approval process and the need to monitor and review the effectiveness and 
outcomes achieved from any policies implemented.

In welcoming the report, Councillor Shotton said that this gave the Council 
an opportunity to utilise this particular aspect of the Act as a socially responsible 
landlord.  Councillor Attridge also spoke in support, clarifying that the intention 
was to approve the framework only at this stage.

Councillor Kevin Jones welcomed the timing of the proposal to coincide 
with the new Council build programmes and asked if there were plans to oppose 
any potential changes to restrict long-term tenancies in Wales, as proposed in 
England.  The Chief Officer clarified that housing was a fully devolved function to 
Wales and that there were growing significant differences between housing policy 
in England and Wales.  Therefore the proposed changes to long-term tenancies 
would not apply to Wales unless agreed by WG, which was considered unlikely.  
Councillor Jones asked that this information be conveyed to Council tenants to 
give assurance on the position.

When asked by Councillor Bithell if the local lettings policies would apply 
to new build Council homes, the Chief Officer said that this would be considered 
case by case when considering proposals for each new development.

RESOLVED:

(a) That the proposed framework for the implementation of local lettings 
policies be approved; and 

(b) That delegated authority be granted to the Chief Officer (Community and 
Enterprise) and Senior Manager, Council Housing in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Housing to implement the framework for local lettings 
policies, in response to identified need and evidence.

107. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2015/16 (MONTH 6)

The Corporate Finance Manager provided the latest revenue budget 
monitoring position for 2015/16 for the Council Fund and the Housing Revenue 
Account and reported that no specific issues had been raised when reported to 
the Corporate Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  The position was 
based on actual income and expenditure as at Month 6 and projected to the year-
end.  The projected year end position, as estimated at Month 6 was as follows:

Council Fund
 Net in year expenditure forecast to be £0.291m higher than budget



 Projected contingency reserve balance at 31 March 2016 of 
£4.245m

Housing Revenue Account
 Net in year expenditure forecast to be £0.147m lower than budget
 Projected closing balance as at 31 March 2016 of £1.384m

There were no significant budget changes between portfolios in Month 6.  
The overall overspend within Streetscene & Transportation had decreased from a 
projected £1.108m at Month 5 to £1.042m.  The projected overspend was due in 
part to the delay in the implementation of a number of efficiencies as reported to 
the Programme Board.  In addition fluctuations in recycle sales had led to an 
increased pressure on income projections which had resulted in a shortfall of 
£0.397m, full details of which were outlined in the appendix to the report.

The report provided details on the programme of efficiencies, inflation, 
unearmarked reserves and earmarked reserves.

The report also outlined details on a number of risk areas:
 Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI)
 Recycling
 Car Parking
 Out of County Placements
 Former Euticals Site
 In Year Reductions in Specific Government Grants

RESOLVED:

(a) That the overall report and the projected Council Fund contingency sum as 
at 31 March 2016 be noted;

(b) That the final level of balances on the Housing Revenue Account be 
noted.

108. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2015/16 (MONTH 6)

The Corporate Finance Manager explained that the Capital Programme 
had increased by £0.662m in the period, largely due to the impact of the 
following:

 Additional Welsh Government grant funding of £0.717m (Council Fund 
£0.572m, Housing Revenue Account £0.145m);

 Flintshire County Council match funding for Queensferry Roundabout 
scheme (£0.228m); and

 Kitchen Replacement contribution (£0.152m)

Offset by:
 Rollover into 2016/17 (£0.345m); and
 Removal of Traveller Site grant (£0.150m)

 Resources available for future funding capital expenditure was 
c£2.629m.



As at Month 6, Early Identified Rollover (EIR) had been identified which 
reflected reviewed spending plans across all programme areas; those committed 
amounts had been identified to meet the cost of programme works in 2016/17.

RESOLVED:

(a) That the report be approved; and

(b) That the rollover adjustments be approved.

109. CONSULTATION PROCESS FOR INTRODUCTION OF TRAFFIC CALMING 
AND OTHER HIGHWAY SAFETY FEATURES

Councillor Attridge introduced the report which sought approval to review 
and formalise the current consultation process with local Members, Community 
Councils and members of the public relating to the implementation of traffic 
calming measures.  Details of the current process for consulting on traffic orders 
and other safety related schemes were provided.

The Chief Officer (Streetscene & Transportation) highlighted the proposed 
new process for officers to engage initially with local Members on potential 
schemes including a preferred option.  Once agreed, options would be shared 
with town and community councils for wider consultation.

Councillor Bithell asked if there had been any prior consultation with town 
and community councils on the necessary resources which would be required.  
Councillor Attridge said it was the intention to offer as much officer support as 
possible in recognition of the varying levels of resources available to town and 
community councils.

As further reassurance, the Chief Officer said that any resource issues 
raised would be addressed through detailed assistance on the process from 
officers.  He went on to comment that the single consultee approach utilised the 
important role of town and community councils in engaging with their local 
communities.  Once the scheme was agreed, the Council would be required to 
carry out the formal statutory consultation process.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed approach for consulting with local communities on future traffic 
calming schemes and be approved and the process currently followed for 
community consultation on other road safety arrangements be noted.

110. TERMINATION OF TAITH JOINT COMMITTEE

Councillor Attridge explained that since January 2014 the activities of the 
North Wales Regional Transport Consortia (RTC) had ended, however the Joint 
Committee had continued to meet in line with the constitution of the Committee.  
He sought endorsement from Members to support the Joint Committee’s decision 
to end the arrangement and wind up the operations of the Committee.



As there was still a requirement to have a strong voice for transport in 
North Wales, the Chair of the North Wales Economic Ambition Board (NWEAB) 
proposed that a formal Transport Forum for the NWEAB be established to 
undertake that role.  The Forum would meet two to four times annually, based on 
demand, to support the Connectivity and Infrastructure workstream and to ensure 
that an effective working relationship with the highways and transport teams in 
Authorities existed.

Councillor Derek Butler spoke in support of the work done by Taith and 
hoped that the new forum would give the Council a strong voice on the cross-
boundary connectivity and infrastructure workstream in relation to the Mersey 
Dee Alliance and NWEAB.

The Chief Executive stressed the importance of the NWEAB being 
underpinned by the highways and transport expertise in place through the new 
arrangements.

Councillor Attridge thanked the Chief Officer (Streetscene & 
Transportation) and his team for their contributions in reaching this stage.

RESOLVED:

(a) That the decision of the Taith Joint Committee to terminate the role of the 
Joint Committee with effect from 29 September 2015 be endorsed; and

(b) That the recommendation that a transport advisory forum be established 
as a sub-group of the North Wales Economic Ambition Board (NWEAB), 
consisting of the Portfolio holder for each Authority, to provide support and 
advice to the Connectivity and Infrastructure work stream be endorsed.

111. FUTURE OF HOPE HOUSEHOLD RECYCLING CENTRE (HRC) SITE

Councillor Kevin Jones explained that the Hope Household Recycling 
Centre (HRC) site had received approval to remain open at weekends only for 
the receipt of recycling materials until January 2016.  This was subject to an 
expression of interest (EOI) from the community stating their intention to take on 
the operations of the site which was received in August 2015.  The next stage 
was for the community’s representative to submit an appropriate business case, 
with information provided by officers.  Although an initial outline business case 
had been submitted, it was proposed that additional time be given for further 
development work prior to its consideration.  It was therefore recommended that 
the planned closure date of the HRC site be delayed by a month.  Significant 
discussions were continuing between the Waste Strategy team and 
representatives of the community on the proposed transfer of the facility.

Councillor Attridge supported the proposal for additional time if it enabled 
the matter to be drawn to a conclusion.

The Chief Executive said that the Council would honour its commitment for 
the community to take over the operation of the facility and that this was 
supported by the reported reduction in the Single Environment Grant.



Councillor Chris Bithell spoke about the need to be firm on timescales to 
achieve the necessary savings in year.

RESOLVED:

That an extension of the existing ‘weekend only’ and ‘recycling only’ arrangement 
at Hope until 31 January 2016 be approved to allow additional time for the 
business case to be approved and to allow the local community representative 
sufficient time to mobilise resources to operate the site from this date.

112. EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS

An information item on the actions taken under delegated powers was 
submitted.  The actions were as set out below:-

Organisational Change – Leisure Services
 Provision of High Ropes and Conversion to Gymnastics Facility

To approve the proposal to remove and sell the High Ropes (Sky Trail) 
equipment at Deeside Leisure Centre, using the proceeds to reinvest in 
the centre facilities.  To approve the lease of the resulting available space 
to a private operator to develop a Gymnastics facility.

People and Resources – Finance (Revenues)
 Business Rates Write Offs

Finance Procedure Rule (section 9.6) – Income and Expenditure, stipulate 
that any individual debt between the values of £5,000 and £25,000 shall 
be reported to the Chief Finance Officer (Corporate Finance 
Manager/Section 151 officer) for consideration to write off, in conjunction 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance.  There are 5 business rate accounts 
where the overall debt for each company is greater than £5,000 and the 
write off of those debts is recommended.  The total of these debts is 
£50,893.94.

People and Resources – Finance (Revenues)
 Council Tax Write Offs

Finance Procedure Rule (section 9.6) – Income and Expenditure, stipulate 
that any individual debt between the values of £5,000 and £25,000 shall 
be reported to the Chief Finance Officer (Corporate Finance 
Manager/Section 151 officer) for consideration to write off, in conjunction 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance.  There are 3 council tax accounts 
where the overall debt is greater than £5,000, the total being £23,607.00.

Streetscene and Transportation
 The Flintshire County Council (Off-Street Parking Places 

Queensferry, Shotton, Connah’s Quay) (Civil Enforcement and 
Consolidation) (Amendment) Order 20--
To advise Members of unresolved objections received following the 
advertisement of the proposed introduction of Car Parking Charges in 
Connah’s Quay, Queensferry and Shotton off street parks.



Streetscene and Transportation
 Unresolved objections to various roads following proposed 

introductions of speed limits as outlined below.  As changes to the 
delegation report, Councillor Attridge highlighted the withdrawal of 
objections to 13 of the roads, with the following four to be re-
advertised:
A548 Mostyn Road, Gronant Village – 30 MPH.
B5101 Llanfynydd (At Riding School) – Speed Limit Review – 30 MPH.
B5123 Rhosesmor to Berth Ddu – 30 and 40 MPH.
A5026 Brynford Road, Brynford – 40 MPH.

RESOLVED:

That the actions taken under delegated powers be noted.

113. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - TO 
CONSIDER THE EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED:

That the press and public be excluded for the remainder of the meeting for the 
following item by virtue of exempt information under paragraph 15 of Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

114. CONNAHS QUAY SWIMMING POOL COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER

The Chief Officer (Organisational Change) introduced a report to seek 
approval on the legal completion and attached conditions of the community asset 
transfer of Connah’s Quay Swimming Pool.  The report contained a brief 
summary of the case together with information from the organisation concerned.  
The conditions were required to be completed before the target transfer date, 
which may be subject to change.

Councillor Kevin Jones paid tribute to the positive engagement with Trade 
Unions and staff, and thanked the Chief Officer (Organisational Change) and his 
team for their input, along with that of Connah’s Quay Town Council.  He 
welcomed the significant progress made within the timeframe and referred to 
positive examples of community assets transfers around the country.  He agreed 
that some flexibility was needed on the target transfer date to achieve the right 
outcomes and hoped that this project would help to generate interest in other 
potential transfers within the county.

Other Members took the opportunity to express their appreciation to all 
involved in the process.  The Chief Executive spoke about the level of learning 
from this individual project which was vital to the success of future transfers.

RESOLVED:

(a) To agree the Community Asset Transfer proposal from Cambrian Aquatics 
for the transfer of Connah’s Quay Swimming Pool;



(b) That this Community Asset Transfer be subject to a number of conditions 
which must be met prior to legal completion:

 Provision of an updated Strategic Business Plan;
 That this Business Plan covers satisfactorily the areas identified at 

1.09 of the report; and
 Sign off the Business Plan by Chief Officer for Organisational 

Change in consultation with the two lead portfolio holders

(c) That the Chief Officer (Governance) be given delegated authority to enter 
into the necessary legal agreements to complete the Community Asset 
Transfer including:

 Community Asset Transfer Lease with Cambrian Aquatics for 27 
years based on a peppercorn rent;

 Community Benefits Agreement with Cambrian Aquatics detailing: 
the requirements for the peppercorn lease; an initial revenue fund of 
£0.065m and the community benefits required for this funding; an 
initial capital grant allocation of £0.100m and the conditions for use 
of this grant linked to the condition survey;

 Co-operative Agreement with Connah’s Quay Town Council and 
Cambrian Acquatics detailing the principles, values and ways of 
working between the three main partners.

115. MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC IN ATTENDANCE

There was one member of the press in attendance.

(The meeting started at 9.30 am and ended at 11.00 am)

Chair



CABINET

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject Provisional Local Government Settlement

Cabinet Member Leader of the Council 

Report Author Chief Executive and Corporate Finance Manager

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Welsh Government published the Provisional Local Government Settlement 
for the 2016/17 financial year on 9 December. The detail and implications of the 
Settlement for Flintshire are summarised in this report. The Settlement is open to 
consultation until 20 January, and the Final Settlement will be published in early 
March. The outline of a Council response is set out in the report.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Cabinet is invited to provide a response to the consultation based on the 
outline set out in the report.



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 REFORM OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT

1.01 The annual Local Government Settlement announced by Welsh 
Government sets out the financial resources local government will receive 
the following year, both across the sector and council by council. 

1.02 The Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2016/17 was announced 
on 9 December. The Settlement is open to consultation until 20 January. 
The Final Settlement will be announced in early March. It is not usual for 
the Final Settlement to change significantly from the Provisional.

1.03 A presentation was made to Cabinet (15 December) and Corporate 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee (18 December) on the 
Provisional Settlement and its impacts for Flintshire. The presentation 
materials are attached. The Settlement provides the context for the setting 
of the Council Fund Revenue Budget for 2016/17 which is the subject of a 
separate and more detailed report on the agenda for this Cabinet meeting.

1.04 The detail of the Settlement can be accessed by following the hyperlink 
within the background documents section.

1.05 The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) made the following 
statement in receiving the news on the Provisional Settlement:-

"The system used to fund local councils in Wales is based on a complex 
array of grant arrangements and while many Welsh councils will today 
cautiously welcome the Welsh Government's draft budget for its focus on 
preventative public services such as social care, we await further detail of 
how the budget can help to alleviate some of the mounting pressures on 
critical local services. A full and detailed settlement for local government in 
Wales will not be published until tomorrow and we now need to consider 
today's draft budget announcement in much finer detail.

The WLGA has only recently published its Localism 2016-21 manifesto, 
which offers a 40 point plan for public services in Wales. Key to our call 
was the need to refocus resources on the local public services that make 
such an important contribution to alleviating the build-up of costly 
pressures elsewhere in the system such as in our NHS, and also the need 
for councils to be offered far greater financial flexibility in the future. It is 
heartening to hear these points acknowledged so strongly by Welsh 
Government within today's draft budget announcement.

We have been clear that there is a need to rewrite the rulebook on how our 
councils are funded if we are to avoid a similar situation to that in England, 
where local public services have been cut to the bone and a number of 
councils face the very real possibility of being unable to meet even their 
most basic statutory duties. Today's announcement offers a glimmer of 
hope that a different reality can be written for vital local public services in 
Wales."



1.06 An outline of a suggested response for Cabinet is set out below.

The Settlement for 2016/17

 Welcome the recognition by Welsh Government of the case made 
by local government and by Flintshire for some funding protection, 
as reflected in the lower Revenue Support Grant reductions (of a 
-1.4% average reduction for local government and a -1.5% 
reduction for Flintshire)

 Press Welsh Government for a lower reduction in the new Single 
Environment Grant than the proposed reduction (of -6.7% and 
£0.210M for Flintshire) due to its likely impact on key local public 
services

 Express concern over the risk of any further above average 
reductions which may yet be intended for unpublished specific 
grants

 An end to further in-year specific grant reductions as has been the 
experience during 2015/16, as such short-term reductions and their 
impacts on services are impossible to plan for

 The newly announced joint health-social care additional funding to 
be made equally accessible for current and emerging service 
demands with the minimum of bureaucracy 

Future Settlements

 Restate the critical importance of the removal of social care and 
other charging caps

 Restate the unsustainability of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(CTRS) and the principle that national welfare schemes should be 
funded nationally in their entirety 

 Aggregate External Finance (AEF) reduction from 2017/18 onwards 
to be maintained at this limited level or a reduced level for local 
government to be sustainable

 The medium term reform of local government funding to be a 
commitment of the new Welsh Government from May 2016. The 
work of the Independent Commission for Local Government 
Finance in Wales, which is due to report by March, should be 
instrumental in proposing such reforms

Immediate National Budget Work for 2016/17

 Work through the Welsh Local Government Association, Welsh 
Government and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board to 
secure access to a proportion of the new funds announced for the 
NHS and Social Care to help alleviate the cost pressures in Social 
Care in 2016/17

 Flintshire to formally apply for an exemption from social care 
charging caps to introduce a cost recovery plan within 2016/17



2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 The implications of the Settlement for the Council are significant. The 
Settlement for 2016/17 is an improved position on the previously 
forecasted position. Refer to the separate report on the Council Fund 
Revenue Budget, on the agenda for this meeting, for more information and 
analysis.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 The Council is being consulted by Welsh Government as the proposer of 
the Provisional Settlement. The consultation is an open public 
consultation.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 There are significant risks to the Council caused by the annual reductions 
in national funding for public services as set out in the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Presentation on the Provisional Local Government Settlement 2016/17 
made to the Cabinet (15 December) and Corporate Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (18 December).

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Provisional Settlement
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/lgsettlement1617/
?lang=en

Medium Term Financial Strategy Parts 1 and 2 
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Medium-Term-Financial-
Strategy/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.aspx

Medium Term Financial Strategy Executive Summary 
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/PDFFiles/Medium-Term-Financial-
Strategy/Summary-Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.pdf

Contact Officer: Colin Everett
Chief Executive

Telephone: 01352 702101
Email:                         chief.executive@flintshire.gov.uk

http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/lgsettlement1617/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/lgsettlement1617/?lang=en
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.aspx
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.aspx
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/PDFFiles/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Summary-Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.pdf
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/PDFFiles/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Summary-Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.pdf
mailto:chief.executive@flintshire.gov.uk


7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Budget: a statement giving the Council’s policy and service commitments 
and choices and how they will be funded for a financial year.  It includes 
both revenue and capital. 

Local Government Finance Settlement: This sets out what the Welsh 
Government is to allocate to each local authority in Wales. It is issued in 
two stages. This year, the Provisional (or draft) Settlement was announced 
for consultation on 9th December, with the final Local Government Finance 
Settlement being due to be announced in March 2016.

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS): a written strategy which gives 
a forecast of the financial resources which will be available to a Council for 
a given period, and sets out plans for how best to deploy those resources 
to meet its priorities, duties and obligations.

Council Fund: the majority of the Council’s revenue expenditure covering 
all services except Council Housing for which there is a stand-alone and 
ring-fenced account called the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

Annual Settlement: the amount of its funds the Welsh Government will 
allocate annually to local government as a whole, as part of its total 
budget, and to individual councils one by one.  The amount of Revenue 
Support Grant (RSG) each council will receive is based on a complex 
distribution formula for awarding Aggregate External Finance (AEF).  The 
formula is underpinned by assessments of local need based, for example, 
of population size and demographics and levels of social deprivation.

The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA): the representative 
body of principal council, fire and rescue authorities and the national parks 
in Wales.

Single Environment Grant: a new consolidated specific grant which 
brings together a number of existing specific grants, such as the 
Sustainable Waste Management Grant, which are provided by Welsh 
Government to local authorities to co-fund specific services such as 
recycling.





Local Government Provisional 

Settlement 2016/17

Implications for Flintshire

Cabinet Briefing

December 2015



Settlement Context

» Welsh macro-budget* announced on 8 December in the 

context of a 4.5% reduction over 4 years based on the 

Chancellor’s Comprehensive Spending Review

» Local Government Provisional Settlement* announced 

on 9 December

» Settlement open for consultation until 20 January

» Announcement of new or extended ring-fenced budgets 

for Health and Health and Social Care

* full background papers available on Welsh Government website

»



Settlement Headlines

» A one year settlement only

» Average reduction to Aggregate External Finance 

(AEF) for local government of -1.4% (North Wales 

range of -1.2 to -2.2%) 

» Some base protection for Schools and Social Services

» List of many specific grants published

» Protection for Supporting People and increase in Pupil 

Deprivation Grant

» Above average reductions in Single Environment Grant 

and Families First

» Capital Funding set at 2015/16 level



Flintshire Position in the Settlement

» Ranked 12th of 22 in being at a -1.5% AEF reduction    

(0.1% above the average reduction of -1.4%)

» Ranked 19th of 22 per capita on AEF at £1,196 per 

capita. The Welsh average is £1,309 per capita with the 

highest, Blaenau Gwent, being £1,576 per capita. 

Flintshire is £113 below the per capita average. If 

Flintshire received the average the Council’s AEF 

would be £17.455M per annum higher 

»



Known Impacts for Flintshire 1

» Reduction of -1.5% in AEF; an improved position of 

£3.770M against the forecast when combining the 

recovery of RSG (£3.370M) and  an increase in the 

Council Tax base (£0.400M) 

» Many specific grants at same level or a marginal 

reduction from 2015/16

» -6.4% in the new Single Environment Grant which 

includes the former Sustainable Waste Management 

Grant (£0.201M)

» -11.7% reduction on Families First Grant (£0.203M)

»



Known Impacts for Flintshire 2

» Supporting People Grant protected (analysis of level of 

protection and distribution across Wales ongoing)

» Former Outcome Agreement Grant ended and 

incorporated into the Settlement at full value (£1.479M)

» Impacts of other movements into the Settlement under 

review

» Increase in Pupil Deprivation Grant from £1,050 to 

£1,150 per eligible pupil (£0.250M)

» Capital reduction of £0.143M (-2.08%)

»



Ongoing Local Budget Work

» Reassessing the 2016/17 budget ‘gap’ for 2016/17 

based on the Settlement benefits and risks, and a 

recalculation of emerging financial pressures

» Report to Cabinet and then CROSC in January on the 

revised budget position with ‘fall back’ options to move 

towards balancing the budget

» Re-profile the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

noting that this is a one year Settlement only



Ongoing National Budget Work

» Work through the Welsh Local Government Association 

to secure access to a proportion of the new funds for 

NHS and Social Care to help alleviate the cost 

pressures in Social Care in 2016/17

» Apply for an exemption on social care charging caps to 

introduce a cost recovery plan within 2016/17

» Press the Welsh Government to honour its commitment 

to review the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) 

and to place it on a financially sustainable footing from 

2017/18

» Make a formal response to the Settlement consultation



Timescale for Phasing the Budget

» Complete the current Overview and Scrutiny round of 

meetings on the first two parts of the proposed budget

» Cabinet reappraisal report in January with further 

options to close the remaining budget ‘gap’

» Further Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

rounds leading to a final Council decision on the total 

budget, and Council Tax level, by 10th March

» Council dates provisionally in the diary for 26 January, 

16 February and 10 March





CABINET

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject Council Fund Revenue Budget 2016/17

Cabinet Member Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance

Report Authors Chief Executive and Corporate Finance Manager

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents the Council Fund Revenue Budget for the 2016/17 financial 
year for adoption by Cabinet and recommendation to Council.

Work on the budget is not yet complete.  This is due to a combination of (1) the scale 
of the savings and efficiencies to be found given the challenge this unprecedented 
savings target poses and (2) the uncertainty over the national budget position and 
its impacts on the Council.  Therefore, the budget is being presented to Cabinet in 
two stages over January and February prior to presentation, in a full and final form, 
to Council on 16 February 2016.

This first stage report presents the majority of the budget. The first phase the 
proposals contained within the first stage report (see Part B) have been examined 
and reviewed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees throughout December 
2015. The proposals are listed in the appendices, and individual fact sheets on each 
proposal will also be made available within January for reference. The second phase 
of proposals in this report are newly presented (see Part B).

The Provisional Local Government Settlement was announced by the Welsh 
Government on 9 December 2015. Whilst there is some uncertainty over a number 
of specific grants which fund individual services the announcement has sufficient 
detail for the scale of the funding ‘gap’ to be recalculated and for our budget 
proposals to be sized accordingly.

The on-going work to move to closing the budget, to be presented in final form in 
February, is summarised within this report.  These further proposals will be 
examined by the respective Overview and Scrutiny Committees later in January 
2016 prior to being formally presented to Cabinet for adoption.



The report at the end of part C presents a remaining budget gap of £1.598M having 
taken into account all budget proposals, both those pre-reported in December 2015, 
and those newly presented within this report. This gap rises to around £3.447M 
when taking into account new and emergent pressures which are listed and are 
under ongoing review. Should Cabinet approve the recommendations set out below 
then the ongoing work on the budget will be restricted to the activity described in 
Parts C and D of the report.

The report is set out in the following parts for the reader to navigate through the 
chronology of the budget and a complex set of budget proposals and 
considerations:-

Part A:  Initial Forecasting of the Budget ‘Gap’ for 2015/16-2017/18 (1.01-1.03)
Part B:  The Local Government Settlement, A Revised Forecast and the Budget
             Strategy for 2016/17 (1.04-1.20)
Part C:  Plans for Closing the Budget (1.21-1.25)
Part D:  Further Work to be Completed to Close the Budget (1.26-1.31)
Part E:  Calculation of the Total Revenue Budget And Budget Requirement (1.32-
              1.36)

A list of tables within the report is set out below as a guide:-

Table 1: Service Business Plan Efficiency Proposal Targets 2016/17
Table 2: Corporate Financial Stewardship Proposal Targets 2016/17
Table 3: Impacts of the Settlement (as announced on 9 December)
Table 4: First Stage – Second Phase Proposals to Balance the Budget
Table 5: Summary of Proposals to Close the Budget Gap
Table 6: New and Emergent Pressures

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. To adopt the first stage – first phase of budget proposals for the Council Fund 
Revenue Budget 2016/17 for recommendation to Council.

2. To adopt the first stage – second phase proposals for the Council Fund 
Revenue budget 2016/17 for referral to the respective Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, and secondly to Cabinet and then final consideration by Cabinet 
in February

3. To endorse the strategy for the ongoing work to seek to close the remaining 
budget ‘gap’ and recommend a balanced annual budget to Cabinet in 
February.



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 Presenting the First Stage of the Council Fund Revenue Budget

Part A: Initial Forecasting of the Budget ‘gap’ for 2015/16-2017/18

1.01 In mid to late 2015 the Council published the new version of its Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) in two parts: Part 1: Forecasting the 
Challenge and Part 2: Meeting the Financial Challenge. (attached as 
Appendices 1 and 2)

1.02 As set out in Forecasting the Challenge, a cumulative real reduction in 
resources available to the Council of £52.8M was forecast for the three year 
period 2015/16 to 2017/18. As explained within the MTFS this gap is a 
consequence of the combined impacts of:-

 reductions in the Revenue Support Grant from Welsh Government;
 reductions in specific grants from Welsh Government;
 no provision within the Local Government Settlement for pay and 

price inflation;
 limited or no provision within the Local Government Settlement for 

nationally recognised demand-led or policy-led cost pressures in 
services; and

 local service and corporate financing cost pressures.

1.03 At the time of publishing the MTFS the predicted funding gap for Flintshire 
for 2016/17 was £20.8M.  The biggest determinant of the actual size of this 
gap is the level of reduction in the Revenue Support Grant to be allocated 
to Flintshire by Welsh Government as part of the Local Government 
Settlement.

Part B: The Local Government Settlement, a Revised Forecast and the 
Budget Strategy for 2016/17

1.04 The Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2016/17 was announced 
by Welsh Government on 9 December 2015.  As reported to both Cabinet 
and the Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
December the impacts of the Settlement, which was an improved 
Settlement on the forecast position, would reduce the predicted gap for 
2016/17 by £3.770M to £17.030M.

1.05 The initial proposals for the first stage of the draft budget reported to Cabinet 
in December 2015, and examined by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees throughout the month, presented corporate efficiencies of 
£5.0M, and service portfolio efficiencies of £7.755M, (Revised figure) 
together totalling £12.755M. Prior to the announcement of the Provisional 
Settlement the remaining gap stood at £8.045M.  The remaining gap had 
been reduced by £3.770M, to £4.275M, as a result of the Settlement.

1.06 A separate report is included within the agenda for this Cabinet meeting 
which proposes a response to the Settlement.  A presentational summary 
of the Settlement and its impacts on Flintshire is included at Appendix 3.



Budget Strategy: Stage One – First Phase

1.07 The Council’s Budget Strategy, as set out in Meeting the Financial 
Challenge, builds on the work done within 2015/16 to achieve sizeable 
organisational change to reduce costs with the aim of protecting local public 
services.  Following the implementation of a new corporate operating model 
in 2014, and the introduction of new style business plans for the services 
within each of the new Chief Officer portfolios, the organisation has been 
reformed at some pace with all service portfolios working to a target of 30% 
reductions in net costs over three years (with the exception of schools and 
social services).

1.08 This three year strategy has been underpinned by the principles of:-

 planning for the long-term as a whole organisation;
 making decisions for local public services which are sustainable;
 being ambitious and positive about change to better the organisation;
 having a clear philosophy underpinned by social value; and
 managing the transition from the current to the future with care.

1.09 The twin objectives of this major and sustained programme of change and 
cost reduction continue to be (1) maximising the financial efficiency of the 
organisation and better aligning our resources to priorities and (2) 
modernising the organisation to be lean, productive, efficient, resilient and 
high performing.

1.10 For the 2016/17 budget the strategy set out in Meeting the Financial 
Challenge proposed a three part set of solutions under the headings of:-

1. Service Reform
2. Corporate Finance Stewardship
3. Working with Welsh Government

1.11 A set of service reform net cost budget reductions drawn from the portfolio 
business plans with a set of corporate financing cost reductions were drawn 
together in mid-2015 and then developed throughout the second half of the 
calendar year as the first contribution to the annual budget for 2016/17. 
These combined proposals were shared with service management teams, 
Group Leaders and Chairs and Vice-Chairs then all members of the Council 
informally, prior to formal presentation to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, for examination and review, throughout December 2015. 

1.12 These proposals are summarised in Tables 1 and 2 below.

Table 1: Service Business Plan Efficiency Proposal Targets 2016/17

Portfolio £M
Planning and Environment 0.413
Streetscene and Transportation 2.158
Social Care 0.838
Education and Youth 0.710
Community and Enterprise 1.509
People and Resources 0.250



Governance 0.535
Organisational Change 1.272
Chief Executive’s 0.070
Total 7.755

Footnote 1: the detail of individual proposals is set out in Appendix 9
Footnote 2: the above figures are based on the finalised costed proposals.  The 
total figure of £7.755M is a reduction of £0.471M on the figures reported previously.
Table 2:  Corporate Financial Stewardship Proposal Targets 2016/17

Subject and Proposal £M
Inflation Management: part absorption of inflation risk 1.0
Corporate Overheads: selective reduction in provisions 1.0
Schools Funding Formula: controlled schools investment 2.5
Local Income: new and increased charging 0.5

Footnote: the above figures are based on the finalised costed proposals

1.13 The outcomes of the Overview and Scrutiny examination round of meetings 
are summarised in the presentation slides given to the Corporate Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at the close of this series of meetings 
(see Appendix 4).  All members were invited to this final meeting.  Few of 
the budget proposals were highlighted by the Committees for either 
clarification or further consideration.  Those proposals which were 
highlighted were re-explained to the satisfaction of the Corporate Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at this closing meeting.  Therefore, all 
proposals remain for recommendation and adoption noting that some carry 
risks of either complexity or time delay in their deliverability.

National Campaigning

1.14 For the third part of the strategy Flintshire has engaged in intensive activity 
in making the case for local government prior to the announcement of the 
Provisional Local Government Settlement by Welsh Government.  This was 
done through collective campaigning through the Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA), and separately as an individual council exposed to the 
risks of major reductions in its national funding.  The campaigning was 
based on the coherent arguments made in Meeting the Financial Challenge. 
This campaigning work has proven to be effective with the Welsh 
Government announcing a better than expected financial settlement for 
local government. However, several principal issues on which local 
government and Flintshire campaigned remain unresolved (see the 
accompanying report on the Provisional Local Government Settlement).

Community Engagement

1.15 For the 2015/16 budget the Council ran a public engagement exercise called 
The Big Budget Conversation. This exercise was largely internet and media 
based. For 2016/17 the Council built on the learning from this exercise and 
ran a new community engagement exercise under the heading of This is 
Your Moment. Whilst drawing on internet resources, and making use of the 
media, the exercise was broadened with seven public meetings being held 
across the County as the main method of explanation and engagement.  A 
summary report of the community engagement exercise is attached at 



Appendix 5.

1.16 The Council also drew in local stakeholders in its national campaigning 
work.  A number of local stakeholders from the public, business and 
voluntary sectors, and from the schools community and Trade Union 
community, took an active part in making the case for local government and 
for Flintshire.

Budget Strategy: Stage Two – Second Phase

1.17 As summarised in 1.03 the initial forecast budget ‘gap’ was £20.8M. If the 
first phase combined corporate budget proposals and service business 
plans budget proposals were approved, this gap, prior to taking into account 
the impacts of the Provisional Local Government Settlement, would be 
reduced to £8.045M based on the figures reported previously.

1.18 To achieve a balanced budget for recommendation to Council two actions 
remain. Firstly, to take into full account the impacts of the Provisional 
Settlement on the assumption that although in draft form and open to 
consultation, the Final Settlement, to be announced in March 2016, will not 
worsen the position for Flintshire. Secondly, to identify and examine further 
options to close the remaining gap.

1.19 As Table 3 illustrates the Provisional Settlement has had a positive effect in 
restoring income of £3.770M.

Table 3: Impacts of the Settlement (as announced on 9 December 2015)

Subject Calculation and Risk Mitigation £M
Revenue 
Support Grant

Reinstate Revenue Support Grant as the 
difference between a forecast 3.5% loss and 
the actual 1.5% loss in the Provisional Local 
Government Settlement.

Acceptability Risk: none
Workability Risk: none

3.370

Council Tax 
Base

Increase base provision due to the 2015 
forecast of qualifying property numbers in the 
County and due to the outcome of the on-
going Single Person Discount Review.

Acceptability Risk: none
Workability Risk: low as based on accurate 
projections.

0.400

Sub-Total: £3.770M
  

1.20 The remaining gap (£8.045M) has been reduced by £3.770M, to £4.275M, 
as a result of the Settlement, before taking into account new and emergent 
pressures and any revisions to the detailed calculations for the budget 
proposals reported in December.  The original forecast for pressures dates 
back to mid-2015. The reassessment of pressures, detailed at 1.24 below, 
will need to be taken into account in resizing the budget gap and in reaching 
a balanced budget. Additional pressures of a value of £1.849M have been 



identified and are listed in table 6. Their cost, and the likelihood of the 
pressures materialising in year, are under review.

Part C: Plans for Closing the Budget

1.21 A commitment has been made by Cabinet, the Chief Executive and the 
Chief Officers to aim to close the remaining gap through corporate financing 
solutions, as far as possible, and to avoid introducing new and late service 
cost reduction options which would be of concern to elected members and 
the public.

1.22 Table 4 sets out the second phase of proposals to close the remaining gap.

Table 4: First Stage – Second Phase Proposals to Balance the Budget

A: Further Impacts of the Provisional Local Government Settlement
Subject Calculation and Risk Mitigation £M
Welsh 
Independent 
Living Grant 
(formerly 
Independent 
Living Fund)

Late confirmation that the Grant has not 
been included in the core Settlement and will 
continue to be funded for a further year as a 
specific grant. The value of the potential loss 
of grant to Flintshire is £0.450Mand was 
identified as a national pressure in the 
MTFS. The net value of this positive 
confirmation, following deduction of 
administration costs, is £0.412M.

Acceptability Risk: none
Workability Risk: none for 2016/17 noting 
that the grant is not guaranteed for future 
years

0.412

Sub-Total: £0.412M
B: Adjustment of Local Pressures
Subject Calculation and Risk Mitigation £M
Recalculation 
of Schools 
Based Cost 
Pressures 
(Education and 
Youth)

Recalculation of schools based cost 
pressures following a detailed reassessment 
of pressures including pay and pensions 
based on current employment figures.

Acceptability Risk: none
Workability Risk: low as based on latest 
figures and funding is pass-ported to schools 
through a modernised and transparent 
schools funding formula.

0.350

Reassessment 
of cost 
pressure for 
care support 
for transition 
from childhood 
to adulthood 
(Social Care)

The cost pressure for meeting the costs of 
complex care packages for individuals in the 
care of the Authority and transitioning from 
childhood to adulthood, has been 
reassessed based on (1) the latest 
information on the individual assessments of 
need and (2) success in negotiations with 
Betsi Cadwaladar University Health Board 
over their funding contributions as a care 

0.451



partner (a £0.300M gain).  The calculated 
case cost pressures are identified as a local 
pressure in the MTFS. The total value of the 
pressure was forecast to be £0.923M for 
2016/17.  The pressure can now be reduced 
to £0.472M.
Acceptability Risk: none
Workability Risk: low as based on latest 
case by case projections and funding 
agreements between the Council and Betsi 
Cadwaladar University Health Board. 

Employer 
Pension 
Contributions

The obligations upon the Council as an 
employer to fund the Clwyd Pension Fund 
are under continuous review. No more so 
than in a period of organisational change 
where (1) the workforce is being reduced in 
number through a combination of 
organisational re-design and employees 
choosing to leave through voluntary 
redundancy or retirement and (2) the 
impacts of change such as the Single Status 
Agreement are being worked through. 
Employer pension contributions are 
identified as a workforce pressure in the 
MTFS. The total value of the combined 
pensions pressures was forecast to be 
£5.655M for 2016/17.  The pressure can 
now be reduced by £0.460M based on the 
latest review.
Acceptability Risk: none
Workability Risk: low as based on latest 
workforce number projections.  

0.460

Sub-Total: £1.261M
C: Corporate Financing Risk Management 
Subject Calculation and Risk Mitigation £M
Inflation 
Provision for 
2015/16 

The centrally held provision for meeting 
inflation costs has not being called upon in 
full, within 2015/16, as the Council has been 
able to either mitigate or absorb the costs 
within its base budgets allocated to services. 
There is also an underspend remaining for 
Non Standard Inflation (NSI) provided as 
part of a carry-forward from 2014/15. This is 
no longer required in the base. The provision 
can therefore be revised by £0.350 for a 
recalculation for 2016/17.

Acceptability Risk: none
Workability Risk: low as based on actual 
trends in inflation in costs as opposed to 
forecasts.

0.350

Price and Non 
Standard 
Inflation (NSI) 

The Council holds a central provision for 
Non Standard Inflation (NSI) to cover 
fluctuations in energy, fuel and food (mainly 

0.654



Provision for 
2016/17

schools catering) market prices.  Full 
provision was made in the inflation 
forecasted figure within the MTFS to meet 
NSI cost pressures. Market intelligence 
suggests zero inflation or deflation in the fuel 
market, and reasonable levels of 
predictability for energy and food prices 
which may have peaked. Based on current 
inflation trends, and the organisational 
‘appetite’ for absorbing inflation pressures in 
part, the provision can be removed. 

The Council has in the past met the forecast 
costs of specific service inflationary 
pressures in full.  These costed pressures 
are also included in the forecast for Inflation 
Pressures included in the MTFS.  Based on 
a similar assessment to that summarised 
above for NSI, the provision can be reduced 
by 50%.

The combined value of these reductions in 
provision for inflation is £0.654M.

Acceptability Risk: low as based on a 
calculated risk assessment between the 
Chief Officer Team and the Finance Team
Workability Risk: medium as full provision for 
predicted inflation is no longer provided.

Sub-Total: £1.004M
Total: £2.677M

  
1.23 The combined total of the initial proposals to close the remaining budget 

gap, as set out in Table 4 above, is £2.677M. Therefore, the remaining gap, 
before taking into account new and emergent pressures, is £1.598M, as 
shown in Table 5. 

Table 5: Summary of Proposals to Close the Budget Gap

Source Calculation £M
MTFS Original Forecast Gap - 20.800
Table 1 Service Business Plans Proposals +7.755
Table 2 Corporate Financial Stewardship Proposals +5.000
Table 3 Impacts of the Settlement +3.770
Table 4A Further Impacts of the Provisional Local 

Government Settlement
+0.412

Table 4B Adjustment of Local Pressures +1.261
Table 4C Corporate Financing Risk Management +1.004

Remaining Gap Based on the Original Forecast: -£1.598M 

 
New and Emergent Pressures



1.24 The new and emergent pressures which have been identified over the winter 
months since the MTFS forecast, and which are currently under 
examination, are set out below. The cost calculation for each pressure, and 
the likelihood of each pressure materialising in-year and if so their impacts, 
are being assessed in detail. A full report will be made to Cabinet in February 
2016 on the outcome of this work and the need for budget provision to be 
set aside to protect the Council from in-year pressures.

Table 6: New and Emergent Pressures

Income Pressures Detail £M
Recycling Income Fall in income from the sale 

of recyclates (plastic, metals 
etc) due to an oversupply in 
the global recycling market.

0.419

Sustainable Recycling Grant Reduction in the level of 
grant funding allocated to 
local authorities by Welsh 
Government for 2016/17 
within the new Single 
Environment Grant in 
2016/17.

0.276

Animal Health & DEFRA Grant Shortfall due to ending of a 
partnership with Wrexham 
County Borough Council.

0.044

Leisure Income Lower than projected 
income levels achieved for 
the customer use of 
Deeside Ice Rink, Deeside 
Leisure Centre.

0.070

Housing Benefit Subsidy Loss of subsidy claimable 
from Government for 
Housing Benefit paid out to 
claimants (this claim is still 
under review and the 
position may improve).

0.193

Unachieved Efficiencies 
Carried Forward from 
2015/16
Workforce Efficiency Proposal Unable to achieve proposed 

annual leave ‘buy back’ and 
extended use of pool car 
schemes due to the 
workability of the schemes 
(the reduction of car use 
costs may be re-included in 
the 2016/17 draft budget).

0.200

Review Model/Costs contract 
for Catering

Efficiency deferred due to 
ongoing work to move to an 
Alternative Delivery Model 
(ADM) for the catering 
service (final business case 
to be presented in February 

0.050



2016).
Regional Approach to 
Advocacy

The regional tendering 
exercise did not deliver the 
level of projected financial 
savings in full.

0.048

Funding to Voluntary Sector 
(Social Care)

Adjustment to the forecast 
efficiency following review of 
the portfolio of funded 
provider organisations.

0.138

Remittance Advice to 
Landlords

Adjustment to original 
efficiency based on the 
workability of the scheme,

0.041

New Pressures
Procurement Increased cost of the Joint 

Procurement Service with 
Denbighshire County 
Council based on service 
needs to achieve 
procurement income targets 
and apportionment of costs 
with the partner council.

0.028

Matrix (Sub-regional contract 
for procuring agency workers)

Reduction in costs savings 
per agency worker 
employed achieved through 
a more competitive 
procurement framework due 
to the lower levels of agency 
workers being taken on by 
the Council as an employer. 

0.050

Animal Feed Control Pressure due to the funding 
transferring out of the 
Provisional Settlement for 
2015/16.

0.022

Sub total 1.579
Transitional Funding 
Adjustment 2015/16 Budget
Funding from Reserves As part of the 2015/16 

budget strategy a temporary 
amount of £0.270m was 
utilised to balance the 
budget.  This technical 
adjustment reverses the 
impact on the base budget 
for 2016/17.

0.270

Total 1.849
  

1.25 Taking into account the new and emergent pressures the remaining budget 
gap therefore increases to £3.447M.  However, the pressures included at 
this stage will be subject to review and challenge as part of the finalisation 
of the budget and any changes included in the final report in February 2016.

D: Further Work to be Completed to Close the Budget



1.26 Work is ongoing to identify further budget reduction options in the areas of 
workforce costs, and the use of reserves and balances. The new and 
emergent pressures are also being reviewed in detail. The outcomes of this 
work will similarly be reported to Cabinet in February 2016.

Council Tax Income

1.27 The MTFS forecast was based on a working assumption that Council Tax 
would be increased in 2016/17 by 3%. As set out in the MTFS, explained in 
presentations in meetings within the Council, and tested with the public in 
the community engagement meetings, the Council can set an annual 
taxation rise up to a 5% maximum. The final taxation figure will need to be 
considered by Cabinet and then Council in February 2016.

1.28 Given the remaining budget gap, as set out in Table 5, and the outstanding 
work on the examination of new and emergent pressures, the level at which 
Council Tax will need to be set will require serious consideration. For 
planning purposes a rise of 5% will need to be built in to assumptions. The 
difference in value between a 3% Council Tax rise, and a 5% Council Tax 
rise, having deducted a provision to meet the additional benefits 
contributions to those eligible under the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(CTRS), would be £1.131M. A number of Welsh Councils are under a similar 
budget pressure and are considering a maximum annual Council Tax rise 
at 5%. 

1.29 In setting its budget on 16 February the Council will need to decide the level 
of Council Tax increase it is going to make for 2016/17. The Council will 
meet again on 1 March to pass the formal resolution for levying the Council 
Tax once it has received the notification of the precepts from the town and 
community councils. Intelligence on the Final Local Government Settlement 
should become available in between the two meetings. Keeping the option 
open to set an annual rise of 5% will be important should the Council’s 
financial position be worsened by any change to the Final Settlement which 
would have the effect of creating an additional financial pressure to be 
reconciled in setting the budget.

1.30 A full risk assessment of the final budget proposals will be presented to 
Cabinet and Council in February 2016. Risks that will require detailed 
consideration include:- 

 the impacts of specific grant reductions;
 mitigating inflationary impacts;
 achieving income targets;
 achievement of efficiencies on time and to financial target;
 the capacity of the organisation to manage large scale and complex 

change programmes;
 new and emergent pressures;
 use and reliance on reserves and balances; and
 the availability of limited remaining reserves to meet unforeseen 

pressures in-year.

1.31 The Chief Finance Officer and Chief Executive will advise Cabinet and 
Council in February 2016 with their risk assessments in their formal statutory 



advisory roles.

Part E: Calculation of the Total Revenue Budget And Budget 
Requirement

Proposed Budget

1.32 At this point in the budget planning there is a remaining budget gap on the 
recurring base budget of 3.447MM as detailed in the table below:

Sections 1.33- 1.46 below set out further details and assumptions made:-

Funding £M

Aggregate External Funding (AEF)/RSG NNDR 184.743
Council Tax 66.275
SSA/Budget Requirement 251.018

Specific Grants (Estimated) 34.159

Total Funding 285.177

Expenditure

Base Budget Rolled Forward 287.605

Prior Yr Budget Decisions Recurring (Appendix 6) 8.845

Prior Yr Budget Decisions One off dropping out (Appendix 6) (0.730)

Inflation (Appendix 7) 2.193

Pressures & Investments Recurring (Appendix 8) 1.964

Efficiencies - Business Planning (Appendix 9) (7.755)
Efficiencies - Corporate Finance (Appendix 10) (2.510)

Less Specific Grants 2015/16 (35.147)
Plus Specific Grants 2016/17 (Estimated Appendix 11) 34.159

Total Expenditure 288.624

Shortfall 3.447

Resources



1.33 Total resources of £285.177M include funding from Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG), National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR), Council Tax and Specific 
Grants.  The provisional settlement confirmed that the former 
unhypothecated Outcome Agreement Grant would cease in 2016/17, 
although there is no financial impact on the overall budget as it has 
transferred into the Settlement at the same value (£1.479m).
 

1.34 Currently, the amount to be raised from Council Tax is assumed as an 
increase in the Band D Council Rate of 3.0% (excluding Police and 
Town/Community Council precepts) and a 99% collection rate.  This 
equates to an increase of £30.76 on 2015/16 and a Band D rate of 
£1,056.03. At 3%, this assumption is at the lower end based on the Council's 
local taxation policy set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy and, as 
such, will need to be one of the factors to be reviewed in closing the 
remaining budget gap (see part D)

1.35 A 3.0% increase in the Band D Rate results in a Budget Requirement of 
£251.018m.

1.36 As the Council's proposed increase in the Band D rate differs from that 
assumed by Welsh Government when calculating Flintshire's Standard 
Spending Assessment (SSA), the budget requirement is £2.713M below its 
calculated SSA of £253.731m as notified in the Provisional Settlement.  The 
specific grants figure of £34.159M is provisional, with the Welsh 
Government yet to advise of the 2016/17 level for a number of grants. 
However, in line with the Council’s MTFS, expenditure levels need to be 
managed within the final figures announced by the Welsh Government. 
Appendix 11 details the information received from Welsh Government to 
date.

Expenditure

1.37 Previous Year Growth / Items Dropping Out
Each year indicative amounts for previous year’s pressures and investments 
and efficiencies are included in the budget for the following two years. In the 
current budget the net effects of the changes agreed in 2014/15 and 
2015/16 equate to a net increase of £8.845m for recurring items and a 
reduction of £0.730m in relation to one-off items of expenditure as detailed 
in Appendix 6.  These amounts have been reviewed as part of the 2016/17 
budget and where appropriate an adjustment made to reflect the current 
position.

1.38 Pay and Price Inflation
Inflation of £2.193m is shown in detail in Appendix 7

1.39 The proposals at this stage assume a 1% increase on pay from April 2016, 
although the outcome of national negotiations has yet to be agreed.

1.40 Price inflation of £0.573m has been included in the draft proposals for some 
targeted service areas following a detailed assessment. 

1.41 Based on market intelligence and recent spend history there is no above 



standard inflation allocation required for 2016/17.

1.42 Income inflation amounting to £0.185M has been assumed on the yield from 
existing fees and charges.

1.43 The inflation figures referred to above exclude inflation on specific grant 
income and related expenditure as the specific grant figures are indicative 
only at this stage.  Adjustments will be applied when the figures are 
confirmed by the Welsh Government but this will be cost neutral to the 
Council.

1.44 There were no transfers in to the Settlement in relation to former Specific 
Grants.

1.45 Appendix 8 sets out the recurring pressures and investment of £1.964M 
included in the 2016/17 budget over and above the impact of previous year 
decisions and includes the new and emergent pressures that will be subject 
to further review.

1.46 Information on the efficiency proposals are detailed in Appendix 9 with an 
amount of £7.755M arising from the portfolio Business Plans and £2.510M 
arising from the Corporate Financing options. 

Schools Budget

1.47 Under the School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010, local authorities are 
required to notify Welsh Government of the proposed budget for schools for 
the forthcoming year by 14th February each year. The First Minister has 
indicated his commitment to protect schools funding in 2015/16 by 1% 
above the change in the overall Welsh Government budget.  For 2016/17 
this equates to 1.85%.  It should be noted that the protection expectation is 
relative to Welsh Government’s funding from the UK Treasury and not the 
level of Individual Council settlements from Welsh Government.

1.48 The current budget proposals meet the First Minister’s expectation of 
protecting schools, although the Council will continue to review investment 
in schools, particularly for inflationary pressures.  The Council is also 
committed to increasing the amount of the school budget delegated to 
schools progressively.  This is within the strategic framework which 
embraces the school modernisation programme, numbers of children in 
school (demographic change) and investment through the 21st Century 
Schools Programme.

1.49 The Welsh Government has indicated that in line with ongoing plans to 
streamline the education grants regime the Education Improvement Grant 
(EIG) will transfer into RSG in 2016/17, the formula basis of distribution of 
this grant through RSG has yet to be announced. Welsh Government have 
indicated that it is likely that the funding for EIG will be reduced but the 
amount of this reduction is not known at this time.
 

1.50 Based on recent intelligence on Post 16 funding levels we are anticipating 
a flat line budget in 2016/17.  However, it should be noted that as post 16 
provision in certain schools will cease in September 2016 when the new 
post 16 hub opens at Coleg Cambria the total funding Flintshire receives will 



be reduced.

1.51 Welsh Government have announced an increase of £100 per pupil eligible 
for Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG). Based on the number of pupils eligible 
for Free School Meals this equates to an increase in funding of £0.275M in 
2016/17.  The total increase in funding for schools in Flintshire for PDG in 
2016/17 arising from the per pupil increase and due to the overall increase 
in pupils eligible for Free School Meals is £0.477M (18%).

Equality Impact Assessment

1.52 The Council has an obligation to assess the potential equalities impact of its 
budget proposals to ensure that there is no discrimination or disadvantage 
to either service users or employees.  The Council has included 
consideration of any equalities impacts within its risk assessment process 
for the budget proposals.  Reference to the risk assessments is made in the 
factsheets which provide detail behind each budget proposal.

EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED RESERVES

Base Level of Unearmarked Reserves

1.53 The Council's Medium Term Financial Strategy confirms the Council’s 
commitment to maintaining a base level of reserves of 2% of turnover. The 
current base level of reserves is £5.769m as reported in the monthly budget 
monitoring reports. Despite the fact that funding has reduced in 2016/17 
over 2015/16 it is proposed that un-earmarked reserves are maintained at 
the same level for 2016/17 which will provide an additional safeguard in the 
current uncertain financial climate.

Contingency Reserve

1.54 When the 2015/16 budget was set the Contingency Reserve was estimated 
to be £3.955M at 31 March 2015.  As a result of the net underspend reported 
in the final outturn for 2014/15 the actual amount in the Contingency 
Reserve at the year-end was £4.746mm.

1.55 The 2015/16 Month 7 Budget Monitoring report which is also on this agenda, 
shows an estimated balance of £4.923mm in the contingency reserve as at 
31 March 2016, although there are two specific recommendations in the 
report which if approved will reduce the amount to £4.023M.

1.56 Whilst the base level of reserves is a known sum which is set aside, the 
level of contingency reserve is based on the current estimate and is subject 
to change at the end of the financial year.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 The resource implications of the budget position are significant. These are 
explained within this report, previous reports, and the MTFS.



3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Consultations have been undertaken internally with elected members, 
senior officers and their service teams, and Trade Unions. Consultations 
have been undertaken externally via the publication and distribution of the 
MTFS, and with the public as set out in the report and in the appendices.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The national reductions in funding for local government pose the greatest 
risk to the governance, performance and sustainability of the Council since 
the previous reorganisation in the mid-1990s. This risk is being mitigated 
through a twofold approach.  Firstly, the Council continuing to streamline 
and innovate.  Secondly, by working with Welsh Government to seek some 
support and relief from budget reductions based on a reasoned case.  This 
twofold approach is set out in the Part 2 of the MTFS Meeting the Challenge.

4.02 The risks posed to the plans to change and innovate within specific services 
are managed through assessing the risks and impacts of change as part of 
framing options and making decisions. Effective programme management 
arrangements are in place to oversee the implementation of the Chief 
Officer portfolio business plans and to manage these risks in close detail, 
with reports being made to Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny at key stages 
of decision-taking and, later, performance reporting and evaluation.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01

5.02

Set One: General Background
Appendix 1: Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015-2018 Part 2: 
Meeting the Challenge 
Appendix 2: Published Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015-2018 Part 1: 
Forecasting the Challenge
Appendix 3: Summary of the Provisional Local Government Settlement 
2016/17 as presented to Cabinet in December 2015
Appendix 4: The presentation materials for the Corporate Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee which met at the close of the 
examination round of the first stage budget proposals in late December
Appendix 5: Report of the Community Engagement Activity November-
December 2015

Set Two: Detailed Budget Financial Appendices
Appendix 6: Prior Year Budget Decisions
Appendix 7: Inflation
Appendix 8: Pressures and Investments
Appendix 9: Business Plan Efficiency Proposal Spreadsheets (in support 
of Table 1 of the report)
Appendix 10: Efficiencies Corporate Financing
Appendix 11: Specific Grants



6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 1. The agendas, minutes and presentation materials from previous Cabinet 
and Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings from mid-2015 onwards 
(all available on www.flintshire.gov.uk)
2. The separate report on the Provisional Local Government Settlement 
also on the Cabinet agenda for 19.01.16 (available on 
www.flintshire.gov.uk)
3. The Provisional Local Government Settlement 2016/17 
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/lgsettlement1617/?l
ang=en

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS): a written strategy which gives a  
forecast of the financial resources which will be available to a Council for a 
given period, and sets out plans for how best to deploy those resources to 
meet its priorities, duties and obligations.

Council Fund: the majority of the Council’s revenue expenditure covering all 
services except Council Housing for which there is a stand-alone and ring-
fenced account called the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

Annual Settlement: the amount of its funds the Welsh Government will 
allocate annually to local government as a whole, as part of its total budget, 
and to individual councils one by one. The amount of Revenue Support Grant 
(see below) each council will receive is based on a complex distribution 
formula for awarding Aggregate External Finance (AEF).  The formula is 
underpinned by assessments of local need based, for example, of population 
size and demographics and levels of social deprivation.

Aggregate External Finance (AEF): the total amount of support the Welsh 
Government provides to councils each year.  The total is made up of Revenue 
Support Grant (see below), a share of the national ‘pool’ of National Non-
Domestic Rates (see below) and a number specific grant where funds are 
provided for councils to spend on specified services to achieve pre-set 
outcomes for example in education or waste collection.

Local Government Funding Formula: the system through which the annual 
funding needs of each council is assessed at a national level, and from which 
each council’s annual AEF (see above) is derived.  The formula is very 
complex.  In summary, using information such as statistics on local population 
change and deprivation, the formula sets a guide for each council’s funding 
needs called the Standard Spending Assessment (SSA). 

Revenue Support Grant: the annual amount of money the Council receives 
from Welsh Government to fund what it does alongside the Council Tax and 
other income the Council raises locally. Councils can decide how to use this 
grant across services although their freedom to allocate according to local 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/lgsettlement1617/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/lgsettlement1617/?lang=en


choice can be limited by guidelines set by Government.

National Non-Domestic Rates: the business equivalent of the Council Tax 
where companies pay a property based tax for local services.  Each council 
as the local collection authority collects the tax from companies, pays it into 
a national ‘pool’, and then receives a share back as part of its Annual 
Settlement (see above).





Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

2015 - 2018

Part 2 - September 2015 

Meeting the Financial Challenge



2

Introduction

The second part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) sets out how the Council 
plans to meet the challenge of the financial forecast set out in the first part of the 
strategy.

In the first part of the MTFS we i l lustrated a forecast for the resources the Council wil l 
have available for the three year period 2015/16-2017/18. This forecast is based on the 
latest and most rel iable available intel l igence. 

This second part of the MTFS builds on the work of recent years for the Council to be a 
modern, cost-eff icient and high performing organisation providing resil ient local public 
services which can be sustained in future years in the face of considerable funding 
pressures.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 

List of Tables

Chapter 1
Table 1 - Forecast for 2015/16-2017/18

Chapter 2
Table 2 - Council Annual Efficiency Targets 2008/09-2015/16

Chapter 4a
Table 3 - Business Plan Efficiency Targets 2015/16-2017/18

Chapter 4b
Table 4 - Corporate Finance Efficiency Proposals 2015/16  

Chapter 4c
Table 5 - Funding Pressures for National Support and Relief 



3

Contents

Meeting the Financial Challenge:

1.   Sizing the Challenge 4

2.  Fl intshire: An Eff icient and Innovative Council 6

3.   Fl intshire: A Low Funded Council 8

4.   Fl intshire: Our Strategy 11

4a. Funding Strategy Part 1: Service Reform 12

4b. Funding Strategy Part 2: Corporate Financial Stewardship 15

4c. Funding Strategy Part 3: Working with Welsh Government 18

5.  Conclusions and Way Forward 22

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



4

Part 1 of the Strategy Forecasting the Challenge 
forecasts a cumulative and real impact reduction 
in resources available to the Council of £52.8m 
over the three year period. As Part 1 says “our 
resources are being reduced year on year, through 
big reductions in the grants we depend on from 
Government. We also then have to meet cost 
pressures, such as inflation, with less money at 
our disposal. Inflation, rises in demand for critical 
services, and the cost of legal obligations placed 
upon us, such as pensions reform, all place a 
strain on our reducing budget”. 

In the ‘annual settlement’ where Government 
decides how much funding to set aside for 
local government, provision was once made for 
inflation and other pressures with councils being 
funded to meet them. This is no longer the case 
with councils now facing a double pressure of 
an actual reduction in their annual grant on the 

one side, and no financial protection for the extra 
things they have to fund on the other.

This is why the annual targets for budget 
reductions, or funding ‘gaps’ to be bridged, come 
out so high.

For Flintshire the annual ‘gaps’ as set out in Table 
1 are £18.3m for 2015/16, £20.8m for 2016/17 
and £13.7m for 2017/18.

A cumulative funding gap of over £50m against a 
net budget of around £250m is challenge enough 
for any council. The challenge is made both more 
complicated and more daunting by two factors 
- the unpredictability of specific levels of funding 
for local government, and the number of years for 
which the public sector will have to endure repeat 
and compounding reductions in Government 
grant.

The unpredictability comes from the absence of 
a medium term Government plan which sets out, 
with a reasonable level of certainty, the resources 
which will be allocated for local government 
and, in turn, to each individual council. In A 
Shared Commitment: Local Government and the 
Spending Review published in June 2015 the Local 
Government Association (LGA) calls for adequate 
and fair funding for the public services. The LGA 
and the Welsh Local Government Association 
(WLGA) have long been pressing for medium 
term financial settlements which would allow 
councils to plan ahead. Likewise, the Independent 

1. Sizing the Challenge

Councils are highly dependent on annual grant funding from Government to resource 
the local services we provide to local communities. As set out in Part 1 of the Strategy 
Forecasting the Challenge our resources are being reduced, year on year, through big 
reductions in these grants. The Council also has to meet cost pressures such as inflation 
and the demands of local people for services, with less money at our disposal. We forecast 
a ‘gap’ of £52.8m in the resources of the Council over the three year period 2015/16-
2017/18. A forecast is simply a type of prediction.  Whilst based on the latest and most 
reliable available intelligence a forecast cannot be guaranteed to work out as assumed, 
and the actual funding position for the Council could become better or worse over time.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



5

Commission on Local Government Finance in 
Financing English Devolution has called for the 
new UK Government to ‘commit to full and clear 
multi-year settlements to enable effective long-
term planning for local authorities and other public 
sector services’. In the absence of Government 
taking a lead with resilient longer-term planning 
how can councils be expected to ‘plan ahead 
and make better-informed decisions’ in strategic 
planning as suggested by the Wales Audit Office 
in its publication Meeting the Financial Challenges 
Facing Local Government in Wales?

The daunting challenge comes from the fiscal 
plans of the UK Government to rebalance national 
debt as a key feature of its economic policy. The 
repeated annual reductions in national public 
spending can be expected to continue for the 
remainder of the decade based on Government 
policy and the evaluation of its impacts by 
reputable commentators such as the Institute 
for Fiscal Studies. Local Government in England 
has not had the protection of relative shielding 
from public spending cuts as have some other 
public services, such as the NHS, a development 
which is now being mirrored in Wales with local 
government being given less priority. 

As explored in Chapter 4 local government in 
Wales has a higher dependence on Government 
grant than its peer group in England. This exposes 
councils in Wales to a greater level of threat of 
resource reduction in the absence of parallel 

freedoms and flexibilities such as the retention of 
additional National Non Domestic Rate (NNDR) 
or ‘business rates’ income through successful 
strategies for promoting local business growth.

The accuracy of the forecast set out for Flintshire 
will be determined by a number of factors. 
Government decisions on funding, trends in 
inflation, national employment policy and pay 
trends, and pressures on services through 
demographic change and Government policy, will 
all come into the mix. 

The forecast set out in Part 1 of the MTFS will be 
regularly reviewed and updated for Council plans 
to be reviewed and re-set.

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total
Expenditure £m £m £m £m

National Pressures  0.9 0.4 0.3 1.6  
Local Pressures 6.2 2.5 1.2 9.9
Inflation 4.1 4.1 4.3 12.5    

Workforce Pressures 2.5 9.4 3.7 15.6 

Income      
Reduction in Revenue Support Grant (3.5%) 6.6 6.5 6.3 19.4
Council Tax Increase (3%) (2.0) (2.1) (2.1) (6.2)

Projected Gap 18.3 20.8 13.7 52.8

Table 1 - Summary of forecasting position 2015 - 2018

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



6

Councils are, by law, required to set a balanced 
budget for each financial year and cannot ‘carry’ 
ongoing and unfunded deficits. Flintshire has 
a successful track record of prudent financial 
planning whilst meeting its legal obligations, and of 
having its annual accounts passed by its external 
auditors, year on year, without qualification. 

For many years councils have had to find annual 
efficiencies and savings to balance up their 
budgets. In recent years the scale of the annual 
efficiency and savings targets required have risen 
to levels which have taken councils into uncharted 
territory. 

Flintshire has achieved close to £60m of efficiencies 
and savings in the mainstream or ‘Council Fund’ 
expenditure over the past eight financial years 
from 2008/09 to now. In earlier years these budget 

changes were often made to reinvest money from 
one service in another to support the priorities 
the Council saw as important. In more recent 
years budget changes have been made to fund 
the annual budget ‘gap’ caused by the national 
reductions in local government finance described 
in Chapter 1. The fact that the last two financial 
years of 2014/15 and 2015/16 account for nearly 
£25m or 42% of this total figure, shows how the 
funding position for Flintshire is deteriorating.

It is helpful to avoid using jargon in presenting this 
picture of Flintshire’s recent history. When public 
organisations use the term efficiency they actually 
mean a number of budgeting changes which, 
taken together, fall under this generic term. In our 
case the term combines the following:-

•	 Reducing	the	overall	costs	of	individual	services	
through reviewing the way they are organised 
and making them more efficient as business 
operations

•	 Smarter	procurement	or	‘buying’	and	‘contracting’

•	 Reducing	basic	costs	in	the	way	the	organisation	
works for example its processing systems

•	 Reducing	senior	management	and	administration	
costs

•	 Reducing	the	size	and	cost	of	the	workforce	

•	 Raising	more	income	through	fees	and	charges	
for services

2. Flintshire: An Efficient and Innovative 

Council

All public sector organisations should be expected to be efficient, channelling as much of 
their resources as possible into services to local communities, and keeping their overhead 
and administrative costs to a minimum. Equally, all organisations should be innovative in 
finding new solutions to protect and develop their services with fewer and fewer resources. 
Flintshire prides itself on being an efficient and innovative council. Whilst there is always 
more that can be done, we have done much already. As each year of finding efficiencies to 
bridge the budget gap passes by the scope to find new efficiencies narrows. It is important 
that we demonstrate to our communities, Government, our regulators and ourselves, what 
we have done and what we plan to do to indeed be efficient and innovative.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



7

Throughout the document we use the term 
efficiencies and savings to mean all of these 
things brought together under one easy to use 
heading.

If a tax payer were to say ‘prove to me that the 
Council is efficient’ then a good answer would 
involve showing the volume and quality of a 
service against the amount of money spent on 
it. To take the answer further the respondent 
would show how well the council was performing 
in this ‘value for money’ assessment against 
comparable councils providing the same types 
of services.  Therefore, it is important to show 
how well Flintshire is performing, not just how 
cost efficient it might be to live up to the ‘tag’ of 
being an ‘efficient and innovative council’.

Comparators of our performance in our peer 
group of local councils are used in Chapter 3 
where we explore how well funded the council 
actually is. 

In this Chapter we demonstrate how cost efficient 
the council is against the benchmark of having to 
achieve increasingly large targets of efficiencies 
and savings to bridge the annual funding ‘gap’ 
through being innovative.

In recent years the Council has been highly 
innovative. The following are some big examples 
of this:-
•	 Reducing	senior	management	posts	and	their	

support by nearly 50% 
•	 Reducing	 ‘middle’	 management	 by	 between	

25-30%
•	 Reducing	administration	and	clerical	positions	

by over 40%

•	 All	 services	 being	 on	 track	 to	 achieve	 30%	
cost reduction targets (except education and 
social care)

•	 Large	scale	voluntary	redundancy	programmes	
for non-teaching employees. 

•	 Reduction	in	non-school	based	employees	of	
6% over the past 12 months alone

•	 Sharing	buildings	by	co-locating	with	partners	
including North Wales Police, Job Centre Plus 
and Coleg Cambria 

•	 Reducing	 office	 accommodation	 by	 16%	
through smarter ways of working

•	 Procuring	 or	 bulk	 buying	 with	 other	 councils	
to get a better deal e.g. computer hardware

•	 Integrating	services	with	other	councils	in	the	
region to share costs e.g. education 

•	 Trading	 with	 other	 councils	 in	 services	 to	
share costs e.g. Occupational Health 

•	 Stopping	trading	in	services	where	the	market	
performs better, for example trade waste

•	 Inviting	 local	 communities	 to	 take	 on	
treasured local buildings and facilities through 
‘community asset transfer’

•	 Moving	a	number	of	services	away	from	direct	
Council provision and into new ‘alternative 
delivery models’ and reducing their level of 
public ‘subsidy’ as a result

Recent ground breaking work shows how the 
Council is being innovative to do things differently.  
These include setting up a new wholly Council 
owned Trading Company “New Homes” to help 
provide homes for local people; the SHARP 
programme (Strategic Housing and Regeneration 
Programme) to build new Council and affordable 
housing; switching social services for adults with 
mental health issues and learning disabilities to 
a new social enterprise, called “Double Click”, to 
protect them for the future.   

The opportunities for such innovations are 
diminishing; the opportunities to save money are 
diminishing with them.

Table 2 - Council Annual Efficiency Targets 2008/09 - 2015/16

Year 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Budget 226.419 233.335 240.408 239.896 241.203 258.825 253.718 249.979

Target £ 5.654 3.803 6.151 8.920 4.716 5.331 11.950 12.874

Target % 2.50 1.63 2.56 3.72 1.95 2.06 4.70 5.15

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



8

The formula works on theoretical indices of need; 
it does not take into account the cost base of 
services as provided in each county in real life. 
Counties like Flintshire will have needs which are 
not sufficiently recognised in a technical formula 
which makes no provision for flexibility and 
exceptions. 

Flintshire, for example, is a semi-rural county with 
a	 number	 of	 equally	 sized	 county	 towns	 where	
communities need localised services. The Council 
therefore has to manage a network of dispersed 
services for example schools, leisure centres, 
libraries and household recycling centres. The 
point will come when the amount counties 
receive though the formula is simply insufficient 
to maintain services in a way which is similar 
to current configurations. This means that local 
services will face major upheaval as the current 
pattern cannot be maintained. The cost of running 
a secondary school efficiently from one council to 
the next, or that of a principal leisure centre, is 

similar regardless of factors such as rurality and 
deprivation. The amount of Government grant 
we are now receiving is no longer sufficient to 
maintain local services to the levels to which local 
communities are accustomed. So for councils with 
low funding it becomes a question of how many 
schools or leisure centres a council can afford to 
keep open and run, and not one of how efficient 
they can be one by one.

Flintshire has come 19th out of the 22 councils 
for the amount of Government funding it receives 
through the formula per head of population in 
each of the last two years. The Wales Audit 
Office (WAO) noted in its most recent Annual 
Improvement Report that in 2014/15 gross 
expenditure in Flintshire was £2,064 per head, 
lower than in 2011/12, whilst the average across 
Wales had risen from £2,250 to £2,312 per head 
for the same period. WAO calculated that our 
gross expenditure had fallen by some 7% over the 
past three years against a Welsh average of 3%. 
This analysis demonstrates that Flintshire is a low 
funded council through the formula. With such 
low funding the scope for making savings and 
efficiencies, whilst trying to maintain services in 
ways which support and serve local communities, 
is very constrained.

To explore and demonstrate whether Flintshire 
is indeed a low funded council we engaged The 

3. Flintshire: A Low Funded Council

Councils in Wales are funded by Welsh Government through a mechanism called the Local 
Government Funding Formula. Within this formula a calculation or benchmark of what each 
council needs called the Standard Spending Assessment (SSA) is included. The SSA is 
based on factors including demography, population change and deprivation. Whilst being a 
theoretical calculation the SSA is significant in determining how much of the share of public 
funds set aside for local government in Wales comes to Flintshire. For Flintshire some 
65% of our annual funding comes from Welsh Government through the formula. The Local 
Government Funding formula is complex and theoretical. Whilst it can be argued that the 
formula distributes the available funds fairly across twenty-two local authorities according 
to need, the formula was not designed for a situation where the total amount of funding 
being pass-ported through it was in sharp decline.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



9

Chartered Institute of Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) to provide advice. CIPFA tested the 
presumption that Flintshire is ‘a low funded council 
in Wales with less flexibility and capability to find 
sufficient efficiencies under the current funding 
system and formula’. The work was conducted 
using existing data sets and information and with 
no new empirical research. The work looked 
at spend and performance in education and 
social services as the two main areas of council 
spending, and also in highways as a third area as 
one of the priorities of the Council and one of keen 
public interest.

The report of CIPFA concludes that ‘based on the 
research that we have carried out using nationally 
published data sets we can form a number of 
tentative conclusions’. We can conclude that:-

•		Flintshire	 is	 a	 low	 spending	 authority	 on	 both	
Social Care and Education;

•		Flintshire	 achieves	 a	 relatively	 high	 level	 of	
performance on both of these services despite 
the low level of expenditure;

•		Flintshire	spends	at	an	above	average	 level	on	
highways;

•		Flintshire	 achieves	 the	 highest	 level	 of	
performance in Wales on the performance 
measure of roads in poor condition.

The report goes on to recognise that Flintshire has 
a comparatively lower percentage of elderly people 
amongst the local population as a demographic, 
and a lower percentage of children in ‘care’. It also 
recognises that the County has comparatively 
lower levels of deprivation under the Wales Index 

of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD). The report also 
notes that the County has a large volume of daily 
road traffic compared to other Welsh counties.

The CIPFA analysis demonstrates that Flintshire is 
a low funded and a high performing council in its 
two principal service areas, and is both a higher 
spender and a higher performer than the average 
in highways. 

CIPFA then go on to note that from the Council’s 
own statistics on demand ‘there appears to be:-

•		a	declining	birth	rate	that	could	lead	to	a	lower	
demand for school places, although this could 
also have an adverse effect on unit costs and 
the funding formula; 

•		an	increasing	demand	for	services	for	the	elderly;

•		a	 deteriorating	 condition	 of	 the	 highways	 and	
footpaths network due to lower spending 
under the County’s preventative approach to 
maintenance.’

It should be added to the above that Flintshire 
has experienced unprecedented rises in levels of 
demand for Children’s Services in the past two 
years and has had to make extra investment in 
this highly sensitive area of social services to cope.

In confirming that Flintshire has ‘a low Standard 
Spending Assessment (SSA) due to the demand 
statistics in the calculation formula and a low 
level of Aggregate External Finance (AEF)’ the 
independent analysis highlights that Flintshire 
receives lower funding under the current system. 
Why does this matter? If education and social care 
account for two thirds of the Council’s expenditure, 
and we already spend relatively lowly on them - 
on spend per pupil in schools and on spend per 
head of the adult population for social care - then 
there is inevitably limited scope to be more cost 
efficient. Given that Flintshire performs highly in 
both service areas then any significant reduction 
in spend will directly impact on performance to 
the detriment to pupils and students, and local 
people in need of care support. Whilst there may 
appear to be scope for a reduction in spend on 
highways maintenance, any such reduction will 
impact on the quality of local roads people use. 
Flintshire roads may be the best maintained in 
Wales but the condition of our roads is declining.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



10

The CIPFA report concludes as follow. ‘Overall, 
we may conclude that, although the County has 
a low level of funding and expenditure, it is able 
to achieve a generally high level of performance. 
The low level of funding appears to be due to 
a low level of demand for services which is 
reflected in the SSA calculation. Where demand 
for a service is high, in the case of Transport, the 
County is a higher spender and is able to achieve 
the highest level of performance. This may lead 
to the conclusion that with additional funding and 
a higher level of expenditure the County could 
increase its current level of performance in other 
services. However, the spending on highways 
looks set to fall under the County’s preventative 
approach to maintenance. 

Notwithstanding this conclusion we have been 
made aware of a number of local factors that 
impact on the County’s ability to deliver services 
and which have little or no impact on the funding 
formula. Although we have not attempted to verify 
or quantify the impact as part of this review the 
key points to consider include:-

•		the	County	has	a	large	business	base	impacting,	
for example, on infrastructure investment and 

planning and public protection services and this 
is not included in the funding formula;

•		the	formula	makes	no	recognition	of	historic	and	
current patterns of local provision according to 
community need and county conurbations; 

•		the	 County’s	 geographical	 positioning	
with England, in the context of its highway 
infrastructure and Gateway to Wales position 
leads to high volumes of traffic both in and out 
of the County.

The CIPFA report closes with the final critical point 
that ‘the County’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 
does not at this stage show a balanced position 
and the fact that it is making a national case for 
funding relief could be interpreted as suggesting 
that the County has reached the stage where it is 
no longer viable’.

This stark conclusion to the analysis does 
point to the risk of the Council being financially 
unsustainable as a unit under the current funding 
formula on which we rely for close to three quarters 
of our funding. This underpins the rationale for our 
three part strategy.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 

In 2014/15 Flintshire achieved better than the Welsh average in 62% of the national 
performance indicators councils use and was in the top three performers in  20% of 
these indicators 
 
Our highlights:
•		the highest number of young people engaged in education, employment or training 

for the last 3 years
•		educational attainment - GCSE level for first language English or Welsh - ranked as 

top for the last 3 years
•		consistently high school attendance - 1st or 2nd position over the past 3 years
•		care plans for Social Services clients been produced on time; the top performer for 

2 years
•	the best condition of roads for the last 3 years

The National Public Survey shows that the Council is ranked 2nd in Wales for providing 
good quality services according to the views of residents.

How We Perform



11

As has been demonstrated in Chapter 2 Flintshire 
is an efficient and innovative council. As has been 
demonstrated in Chapter 3 Flintshire is a low 
funded council. Taken together these chapters 
show that as a council with a relatively low resource 
base we have few opportunities left for  bridging 
the funding ‘gap’ through local innovation, without 
resorting to further and deeper service reforms, 
cuts and even closures of a scale unprecedented 
in North East Wales. 

The three part strategy is based on the reality 
that councils and other public bodies are part of 
a wider system of public sector funding. Whilst 
councils should be expected and be challenged 
to be efficient and innovative, and make local 
choices to reduce their costs to contribute to 
making best use of public funding as part of the UK 
‘austerity programme’, they cannot act alone and 
governments need to share in the responsibility.

In a funding system where councils in Wales 
depend on Government grant for up to 75% of 
their annual revenue funding for mainstream 
council	 services,	 with	 a	 sizeable	 proportion	 of	
it ring-fenced for specific services through the 
specific grants system, their capacity to act 
flexibly with their resources is constrained. In Part 
1 of the MTFS we explain how national changes 
introduced by government, whether at a UK or 
Wales level, for example social policies or new 
legislation, can bring in new financial pressures 
on councils as the providers of services direct to 
the public. If governments desire social or legal 
change then they have a duty to carefully consider 
the resourcing consequences; otherwise, the 
budgets for existing local services will inevitably 
be placed under increasing strain.

Under part one of the funding strategy the Council 
takes responsibility for continuing to reform and 
modernise local services through its three year 
service ‘portfolio’ business plans. All services and 
corporate support services, with the exception 
of education and social care, have 30% cost 
reduction targets to achieve. Under part two the 
Council takes responsibility for the prudent use 
of corporate finances for example absorbing the 
costs of inflation, raising income, and managing 
workforce costs. Under part three we set out 
realistic expectations of Welsh Government as our 
principal funder.

4. Flintshire: Our Funding Strategy

The Council funding strategy has three parts - service reform, corporate financial 
stewardship and working with Welsh Government. The first two parts are based on local 
reform and choice. The third is based on choice and decision-making by and within Welsh 
Government. The three parts are inter-dependent. For the strategy to succeed, progress 
will need to be made in each of the three parts.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



12

Council Service Portfolios
The Council has grouped its services into eight 
portfolios for the purpose of organisation and 
management. In doing this the organisation went 
through a major upheaval in 2015 to introduce a 
new operating model - or way of working - with 
a streamlined and closer working team of chief 
officers. Each chief officer is responsible for one 
of the portfolios. A major task for each of the new 
chief officers has been to develop a three year 
business plan for their group of services for the 
period 2015/16-2017/18.

Portfolio Business Planning
The new business plans for each service portfolio 
take the Council to levels of challenge and planning 
which are unprecedented. Services have always 
worked to business plans. The motivation for this 
new approach was twofold: to make significant 
reductions in operating costs in response to 
the financial challenge of major reductions in 

Government grant income to the Council, and to 
modernise and improve the organisation to new 
levels of ambition and excellence. 

The new business plans fundamentally review:-

•	 the	purpose,	priorities	and	the	performance	of	
the service group

•	 the	 costs	 of	 the	 services	 both	 in	 themselves	
and compared to other councils

•	 income levels and the potential for income growth 

•	 the	management	and	administrative	structures	
and costs of the services

•	 the	service	model	and	whether	an	alternative	
model would be a better option for the future

•	 the	 future	 sizing	 and	 allocation	 of	 budgets	
based on the above 

The business plans have to balance the 
achievement of Council priorities, for example 
those set out in the Improvement Plan, and the 
duties to meet statutory, contractual and other 
obligations, in addition to presenting options for 
saving money. The plans do take the Council into 
examination of whether some services are core 
business or even needed at all, whether we should 
do things differently, whether we are achieving 
value for money in providing quality at reasonable 
cost, and how customers should be expected to 
contribute through paying fees and charges.

4a. Funding Strategy Part 1: 

 Service Reform

Council services are organised into portfolios or groups. Year on year each chief officer, 
who leads a portfolio, is asked to find efficiencies and savings to help balance the total 
Council budget. These savings are found through bigger actions such as making changes 
to how services are organised and delivered to local communities, through to smaller 
actions such as cutting out unnecessary expenditure and wastage. More recently this work 
has broadened into more challenging work such as reducing service provision, charging 
for services, and reducing the size of the workforce.  All services, other than Education and 
Social Services, have been given a target of reducing their costs by at least 30% over this 
three year period. The total savings target services are working to is £28.2m over the three 
year period.

Reductions in operating 
costs

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



13

Setting Budget Targets
All service portfolios have been set a ‘working’ 
target of achieving a 30% efficiency in their total 
budget allocation over the three year period 
to 2017/18 as a contribution to the Council’s 
total funding ‘gap’. There are two exceptions – 
Education and Social Care. 

Referring back to Chapter 2 and the Council’s 
track record in achieving some £46.5m efficiencies 
and savings in the seven years leading up to the 
introduction of the new style business plans, 
it needs to be recognised that some services 
have already achieved significant savings in past 
years. Where this has been the case, the scope 
for achieving further efficiencies for this next three 
year period will inevitably be less. 

The 30% is set defined as a ‘working’ target as a 
guide to stimulate challenging thinking and review. 
For some services achieving a full 30% might 
not be possible, for others it may be possible to 
exceed the target. The setting of working targets 
for each portfolio does not prevent the Council 
from setting priorities across the portfolios 
according to its overall aims. In other words the 
Council may choose to lower or raise the target 
for a given portfolio according to how its wishes to 
prioritise certain important services above others. 
This is why the chief officers work as a collective 

to advise councillors, as the decision-makers, 
under our corporate operating model.

Education and Social Care are expected to 
achieve efficiencies and savings too but not to the 
same extent. Both are highly regulated services, 
which are demand-led, and where much of the 
expenditure is essential to meet our statutory 
obligations.

Over 80% of the budgets for the Education and 
Youth portfolio are delegated to schools. Whilst 
schools are expected to contribute a 30% efficiency 
target is unrealistic. The amount to be invested in 
schools as a group through the Schools Funding 
Formula is explored in Chapter 4b. The core part 
of the ‘local education authority’ where specialist 
management and support services for schools 
are held back within the Council, and where other 
services such as the Youth Service sit, have also 
been set a 30% efficiency target.

The large majority of the Social Care budget is spent 
on providing or buying care and support services for 
vulnerable people based on the assessment of their 
needs. The costs of providing residential care for 
the elderly, and other vulnerable groups, accounts 
for over a third of its budget alone. The demands 
on social care are growing year on year, through 
an aging and changing society with more complex 

Table 3 - Business Plan Efficiency Targets 2015/16 - 2017/18

 
Portfolio  2015/16 £m 2016/17 £m 2017/18 £m

Planning and Environment 0.941 0.422 0.255

Streetscene and Transportation 2.570 2.590 3.405

Social Care 2.068 0.788 1.984 

Education and Youth 1.459 0.382 1.520

Community and Enterprise 1.565 1.209 0.787

People and Resources 0.385 0.385 0.730

Governance 0.248 0.315 0.725

Organisational Change 1.306 1.272 0.902

Business Plan Efficiency Totals 10.541 7.363 10.308

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



14

recognised needs, a trend which further limits the 
potential to make budget reductions.

Education and Social Care account for just under 
two thirds of the Council’s net budget - so the 
limitations on being able to save money in these 
two big service areas in turn limits the capacity of 
the whole Council to make savings to bridge the 
projected budget ‘gap’. 

For 2015-16 the combined total of the efficiencies 
and savings from the business plans is £10.541m. 
This total is built into the annual budget. Whilst 
the Council has a good track record in achieving 
planned efficiency targets within the financial year 
for which they have been set, there will inevitably 
be a ‘failure rate’ as circumstances change 
or plans cannot be realised. In 2014/15 the 
Council was successful in achieving 87% of the 
efficiencies it had set out at the beginning of the 
financial year. Detail on the levels of confidence 
in achieving the pre-set efficiencies is reported 
monthly in our in-year budget monitoring reports. 
Where efficiencies are not achieved, as planned, 
other solutions must be found to balance up the 
annual budget by the close of the financial year.

The planned business plan efficiency and saving 
targets set for 2015/16, the outline proposals 
under consideration for 2016/17, and the long-
list options for 2017/18 are summarised, by 
portfolio, in Table 3. These plans are far reaching 
and challenging.

The Council has long been a positive collaborator, 
working with other councils and partners in the 
region to work together to share costs and people 
in the provision of services such as social services, 
education, waste and corporate services. The 
Council has identified new opportunities to 
save more money by working with neighbouring 
councils which would protect our investment in 
front-line services. These opportunities can only be 
seized	upon	by	joint	agreement.	With	the	debate	
on a possible reorganisation of local government 
running, there is uncertainty and anxiety amongst 
councils. This is contributing to limiting the 
regional ambition for more collaboration, and the 
Council is unable to progress some of its own 
ideas for extended collaboration.

Managing the Business Plans and 
their impacts
The action required to first develop and test 
out budget options ready for recommendation, 
and then to follow through and implement them 
once agreed, is complex and time-consuming. 
To do this the Council has set up a number of 
‘programme boards’ which bring together senior 
officers and Cabinet members.

Budget options are tested out for acceptability 
and operability. In other words are we prepared 
to take them and would the public be prepared 
to work with us? Are they feasible and capable 
of being implemented successfully? Each option 
is ‘risk-assessed’ against these two tests. We 
also separate out those options which are internal 
to the organisation and should have low or no 
impact on the public and the people who use 
the service, such as reductions in management 
positions and changes to operating systems, 
from those which would have an impact, such as 
changing the location of a service or its opening 
hours, closing a facility or introducing or changing 
a charge for a service. In these latter types of 
cases we have to work out what prior notice 
is needed, whether there should be a specific 
consultation before making a decision, and 
whether we need to run an impact assessment or 
a specific Equality Impact Assessment because 
one or more recognised groups in society may be 
affected disproportionately. In the case of some 
services there are specified statutory notice and 
consultation procedures which must be followed. 
The Council is also mindful that it will need to 
gauge the cumulative impacts of service changes 
within and across communities as change plans 
become more challenging and the status quo is 
no longer.

Protecting Local Services
All of this work goes on in an effort to protect 
services from deep cuts and big closures. If the 
Council is exposed to budget cuts of a scale 
which it cannot manage through its existing plans 
and strategies, many services will no be longer be 
able to be protected. These will include schools 
budgets, day care services, residential care 
homes, roads maintenance, local bus services, 
and leisure centres.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



15

Managing Inflation
In Part 1 of the MTFS we set out how inflation 
impacts on the Council and how we forecast what 
rates of inflation we could expect. Councils are 
exposed to three types of inflation: pay, price and 
non-standard price inflation. Despite a national 
trend of inflation being at its lowest level for some 
years, councils are still exposed to pay inflation of 
around 1% per annum and some price inflation, 
particularly non-standard inflation for food, energy 
and fuel whose price trends are unpredictable 
and volatile. We also face some unavoidable 
cost inflation increases, for example in benefit 
payments and the costs of purchasing care home 
places, which have their own annual cost-based 
increases which go unaffected by national inflation 
trends.  

Our financial forecast makes assumptions about 
inflation rates and trends to allow prudent forward 
budget planning.  In deciding how much to set 
aside in our budgets to cushion the organisation 
from inflation we make a risk assessment. In 
recent years we have set some corporate funding 
aside to meet inflation in part, and have expected 
services to absorb a proportion of inflation in their  
on-going budget management by being cost-
efficient.

Due to national trends currently working in our 
favour we plan, based on our risk assessment, 
to allow £1m less than we would ordinarily have 
done in 2015/16 to meet inflationary uplifts in our 
costs. In this way we are absorbing £1m of our 
budget ‘gap’ into our budget planning as a form 
of operational risk.

Reducing Corporate Overhead 
Costs
There are a number of corporate costs and income 
sources which sit at the heart of the organisation 
where provision has to be set aside to meet 
variations in budget provision from one year to the 
next. One example, covered in the above section 

4b. Funding Strategy Part 2: 

 Corporate Financial Stewardship

The Council takes a whole-organisation approach to setting its annual and long-term 
budgets and in deciding how to make budget changes to meet changing circumstances. 
Over and above how we set priorities which determine where we deploy our resources, 
and how we support service portfolios in changing what they do through their individual 
business plans as set out in Chapter 4a, there are some big questions of financial decision-
making and stewardship which can only be dealt with at a corporate or whole-council 
level as they impact across the board. These questions include how far we give service 
portfolios additional funds to meet the costs of annual inflation, how we support centrally 
any additional employment costs which we are obliged to meet such as annual pay awards, 
and what we expect of services to recover their costs from service users in charging for 
what they do.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



16

on inflation would be nationally agreed ‘cost of 
living’ annual pay awards for employees.

Based on recent patterns of the employer 
contributions needed to meet our obligations to 
the Clwyd Pension Fund, of which the Council 
is a member - set against the forecasted annual 
contributions required of Flintshire following 
the last three yearly Actuarial Review - we can 
prudently estimate to have to provide £0.9m less 
than the £1.747m contribution first expected 
for 2015/16 and into 2016/17. This reduction 
is largely due to the managed reductions in the 
Council’s workforce on which the total amount due 
is calculated. The partial offset of this pressure is 
due to deliberate action by the Council to reduce 
the	size	of	the	workforce.

Following the completion of the Single Person 
Discount Review for those receiving a discount of 
Council Tax through living alone as an adult, there 
is an expected increase in income in the Council 
Tax Collection Fund of over £100k. This increase 
in income, to help reduce the budget ‘gap’, is due 
to deliberate action by the Council to maximise 
its Council Tax collection as a high performing 
collections authority.

Schools Funding Formula
Education is the Council’s biggest set of services 
at £83m, with the large majority of those funds 
being delegated to our 80+ secondary and 
primary schools.

This delegated funded is passed out to schools 
according to our Schools Funding Formula. This 
formula, which was reviewed and then updated 
from 2015, takes into account factors such as 
pupil numbers, specific pupil needs and school 
buildings	 size	 and	 condition	 in	 setting	 out	 how	

much funding each individual school will receive 
each year.

The Council has given schools relative protection 
from funding cuts in recent years partly because 
this has been Welsh Government policy, and more 
so because remaining a high performing local 
education authority is a top priority of the Council.

The additional cost pressures coming through 
for the schools community for 2016/17 total 
£3.490m which would mean a 4% increase on 
2015/16 funding. There are a number of options 
and choices for handling this challenge. Schools 
will have to make their contribution to the budget 
‘gap’ and cannot be exempt, noting that any 
decision other than to fund the pressures in full 
will come with risks. The Council is planning to 
meet 1% of the pressures only for 2016/17, an 
option which would contribute around £2.5m to 
bridging the total funding ‘gap’.

Local Taxation
The Council has had a policy of containing annual 
rises in Council Tax in recent years. This has been 
based on the view that Council Tax levels should 
be as affordable as possible with the organisation 
finding efficiencies internally first before asking the 
public to pay more to help with the funding ‘gap’.

Between 2008/09 and 2015/16 the average 
annual Council Tax rise has been 3.2% with the 
highest being 3.75% in 2015/16 and the lowest 
2.9% in 2013/14. Other councils have had 
different policies.

Council Tax makes up only 22% of the Council’s 
total income. As our Government grant funding 
reduces more pressure is placed on councils to 
find more local income including through taxation. 
Council Tax in Wales is generally lower than in 
England. Whilst councils in England have had 
a special Government subsidy to keep Council 
Taxes rises low, Welsh councils have not.

The Government grant councils in Wales receive 
is distributed according to the Local Government 
Formula as explained in Chapter 3. Within this 
formula a calculation or benchmark of what each 
council needs called the Standard Spending 
Assessment (SSA) is included. The SSA is based 
on factors including demography, population 

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



17

change and deprivation. Whilst being a theoretical 
calculation the SSA is significant in determining 
how much of the share of public funds set aside 
for local government in Wales comes to Flintshire.

The SSA for Flintshire for 2015/16 was set at 
£251.806m. The Council’s planned net Council 
Fund expenditure for this year is £249.979m, 
leaving a gap of £1.827m. The only way 
the Council can bridge that gap to reach its 
notional spending level, given that no additional 
Government grant will be made available, would 
be to increase Council Tax. Collecting additional 
Council Tax of £1.827M would mean an additional 
Council Tax rise of around 3.5%. The Council 
has already assumed a Council Tax rise of 3% 
in its budget planning for 2016/17 based on its 
annual average rise in recent years. The Council 
would have the option of reaching the current 
SSA over a two year period by setting Council 
Tax rises of 4.75% or, given the extreme financial 
situation, applying a single year increase of 6.5%. 
The Welsh Government has a guiding policy of 
councils staying within 5% annual Council Tax 
rises although this has not been tested.

Local Income
Flintshire as a County Council has limited scope for 
raising income as a non-metropolitan council with 
a modest portfolio of land and assets generating 
commercial income.

The Council makes charges for some services 
within the bounds of legality and Government 

policy, and within the limits of affordability and 
acceptability to customers and communities. 

The service portfolio business plans, set out in 
Chapter 5, already include compound income 
sources built up from previous years and, in 
some cases, new income generation initiatives 
for example in planning fees. As part of a more 
challenging corporate strategy for cost recovery 
through fees and charges the Council will be 
seeking to raise a further £0.5m of income in 
2016/17 onwards by reviewing current fee levels. 

The total reduction in corporate costs which could 
be achieved for 2016/17 based on the above 
proposals is at a minimum of £5m as summarised 
in Table 4.

Table 4 - Corporate Finance Efficiency Proposals 2015/16

Subject Proposal Efficiency/Growth £m

Inflation Management Part absorption of inflation risk 1.0

Corporate Overheads Selective reduction in provisions 1.0

Schools Funding Formula Controlled schools investment 2.5

Local Taxation Enhanced Council Tax increases 0-1.8

Local Income increases in charging 0.5

Totals  5-6.8

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



18

In this Chapter we explore five areas where there 
is a legitimate case for Welsh Government to 
come to the support of the Council to fund cost 
pressures which have either been passed on to 
the Council through national decisions or meet its 
own critical social policy priorities. 

Under each of the areas we set out the principle 
which underpins the case, the detail of the case, 
and the risks to the Council and local services if 
Welsh Government did not meet our case and 
provide support and relief.

Extension of the Welfare State
The principle here is that councils should not 
be subsidising the welfare state through local 
resources. Instead, the State should be fully 
funding its own universal benefits policies. The 
Council currently pays out benefits to local 
Council Tax payers who have an exemption from 
paying Council Tax in full. This is done under the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS).

The problem is the funding the Council receives 
from Welsh Government to make these payments 
is	 ‘frozen’,	and	we	are	not	 recompensed	 for	 the	

annual uplift in demand-led benefits costs we 
have to meet. By 2016/17 the Council will have 
to make up a gap of £625k in the CTRS scheme 
as a consequence. The risks are that the scheme 
becomes unsustainable; Council Tax has to be 
raised to cross-subsidise benefits to recipients; 
the Council may have to withdraw from the 
national Welsh scheme.

Public Sector Employment
The principle at stake here is that public sector 
should employ people with fair reward and rights. 
Local government as a large employer, with many 
low earning workers, should be properly funded 
to meet wage and pension costs and be given 
parity of esteem with the NHS, civil service and 
others in national funding for workforce costs. 
Welsh Government is committed to supporting 
uplifts in annual base pay for public sector workers 
(with enhanced uplifts in lower pay scales) to give 
proper reward and to avoid workers being in a 
position of pay poverty. This commitment should 
be recognised in national budgeting priorities, or it 
cannot be afforded. It is not a sustainable position 
to expect councils to meet annual inflationary 
workforce costs at a time of reducing resources. 

4c. Funding Strategy Part 3: 

 Working with Welsh Government

Councils are heavily reliant on Government for grant to fund what they do. For Flintshire 
some 65% of our annual funding comes through the Revenue Support Grant awarded 
annually by Welsh Government. Whilst councils are independent statutory public bodies 
with their own elected councillors, free mind, and right to choose their priorities based on 
local need and local opinion, they are also a form of ‘agent’ of government in implementing 
its social policy and legislation as directed. Local government and national governments 
are part of the same system of national governance of the public services. Governments 
must therefore share in the responsibility to fund the ‘agents of delivery’ of their social, 
economic and environmental policies and legislative reforms properly and fairly. In Chapters 
4a and 4b we have set out the Council’s contribution to managing with less in a tough fiscal 
environment. In this Chapter we set out our expectations of Welsh Government as the 
custodian of public finances in a devolved Wales. 

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



19

Diverting existing funds away from maintaining 
‘front-line’ services to meet employment costs 
will be difficult to justify to the public. Local 
government should be given parity with the NHS 
and the civil service where provision is made 
for funding  workforce costs and, in addition, 
achievement of the Living Wage at the lower end 
of pay scales.

In 2016/17 the Council will have to absorb wage 
inflation of £1.690m from the nationally negotiated 
cost of living pay award. The risks are Councils will 
have to increasingly review terms and conditions 
of employment on the one hand to pay for annual 
cost of living pay awards on the other which is 
a contradictory position for employers and trade 
unions; relatively low pay in the local government 
sector will be perpetuated; councils will have to 
face difficult choices between maintaining pay and 
terms of conditions of employment, and public 
service provision; councils may opt out of national 
negotiating machinery; impacts on employer-
trade unions relationships and workforce morale; 
possible industrial action, whether local or 
national.

Health and Social Care as a Single 
System Needing Full Funding
Insufficient investment is made in the primary 
and community care sectors where quality of life 
and preventing dependency on secondary and 
acute care is achieved. Social care is part of a 
connected system of care and should have parity 
of esteem with investment choices in the use of 
the national budget. There is ample research and 
operational evidence that the social care sector is 
facing a funding crisis. At a time when the UK and 
Welsh Governments are increasing investment in 
the National Health Service (NHS) equal priority 
should be given to the social care sector.

Two specific examples of chronic funding 
pressures on the Council where national relief is 
sought follow.

Demand-led pressures on 
specialist social care services:

transition from childhood to adulthood for high 
dependency clients. The costs of high-cost 
placements for small cohorts of clients, in this 

case 14, can have a disproportionate effect on the 
total social care budget. We are facing a budget 
pressure of £923k just for these cases, a figure 
equal to 1/60th of the total social care budget. 
Special provision should be made in recognition 
of the need to protect specialist services for the 
most vulnerable. Parity should be given to the 
primary care needs of clients falling under the 
responsibility of social services alongside those 
falling under the responsibility of health boards in 
national funding. The risks of not acting are the 
diversion of resources away from other social care 
services to meet the cost of such high dependency 
cases and their entitlement; aggregated funding 
impacts will make the current social care system, 
with growing demand, unsustainable.

Inflationary pressures on care 
placements and high cost specialist 
placements: given rising demand for services 
and reducing budgets the pressure on service 
supply will be intense. Raised care standards and 
entitlements are two of the factors which cause 
market inflation as investment needs to be made 
here to meet social policy aspiration. We face a 
budget pressure of keeping up with market costs 
of £948k.  Parity should again be given to the 
primary care needs of clients falling under the 
responsibility of social services alongside those 
falling under the responsibility of health boards in 
national funding. The risks here are that faced with 
increasing demand the supply of service becomes 
an unsustainable model; the adequacy of care 
might be compromised with a lower volume/
quality of care being provided; councils may be 
at risk of commissioning sub-standard care; cost 
pressures will compress the terms and conditions 
of employment of the sector.

Educational Entitlement and 
Attainment
We believe that if school age education is to 
continue to be treated as a national social policy 
priority it should have parity of esteem with 
investment choices in the use of the national 
budget. The Council faces a bill for additional 
costs for Teacher Pensions of £1.364m, due to 
national reforms in employer pensions over which 
it has had no say.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



20

The national agreement to increase the employer 
contributions to pension funds for the teaching 
workforce could fall on either the local council, as 
the local education authority, the local governing 
bodies of the employing schools, or a combination 
depending on local choice. ‘Pass-porting’ of the 
cost to local school governing bodies would place 
a new strain on schools delegated budgets and 
would be likely to reduce the ability of schools to 
employ their current cohort of teachers which, 
in turn, would affect teacher-pupil ratios and 
ultimately school standards and pupil attainment.

The Teachers’ Pension Scheme is unfunded unlike 
the core local government pension scheme. Parity 
should be given to the treatment of the Teachers’ 
Pension Scheme alongside the other unfunded 
schemes such as the NHS and civil service i.e. 
the responsibility for making good pension fund 
deficit positions should be borne by Government 
and not intermediate employers such as councils. 
Schools may be placed in an untenable financial 
position with new cost burdens of employment.

The big risk is that the council will have to reduce 
investment in services including education to meet 
additional costs of employment in the teaching 
sector.

Financial Freedom to Recover 
Costs to Make Services 
Sustainable
An important principle of local democracy is that 
councils should have the freedom to set local 
policy to recover costs through charging to help 
make services - within bounds of reasonableness 
on the affordability of charges with added 
protection for those most vulnerable to poverty.

There are several service areas where the Council 
is constrained in recovering costs from clients, 
who can afford to pay, by Welsh Government 
policy.

Domiciliary Home Care: recharging for 
Home Care provision used to be discretionary 
until the introduction of the First Steps policy 
in 2010 and has not been reviewed since, with 
charging limited to £60 per week from 2015. 
Income recovery falls well below the costs of 

provision and the Council is losing out on income 
of £0.945m which could help sustain social 
services under huge pressure.

The charging cap makes no recognition of ability 
and willingness to pay. The previous charging 
system with higher charges linked to cost of 
provision was generally accepted and was a 
workable one. There are increasing demands from 
those able to pay who have switched from private 
provision to public provision to benefit from the 
heavy subsidy. Given an ageing population with 
increasing demands this model of service is 
unsustainable. As part of a fair and equitable 
local charging policy there is no justification for 
continuing with this policy.

The risks of perpetuating this system are faced with 
increasing demand the supply of service becomes 
an unsustainable model; an income generating 
opportunity is lost; the adequacy of care might 
be compromised with a lower volume/quality of 
care being provided e.g. short visits with limited 
social contact for the client; councils may be at 
risk of commissioning sub-standard care; cost 
pressures will compress the terms and conditions 
of employment of the sector e.g. travel time 
reimbursement, salary levels; the non-justification 
for a heavily subsidised service for those available 
to pay becomes ethically challenged by others 
under the Council’s income strategy.

Minor Home Adaptations: Charging for 
adaptations less than £3k in value which fall outside 
of the mean-tested charging system would allow 
partial cost recovery to subsidise the service. As 
part of a fair and equitable local charging policy 
there is no justification for charging exemptions for 
this service. The Council could recover income of 
£100k per year to subsidise the service if it could 
charge. The risks in the future are that the service 
is not adequately funded to meet demand; funds 
have to be diverted away from other services to 
subsidise adaptations; the non-justification for a 
free service for those available to pay becomes 
ethically challenged by others under the Council’s 
income strategy.

Blue Badge Scheme: A modest charge 
for Blue Badge issue is justifiable and would 
be comparable to England (£10 per issue) 

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



21

and Scotland (£20 per issue). As part of a fair 
and equitable local charging policy there is no 
justification for charging exemptions for this 
service. The Council could raise income of £33.5k 
to subsidise services. 

Support and relief from Welsh Government in 
these policy areas would make a major positive 

impact on the Council’s budget planning as set out 
in Table 5 below. The costs shown for Employer, 
Social Care Funding and Education are examples 
of the pressures for which support is needed. This 
is not an exhaustive list and other cost pressures 
could be included.

Table 5 - Funding Pressures for National Support and Relief

Subject Proposal Funding £m

Full cost funding of the Council Tax 

Benefits Scheme 

Funding of nationally agreed pay awards

Funding Health and Social Care as a single 

system with parity 

Funding nationally agreed employment 

costs for schools to protect spending 

delegated to schools 

Removing the charging caps for a number 

of services such as domiciliary care 

and returning to a system of fuller cost 

recovery from clients (with protection for 

those least able to pay) 

Welfare State 

Employer 

Social Care Funding 

Education 

Freedom to Charge 

Totals

0.625

1.690

1.871

1.364

1.078

6.628

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 



22

5. Conclusions and Way Forward

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 

Flintshire is in unchartered territory in having to 
manage budget cuts of this scale. So is Welsh 
Government. If councils are to see a way through 
these challenging times - with local services on 
which communities depend staying in tact - then 
close working is needed between councils and 
government for common purpose.

Flintshire is shown to be a low funded council. 
It is also shown to be a solid performer in the 
standards to which it provides local services, with 
excellence in key services such as education and 
social care. 

Flintshire is being recognised nationally as a 
council which is being innovative in finding new 
solutions to make its services both cost efficient 
and resilient, and sustainable for the future.

A fundamental point is that the scale and the pace 
of the escalating annual budget cuts does not 
allow time for innovation. Our local programme for 
working with communities to transfer community 
assets to community ownership, and our local 
programme to create Alternative Delivery Models 
(ADMs) for selected services, whilst being well 
advanced, both need time and space to come to 
fruition. So do our business plans for the ongoing 
modernisation of services. If our plans are not 
given time, and are rushed into change, then key 
services will be put at serious risk.

Like all counties Flintshire is shaped by its history 
and its make-up of communities. We have set 
out the challenges of managing Flintshire as a 
dispersed county which has a number of proud 
and independent principal county towns. The 
Council tries to support and protect each county 
town by ensuring that their communities have 
local services and amenities which can be readily 
accessed. We will no longer be able to maintain 
our networks of local services without some relief 
from the relentless budget cuts.

The list of services which will be exposed to 
major cuts if our strategy does not enjoy universal 
support is a long one:-

•			a	 significant	 reduction	 in	 the	 budgets	 given	 to	
local schools

•			withdrawal	of	social	services	such	as	day	care

•		closure	or	sale	of	residential	care	homes

•		closure	of	the	welfare	rights	service

•		cuts	in	support	for	the	local	voluntary	sector

•		a	major	cut	in	maintenance	expenditure	for	roads

•		cuts	in	winter	maintenance	road	gritting	service	
to the bare minimum

•		closure	of	leisure	centres

•		closure	of	community	buildings

•		cuts	 in	 countryside	 and	 coastal	 management	
services

•		less	 frequent	 household	 waste	 collection	
services 

•		closure	of	local	household	recycling	centres

•		withdrawal	 of	 all	 bus	 subsidies	 which	 support	
the less commercial local bus routes

•		withdrawal	of	our	grant	to	Theatr	Clwyd

•		reduced	transport	provision	for	 learners	to	and	
from schools and colleges

•		closure	of	the	business	support	service	and	no	
future support for tourism

•		closure	of	the	ecology	and	biodiversity	functions

•		reduced	maintenance	standards	for	our	rights	of	
way network

•		reduced	support	for	the	Clwydian	Range	Area	of	
Outstanding Natural Beauty

•		withdrawal	of	our	financial	support	for	Greenfield	
Valley

Councils in Wales are heavily dependent on 
government grant to fund what they do. More so 
in Wales than in England. This is why, within our 
three part strategy, we call for greater freedoms 
for the Council to be able to be entrepreneurial. If 
Wales is to be exposed to ‘English style cuts’ then 
councils in Wales need to be given English style 
powers and freedoms to be able to adapt.



23

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y,  P a r t  2   M e e t i n g  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  C h a l l e n g e 

The Council is playing its part and has identified 
around two thirds of the funding target needed 
for 2016/17. As a mature and responsible Council 
we will work with Welsh Government to find joint 
solutions. Local government needs to be given 
support with social care and health being jointly 
funded as a top priority.

This Strategy inevitably concentrates on 2016/17 
as the next budget year we need to plan for. Equally, 
we have an eye on 2017/18 and subsequent 
budget years in planning ahead in a responsible 
and sustainable way.

Flintshire is at a ‘tipping point’. A reorganisation 
of local government, still some years off, is not in 
itself a solution to the financial challenge. Neither 
is more talk of making efficiencies in ‘back office’ 
costs. The decisions to be made by the Council, 
by the UK Government and by Welsh Government 
in the coming months will define the future for 
local public services.

We call on local communities to stand up for their 
local services by working  with us whether this is:-

•		in	 being	 understanding	 and	 being	 patient	 with	
the changes we plan to make

•		coming	 forward	 and	 working	 with	 us	 on	
transferring services to community models or

•		in	speaking	up	so	that	those	who	have	decision-
making power in their hands hear their voice. 





Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

2015 - 2018

Part 1 - September 2015
Forecasting the Challenge



2

Introduction
This Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is comprised of two parts.  The first part the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) forecasts the resources the Council is l ikely to 
have over the next three years.  In Part 2 of the MTFS Meeting the Financial Challenge 
the Council sets out plans and solutions for managing with reducing resources over this 
three year period.

Our resources are being reduced, year on year, through big reductions in the grants 
we depend on from Government. We then also have to meet cost pressures, such as 
inflation, with less money at our disposal. Inflation, rises in demand for crit ical services, 
such as social care, and the cost of legal obligations placed on us, such as pensions 
reform, al l place a strain on our reducing budget.

A summary of the forecasting posit ion for 2015/16 - 2017/18 is set out below.

P a r t  1  M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total
Expenditure £m £m £m £m

National Pressures  0.9 0.4 0.3 1.6  
Local Pressures 6.2 2.5 1.2 9.9
Inflation 4.1 4.1 4.3 12.5    

Workforce Pressures 2.5 9.4 3.7 15.6 

Income      
Reduction in Revenue Support Grant (3.5%) 6.6 6.5 6.3 19.4
Council Tax Increase (3%) (2.0) (2.1) (2.1) (6.2)

Projected Gap 18.3 20.8 13.7 52.8

Table 1 - Summary of forecasting position 2015 - 2018



3

Contents
Forecasting for the Future:

1.  National Pressures 4

2.  Local Pressures 6

3.  Inflation 8

4.  Workforce 10

5.  Income 13

6.  Total Impacts 15

Tables

Table 1 - Summary of forecasting position 2015 - 2018 2

Table 2 - Specific Non Workforce National Pressures 5

Table 3 - Specific Non Workforce Local Pressures 7

Table 4 - Historical Budgeted Inflation 9

Table 5 - Inflation Forecast 9

Table 6 - Pay Awards Impact 10

Table 7 - Single Status Impact 11

Table 8 - Cost of Pensions to the Council as the Employer 12

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8  P a r t  1  



4

Council Tax Reduction Scheme
The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) was 
introduced in 2013/14 by Welsh Government 
to provide financial assistance to help some 
residents pay their Council Tax. CTRS replaced 
the previous Council Tax benefit system. Welsh 
Government funding for the  scheme  does not 
increase year on year and therefore the annual 
increase in Council Tax ‘benefits’ payments we 
pay out is a pressure on the Council’s budget. 
Over the medium term, this will cost the Council 
an estimated £0.952m.

Discretionary Housing Payments
Changes to the Government’s Welfare Reform 
Programme have had a financial impact on some 
households. Discretionary Housing Payments 
(DHP) offer temporary support to people in 
difficulty. Over the last three years the Council 
has ‘topped up’ the DHP funds provided by 
Welsh Government to help the most vulnerable. 
In 2014/15 this cost the Council £0.053m. In 
2015/16 there will be a reduction of £0.067m in 
the amount of funding the Council receives for 
DHP. The Council will be under pressure to make 
up any difference.

Impacts of Legislation and Case Law
New legislation such as the Social Services Bill, 
and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Case Law 
(DoLS), can affect the way services are to be 
provided and people’s rights. Councils have to 
manage the financial impact of changes in the 
law as part of their budget often without any 
additional support from Government. Within the 
2015/16 budget a pressure of £0.290m has had 
to be met for DoLS.

Independent Living Fund
The Independent Living Fund (ILF) provides 
financial support to disabled people with 
significant care needs to help them live 
independently at home or in the community. 
The UK Government announced that the fund 
will close from June 2015 with the responsibility 
for financial support to be transferred to local 
authorities. The cost pressure for Flintshire 
County Council is estimated to be £0.338m in 
2015/16 with an additonal pressure of £0.112m 
in 2016/17. Welsh Government have recently 
said that there may be some financial support 
to help Councils with the transition. At this stage 
we do not know what help we will receive, if any.

Reductions in Specific Grants
The Council relies on numerous specific grants 
which the Welsh Government allocate to directly 
fund services such as Education and Waste 
Management.

In recent financial years there have been some big 
reductions in these grants. The Council sometimes 
has to make up the difference for services to 
continue.

These are financial pressures which are driven nationally and are beyond the control of 

the Council.  They may come about from policy directions or new legislation from either 

UK Government or Welsh Government, where powers are increasingly devolved. These 

pressures are expected to be met by councils without extra funds being set aside by 

Government.

1. National Pressures

Costs

Income

P a r t  1  M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8



5

Late notification of specific grant allocations by Welsh 
Government make financial planning challenging. 

The risks to services from reductions in specific 
grants include:

•	 Sustainable Waste Management Grant - 
previous reductions in this grant had created 
a cumulative cost pressure of £0.308m by 
2014/15. A further reduction in the grant for 
2015/16 has been confirmed at £0.100m giving 
a total reduction to date of £0.408m.

•	 Supporting People Grant - there has been a 
sustained reduction in this grant since 2009/10 
of £1.6m.

•	 Education Improvement Grant - Big changes 
to the education grant system from April 2015 
have resulted in 11 grants being amalgamated 
into a single grant called Education Improvement 
Grant. The  effect of these changes in 2015/16 is 
a reduction of 9.85% or £0.509m. From 2016/17 
Welsh Government are planning to introduce 
a funding formula for this grant. The impacts 
of this next phase of change are unknown.

•	 Post 16 Education Grant - This grant was 
reduced in 2015/16 by 2.5% or £0.149m. 
Intelligence from Welsh Government suggests 
a further 5% cut in 2016/17.

The total impact of just the grant reductions shown 
above comes to £2.7m. Future grant reductions 
are unconfirmed at this stage and subject to 
change.

Workforce Costs
There are significant new workforce costs from 
national changes to Local Government and 
Teacher Pensions Schemes. These are covered in 
Section 4 - Workforce.

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8  P a r t  1  

The total impact of known national pressures is £1.6m

CTRS

DoLS

ILF

Table 2 - Specific Non Workforce National Pressures 

£m

0.50

0.40

0.30

0.20

0.10

0

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

To
ta

l

Pressure



6

2. Local Pressures
Local pressures come about from demands for services and other local circumstances. 
They are not funded by Government grant with the cost falling on the Council.

Current Local Pressures

Social Services:
Transition to Adulthood
Each year a number of clients are expected to 
have ongoing social care needs as they transfer 
from children’s services and become adults. The 
cost of care packages for each client is based on 
a careful assessment of their future care needs. In 
2015/16 and 2016/17 the number of young clients 
transferring to Adult Social Care will be 16 and 14 
respectively. This has led to a budget pressure of 
£1.239m in 2015/16, £0.923m in 2016/17 and 
£0.640m in 2017/18. We have a duty to meet their 
needs.

Extra Care
There will be annual revenue costs from the running 
of the new Extra Care Scheme in Flint which will 
become operational in 2017. 

School Modernisation
This pressure is an estimate of the service ‘exit’ 
costs of teaching and other employees leaving our 
service as we change school provision and open 
the new Post 16 hub at Coleg Cambria, Deeside.

Landfill Tax
An increase in the rate per tonne we pay to take 
waste to landfill is an additional pressure. There 
is a statutory requirement to dispose of our 
waste. The Council is diverting as much waste as 
possible from landfill through increasing recycling 
and other forms of disposal.

Making Workforce Efficiencies
As part of the budget for 2015/16, a pressure 
was included to cover our changing savings 
targets for reducing the workforce set as part of 
the 2014/15 budget. Future workforce efficiencies 
are now being built into our business planning 
process. There are also cost pressures through 
releasing employees through redundancy and 
early retirement.

Prudential Borrowing
The Council has built up borrowing over the years 
to fund capital schemes. A review of our Central 
Loans and Investment Account will reprofile 
our borrowing. This ongoing review may create 
efficiencies or pressures. The Council is planning 
to increase its borrowing to pay for new capital 
schemes such as improving school buildings.

Internal Insurance Fund
The Council provides insurance cover for the 
risks it faces through a combination of purchased 
external insurance and self-insurance through 
our internal insurance fund. The adequacy of the 
internal fund has been assessed by our insurance 
brokers. There is a need to increase the funds to 
meet our risks.

P a r t  1  M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8



7

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8  P a r t  1  

Information Technology
There is a new recurring pressure from our Microsoft 
Enterprise Licence agreement at an annual cost 
of £0.350m per annum from 2016/17. A further 
emerging pressure for software maintenance is 
for the iTrent (Human Resources) system from 
2016/17.

Workforce Costs
There are significant new workforce costs from the 
introduction of the Local Single Status Agreement 
and the actuarial review of the Clwyd Pension 
Fund. These are covered in Section 4 - Workforce.

Emerging Local Pressures

Municipal Mutual Insurance
Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) was the main 
insurer of the public sector prior to it closing its 
insurance business in 1992. A scheme is in place 
for any liabilities still outstanding from historic 
insurance with MMI. Any increase in claims arising 
from that period could impact on the levy to be 
paid by the Council. 

Contaminated Land Strategy
The Council has a responsibility to ensure there is 
no public risk from former landfill sites. There is a 
need for the Council to assess if there is any need 
for remedial work on these sites. 

Waste Management
The Council is exposed to risks including 
fluctuations in recycling income from sales of 
waste recyclates in the open market. 

Economy
The Council is exposed to the risk of decreases 
in the income it relies on from fees and charges 
in services such as leisure and planning. These 
fluctuations can depend on the health of the 
economy. 

Table 3 - Specific Non Workforce Local Pressures

The total impact of major local pressures is £9.9m

September 2015

Transition to Adulthood
Insurance
Rental Income
School Modernisation
Landfill Tax
Prudential Borrowing
Extra Care Revenue
Unachieved Workforce 
efficiency
ICT Licences & 
Maintenance

£m

2.00

1.50

1.00

0.50

0
 2015/16  2016/17 2017/18 



8

Types of Inflation
Pay
Provision for nationally agreed pay awards is 
based on the latest information from our national 
negotiating bodies.  Over the last three years pay 
inflation has been assumed at 1%, and included 
in the budget at this level until confirmation of 
each annual agreements has been received.

Inflation is the rate at which the prices for goods and services are expected to rise.       
The inflation costs a council has to meet are not the same as those that households face. 
Even at times of low Retail Price Index (RPI) inflation councils can have big inflationary 
pressures. Flintshire County Council builds inflation into its annual budgets based on 
the latest market intelligence. Overall, income budgets include a 3% increase to meet 
inflation. This is based on recent trends in inflation. Within the annual funding ‘settlement’ 
the Council receives from Welsh Government no provision is made for inflation. This means 
that the Council has to find a way of meeting the costs of annual inflation from within its 
reducing resources.

Prices
The current forecast for price inflation includes 
a 2% increase over all expenditure budgets, 
apart from what we call Non Standard Inflation.  
Budgets which are not exposed to normal price 
inflation, such as Benefits, are excluded.  

Over the last three years, service managers have 
had to absorb price inflation within their budgets, 
without any increase. Extra provision has only 
been made where there is an exceptional case.  In 
2015/16 this extra provision totalled £0.421m for 
exceptions such as increases in care fees where 
we commission residential care home places.

Non Standard Inflation
Non Standard Inflation provision is set aside to 
support services which are exposed to higher than 
normal annual inflationary pressures in buying fuel, 
energy and food supplies. 

In recent years these rates of inflation have been 
volatile, for example, in the energy sector due to 
rising oil prices. More provision for inflation has 
been made in these areas in the last two financial

3. Inflation

P a r t  1  M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8



9

Table 4 - Historical Budgeted Inflation Table 5 - Forecast within MTFS

 

years, (energy at 8%, fuel at 11.2% and food at 
5.8%).

As part of the 2015/16 budget strategy the need to 
set aside any provision for Non Standard Inflation  
was reviewed. Specific market intelligence on 
energy (from Crown Commercial Services, UES 
Energy) shows that overall prices for gas and 
electricity were predicted to stay stable in 2015/16.

Market intelligence within the food markets (from 
Tuco Ltd, Procurement Partner) shows that some 
food groups may be subject to an increase of 
between 0.5% and 3%. Inflation on food was 
considered to be the area of greatest risk in 
2015/16. Therefore an allocation of £0.064m was 
held within the budget. 

The inflation risks and costs of energy, fuel and 
food are subject to many economic and other 
factors beyond our control. Market intelligence 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 0.8

1.0

1.2

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Inflation figures 
in £m

To
ta

l

Trend of inflation built into annual budgets. Rates of inflation change over time and are under constant 
review by the Council.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
0.8

1.0

1.2

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Inflation figures 
in £m

4

5

To
ta

l

*Includes Schools for forecasting purposes
*Rates of inflation are subject to review and consideration 
of Market Intelligence as part of next phase

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8  P a r t  1  

The total amount of inflation forecast is £12.5m

will be used with quarterly updates to help make 
this as accurate a forecast as possible.

Inflation on Income
In recent years income budgets have included a 
3% increase to reflect the need to raise prices in 
line with costs. See Section 5 - Income.



10

By far the biggest cost of managing a Council of our size is the cost of employing our 
workforce. Flintshire both employs people to provide services direct to communities and 
to customers, and commissions or contracts out other services. Where we commission 
or contract the Council is not the employer. We also employ people to provide essential 
internal support services such as Finance and Human Resources.

The costs of employing our workforce are rising due to a combination of national and 
local pressures including annual pay rises, pensions reform, and the Single Status 
Agreement.

Flintshire employs around 7,140 people in 8,206 
roles. The total annual ‘wage bill’ in 2014/15 was in 
the region of £178m. The ‘wage bill’ is made up of 
salaries, employer pension contributions, employer 
national insurance contributions, and allowances 
and expenses.

The costs of employing people are rising. The costs 
pressures can be grouped as:- 

•	 ‘cost of living’ pay rises
•	 low pay protection costs
•	 local pay settlements
•	 pensions

‘Costs of Living’ Pay Rises
Workers expect to receive an annual pay rise for 
their earnings to keep pace with inflation. These are 
commonly known as ‘cost of living’ pay awards and 
are negotiated nationally between representatives of 
the local government employers and the trade unions. 

Following a period of imposed pay ‘freezes’, annual 
pay awards are again being granted by agreement. 
Annual pay awards are running at between 1-2% for 
most local government workers.

The cumulative impact of national pay awards for 
2015/16-2017/18 is shown in Table 6.

Low Pay Protection Costs
Workers are protected from being low paid through the 
setting of a national minimum wage. The lowest levels of 
pay in local government are above the national minimum 
wage. The minimum wage is £6.50 per hour rising to 
£6.70 per hour on 1 October 2015. Flintshire’s lowest 
hourly pay rate is currently £7.189 per hour. Whilst there 
are no immediate pay pressures here for the Council as 
it meets its legal obligations, this might change over time.

There is pressure from Trade Unions, some political 
parties and lobby groups for employers to adopt the 
Living Wage. The Living Wage is argued to be a more 
realistic amount for people to live on and is set at a higher 
rate than the Minimum  Wage at £6.50 per hour. Whilst 
Flintshire has gone some way to preventing low pay and 
has implemented a pay structure where the lowest pay 
grade ‘tops out’ near to the Living Wage, we have not 
as an employer set it as a minimum. If we were to do 
so this would present a new cost pressure. Just under 
1,300 employees (including relief workers) are currently 
paid beneath the Living Wage.

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total
 £m £m £m £m
1.804 1.690 1.707 5.201

Table 6 - Pay Awards Impact

4. Workforce

P a r t  1  M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8



11

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8  P a r t  1  

Local Pay Settlements
Local authorities have obligations to ensure that they pay 
all employees fairly with equality of treatment  for women 
and men. These obligations come from important 
national agreements and the equal pay legislation.  
Reviewing local pay arrangements to ensure that there  
is equality of treatment is a complex and time-consuming 
exercise. Like many other local authorities Flintshire has 
now reached a Single Status Agreement to achieve this. 
Under our Agreement we have introduced a new pay and 
grading model. Single Status Agreements have in every 
single case around the country added cost to the ‘wage 
bill’. Whilst some employees will gain on pay, some will 
stay the same, and some will lose on pay, a significant 
majority will have to gain or stay the same to successfully  
achieve agreement through negotiations between 
employer and trade unions and then through a workforce 
ballot. Therefore, there will be a total increase in pay costs 
across the board under these types of Agreements.

Some years ago the Welsh Government made extra 
provision in the base financial settlement for local 
government  to support the costs of introducing Single 
Status Agreements in the knowledge that they would 
inflate workforce costs. Whilst providing this support was 
a visionary step towards ending unequal pay between 
women and men, the provision set aside was not enough  
to  meet  the  inflationary  impact  in  full.  Councils  have  
to  make  up  the  shortfall themselves.

Flintshire’s Single Status Agreement was introduced 
in 2014. The inflationary impacts for the first two years 
have been ‘buffered’ or cancelled out through the use 
of financial reserves. The Agreement will impact on the 
budget from June 2016. The annual cost of the wage bill 
will rise for several years as some employees who have 
entered a new pay grade work their way up through the 
annual pay increments until they reach the top of their 
grade. At this point the wage bill will ‘peak’.

The impacts of the Single Status Agreement are shown 
in table 7 below. The impacts shown are net of the annual 

provision with the national financial settlement of £4.3m. 
The forecasted impacts reported  to Council in October 
2013, when adopting the Single Status Agreement, 
were  greater; they have been significantly reduced 
through the ongoing programme of reducing the scale 
of the workforce through voluntary redundancies and 
retirements.

Local Government Pension Scheme
Local government employees (other than teachers, 
police and firefighters) are entitled to be members of the 
local government pension scheme. The pension scheme 
is a funded one where both employers and employees 
contribute to the costs of building their ‘pension pot’ for 
their eventual retirement. The monies are invested into the 
Clwyd Pension Fund for capital gain and income to pay 
pension liabilities both now and into the future.

Public service pension schemes are being reformed to 
help financial sustainability. For the local government 
pension scheme the new CARE (Career Average) 
scheme replaced the final salary scheme from 1st April 
2014. At a national level the Government have reviewed 
how the pension provision is shared more fairly between 
employees and scheme employers, if costs continue 
to increase. This may result in a change to employee 
contributions or scheme benefits in the future.

The employer contribution for the Council is set by 
the Fund Actuary every three years. The last actuarial 
valuation date was 31 March 2013 which provided both 
future service cost contributions and deficit payments for 
2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17. The future Flintshire rate

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total
 £m £m £m £m
0.000 3.774 1.726 5.500

Table 7 - Single Status Impact



12

P a r t  1  M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8

is a percentage of pensionable pay and will 
vary. At the last actuarial valuation the employer 
contribution rate was set as 12.2% (2014/15), 
13.2% (2015/16) and 13.9% (2016/17),

At the last Actuarial Valuation the Council had 
a pension deficit of £197m. The Council has a 
deficit recovery plan of 19 years and the agreed 
payments are £9.185m (2014/15), £9.490m 
(2015/16) and £9.985m (2016/17).

The pension contributions to be made to the 
Clwyd Pension Fund by Flintshire as an employer 
were in the region of £10.2m.

For the third and final year of this MTFS it is more 
difficult to estimate pension costs. Despite strong 
asset returns on investments of +16% in 2014/15, 
the funding level of the Fund has fallen by 5%. 
The Council’s deficit has therefore increased. This 
is due to lower than estimated long term interest 
rates. The Actuary of the Clwyd Pension Fund 
will undertake a funding review this year which 
may assist all employers in the Fund with their 
future financial plans, ahead of the next Actuarial 
Valuation.

Pensions Performance: the most recent actuarial 
review in 2013/14 reset employer contributions 
for the period 2014/15 - 2016/17. The inflationary 
impacts are shown in table 8 below.

Pensions Reform: a number of recent pensions 
reforms are causing inflationary pressure. Under 
a change called the Single Pension Scheme local 
government pension schemes will no longer qualify 

for a rebate for national insurance contributions 
made towards the additional State Pension known 
as the Second Pension. This change will increase 
National Insurance employer contributions by 
3.4% from April 2016. The inflationary impacts 
are shown in table 8 below. Employee national 
insurance contributions will also increase.

Under a change called Automatic Enrolment, 
access to pension provision in a qualifying pension 
scheme had to be made available to all new 
employees from 1 October 2012. For all existing 
employees who had previously deferred entry or 
opted out of the Clwyd Pension Fund, a transitional 
period to October 2017 applies. At this time, any 
remaining employees would be automatically 
enrolled into the Clwyd Pension Fund. This will be 
at a cost to the Council. It is not expected that all 
employees with deferred Fund entry will choose to 
stay in the Pension Fund at 2017, but a proportion 
will. The predicted inflationary impacts are also 
shown in table 8 below.

Teachers’ Pension Scheme

The Teachers’ Pension Scheme is a central 
government controlled Public Service Pension 
Scheme that, unlike the LGPS, is unfunded. The 
contributions are set by Central Government. 
Under pensions reform the employer contributions 
for teachers’ pensions are to be increased from 
2016. The inflationary impacts are also shown in 
table 8 below.

Pressure 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total
 £m £m £m £m
Actuarial Review  1.747 1.504 1.300 4.551
Single Pension Scheme  0 2.787 0 2.787
Auto Enrolment 0 0 0.625 0.625
Teachers’ Pension Increase 0 1.364 0 1.364 

Total 1.747 5.655 1.925 9.327

Table 8 - Cost of Pensions to the Council as the Employer

The total amount of workforce pressures is £15.6m (excluding inflation) 



13

The Council is funded from two main sources - the Revenue Support Grant and Council 
Tax.  The Revenue Support Grant (RSG) awarded by Welsh Government makes up 65% 
of the total income of the Council with Council Tax contributing 22%. The remainder 
is made up from specific government grants and income from fees and charges. 
RSG is reducing year on year. UK Government fiscal plans show a continuation of 
reductions in the medium term. Setting Council Tax is a continual challenge in the 
current financial situation. Other income generating opportunities can be constrained 
by Welsh Government controls and economic factors. It can be difficult to balance 
increased charges to recover costs, with affordability and collectability from clients and 
customers.

Revenue Support Grant (RSG)
The Council received a reduction in its RSG of 3.4% 
in 2015/16 equal to £6.6m. Welsh Government 
has not given any firm indication of the level of RSG 
funding for future years. Continuing reductions are 
expected and we are assuming reductions in RSG 
of 3.5% per year for the next two years in this 
strategy.

Over the medium term of this forecast this could 
mean a total £19.4m reduction in RSG funding.

Section 1 - National Pressures highlights the 
significant reductions in specific grants which 
are added to the reduction in RSG in arriving at a 
complete forecast for this three year period.

Council Tax and Business Rates
The Council collects the Council Tax from local 
residents and the ‘Business Rates’ from local 
businesses.

The level of Council Tax is set annually and is paid 
by local residents to help finance the Council’s 
overall budget (£60m in 2015/16).

The Council collects the local ‘business rates’ on 
behalf of Welsh Government. This is then paid 
into a national pool and redistributed to councils 
as part of the annual financial settlement.  The 
Council expects to collect in the region of £63m 
in 2015/16. Of the collected amount the Council 
only retains £51m with the rest going into the 
national funding system.

As part of the budget for 2015/16 the Council 
agreed to set the increase on Council Tax at 
3.75%. This is at a higher level than the 3% set in 
previous budget years. This extra rise was needed 
due to the challenging financial position faced by 
the Council as set out in this strategy.

The level of Council Tax for future years will be 
a democratic decision of the Council. For the 
purposes of this plan an annual increase of 3% 
has been built in for 2016/17 and for 2017/18. 
This would provide an additional £2.1m of income 
per year. In setting the Council Tax the Council has 
to balance the financial needs of the organisation 
to maintain its services with the affordability of 
Council Tax for local residents.

5. Income

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8  P a r t  1  



14

P a r t  1  M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8

Fees and Charges
In 2014/15 the Council generated £25m from 
fees and charges. The Council is developing 
a more wide ranging Income Strategy to help 
increase overall income to cope with the financial 
challenges it is facing. This work builds on earlier 
work to develop a single and consistent fees and 
charges policy with transparency in the setting of 
its fees and charges.

Existing fees and charges are, wherever possible, 
increased annually by 3% to meet the costs of 
inflation. However there are restrictions on the 
levels of income councils can charge for some 
services e.g. homecare services.

The budget strategy for 2015/16 was based on 
fundamental three year business plan reviews 
across all Council service portfolios. Within these 
plans were proposals for increasing income 
including:-

•	 maximisation of external funding
•	 increase	in	joint	funding	from	Health
•	 Public	 Protection	 fee	 increases	 to	 reflect	

cost
•	 review	of	car	parking	charges
•	 increased	charging	for	some	services

These reviews led to an increase in budgeted 
income across portfolios of £2.3m in 2015/16.

For 2016/17 and 2017/18, the Council will need 
to develop its income policy and identify new 
opportunities for income to help bridge the gap 
from the reduction in national funding.

Income Dependency
The Council is dependent on being able to 
generate income to fund some of its core services. 
For example, Leisure Services relies on £6m from 
income, mainly from its customers, whilst Facilities 
Services (Cleaning and Catering) relies on £3m 
from external income. In Catering the strategy for 
fees and charges needs to consider the impact of 
charging to avoid turning customers away.

Constraints on Charging Policy
In recent years, Welsh Government have 
introduced measures such as the First Steps 
Improvement  Package which introduced a then 
cap of £50 per week on the amount that Local 
Authorities could charge for Domiciliary Care. 
This led to a loss of income to Flintshire County 
Council of £0.426m in 2011/12 and has limited 
the Council’s ability to increase income for future 
years.

Reviews of these national constraints are needed 
to give councils the freedom to recover more 
income to subsidise some of the services it 
provides.

The impact of reductions in Revenue Support Grant is £19.4m offset by increase in 
Council Tax income of £6.2m



15

The impact of reductions in Revenue Support Grant is £19.4m offset by increase in 
Council Tax income of £6.2m

Total impact is £ 52.8m

6. Total Impacts
The total impact of known national pressures is £1.6m

The total impact of major local pressures is £9.9m

The total amount of inflation forecast is £12.5m

The total amount of workforce pressures is £15.6m (excluding inflation) 

M e d i u m  Te r m  F i n a n c i a l  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 5  -  2 0 1 8  P a r t  1  





CABINET

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 15 December 2015

Report Subject Provisional Local Government Settlement and the 
Council Fund Revenue Budget 2016/2017

Cabinet Member Leader of the Council and Finance Cabinet Member

Report Author Chief Executive and Corporate Finance Manager

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Council has adopted a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). The Strategy 
sets out the first two parts of a developing Council Fund Revenue Budget for 
2016/17.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees are considering the first two parts or 
‘building blocks’ of this proposed budget throughout December in a series of 
special meetings. The first ‘block’ is made up of service changes and efficiencies 
drawn from the business plans of each Chief Officer. Each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is being presented with the proposals for its respective portfolio for 
review and challenge. Whilst a complete set of proposals has been set out in a 
detailed document for each Committee, most attention is being given to the 
proposals considered to have greater risk. Members are already sighted on the 
proposals from a series of internal workshops.

The second ‘block’ of the developing budget is based on Corporate Financing 
proposals. These proposals will be considered by the Corporate Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee which, with its wider corporate budget overview 
and monitoring role, will meet at the end of this series of meetings. The Committee 
will meet twice. Firstly, to review the budget proposals for corporate services and 
the corporate financing options for the whole Council and, secondly, to  review the 
whole budget scrutiny process and advise on further information requested of the 
Cabinet.

As part of its Strategy the Council has made a case for some support and relief 
from Welsh Government to enable it to produce a supportable and balanced 
budget for 2016/17. This case has been presented locally through a series of 



public statements, media coverage, internet exposure and community engagement 
meetings. Behind the scenes the Council has been engaged in an intensive 
campaign to build support for its case at a national level, both as part of the 
collective effort of the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) and 
separately.

The Draft Welsh Budget was announced by Welsh Government on 8 December. 
The more detailed Provisional Local Government Settlement was to be announced 
on 9 December (and after this report was written for publication).

The Council will need to consider what other options are possible in order to be 
able to balance the budget for 2016/17, once the detail of the Provisional 
Settlement is known and its impacts fully understood. This will be done throughout 
January and February. A second series of Overview and Scrutiny Committees has 
been set in the diary for mid to late January.

The Council will have to set its final annual budget by 10 March.

A presentation will be made at this Cabinet meeting with an initial analysis of the 
Provisional Local Government Settlement and it implications for Flintshire.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 To receive an initial assessment of the Provisional Local Government 
Settlement as the basis for a fuller report for Cabinet and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees in January 2016 to inform (1)  the annual budget 
setting process and (2) a revision of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

2 To set out a timetable for recommendation of the budget in stages through 
January to March 2016 including the further development of ‘fall back’ 
options to reach a balanced budget.

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 BUDGET SETTING FOR 2016/17

1.01 The Council has adopted a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). The 
Strategy has been published in two documents over the course of the 
summer. The first document Forecasting the Challenge sets out the 
predicted budget needs and resources of the Council. The second, 
Meeting the Financial Challenge, sets out a response with possible 
solutions. The Strategy sets out the first two parts of a developing annual 
Council Fund Revenue Budget for 2016/17. The Strategy has been the 
subject of a series of member workshops, and briefings with Group 
Leaders and the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. The Strategy has been shared with local and regional partner 
organisations and has been central to the recent public engagement 
exercise and national campaigning.



1.02 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees are considering the first two parts 
or ‘building blocks’ of the annual budget throughout December in a series 
of special meetings. The first part or ‘block’ of the budget proposals is 
made up of service changes and efficiencies drawn from the business 
plans of each Chief Officer. These business plans are being developed for 
a three year period with 2016/17 being the second year. The detailed 
budget proposals adopted for 2015/16 were also drawn from the business 
plans. Options from within the business plans for 2017/18 will be the 
subject of scrutiny early in the 2016/17 financial year and well in advance 
of the formal annual budget setting process for that year. The business 
plan proposals for each service portfolio are listed on the website within 
the agenda set for each Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting in 
December. 

1.03 Throughout December each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is being 
presented with the proposals for its respective portfolio for review and 
challenge. A complete set of proposals has been set out in a detailed 
document for each Committee and most attention is being given to the 
higher risk proposals. Members are already sighted on the proposals from 
the earlier internal workshops.

1.04 The second part or ‘block’ of the developing budget is based on Corporate 
Financing proposals. These proposals will be considered by the Corporate 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee which, with its wider 
corporate budget overview and monitoring role, will also meet at the end of 
this series of meetings. The Committee will meet twice. Firstly, to review 
the budget proposals for corporate services and the corporate financing 
options and, secondly, to review the whole budget scrutiny process and 
advise on further information requested of the Cabinet.   The corporate 
financing proposals are detailed in the MTFS and have also been part of 
the member workshops and briefings. Members will be well acquainted 
with the corporate financing issues to ‘size-up’ and manage, such as 
inflation management, from previous annual budget setting exercises.

1.05 As part of its Strategy the Council has made a case for some support and 
relief from Welsh Government to enable it to produce a supportable and 
balanced budget for 2016/17. This case has been presented locally 
through a series of public statements, media coverage, internet exposure 
and community engagement meetings. Behind the scenes the Council has 
been engaged in an intensive campaign to build support for its case at a 
national level, both as part of the collective effort of the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA) and separately. The WLGA has recently 
published its Manifesto. The Manifesto makes the case for local 
government funding, and supporting national policies, both to influence 
Welsh Government in setting its Welsh budget for 2016/17, and to 
influence the commitments to be made by the political parties for local 
government and local public services in the run up to the 2016 elections 
for the National Assembly for Wales.

1.06 The Draft Welsh Budget was announced by Welsh Government on 8 
December. Details of the announcement are available on the Welsh 
Government website and will have been covered in the media. The more 
detailed Provisional Local Government Settlement was to be announced 
on 9 December (after this report was written for publication). Detailed 



analysis of the Provisional Settlement will be required before the Council 
can plan with any certainty a final budget for 2016/17. The Council will 
need to consider what other options are possible in order to be able to 
balance the budget for 2016/17, once the detail of the Provisional 
Settlement is known and its impacts fully understood. This will be done 
throughout January and February. Following an initial report to Cabinet in 
mid-January a second series of Overview and Scrutiny Committees will 
follow in mid to late January.

1.07 A presentation will be made at the Cabinet meeting with an initial analysis 
of the Provisional Local Government Settlement and it implications for 
Flintshire.

1.08 The Council will have to set its budget by 10 March. The budget setting 
process for 2016/17 is particularly complex given the lateness of the 
expected Final Local Government Settlement from Welsh Government and 
the scale of the annual budget reductions the Council has to manage. The 
Provisional Settlement is an indication of the intentions of Welsh 
Government for its budget, and one from which councils can plan their own 
budgets. However, Welsh Government has already explained that due to 
the need to consult on the Settlement, and due to the need to have a full 
understanding of the recently published Comprehensive Spending Review 
and its implications for Wales, the Final Settlement cannot be published 
until March. Council meetings are set in the diary for 26 January and 16 
February, with a third and final meeting, at which the Council Tax will need 
to be set, being scheduled for 10 March.

1.09 In the interim the WLGA will continue intensive discussions with Welsh 
Government over funding relief over and above that provided with the 
Provisional Settlement, such as parity of funding for social care within the 
additional resources being made available for the National Health Service 
in Wales. Flintshire has already notified Welsh Government of its request 
for an exemption from certain income capping policies such as homecare 
services. 

1.10 ‘Fall back’ options to balance the budget are being developed in the five 
areas of services, education funding, workforce, corporate financing, and 
income and local taxation. These options will inform the further work for 
the New Year outlined above.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 As set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 This report summarises the consultation process.



4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 As set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 – Business Plan Proposals 2016/17 for Community and 
Enterprise.

Appendix 2 – Business Plan Proposals 2016/17 for Corporate Resources

Appendix 3 – Business Plan Proposals 2016/17 for Education and Youth 

Appendix 4 – Business Plan Proposals 2016/17 for Organisational Change 

Appendix 5 – Business Plan Proposals 2016/17 for Planning and 
Environment and Streetscene and Transportation

Appendix 6 – Business Plan Proposals 2016/17 for Social Services 

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Medium Term Financial Strategy Parts 1 and 2 
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Medium-Term-Financial-
Strategy/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.aspx

Medium Term Financial Strategy Executive Summary 
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/PDFFiles/Medium-Term-Financial-
Strategy/Summary-Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.pdf

Flintshire County Council 24th October 2015 Report 
http://cyfarfodyddpwyllgor.siryfflint.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143
&MId=3551&Ver=4&LLL=undefined

Cabinet 15th September 2015 Report
http://cyfarfodyddpwyllgor.siryfflint.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=391
&MId=3537&Ver=4&LLL=undefined

Contact Officer: Colin Everett
Chief Executive

Telephone: 01352 702101
Email:                         chief.executive@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Budget: a statement expressing the Council’s policies and service levels 
in financial terms for a particular financial year.  In its broadest sense it 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.aspx
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.aspx
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/PDFFiles/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Summary-Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.pdf
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/PDFFiles/Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy/Summary-Medium-Term-Financial-Strategy.pdf
http://cyfarfodyddpwyllgor.siryfflint.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=3551&Ver=4&LLL=undefined
http://cyfarfodyddpwyllgor.siryfflint.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=3551&Ver=4&LLL=undefined
http://cyfarfodyddpwyllgor.siryfflint.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=391&MId=3537&Ver=4&LLL=undefined
http://cyfarfodyddpwyllgor.siryfflint.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=391&MId=3537&Ver=4&LLL=undefined
mailto:chief.executive@flintshire.gov.uk


includes both the revenue budget and capital programme and any 
authorised amendments to them.

Local Government Finance Settlement: This sets out what the Welsh 
Government is to allocate to each local authority in Wales. It is issued in 
two stages. This year, the Provisional Settlement is expected on 9th 
December with the final Local Government Finance Settlement being 
announced on 1st March 2016.

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS): a written strategy which gives 
a forecast of the financial resources which will be available to a Council for 
a given period, and sets out plans for how best to deploy those resources 
to meet its priorities, duties and obligations.

Council Fund: the majority of the Council’s revenue expenditure covering 
all services except Council Housing for which there is a stand-alone and 
ring-fenced account called the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

Annual Settlement: the amount of its funds the Welsh Government will 
allocate annually to local government as a whole, as part of its total 
budget, and to individual councils one by one.  The amount of Revenue 
Support Grant (see below) each council will receive is based on a complex 
distribution formula for awarding Aggregate External Finance (AEF).  The 
formula is underpinned by assessments of local need based, for example, 
of population size and demographics and levels of social deprivation.



Business Planning 2016/17            

Summary of Business Planning Proposals and Options

Category 1 2 3 Total

Portfolio 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

£m £m £m £m

Community & Enterprise 1.509 0.000 0.000 1.509

Total 1.509 0.000 0.000 1.509

Category

1.  Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling undertaken and the the accuracy can be 

relied upon not to change significantly

2.  Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the costing/modelling is reasonable 

although further work will be required to ensure robustness and to deal with any changes e.g. markets

3.  High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures are included at a high level with 

uncertainty around some of the significant detail e.g. further work required to   develop a specific proposal 

such as rationalising services/buildings.

These Business Plan proposals for 2016/17 build on the work shared with Group Leaders and Chairs of Scrutiny committees and more recently with all Members at the 

Member workshops.

The tables on the following pages have headings which are familiar.  

A new heading refers to the 'Mandatory' duty to provide particular services.  It should be noted that all services/functions provided by the Council are provided under 

many statutory duties.  Within these statutory duties a 'mandatory' service or function 'must' be provided.  

All 'mandatory' services/functions have been RAG assessed to determine if any 'duty' would be compromised should the business plan proposal be adopted.  These 

are all noted with an 'M' plus an explanation as to the RAG assessment.  All 'non-mandatory' services/functions are noted as NM.

1Version 8.1 09/12/2015



Business Planning Efficiencies for 

Community and Enterprise Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

MANDATORY duties 

16-17

RISK status of 

ACCEPTABILITY 

and 

DELIVERABILITY 

Categorisation of 

financial 

robustness

Explanation

CUSTOMER SERVICES
1 Close the personal answering service for main switchboard 

telephone calls 

Structural Review
                  0.065  NM 

1 Full year effect of 15/16 saving

4 Review of Fees and Charges for Registration Service Income Generation
                  0.010  NM 

1 Increased fees for weddings

5 Telephone Contact Centre savings Structural Review
                  0.100  NM 

2 Range of options under consideration to deliver 

savings - part year effect

7 Customer Services Team Restructure Service Efficiency                   0.014  NM 1 Reduction in team costs

8 Review of Flintshire Connects budgets Service Efficiency                   0.040  NM 1 Reduction in office costs

Total Customer Services                   0.229 

HOUSING REGENERATION
1 Energy Efficiency Framework Income Generation

0.050                  NM
2 Charge partners for use of council's framework

2 Housing Regen and Strategy further Capitalisation Service Efficiency
0.030                  NM

1 Capitalisation of staff costs

3 SHARP Framework Income Generation
                  0.020  NM 

1 Charge partners for use of council's framework

Total Housing Strategy                   0.100 

COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICES
1 Welfare Rights Team Review Structural Review

0.048                  NM 2

Consider model of service delivery to safeguard 

provision of welfare rights service and deliver 

savings

3 Community Support Services - Management Restructure Structural Review 0.012                  NM 1 Full year effect of reduction of 1 Manager post 

4 Community Centres Income Generation
0.048                  NM

1 Charge Housing Revenue Account for usage

5 Community Based Accommodation Support Service Structural Review

0.062                  NM

1 Reduction of 3 posts over 2 years through voluntary 

redundancy and vacancy management. Service 

supplemented by volunteers providing good 

neighbour service

6 Increased use of leased propoerties to reduce B&B expenditure service efficiency

0.060                  

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our 

mandatoty duty to 

support  people who are 

homeless 

1 Maximising Housing Benefit  income through 

property leasing.  Reduce B&B expenditure

7 Response Service for Older People service efficiency
0.020                  NM

2 Alternative model for out of hours response service

10 Bed &Breakfast Charging Income Generation

0.005                  

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our 

mandatoty duty to 

support  people who are 

homeless 

1 Year 2 of charging to partially offset service cost 

11 Supporting People restructure Structural Review
0.015                  NM

1 Reduce staff costs to reflect grant reductions

12 Galw Gofal Contract Fees Service Efficiency
0.030                  NM

1 Reduction in fee paid to Galw Gofal

14 Review of Financial Assessments Structural Review

_ _ _

2 Joined up financial assessment service to deliver 

improved customer experience. 1 post saved 

Total Community Support Services 0.300                  

REVENUES AND BENEFITS
1 e billing / administration / budget costs Service Efficiency

0.039                  

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our 

mandatory duty to 

administer or collect local 

taxes 

2 Saving in admin costs  as more people receive e 

bills together with proposals to reduce revenue 

budget in specific budget lines

3 Staff restructure to match staff costs to Department of Works and 

Pensions grant for benefits 

Structural Review

0.100                  

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our 

mandatory duty to 

administer Housing 

Benefit 

1 Reduction in posts could pose a financial risk 

through potential subsidy loss. There is also a 

further financial risk due to an ever decreasing 

subsidy administration grant from DWP

4 In-house bailiff service Income Generation

0.060                  NM

1 Income target already agreed by Cabinet - summer 

'14. Second year of trading should produce 

additional surplus as stated, especially with potential 

joint working with other local authorities 

11 200% charge on long term empty properties Income Generation

_ _ _

2 Utilisation of new powers for empty and second 

homes

12 Cessation of NNDR charitable reliefs Service Efficiency
_ _ _

2 Reduction in scale of support provided with 

enhanced hardship fund

13 Fraud expenditure budget reduction Service Efficiency
0.045                  NM

1 Service outsourced. Budget saving identified 

14 Council Tax Reduction Scheme Service Efficiency

0.329                  

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our 

mandatory duty to 

provide people with 

support for a Council Tax 

reduction 

2 Match budget to recent spend. Liable to in year risk

Total Revenues and Benefits
0.573                  

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
2 Supplies and Services reduction Service Efficiency 0.003                  NM 1 Admin cost saving

3 Business Development Restructure Structural Review
0.020                  NM

1 Service restructure 

Total Business Development
0.023                  

SUPPORT SERVICES
1 Reduction in Training Admin Structural Review 0.010                  NM 1 Service restructure

Total Support Services
0.010                  

REGENERATION (PLACES)
1 Reduction in scale of service   Structural Review 0.045                  NM 2 Service restructure

4 Reduce community environmental projects  Voluntary Sector
0.009                  NM

1 Reduced budget for third sector commissioning of 

environmental projects 

5 Earned Income recharge of management costs to Regeneration 

Projects

Service Efficiency
0.012                  NM

1 Capitalise or recharge staff costs to project income 

Total Regeneration (Places)
0.066                  

1 SENIOR MANAGEMENT RESTRUCTURE Structural Review 0.055                  NM 1 Full year effect of management restructure

3 20% Recharge of Wardens Service to HRA Service Efficiency
0.153                  NM

2 Charging for Housing Management Service carried 

out by support staff

Total Senior Management  Restructure 0.208                  

TOTAL COMMUNITY AND ENTERPRISE
1.509                  

Community & Enterprise

Total value of Business Plan proposals 1.509                       

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling 

undertaken and the accuracy can be relied upon not to change 

significantly

0.725 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail 

behind the costings/modelling is reasonable although further 

work will be required to ensure robustness and to deal with 

any  changes in circumstances e.g. market conditions.

0.784 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The 

figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around 

some of the significant detail e.g. further work required to   

develop a specific proposal such as rationalising 

services/building

0.000 

1.509



Business Planning 2016/17

Summary of Business Planning Proposals

Category 1 2 3 Total

Portfolio 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

£m £m £m £m

Corporate Services 0.235 0.320 0.300 0.855

Total 0.235 0.320 0.300 0.855

Category

1.  Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling undertaken and the the accuracy can be 

relied upon not to change significantly

2.  Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the costing/modelling is reasonable 

although further work will be required to ensure robustness and to deal with any changes e.g. markets

3.  High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures are included at a high level with 

uncertainty around some of the significant detail e.g. further work required to   develop a specific 

proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.

These Business Plan proposals for 2016/17 build on the work shared with Group Leaders and Chairs of 

Scrutiny committees and more recently with all Members at the Member workshops.

The tables on the following pages have headings which are familiar.  

A new heading refers to the 'Mandatory' duty to provide particular services.  It should be noted that all 

services/functions provided by the Council are provided under many statutory duties.  Within these 

statutory duties a 'mandatory' service or function 'must' be provided.  

All 'mandatory' services/functions have been RAG assessed to determine if any 'duty' would be 

compromised should the business plan proposal be adopted.  These are all noted with an 'M' plus an 

explanation as to the RAG assessment.  All 'non-mandatory' services/functions are noted as NM.

1Version 8.1 09/12/2015



No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 

MANDATORY 

duties 

16-17

RISK status of 

ACCEPTABILITY 

and 

DELIVERABILITY 

Categorisation 

of financial 

robustness

Explanation

PEOPLE & RESOURCES - FINANCE
1 Implementation of Collaborative Planning Software to 

finance to improve and automate our processes thus 

enabling workforce efficiencies

Service Efficiency

M

The introduction of this new software will enable

budget monitoring to be undertaken more

efficiently, with the minimum of manual

intervention which will lead to workforce

efficiencies and reductions. 

2 Phased roll out of new finance model. Structural Review

M

The implementation of a new Finance Model and a

review of structure and business processes to

achieve efficiencies and to operate as a modern

Finance function.

Totals 0.135

PEOPLE & RESOURCES - HUMAN 

RESOURCES & ORGANISATIONAL DESIGN
1 Effective people management skills to increase levels of

Managers' self sufficiency

Service Efficiency

NM

Demand management exercise to upskill

managers to become increasingly self sufficient in

managing their people /teams.

2 Redefine clear roles and responsibilities for Human 

Resources (HR) / managers 

Service Efficiency

NM

Complements the exercise above in that the roles

and responsibilities of HR and managers need to

be redefined for the future and will reduce reliance

on HR resources.

3 Review of Human Resources & Organisational Design 

operating model and job roles

Structural Review

NM

To review the operating model and structure for

Human Resources & Organisational Design to

better meet the organisation's future requirements.

4 Further roll-out (50%) of Flexible & Agile Working

arrangements (phase 1)

Service Efficiency

NM

Promotion and implementation of flexible and agile 

to reduce accommodation space.

5 Implementation of iTrent Self Service to Schools Service Efficiency

NM

2 Reduction of reliance on corporate and Schools

administrative processes thereby creating

efficiencies in workforce.  

Totals 0.115

GOVERNANCE - LEGAL
1 Increase income Income Generation 0.015

M

1 To increase the fees recharged to developers etc

entering legal agreements with the council in line

with other councils in Wales (the income earned

as a % of the service budget is approximately half

that of other councils). 

Totals 0.015

GOVERNANCE - ICT

1 Reduction in management, staff and non pay costs Structural Review 0.300

NM

3 In order to mitigate the high risk of collaboration

with Wrexham, the service will need to restructure

and significantly review levels and types of service

available.

2 (new) Education ICT Service Efficiency 0.220
NM

1 Remodelling of service to create efficiencies.

Totals 0.520

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

1 (new) Voluntary Sector Grants review Service Efficiency 0.070

NM

2 Revised core funding agreements with voluntary

sector partners to reflect new models of delivery

and revised funding arrangements.

Totals 0.070

TOTAL CORPORATE SERVICES 0.855            

CORPORATE SERVICES

Total value of Business Plan proposals 2.483                        

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed 

costings/modelling undertaken and the accuracy can be 

relied upon not to change significantly
0.235 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of 

detail behind the costings/modelling is reasonable 

although further work will be required to ensure 

robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.
0.320 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - 

The figures are included at a high level with uncertainty 

around some of the significant detail e.g. further work 

required to   develop a specific proposal such as 

rationalising services/buildings.

0.300 

0.855

Business Planning Efficiencies for Corporate 

Services

2

2

0.135

0.115



Business Planning 2016/17

Summary of Business Planning Proposals 

Category 1 2 3 Total

Portfolio 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

£m £m £m £m

Education & Youth 0.493 0.061 0.187 0.741

Total 0.493 0.061 0.187 0.741

Category

1.  Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling undertaken and the the accuracy can be relied upon not to change significantly

2.  Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the costing/modelling is reasonable although further work will be required to ensure robustness 

and to deal with any changes e.g. markets

3.  High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around some of the significant detail e.g. further 

work required to   develop a specific proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.

These Business Plan proposals for 2016/17 build on the work shared with Group Leaders and Chairs of Scrutiny committees and more recently with all Members at 

the Member workshops.

The tables on the following pages have headings which are familiar.  

A new heading refers to the 'Mandatory' duty to provide particular services.  It should be noted that all services/functions provided by the Council are provided under 

many statutory duties.  Within these statutory duties a 'mandatory' service or function 'must' be provided.  

All 'mandatory' services/functions have been RAG assessed to determine if any 'duty' would be compromised should the business plan proposal be adopted.  These 

are all noted with an 'M' plus an explanation as to the RAG assessment.  All 'non-mandatory' services/functions are noted as NM.

1Version 8.1 08/12/2015



Business Planning Efficiencies for Education 

and Youth Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17

MANDATORY duties 

16-17

RISK status of 

ACCEPTABILITY and 

DELIVERABILITY 

Categorisation of 

financial 

robustness

Explanation

1 School Modernisation Structural Review 0.187                      M

Reduction in over-capacity in 

school's network will be 

achieved through this 

programme 

3 Estimate savings released from the schools budget due to 

school reorganisation.  These are subject to Cabinet and 

ministerial approval.  

2 Primary & Early Years Education - Maximising Deployment of 

Early Entitlement Foundation Phase Grant (including new model 

for provision of 10% teacher time in funded early years settings).

Service Efficiency 0.017                     NM 1 Maximising Deployment of Early Entitlement Foundation Phase 

Grant (including new model for provision of 10% teacher time in 

funded early years settings).

3 Further remodelling of Music Service to move to “full cost 

recovery”

Service Efficiency 0.061                     NM 2 Further remodelling of Music Service to move to “full cost 

recovery” through cost reduction and increased income 

generation.  The Music Service is currently reviewing whether 

an Alternative Delivery Model would offer a sustainable 

alternative.  Increased tuition fees and/or introduction of a 

charge for transport will provoke a negative response from 

music service users.

4 Reduction in administrative IT support. Structural Review 0.040                     NM 1 Further reduction and restruture of Education & Youth 'back 

office functions'.

5 Additional Learning Needs Service Efficiency 0.020                      M

Children & young people with 

additional learning needs will 

continue to be supported 

either by school  action  or 

school action plus 

1 Residual savings following withdrawal of the additional learning 

needs service in 2014/15.

6 English as an additional language/Gypsy Traveller Support - 

Current vacancy removal of post and remodelling of service 

delivery.

Service Efficiency 0.045                      M

Service remodelling to ensure 

ongoing mandatory 

compliance 

1 Reduction of service with greater emphasis on training schools 

to deliver appropriate level of support to children with additional 

language needs.  With continuing levels of migration this may 

place pressure on specific schools.

7 Speech & Language Service - Reduction in Service provision Service Efficiency 0.007                      M

Children & young people with 

additional learning needs will 

continue to be supported 

either by school  action  or 

school action plus 

1 Reduction in service provision.

9 Educational Psychology Service - Current vacancy removal of 

post

Service Efficiency 0.070                      M

Children & young people with 

additional learning needs will 

continue to be supported 

either by school  action  or 

school action plus 

1 Reduction in service provision may place pressure on 

psychology team and result in waiting lists.

10 Inclusion Welfare Service - current vacancies - reduction in full 

time equivalent posts to 8.5 officers.

Service Efficiency 0.040                      M

Service remodelling to ensure 

ongoing mandatory 

compliance 

1 Reduction is service provision may impact of the level of service 

that can be provided to schools.

11 Looked After Children Support Service Efficiency 0.030                      M

Service remodelling to ensure 

ongoing mandatory 

compliance 

1 Reduction in staffing with functions associated with role being 

picked up by another team.

14 Youth Services - Youth Justice Service Staffing Reduction Structural Review 0.025                      M

Service remodelling does not 

compromise ongoing 

mandatory compliance 

1 Reduced staffing levels.

15 Youth Services - reduction in caretaking Structural Review 0.035                     NM 1 Transfer of responsibilities from Youth to Facilities Services. 

Reduction in service.

16 Youth Service Planned Management Reductions & Vacancy 

Management

Structural Review 0.037                      M

Service remodelling does not 

compromise ongoing 

mandatory compliance 

1 Reduced staffing levels in line with Youth Service Strategy.

18 SMIT reduction in staffing. Structural Review 0.047                     NM 1 Service restructure - continued reduction in 'back- office 

functions.

19 Education & Youth Portfolio Service Review Reduction in 

Management Structure

Structural Review 0.080                     NM 1 Service restructure - reducing the number of senior managers.

TOTAL 0.741                

EDUCATION AND YOUTH

Total value of Business Plan proposals 0.741

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling 

undertaken and the accuracy can be relied upon not to change 

significantly
0.493 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind 

the costings/modelling is reasonable although further work will be 

required to ensure robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.
0.061 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The 

figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around some 

of the significant detail e.g. further work required to   develop a 

specific proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.

0.187 

0.741



Business Plans 

2016/17

Summary of Business Planning Proposals 

Category 1 2 3 Total

Portfolio 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

£m £m £m £m

Organisational Change 0.728 0.544 0.000 1.272

Total 0.728 0.544 0.000 1.272

Category

These Business Plan proposals for 2016/17 build on the work shared with Group Leaders and Chairs of Scrutiny committees and more recently with 

all Members at the Member workshops.

The tables on the following pages have headings which are familiar.  

A new heading refers to the 'Mandatory' duty to provide particular services.  It should be noted that all services/functions provided by the Council are 

provided under many statutory duties.  Within these statutory services a 'mandatory' service or function 'must' be provided.  

All 'mandatory' services/functions have been RAG assessed to determine if any 'duty' would be compromised should the business plan proposal be 

adopted.  These are all noted with an 'M' plus an explanation as to the RAG assessment.  All 'non-mandatory' services/functions are noted as NM.

1.  Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling undertaken and the the accuracy can be relied upon not to change significantly

2.  Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the costing/modelling is reasonable although further work will be required to ensure robustness 

and to deal with any changes e.g. markets

3.  High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around some of the significant detail e.g. further 

work required to   develop a specific proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.

1Version 8.1 02/12/2015



Business Planning Efficiencies for 

Organisational Change Portfolio

ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE 1

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type

16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 

MANDATORY 

duties 

16-17

RISK status of 

ACCEPTABILITY and 

DELIVERABILITY 

Categorisation of 

financial 

robustness

Explanation

14 Deeside Library Relocations

Service Reduction 0.030                    1

Re-locate Mancot, Hawarden and Queensferry 

Libraries to Deeside Leisure Centre.

15 Community Asset Transfers

Service Reduction 0.544                    2

Community Asset Transfer of:

i) Connahs Quay Pool, 

ii) Holywell Leisure Centres 

iii) potentially rural libraries

iv) building transfer of Holywell and Broughton 

libraries.

Totals 0.574                    

Clwyd Theatr Cymru

1 Proposal to reduce shows and increase productivity  
Service Reduction/ 

Service Efficiency/ 

Income Generation

0.150                    NM 1

Reduction in shows from 8 to 6, combined with 

a reduction in staffing costs, and increases in 

income from productions and related activities.

Total Organisational Change 1 0.724                    

ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE 2 

1 Catering

Work process changes and office efficiency Service Efficiency 0.005                    NM 1

Review of the office processes and paperwork 

flows drawing on best practice and increased 

use of electronic delivery.

2 Staff structural change  

Structural Review 0.019                    NM 1

Review of the catering service resources 

delivered to High Schools, Primary Schools, 

Residential Homes and Day Care Centres and 

the way the current service is delivered.  

3 Stock management and control

Service Efficiency 0.077                    NM 1

Stock control management system has now 

been purchased and its use is being 

embedded within the service to deliver 

increased efficiencies.

4

Increase meal numbers (income) Service Efficiency 0.080                    NM 1

Current performance and take up in schools is 

currently 39% with a recent study indicating 

that 43% should be a target that is achievable.  

This requires improved marketing and 

promotion of the catering service to increase 

take up.

5

Debt recovery (income) Service Efficiency 0.010                    NM 1

Manage more effectively the levels of debt 

relating to school meals and take appropriate 

action to tackle debt levels.  This deliverable is 

now linked to a new debt process.

Totals 0.191                    

7 Increased Growth
Income Generation 0.003                    NM 1

Grow cleaning service into other areas such as 

leisure services, schools, care facilites.

8 Different model of delivery (mobile)

Income Generaion 0.004                    NM 1

Deliver a peripatetic cleaning service to areas 

of the County and in addition increase external 

market contracts.

Totals
0.007                    

9 Security/Caretaking

Staff reductions  
Service Reduction 0.056                    NM 1

Review undertaken for County Hall and close 

down at County Hall in place augmented by 

improved CCTV coverage around the campus.  

10 Lock Down and Shift Pattern modifications
Service Efficiency 0.020                    NM 1

Review position at Flint and modify service.  

Continue to review Mold service.

Totals
0.076                    

11 CCTV

Staff reductions Service Reduction 0.040                    NM 1
Rationalise service following a review to create 

efficiencies.

12 
Income increase

Income Generation 0.010                    NM 1

A number of strands relating to recovery of fee 

income from system users based upon a more 

responsive and peripatetic provision, and 

reductions is system maintenance costs. 

Totals 0.050                    

13 Other

Campus Management Structural Review 0.030                    NM 1
Rationalise service following a service review 

to create efficiencies.

14 Maintenance
Service Efficiency 0.005                    NM 1

Review budgets and reduce the level of 

maintenance to the main campus facility.

Totals
0.035                    

16 Valuations & Estates

Lease renewals Income Generation 0.023                    NM 1

Increases in rental income on new leases , 

renewal of leases, agricultural rents and 

grazing licences.

18 Office management

Service Efficiency 0.002                    NM 1

Undertake a LEAN review of the office 

processes and paperwork flows drawing on 

best practice and increased use of electronic 

delivery of the service.

19 Estate management cost recovery (dilapidations 

etc) Income Generation 0.005                    NM 1

Increased and more effective recovery from 

tenants of dilapidation costs following tenant 

vacation of our property assets.

Totals
0.030                    

20 Property Maintenance & Design

Reduce maintenance budget

Structural Review 0.150                     NM 1

Review of the council's existing corporate 

maintenance budgets in conjunction with a 

reducing property estate, through 

rationalisation.  The Councils performance in 

relation to its maintenance delivery is already 

upper quartile.  

22 Office running costs 

Service Efficiency 0.004                     NM 1

Undertake a review of the office running costs, 

reducing accommodation space and service 

cost.

23 Office management
Service Efficiency 0.005                     NM 1

Undertake a review of office processes and 

paperwork flows drawing on best practice.

Totals 0.159                    

Total Organisational Change 2 0.548                  

TOTAL ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE 1.272                  

ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE

Total value of Business Plan proposals
1.272                       

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed 

costings/modelling undertaken and the accuracy can 

be relied upon not to change significantly
0.728 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level 

of detail behind the costings/modelling is reasonable 

although further work will be required to ensure 

robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.
0.544 

3= High level costing requires detailed further 

modelling - The figures are included at a high level 

with uncertainty around some of the significant 

detail e.g. further work required to   develop a 

specific proposal such as rationalising 

services/buildings.
0.000 

1.272

 Statutory duty for a 

comprehensive and 

efficient library 

service; proposals 

do not compromise 

this requirement. 



Business Plans 

2016/17

Summary of Business Planning Proposals

Category 1 2 3 Total

Portfolio 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

£m £m £m £m

Planning & Environment 0.262 0.151 0.000 0.413

Streetscene & Transportation 0.485 1.240 0.775 2.500

Total 0.747 1.391 0.775 2.913

Category

1.  Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling undertaken and the the accuracy can be relied upon not to change significantly

2.  Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the costing/modelling is reasonable although further work will be required to ensure robustness 

and to deal with any changes e.g. markets

3.  High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around some of the significant detail e.g. further 

work required to   develop a specific proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.

These Business Plan proposals for 2016/17 build on the work shared with Group Leaders and Chairs of Scrutiny committees and more recently with 

all Members at the Member workshops.

The tables on the following pages have headings which are familiar.  

A new heading refers to the 'Mandatory' duty to provide particular services.  It should be noted that all services/functions provided by the Council are 

provided under many statutory duties.  Within these statutory services a 'mandatory' service or function 'must' be provided.  

All 'mandatory' services/functions have been RAG assessed to determine if any 'duty' would be compromised should the business plan proposal be 

adopted.  These are all noted with an 'M' plus an explanation as to the RAG assessment.  All 'non-mandatory' services/functions are noted as NM.

1 Version 8.1 02/12/2015 1



Business Planning Efficiencies  for 

Planning and Environment Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 

MANDATORY 

duties 

16-17

RISK status of 

ACCEPTABILITY and 

DELIVERABILITY 

Categorisation of 

financial robustness

Explanation

1
Staffing - management restructure  

Structural Review 0.105                      1 Reduction of Team Leader posts within the Trading Standards and 

Building Control functions.

These savings would ideally be delivered through collaboration 

although further options are being explored to deliver this saving.

In 17/18 this relates to a reduction in Service Managers.

2 Staffing - service review  Structural Review 0.127                      1 Over two years, the Service Review will result in a reduction of 4 

posts below team leader level.  Releasing vacancies and fulfilling 

early voluntary retirement requests in addition to bringing forward 

Alternative Delivery Model work within the drainage and energy 

areas will assist in achieving the savings proposal.

4 & 5
Self financing for Public Protection Services  

- Animal & Pest Control

- Licencing Charging

Income Generation 0.050                      2 Incremental fee increases over the three year period will ensure that 

the animal and pest control function can at least operate on a self-

financing basis.  Proposed fees reflect favourably against 

neighbouring authorities and the private sector. 

8 Increase in planning fees (15% WG increase)  and applications Income Generation 2 Planning (Wales) Bill introduced a 15% increase from 01/10/15 on 

all planning application fees.  

9 Increase in number of planning applications Income Generation 2 Estimated increase in the volume of planning applications as the 

economy continues to recover. 

10 Additional elements of charging for Planning Work Income Generation 2 Planning (Wales) Bill proposes to increase the types of activities for 

which a planning fee can be charged as described within the 

proposal.  Estimate of saving is based on an analysis of volume of 

work currently undertaken in these areas.

11 Pre planning advice  Structural Review / 

Service Efficiency

2 Planning (Wales) Bill will introduce the provision of mandatory pre-

application services, clarify what the Local Planning Authority has to 

provide and set standard service charges across Wales. 

12 Reduce cost of newspaper advertising Structural Review / 

Service Efficiency

0.010                      1 Continue to review the requirement to place public notices within 

local newspapers for all of the Planning and Environment portfolio.  

Secondary legislation related to Planning (Wales) Bill suggests that 

this may become less onerous.

13 Savings from Development Management process improvements Service Efficiency 0.020                      1 Continue to undertake a full LEAN review of the Development 

Management process drawing on best practice and increased use 

of electronic delivery of the service.

TOTAL 0.413                 

CUMULATIVE

 

PLANNING & ENVIRONMENT

Total value of Business Plan proposals 0.413                         

CATEGORISATION KEY Count Number Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling 

undertaken and the accuracy can be relied upon not to 

change significantly
4 0.262 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail 

behind the costings/modelling is reasonable although 

further work will be required to ensure robustness and to 

deal with any  changes in circumstances e.g. market 

conditions.
5 0.151 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - 

The figures are included at a high level with uncertainty 

around some of the significant detail e.g. further work 

required to   develop a specific proposal such as 

rationalising services/buildings.
0 0.000 

Total 0.413

0.101                      

 

M 

 The mandatory duties 

to provide a planning 

service and regulatory 

services such as 

animal and pest 

control are not 

compromised by these 

efficiencies 

2 Version 8 02/12/2015



Business Plan Efficiencies  for Streetscene 

and Transportation Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 MANDATORY 

duties 

16-17

RISK status of 

ACCEPTABILITY and 

DELIVERABILITY 

Categorisation of 

financial 

robustness

Explanation

CHANGES TO STAFFING AND CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN THE EXISTING MODEL

4 Introduce an integrated transport unit  Structural Review 0.200 NM Operating systems still to be 

confirmed

2 County wide transport service includes - Public, Social care and 

Schools transport

5 Shared Specialist Plant with neigbouring authority  Collaboration 0.050 NM No discussions taking place to 

facillitate

2 The opportunity exists to share specialist plant, e.g. streetlighting 

equipment, traffic management equipment with another Council.

6 Staffing Structure following Organisation Design review Structural Review 0.150 NM New team delivering a huge 

change programme and day 

to day operations

1 The recent Organisation Design review has brought together a 

number of services under the new Portfolio and the staff will be 

reviewed in order to reduce numbers and provide more generic 

roles operating to the new business plan.

8 Introduce non-generic streetscene roles (3 year plan) Structural Review 0.115 NM  Concerns from Trade Unions 

re the introduction of a two tier 

workforce 

2 The Council introduced a generic Streetscene operative role in 

2012.  The new role requires the staff to work across the sections 

of Streetscene services in return for an increased salary.   Whilst 

there are clear benefits in this arrangement, having operated this 

for a period of two years, it has become clear that a generic 

workforce across the overall service is unnecessary.  The 

intention therefore is to replace any service leavers or new 

starters with non-generic (service specific) roles on lower 

salaries.

Totals 0.515

REVIEW OF STANDARDS AND OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN WASTE

1 Develop energy production at landfill Income Generation 0.100 NM  1. Subject to Planning                     

2. Funding to be confirmed                           

3. Works need to be compled 

by April 2016                          

4 Changes to Feed Tariff 

payments announced by 

Chancellor may impact on 

scheme viability 

3 The landfill sites at Brookhill and Standard currently produce 

energy through gas turbines.  The gas supply is reducing 

resulting in capacity in the connection to the mains grid.  With 

investment, it is intended to increase the level of energy 

produced by introducing photo voltaic panels to both landfill sites.  

The potential to extend the energy source to Alltami depot opens 

the opportunity for utilising the energy to power the fleet (1.7M 

INVESTMENT REQUIRED)

2 Rationalise Household Recycling Centres provision and 

provide the service through a performance based contract 

which would include bulky collections.  

Service Reduction 0.425 NM Subject to achieving 

necessary recycling levels 

and further review of site 

numbers

3 The Council currently operates 7 Household Recycling Centre 

sites.  The sites are operated utilising in-house labour.  The 

proposal is:

(1) to reduce the number of sites in the County to three, 

suggested locations to be decided based on optimising resident 

access to the sites

(2) contract the management of the sites based on an 

incentivised contract which will improve the recycling levels at 

the sites.  The opportunity to tender the work to a Social 

Enterprise will be considered.

3 Removing the waste containers delivery service   Service Reduction 0.050 NM  Public opposition to the 

proposals 

2 Residents requiring new waste containers such as recycling 

boxes, bags, food caddies etc. currently call the Contact Centre 

and bags are delivered to their address.  The proposal will be for 

residents to collect any new containers they require from:

1.    Household Recycling Centre sites

2.    Flintshire Connect Centres

3.    Housing Offices

Deliveries to assisted collection properties would continue and 

delivery of wheelie bins will also remain unchanged.

5 Introduce a charge for second garden waste bin  Income Generation 0.025 NM  Public opposition to the 

proposals 

1 The Council currently provides a free collection of garden waste 

and whilst the new policy limits the number of bins provided to 

two, there are many properties within the County with significantly 

more than this number.  The proposal is to provide a single bin 

collection free of charge for a second and subsequent bin.

6 Introduce 7 day working and no Christmas collection catch up   Service Efficiency 0.050 NM  Public opposition to the 

proposals 

2 Currently we collect waste over a six day period and the proposal 

is to extend that to seven days.  The saving will be generated by 

the reduced number of vehicles within Waste.

7 Diagnostic proposals waste Service Review 0.050 NM  Improving productivity - TU 

opposition to proposals 

1 Following the template of the Fleet Review we have engaged 

with a diagnostic partner to carry out a review of all operations 

within the waste service and make recommendation to improve 

efficiencies.  Implementation of these changes will be on a no 

win/no fee basis.

8 Suspend garden waste collections November to February   Service Reduction 0.025 NM  Public opposition to the 

proposals                                           

Reduced Recycling levels 

3 During this period there is a limited amount of garden waste 

material made.  The proposal is to cease all garden waste 

material collections whilst maintaining the black bin collections.

12 Remove the existing policy of returning for missed bin waste 

collections

Service Reduction 0.075 NM Public opposition to the 

proposals

3 The Council will not in future return to collect any containers not 

collected in the original visit to that area.

14 Review of Bulky Waste Collection Service Reduction 0.025 NM  Public opposition to the 

proposals 

2 Charging all residents / Contracting the service to Social 

Enterprise

15 Construction of a waste handling and biomass production 

facility at Greenfield

Service Reduction 0.100 NM  1. Subject to planning                

2. Funding still outstanding 

2 Waste handling facility will reduce fleet mileage and fuel costs.  

Biomass facility will feed Council boilers, invest to save proposal 

(£1m)

10 Car Parking Charges  Income Generation 0.200 NM  Full year effect of charges - 

Public opposition to the 

proposals 

2 Revise the Councils Car Parking Strategy introducing parking 

charges to all town centre car parks in Flintshire

Totals 1.125

3 Version 8 02/12/2015



REVIEW OF STANDARDS AND OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN TRANSPORT AND TRANSPORTATION

2 Replace Demand Responsive Transport with  non-subsidised 

service  

Service Reduction
 0.250 NM  Full year effect of 2015/16 

proposal 

2 Deeside Shuttle - Demand for the service has grown to the 

extent that a regular and potentially non-subsidised defined route 

can replace the existing arrangements.  The savings would be 

generated by a reduction in back office staff costs. Full year 

effect

5 Charge maintenance of Bus Shelters to Community & Town 

Councils  

Income Generation 0.025 NM  Part of CAT's 1 Discussions will commence with Town & Community Councils in 

respect of taking maintenance responsibility for shelters.

6 Review subsidised bus routes  Service Reduction 0.100 NM Public opposition to the 

proposals

3 Remove current subsidised bus services and work with Town & 

Community Councils and the local community to deliver local 

community based travel arrangements

Totals
0.375

OTHER 

1 Remove the subsidy for the Community Rail Officer Service Reduction 0.010 NM  Regional partners concerns 1 FCC currently provides £10k towards the funding of the post

4 Externalise the Stores Managed Service  Service Reduction 0.050 NM Business case still to be 

developed

2 Align stores delivery to external provision or utilise Housing 

tender

Totals 0.060

REVIEW OF STANDARDS AND OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN STREETSCENE

1 Externalise grass cutting service  Service Efficiency 0.075 NM  Contractor standards below 

in house and needs managing 

1 The majority of area grass cutting is carried out by the in-house 

service with agency assistance to support existing staff.  The 

operation requires a large amount of specialised plant and 

equipment which is not owned by the Council and hired at great 

expense.  The intention is to incrementally tender the full function 

over a three year period - market testing against internal 

provision at each stage. 

2 7 day operations across all service areas  Structural Review 0.025 NM  Trade Unions opposition to 

proposals 

1 Following the Streetscene Review in 2012, Streetscene now 

operates a six day working week.  The intention is to extend 

operations to Sunday which will require all staff to work some 

weekends during the year.  The savings would be driven by 

reduction of vehicle plant and fleet.

3 Extend night working  Structural Review 0.025 NM  Pay enhancement needs 

reviewing 

1 Streetscene introduced an evening shift in 2012.  A small 

number of people work through the night (365 days a year) 

dealing with emergencies and small amounts of planned works.  

The proposal will see this level of work increase with operations 

such as gully emptying, town centre sweeping etc. carried out 

during the evening and overnight period.  The saving will be 

generated by reduction of plant and equipment.  

6 Final phase of public convenience review Service Reduction 0.020 NM  Public opposition to the 

proposals 

2 Implement final phase of the service review as previously 

approved by Cabinet.

7 Pass Maintenance Liability and Cleanliness of Cemeteries to 

Town & Community Councils

Service Reduction 0.050 NM Part of CAT's proposal 3 The proposal is to pass all liability for the long term maintenance 

of cemeteries to Community Councils

8 Reducing Cleansing standard in the towns and enforce zero 

tolerance for littering

Service Reduction 0.050 NM  Subject to a reduction in 

littering 

1 The Council currently has both CPE and Environmental 

Enforcement teams.  Whilst numbers will reduce as part of the 

service review - this proposal would reduce or remove the 

service completely.

9 Diagnostic proposals Streetscene Structural Review 0.050 NM  Productivity improvements - 

Trade Unions opposition to 

proposals 

1 Following the Fleet Review the proposal is to engage a 

diagnostic partner to carry out a review of the operations within 

the highway service and make recommendation to improve 

efficiencies.  Implementation of these changes will be on a no 

win / no fee basis

11 Probation Service to take on Litter Collections in some areas Service Reduction 0.100 M Trade Unions opposition to 

proposals

2 Currently all cleaning operations are carried out by full time 

Council employees. The proposal is to engage the Probationary 

Service to provide a resource on the Community payback 

Scheme to carry out this service on an SLA

13 Part night lighting in all residential areas  Service Reduction 0.030 NM Public opposition to the 

proposals

2 Introduce part night lighting in all residential areas.  Subject to 

risk assessment lights will be turned off between 12pm and 5am.

Totals 0.425

STREETSCENE AND TRANSPORTATION TOTAL 2.500

STREETSCENE & TRANSPORTATION

Total value of Business Plan proposals 2.500

CATEGORISATION KEY Count Number Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling 

undertaken and the accuracy can be relied upon not to change 

significantly

10 0.485 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail 

behind the costings/modelling is reasonable although further 

work will be required to ensure robustness and to deal with any  

changes in circumstances e.g. market conditions.
17 1.240 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The 

figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around 

some of the significant detail e.g. further work required to   

develop a specific proposal such as rationalising 

services/building
13 0.775 

4 Version 8 02/12/2015



Business Planning 2016/17

Summary of Business Planning Proposals 

Category 1 2 3 Total

Portfolio 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

£m £m £m £m

Social Care 0.272 0.426 0.238 0.936

Total 0.272 0.426 0.238 0.936

Category

1.  Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling undertaken and the the accuracy can be relied upon not to change significantly

2.  Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the costing/modelling is reasonable although further work will be required to ensure robustness 

and to deal with any changes e.g. markets

3.  High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around some of the significant detail e.g. further 

work required to   develop a specific proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.

These Business Plan proposals for 2016/17 build on the work shared with Group Leaders and Chairs of Scrutiny committees and more recently with 

all Members at the Member workshops.

The tables on the following pages have headings which are familiar.  

A new heading refers to the 'Mandatory' duty to provide particular services.  It should be noted that all services/functions provided by the Council are 

provided under many statutory duties.  Within these statutory services a 'mandatory' service or function 'must' be provided.  

All 'mandatory' services/functions have been RAG assessed to determine if any 'duty' would be compromised should the business plan proposal be 

adopted.  These are all noted with an 'M' plus an explanation as to the RAG assessment.  All 'non-mandatory' services/functions are noted as NM.

1Version 8.1 08/12/2015



Business Plan Efficiencies for 

Social Care Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 MANDATORY duties 

16-17

RISK status of 

ACCEPTABILITY and 

DELIVERABILITY 

Categorisation 

of financial 

robustness

Explanation

Older People

Learning Disabilities

5 Rationalise the number of sites where In-House 

short term care is provided 

Service Reduction                   0.140  M

The duty to provide 

short term care is not 

compromised by this full 

year effect of the 

change introduced last 

year. 

 Rationalisation of sites has 

been achieved 

1 Rationalisation of short term care sites has been achieved and will bring about a full year 

benefit in 2016/17.

6 Consult on the potential to commission provision 

currently provided by In House Supported Living 

houses 

 Service Efficiency                   0.125  M

Duty to provide services 

for people with Learning 

Disabilites in appropriate 

settings; this model 

should achieve this. 

 Process of negotiation with 

families, service users and 

workforce underway; to be 

completed. 

2 Criteria developed to identify Supported Living projects that may have the potential to be 

effectively delivered by the independent sector.  There are 6 projects that are being 

considered.  The number of projects that can be appropriately recommissioned from the 

independent sector, precise savings and timings will be clear once consultation has taken 

place alongside market capacity analysis.  Indicative savings are subject to consultation. 

7 Develop a ‘progression’ model for Supported 

Living

Service Efficiency                   0.250  Process of negotiation with 

families, service users and 

workforce underway; to be 

completed. 

2 Adopt the progression model which supports people to live as independent lives as 

possible. This includes:

• maximising technology as part of the support plan (telecare)

• providing ‘just enough support’ in ways that build autonomy and personal resilience

• maximise the use of Direct Payments

• ensure progression is a key feature of ‘transitional’ arrangements for young people who 

have eligible needs

This approach should improve peoples’ quality of life as well as appropriately reducing 

support packages and the cost of support

14 Develop alternative approaches to in house day 

services and work opportunity schemes

Revenue 

Efficiencies

                  0.238  Process of negotiation with 

families, service users and 

workforce underway; but more 

progress is needed before 

assurity about delivery. 

3 There is a variance in the care and support arrangements for clients across the day care 

and work opportunity settings.  Some schemes support people with more moderate needs 

and have greater potential to move to alternative delivery models.  Some of the services 

support people with very complex needs and the speed at which alternative models can 

be delivered varies along with the timescales and pace for releasing efficiencies.

Children's Services

16 Service redesign in children's services Structural Review                   0.032  M

Duty to provide 

Childrens and 

Safeguarding Services 

will not be be 

compromised by this 

redesign. 

 Consultation with workforce 

underway. 

1 Review and realign structure within Childrens/ Safeguarding services. 

22 Review commissioning with Action for Children Voluntary Sector 0.035 NM Potential for agreement made 

in 2015/16 to not be adhered 

to.

2 Bring together contracts with Action for Children with a view to negotiating a reduction of 

10% for the Arosfa and Family Project contracts and ending the funding for the summer 

playscheme and the therapeutic service

25 Managing the Childcare market Voluntary Sector                   0.016  M

Duty to provide services 

for childcare sufficiency 

in appropriate settings in 

line with CSSIW 

regulations; this model 

should achieve this. 

 Living wage costs and more 

stringent regulatory 

requirements for child care 

providers mean that the 

market may become more 

fragile. 

2 Renegotiate the level of service commissioned from early years child care 

providers/organisations (3rd sector) with support provided to those parents with 

greatest/critical need

26 Align expenditure to critical statutory provision in 

Children’s Services

Service Reduction                   0.100  M

Critical areas of 

provision will be 

protected within this 

proposal 

 Service review details to be 

worked through. 

1 Review and realignment of structure within Children's / Safeguarding service area.

Totals -                  0.936            

SOCIAL CARE

Total value of Business Plan 

proposals
0.936

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed 

costings/modelling undertaken and the 

accuracy can be relied upon not to change 

significantly
0.272 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The 

level of detail behind the costings/modelling 

is reasonable although further work will be 

required to ensure robustness and to deal 

with any  changes in circumstances e.g. 

market conditions.
0.426 

3= High level costing requires detailed further 

modelling - The figures are included at a high 

level with uncertainty around some of the 

significant detail e.g. further work required to   

develop a specific proposal such as 

rationalising services/buildings.

0.238 

0.936                 

 M

Duty to provide services 

for people with Learning 

Development in 

appropriate settings; 

these models should 

achieve this. 



Corporate Resources

Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Overview of First 

Phase of the Budget 

Process

December 2015



Purpose of Today’s Meeting

�To receive feedback from the suite of Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees on the first phase 

proposals for the 2016/17 Council Fund 

Revenue Budget for services presented 

throughout December, and to provide 

commentary to the Cabinet

�To note the implications of the Settlement

�To advise on the budget setting process



General Points on Process

�Definitions of mandatory and non-mandatory 

services a useful guide

�Risks to delayed implementation of proposals 

to be carefully assessed

�Fact sheets to be available for each specific 

budget proposal in mid-January with a full 

description, efficiency calculation, efficiency as 

a % of the service budget, risk assessment and 

background (where based on an earlier year 

decision)



Generic Questions 



Calculating the RSG Change

Aggregate External Finance (AEF) and Revenue Support Grant 

(RSG)

»AEF and Outcome Agreement Grant assumed in our MTFS forecast: 

£186.419m + £1.479m = £187.898m

»AEF 2016/17 Provisional Settlement including the transfer in of the 

Outcome Agreement Grant = £184.743m

»The difference  between the two above is £3.155m

»The shortfall assumed in the MTFS forecast  was £6.525m

»The net benefit to the MTFS forecast is therefore £3.370m

Council Tax Base

»AEF figures have been adjusted to take into the revised Council Tax 

base. The local Council Tax base will rise by £0.400m



Reassessing the Council case

1. Capping RSG reduction to no greater than -2.5%: 

exceeded in the Provisional Settlement at a Welsh 

average of -1.4% and -1.5% for Flintshire

2. Funding for Social Services: achieved in part 

through 1 above (social care pressures are given 

some recognition in the Settlement calculations) and 

achieved in part through the announcement of 

additional joint funds with the NHS (detail to follow)

3. CTRS full funding: no change. The case for the 

outstanding review to be pressed for 2017/18

4. Removal of funding caps: discussions ongoing



Use of Consultants

� The Council’s transformation programmes at corporate and service 

levels principally designed and implemented within our resources

� Consultants are employed sparingly. Two types as ‘invest to save’

work are fee based or ‘risk and reward’. Live consultancies in 

Streetscene and Transportation (risk and reward), Social Services 

(fee based) and Corporate Services (fee based)

� Streetscene and Transportation: commercial expertise and the 

additional capacity to drive through efficiencies

� Social Services: the second largest Council spender with a need to 

test out whether our existing programmes could go further

� Corporate Services: challenge to reduce support costs to a 

workable minimum by testing out whether our existing programmes 

could go beyond their 30% 3 year savings targets 



Specific Portfolio Feedback

Corporate Financing 

Proposals



Environment

Planning and Environment

Increase in Planning Application Fee income

An increase of £101k on the 2015/16 existing Planning Fee Income 

Budget of £ 919k. Made up of an Increase in volume of applications 

as economy continues to recover £51k, and additional charging (e.g. 

discharge of conditions) of £50k.

Streetscene and Transportation

No specific feedback to report on the budget proposals as presented. 



Organisational Change 

Deeside Library & Community Asset Transfers

Proposal Target Date Range Target Efficiency 

Range

Deeside Library 1st March 2016 £30-60,000

Connahs Quay S.P April-June 2016 £196-261,000

Holywell L.C. July-December 2016 £81-242,000

Mynydd Isa Library April-June 2016 £26-34,000

Saltney Library April-June 2016 £31-41,000

Hope Library April-June2016 £10-13,000

Holywell Library Building July-December 2016 £5-16,000

Broughton Library Building April-June2016 £9-12,000

Total Efficiency Range £388-679,000

Total Proposed Efficiency £574,000



Social Care and Health

�No specific feedback to report on the budget 

proposals as presented 



Education and Youth

� Level of funding available to schools through 

the funding formula is a continuing concern 

noting that this is a national funding challenge 

and not one which can be resolved locally

�Concern over the compound impact of specific 

grants which is beyond the control of the 

Council

�The sensitivities around the on-going review of 

Inclusion Services will be worked through in 

more detail at the coming workshop



Community and Enterprise

�Concern that the Welfare Rights Service 

maintains sufficient capacity to continue to 

advise those in need, particularly during a 

period of welfare reform



Closing Information

Budget Timelines and Next 

Stage



Budget Closure Strategy

�Ongoing work on assessing the remaining 

budget gap

�Need to take into account recalculation of new 

or changing costs pressures 

�Further work advanced on options for corporate 

financing, workforce costs, income and local 

taxation, education funding and service plans

�Cabinet staged report on budget strategy and 

budget closure options due in January



National Budget Timetable

� Chancellor's Spending Review 25 November

� Welsh Government Draft Budget 8 December

� Provisional LGF Settlement 9 December

� Welsh Government Final budget on 8 March

� Final LGF Settlement on 9 March



Timescale for Phasing the Budget

» Complete the current Overview and Scrutiny round of 

meetings on the first two parts of the proposed budget

» Cabinet reappraisal report in January with further 

options to close the remaining budget ‘gap’

» Further Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

rounds leading to a final Council decision on the total 

budget, and Council Tax level, by 10th March

» Council dates provisionally in the diary for 26 January, 

16 February and 10 March





Flintshire County Council 

This is our moment

Public Engagement Events

Summary Report 

 December 2015



Contents

The purpose of the engagement   3

The period of engagement   3

The number of people taking part   3

The programme

Summary of open questions and answers

Summary of interactive voting session

Feedback

  4

  4

  7

  8

The engagement process

Electronic statistics

Appendix 1 – Interactive voting questions

  9

10

11

  



3

The purpose of the engagement:

 To raise awareness and help people understand the magnitude of the financial 
challenges facing the Council between now and 2018.

 To draw particular attention to the £21m savings required for 2016/17 and how 
the Council plans to bridge a £7m budget gap.

 To gauge the level of support for the way in which the Council plans to meet the 
financial challenge.

The period of engagement:

Monday 16 November 2015 to Monday 7 December 2015 at the following locations 
across the County:

Area 1 Argoed, Buckley and Penyffordd
Monday 16 November Elfed High School Buckley

Area 2 Bagillt and Flint
Tuesday 17 November Gwynedd CP School Flint

Area 3 Brynford, Caerwys, Holywell, Halkyn, Llanasa, Mostyn, Trelawyd & 
Gwaenysgor, Whitford and Ysceifiog
Wednesday 18 November Holywell High School

Area 4 Cilcain, Gwernaffield, Gwernymynydd, Leeswood, Llanfynydd, Mold, 
Nannerch, Nercwys, Northop, Treuddyn
Monday 23 November Bryn Coch School Mold

Area 5 Broughton & Bretton, Higher Kinnerton, Hope, Saltney
Tuesday 24 November Broughton CP School

Area 6 Connah’s Quay, Northop Hall and Shotton
Thursday 3 December Civic Hall Connah’s Quay

Area 7 Hawarden, Queensferry and Sealand
Monday 7 December Sandycroft CP School

The number of people taking part:

A total of 319 people attended the public engagement events.  The breakdown by area 
can be seen in the table below.

Area 1 Area 2 Area 3 Area 4 Area 5 Area 6 Area 7
Number registered 75 45 66 110 47 82 56
Number attended 50 35 55 59 41 51 28



4

The Programme

 Showing of the animated video ‘This is our moment’
 Presentations by the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive
 Open questions and answers 
 Assignment of Chief Officers to act as links for the development of community services 

in each of the seven areas:
o Area 1 – Clare Budden, Chief Officer Community & Enterprise
o Area 2 – Neal Cockerton, Chief Officer Organisational Change
o Area 3 – Ian Bancroft, Chief Officer Organisational Change
o Area 4 – Stephen Jones, Chief Officer Streetscene & Transportation
o Area 5 – Neil Ayling, Chief Officer Social Services
o Area 6 – Andrew Farrow, Chief Officer Planning & Environment
o Area 7 – Gareth Owens, Chief Officer Governance

 This is our county – a reminder in pictures of the things people value about the county
 What do you think?  Using interactive voting equipment to gauge general levels of 

support with the actions proposed.

Summary of open questions and answers

During the sessions people had the opportunity to ask questions, comment and feedback.    

A general summary of debate across all areas can be found below:

 UK and Welsh Government (WG) public spending 
Concern was expressed around the lateness of the WG settlement information and the 
difficulties it would create not only for the County Council but for Town and 
Community Councils also in setting their precepts.   

Many queried the funding formula and wanted to understand why Flintshire is a low 
funded Council and also why WG have been imposing public spending cuts when 
overall funding from UK Government has not reduced.    The impact of the Universal 
Credit on the Council’s revenue was also queried.  

There was recognition that local efficiencies and savings would not on their own be 
enough to meet the projected budget gap, and whilst it was acknowledged that WG 
was in the same position as Local Councils in allocating a reduced settlement from 
central Government, it was also generally felt that WG should respond positively to the 
asks being made by Flintshire County Council.  

 Allocation of additional NHS funding, the impacts of an ageing population and the 
contribution of leisure services to health and well-being
It was evident in all meetings that people were concerned about the effects of an 
ageing population and the quality of care services needed for the future.  The long 
term sustainability of private social care providers was also of concern if the cuts were 
to continue.  There was strong support that councils should receive a proportion of the 



5

additional National Health Service funding in order to help fund preventative social 
care services.   

There was also a feeling that innovative partnership working between Health & Social 
Care funding should be a priority, not simply taking funds away from one area to off-
set budget pressures in another.   

The links between leisure services and its benefits on health and well-being were also 
cited at many of the meetings. 

 Flintshire’s economy
The collection and distribution of business rates was discussed in all meetings and 
there was a general consensus for a larger proportion, if not all, of the business rates 
collected by Flintshire to be retained locally.   

Concern was raised about any threat to business and tourism support services which 
would have the potential to lose links with young creative thinkers who are vital to the 
County’s future economy.

 The Council’s budget and assets 
The value of Council reserves and whether they could be utilised to meet the 2016/17 
financial challenges was queried along with the accuracy of the Council’s projections.  

A further understanding of the Council’s modernised operating structure and 
associated redundancy costs was provided. 

The disposal of assets, particularly unoccupied buildings, was of concern in some areas, 
along with the need for the Council to ensure that it was not left to fund significant 
dilapidation costs and it collected all monies owed.

There were also questions in some areas around the continued funding for services 
perceived to be less important or beneficial, particularly during times of such austerity 
when difficult decisions are needed. 

 Community Asset Transfers (CAT)
It was evident in most areas that there was an appetite for CAT, but that the Council 
needed to provide more timely and clearer support and guidance about what was on 
offer and the process for making it happen.    The provision of sample models where 
this approach has worked elsewhere was also requested.    A clearer understanding of 
what local communities would be willing to support would also be crucial to the 
success of any CAT.  

There was concern that CAT could speed up the closure of some facilities and 
questions were raised around what would happen to facilities put up for CAT if they 
were not taken forward.  

It was also a suggested that perhaps the Council should look to selling off surplus 
assets to generate capital receipts rather than transferring them through CAT.   



6

 Education
The sustainability of retaining all existing County schools was raised particularly in 
respect of pressures on individual school budgets and the upkeep and maintenance of 
school buildings.   The need to ensure all schools were operating efficiently and 
effectively within budget was raised along with the need to avoid abortive design costs 
when putting forward submissions for 21st Century School funding. 

The ability to realise savings around school transport was queried particularly when 
decisions around potential school closures would, in some areas, see an increase in 
transportation costs.

Concerns were raised by members of the deaf community around potential cuts to BSL 
interpreting services which provided communication support between deaf parents 
and schools. 
 
The ability of schools to continue to attract the right calibre of teachers was also raised 
and a call was made to ensure the obligations of developers in respect of 106 
agreements were met so as to positively impact on local schools.  

 Local Government Reorganisation 
The question of when and if a local reorganisation of Council’s in Wales would take 
place was raised in most areas and although there was recognition that it was too far 
away to make a difference to the current financial situation, it could only be beneficial 
in terms of future savings.    There was also the view that a decision needed to be 
made sooner rather than later as it was not just about money but the delivery of 
better more efficient services. 

 Council Tax
The ability for Welsh Council’s to set a higher rate of council tax to protect services, in 
the same way as English councils was called for.

 Income generation and savings suggestions
Asset disposal, increasing council tax, toll charges on A55, voluntary contributions from 
parents towards maintenance of school buildings, switching street lights off 
completely during the summer, cross border service sharing were all put forward as 
ways of saving money or generating income. 

 Engaging communities and organisations
There was a general feeling that wider and yet more targeted engagement was needed 
not only about the current financial situation, but more significantly around individual 
service changes, how people would be impacted and how communities, groups and 
organisations could come together to meet the challenge and bridge the gap.  



7

Summary of interactive voting session

The audience were asked nine questions to which they could either agree or disagree via 
the use of interactive voting keypads.   A summary of the responses can be found below.

Q1 When asked about their agreement with the way the UK Government is going 
about reducing money spent on public services, the majority in each of the seven 
areas did not agree.  The largest majority was recorded in area 6 (87%) and the 
lowest majority in area 1 (71%).

Q2  Considering the proposals highlighted by The Leader and the Chief Executive during their 
presentations, all areas agreed with the Council’s plans for bridging the budget gap, with 
area 5 returning the highest majority (95%) and area 4 the lowest majority (74%). 

Q3 The idea of Councils doing more together to share costs and save money was very 
popular with returns ranging between 88% and 98% in agreement.

Q4  There was strong backing in all areas for Welsh Government to support the 
Council in the way it was being asked.  100% of those voting in Area 4 were in 
agreement and returns of between 92% and 98% were recorded across the 
remaining six areas.

Q5 There was again strong support in favour of Social Services being given extra 
funding from Government alongside the NHS.   In this instance Area 1 returned 
100% in favour with the remaining areas returning between 94% and 98%.

 
Q6  There was a mixed response when asked to consider if the Council was playing its 

part to save money.   92% of the people who voted in area 5 were in agreement 
whilst only 58% were in agreement in area 1.  

Q7  On being asked whether there was support for paying a higher (affordable) rate of 
Council Tax in order to save local services there was again a mixed response 
between areas.   In six of the seven areas there was a majority return in favour of 
this action, although the rate of return ranged between 59% and 85%.   In area 7 
however the majority (52%) were not in favour of an increase in Council Tax.

Q8 All areas were in agreement with for paying for some services if it meant they 
could carry on with returns ranging from 73% to 89%.

Q9  There was strong support in each of the seven areas for communities doing more 
to help save local services.   The highest majority in favour was returned in area 5 
(100%) and the lowest majority (81%) in area 1.

A list of the full questions asked can be found in Appendix 1.



8

Feedback

At the end of each session people were given the opportunity to complete additional 
feedback forms and a summary of the information provided is detailed below: 

 Three things valued by communities which have the potential to be delivered differently 
with community involvement

o play areas, leisure centres, bowling greens, recreation, public open spaces, 
allotments, maintenance of Rights of Way, support AONB, countryside services, 
development of community gardens on council land, Mold Alex, Bailey Hill, 
heritage, tourism, Theatr Clwyd

o community centres, meeting places, youth clubs, combine community centre and 
library service, swimming pool,  public toilets

o libraries, community roving library services developed to provide additional joined 
up services resources to support and strengthen rural and isolated areas, library 
home service to house bound, pay a small payment for library service  

o more 3rd sector preventative services for health & social care,  social care (elderly 
& mental health), dementia friendly communities, home help, links between NHS 
& social care, snow angels service (Chester and Cheshire West Council), regular 
warden visits to sheltered housing, neighbourhood monitoring of vulnerable 
individuals, social enterprise for day services (LD and older people)

o schools/education, community access for learning for life, skills, experiences and 
assets of retired population, voluntary support/input in schools, John Summers 
High School

o grounds maintenance e.g. cemeteries, Buckley common, litter picking, recycling 
centres, refuse collection, highway maintenance

o community watch/security, more community policing, policing (including traffic)

o transportation, review bus subsidies, community transport, cycle routes, summer 
road toll on A55

o business support, support for local voluntary sector, a county run lottery

o more inclusive discussion and engagement with public

 Other comments
Other comments left at each of the sessions were primarily repeats of the discussions 
undertaken during the question and answer session.  



9

The engagement process

Who could get involved:

A maximum capacity of 200 people was set per venue.  100 places at each location were 
reserved for attendance by targeted invitation and 100 places were open for registration 
by members of the public.  

Targeted invitations by emailed to:

 All elected County Councillors

Town and Community Councils (T&CCs) (4 places allocated to each)

Head Teachers and Chairs of Governors of all county schools

Local Service Board Partner organisations e.g. NW Police, Fire & Rescue, BCUHB, 
FLVC, 

54 voluntary and charitable organisations

Assembly Members and Members of Parliament

Registration for public attendance was promoted via:

Animated video summarising the current financial situation

www.flintshire.gov.uk/OurMoment and www.siryfflint.gov.uk/EinCyfle 

@FlintshireCC and @CSyFFlint - Twitter

The Council’s emagazine ‘Your Council’ (9000 subscribers)

Existing networks / service user groups  e.g. older people, young people, equality 
groups, tenants, businesses

Council workforce via Infonet, Moodle and direct email 

County Councillors and T&CCs within their respective communities

Press briefing, press release, media coverage

Registration

Registration for places, both by invitation and public spaces, could be secured online or 
via telephone.

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/OurMoment
http://www.siryfflint.gov.uk/EinCyfle


10

Electronic statistics

During the period of consultation the following statistics were also recorded:

English Welsh

No. of views ‘This is our moment’ animation recorded on the Council’s 
YouTube channel

457 34

No of unique page views www.flintshire.gov.uk/OurMoment 
(incorporating the amimation)

3195 68

No. of  page views ‘Your Council’ emagazine 2905 182

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/OurMoment


11

Appendix 1

Interactive Voting Questions

Q1 Do you agree with the way the UK Government is going about reducing money 
spent on public services? 

Q2  Do you agree with how the Council plans to bridge the budget gap?

Q3 Should neighbouring Councils do more together to share costs and save money?

Q4  Would you support Welsh Government helping in the way we have asked?

Q5 Should Social Services have extra funding from Government alongside the NHS? 

Q6  Do you agree the Council is playing its part to save money?

Q7  Would you be prepared to pay a higher rate of Council Tax to save local services?

Q8 Would you be prepared to pay for some services if it meant they could carry on?

Q9  Would you support your community doing more to help save local services?

















Appendix 9

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 

MANDATORY 

duties 

Categorisation of 

financial 

robustness

Explanation

PEOPLE & RESOURCES - FINANCE
1 Implementation of Collaborative Planning Software to finance 

to improve and automate our processes thus enabling 

workforce efficiencies

Service Efficiency

M

The introduction of this new software will enable

budget monitoring to be undertaken more efficiently,

with the minimum of manual intervention which will

lead to workforce efficiencies and reductions. 

2 Phased roll out of new finance model. Structural Review

M

The implementation of a new Finance Model and a

review of structure and business processes to

achieve efficiencies and to operate as a modern

Finance function.

Totals 0.135

PEOPLE & RESOURCES - HUMAN 

RESOURCES & ORGANISATIONAL DESIGN
1 Effective people management skills to increase levels of

Managers' self sufficiency

Service Efficiency

NM

Demand management exercise to upskill managers

to become increasingly self sufficient in managing

their people /teams.

2 Redefine clear roles and responsibilities for Human 

Resources (HR) / managers 

Service Efficiency

NM

Complements the exercise above in that the roles

and responsibilities of HR and managers need to be

redefined for the future and will reduce reliance on

HR resources.

3 Review of Human Resources & Organisational Design 

operating model and job roles

Structural Review

NM

To review the operating model and structure for

Human Resources & Organisational Design to better

meet the organisation's future requirements.

4 Further roll-out (50%) of Flexible & Agile Working

arrangements (phase 1)

Service Efficiency

NM

Promotion and implementation of flexible and agile to

reduce accommodation space.

5 Implementation of iTrent Self Service to Schools Service Efficiency

NM

Reduction of reliance on corporate and Schools

administrative processes thereby creating

efficiencies in workforce.  

Totals 0.115

GOVERNANCE - LEGAL
1 Increase income Income Generation

0.015 M

1 To increase the fees recharged to developers etc

entering legal agreements with the council in line with 

other councils in Wales (the income earned as a %

of the service budget is approximately half that of

other councils). 

Totals 0.015

GOVERNANCE - ICT

1 Reduction in management, staff and non pay costs Structural Review

0.300 NM

1 To combine services thereby reducing management

costs and by reducing software licensing in line with

reducing workforce.

2 (new) Education ICT Service Efficiency
0.220 NM

1 Remodelling of service to create efficiencies.

Totals 0.520

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

1 (new) Voluntary Sector Grants review Service Efficiency

0.070 NM

2 Revised core funding agreements with voluntary

sector partners to reflect new models of delivery and

revised funding arrangements.

Totals 0.070

TOTAL CORPORATE SERVICES 0.855            

CORPORATE SERVICES

Total value of Business Plan proposals 0.855                        

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed 

costings/modelling undertaken and the accuracy can be 

relied upon not to change significantly
0.535 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of 

detail behind the costings/modelling is reasonable 

although further work will be required to ensure 

robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.
0.320 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - 

The figures are included at a high level with uncertainty 

around some of the significant detail e.g. further work 

required to   develop a specific proposal such as 

rationalising services/buildings.

0.000 

Business Planning Efficiencies for Corporate 

Services

20.135

0.115 2



Appendix 9

Business Planning Efficiencies for Community and 

Enterprise Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

MANDATORY duties 

Categorisation 

of financial 

robustness

Explanation

CUSTOMER SERVICES
1 Close the personal answering service for main switchboard telephone calls Structural Review

               0.065  NM 
1 Full year effect of 15/16 saving

2 Review of Fees and Charges for Registration Service Income Generation                0.010  NM 1 Increased fees for weddings

3 Telephone Contact Centre savings Structural Review                0.100  NM 2 Range of options under consideration to deliver savings - part year effect

4 Customer Services Team Restructure Service Efficiency                0.014  NM 1 Reduction in team costs

5 Review of Flintshire Connects budgets Service Efficiency                0.040  NM 1 Reduction in office costs

Total Customer Services                0.229 

HOUSING REGENERATION
6 Energy Efficiency Framework Income Generation 0.050               NM 2 Charge partners for use of council's framework

7 Housing Regen and Strategy further Capitalisation Service Efficiency 0.030               NM 1 Capitalisation of staff costs

8 SHARP Framework Income Generation                0.020  NM 1 Charge partners for use of council's framework

Total Housing Strategy                0.100 

COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICES
9 Welfare Rights Team Review Structural Review

0.048               NM 2
Consider model of service delivery to safeguard provision of welfare rights service and deliver savings

10 Community Support Services - Management Restructure Structural Review 0.012               NM 1 Full year effect of reduction of 1 Manager post 

11 Community Centres Income Generation 0.048               NM 1 Charge Housing Revenue Account for usage

12 Community Based Accommodation Support Service Structural Review
0.062               NM

1 Reduction of 3 posts over 2 years through voluntary redundancy and vacancy management. Service 

supplemented by volunteers providing good neighbour service

13 Increased use of leased propoerties to reduce B&B expenditure service efficiency

0.060               

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our mandatoty 

duty to support  people who are 

homeless 

1 Maximising Housing Benefit  income through property leasing.  Reduce B&B expenditure

14 Response Service for Older People service efficiency 0.020               NM 2 Alternative model for out of hours response service

15 Bed &Breakfast Charging Income Generation

0.005               

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our mandatoty 

duty to support  people who are 

homeless 

1 Year 2 of charging to partially offset service cost 

16 Supporting People restructure Structural Review 0.015               NM 1 Reduce staff costs to reflect grant reductions

17 Galw Gofal Contract Fees Service Efficiency 0.030               NM 1 Reduction in fee paid to Galw Gofal

18 Review of Financial Assessments Structural Review _ _ 2 Joined up financial assessment service to deliver improved customer experience. 1 post saved 

Total Community Support Services 0.300               

REVENUES AND BENEFITS
19 e billing / administration / budget costs Service Efficiency

0.039               

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our mandatory 

duty to administer or collect 

local taxes 

2 Saving in admin costs  as more people receive e bills together with proposals to reduce revenue 

budget in specific budget lines

20 Staff restructure to match staff costs to Department of Works and Pensions 

grant for benefits 

Structural Review

0.100               

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our mandatory 

duty to administer Housing 

Benefit 

1 Reduction in posts could pose a financial risk through potential subsidy loss. There is also a further 

financial risk due to an ever decreasing subsidy administration grant from DWP

21 In-house bailiff service Income Generation
0.060               NM

1 Income target already agreed by Cabinet - summer '14. Second year of trading should produce 

additional surplus as stated, especially with potential joint working with other local authorities 

22 200% charge on long term empty properties Income Generation _ _ 2 Utilisation of new powers for empty and second homes

23 Cessation of NNDR charitable reliefs Service Efficiency _ _ 2 Reduction in scale of support provided with enhanced hardship fund

24 Fraud expenditure budget reduction Service Efficiency 0.045               NM 1 Service outsourced. Budget saving identified 

25 Council Tax Reduction Scheme Service Efficiency

0.329               

 M

This proposal does not 

compromise our mandatory 

duty to provide people with 

support for a Council Tax 

reduction 

2 Match budget to recent spend. Liable to in year risk

Total Revenues and Benefits 0.573               

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
26 Supplies and Services reduction Service Efficiency 0.003               NM 1 Admin cost saving

27 Business Development Restructure Structural Review 0.020               NM 1 Service restructure 
Total Business Development 0.023               

SUPPORT SERVICES
28 Reduction in Training Admin Structural Review 0.010               NM 1 Service restructure

Total Support Services 0.010               

REGENERATION (PLACES)
29 Reduction in scale of service   Structural Review 0.045               NM 2 Service restructure

30 Reduce community environmental projects  Voluntary Sector 0.009               NM 1 Reduced budget for third sector commissioning of environmental projects 

31 Earned Income recharge of management costs to Regeneration Projects Service Efficiency 0.012               NM 1 Capitalise or recharge staff costs to project income 
Total Regeneration (Places) 0.066               

SENIOR MANAGEMENT RESTRUCTURE 
32 Senior Management Restructure Structural Review 0.055               NM 1 Full year effect of management restructure

33 20% Recharge of Wardens Service to HRA Service Efficiency 0.153               NM 2 Charging for Housing Management Service carried out by support staff
Total Senior Management  Restructure 0.208               

TOTAL COMMUNITY AND ENTERPRISE 1.509               

Community & Enterprise

Total value of Business Plan proposals 1.509                 

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17
1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling 

undertaken and the accuracy can be relied upon not to change 

significantly

0.725 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the 

costings/modelling is reasonable although further work will be 

required to ensure robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.

0.784 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures 

are included at a high level with uncertainty around some of the 

significant detail e.g. further work required to   develop a specific 

proposal such as rationalising services/building

0.000 

1.509



Appendix 9

Business Planning Efficiencies for Education and 

Youth Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17

MANDATORY duties 
Categorisation 

of financial 

robustness

Explanation

1 School Modernisation Structural Review 0.187                  M

Reduction in over-capacity in 

school's network will be 

achieved through this 

programme 

3 Estimate savings released from the schools budget due to school reorganisation.  These are 

subject to Cabinet and ministerial approval.  

2 Primary & Early Years Education - Maximising Deployment of Early 

Entitlement Foundation Phase Grant (including new model for provision 

of 10% teacher time in funded early years settings).

Service Efficiency 0.017                 NM 1 Maximising Deployment of Early Entitlement Foundation Phase Grant (including new model 

for provision of 10% teacher time in funded early years settings).

3 Further remodelling of Music Service to move to “full cost recovery” Service Efficiency 0.030                 NM 2 Further remodelling of Music Service to move to “full cost recovery” through cost reduction 

and increased income generation.  The Music Service is currently reviewing whether an 

Alternative Delivery Model would offer a sustainable alternative.  Increased tuition fees and/or 

introduction of a charge for transport will provoke a negative response from music service 

users.

4 Reduction in administrative IT support. Structural Review 0.040                 NM 1 Further reduction and restruture of Education & Youth 'back office functions'.

5 Additional Learning Needs Service Efficiency 0.020                  M

Children & young people with 

additional learning needs will 

continue to be supported 

either by school  action  or 

school action plus 

1 Residual savings following withdrawal of the additional learning needs service in 2014/15.

6 English as an additional language/Gypsy Traveller Support - Current 

vacancy removal of post and remodelling of service delivery.

Service Efficiency 0.045                  M

Service remodelling to 

ensure ongoing mandatory 

compliance 

1 Reduction of service with greater emphasis on training schools to deliver appropriate level of 

support to children with additional language needs.  With continuing levels of migration this 

may place pressure on specific schools.

7 Speech & Language Service - Reduction in Service provision Service Efficiency 0.007                  M

Children & young people with 

additional learning needs will 

continue to be supported 

either by school  action  or 

school action plus 

1 Reduction in service provision.

9 Educational Psychology Service - Current vacancy removal of post Service Efficiency 0.070                  M

Children & young people with 

additional learning needs will 

continue to be supported 

either by school  action  or 

school action plus 

1 Reduction in service provision may place pressure on psychology team and result in waiting 

lists.

10 Inclusion Welfare Service - current vacancies - reduction in full time 

equivalent posts to 8.5 officers.

Service Efficiency 0.040                  M

Service remodelling to 

ensure ongoing mandatory 

compliance 

1 Reduction is service provision may impact of the level of service that can be provided to 

schools.

11 Looked After Children Support Service Efficiency 0.030                  M

Service remodelling to 

ensure ongoing mandatory 

compliance 

1 Reduction in staffing with functions associated with role being picked up by another team.

14 Youth Services - Youth Justice Service Staffing Reduction Structural Review 0.025                  M

Service remodelling does not 

compromise ongoing 

mandatory compliance 

1 Reduced staffing levels.

15 Youth Services - reduction in caretaking Structural Review 0.035                 NM 1 Transfer of responsibilities from Youth to Facilities Services. Reduction in service.

16 Youth Service Planned Management Reductions & Vacancy 

Management

Structural Review 0.037                  M

Service remodelling does not 

compromise ongoing 

mandatory compliance 

1 Reduced staffing levels in line with Youth Service Strategy.

18 SMIT reduction in staffing. Structural Review 0.047                 NM 1 Service restructure - continued reduction in 'back- office functions.

19 Education & Youth Portfolio Service Review Reduction in Management 

Structure

Structural Review 0.080                 NM 1 Service restructure - reducing the number of senior managers.

TOTAL 0.710            

EDUCATION AND YOUTH

Total value of Business Plan proposals 0.710

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling undertaken 

and the accuracy can be relied upon not to change significantly
0.493 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the 

costings/modelling is reasonable although further work will be required to 

ensure robustness and to deal with any  changes in circumstances e.g. 

market conditions. 0.030 
3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures are 

included at a high level with uncertainty around some of the significant 

detail e.g. further work required to   develop a specific proposal such as 

rationalising services/buildings. 0.187 
0.710



Appendix 9

Business Planning Efficiencies  for Planning and 

Environment Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 

MANDATORY duties 

Categorisation of 

financial robustness

Explanation

1 Staffing - management restructure  Structural Review 0.105           1 Reduction of Team Leader posts within the Trading Standards and Building Control 

functions.

These savings would ideally be delivered through collaboration although further options 

are being explored to deliver this saving.

In 17/18 this relates to a reduction in Service Managers.

2 Staffing - service review  Structural Review 0.127           1 Over two years, the Service Review will result in a reduction of 4 posts below team leader 

level.  Releasing vacancies and fulfilling early voluntary retirement requests in addition to 

bringing forward Alternative Delivery Model work within the drainage and energy areas 

will assist in achieving the savings proposal.

4 & 5 Self financing for Public Protection Services  

- Animal & Pest Control

- Licencing Charging

Income Generation 0.050           2 Incremental fee increases over the three year period will ensure that the animal and pest 

control function can at least operate on a self-financing basis.  Proposed fees reflect 

favourably against neighbouring authorities and the private sector. 

8 Increase in planning fees (15% WG increase)  and applications Income Generation 2 Planning (Wales) Bill introduced a 15% increase from 01/10/15 on all planning application 

fees.  

9 Increase in number of planning applications Income Generation 2 Estimated increase in the volume of planning applications as the economy continues to 

recover. 

10 Additional elements of charging for Planning Work Income Generation 2 Planning (Wales) Bill proposes to increase the types of activities for which a planning fee 

can be charged as described within the proposal.  Estimate of saving is based on an 

analysis of volume of work currently undertaken in these areas.

11 Pre planning advice  Structural Review / 

Service Efficiency

2 Planning (Wales) Bill will introduce the provision of mandatory pre-application services, 

clarify what the Local Planning Authority has to provide and set standard service charges 

across Wales. 

12 Reduce cost of newspaper advertising Structural Review / 

Service Efficiency

0.010           1 Continue to review the requirement to place public notices within local newspapers for all 

of the Planning and Environment portfolio.  Secondary legislation related to Planning 

(Wales) Bill suggests that this may become less onerous.

13 Savings from Development Management process improvements Service Efficiency 0.020           1 Continue to undertake a full LEAN review of the Development Management process 

drawing on best practice and increased use of electronic delivery of the service.

TOTAL 0.413           

CUMULATIVE

 

PLANNING & ENVIRONMENT

Total value of Business Plan proposals 0.413                         

CATEGORISATION KEY Count Number Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling 

undertaken and the accuracy can be relied upon not to change 

significantly 4 0.262 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail 

behind the costings/modelling is reasonable although further 

work will be required to ensure robustness and to deal with any  

changes in circumstances e.g. market conditions. 5 0.151 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The 

figures are included at a high level with uncertainty around some 

of the significant detail e.g. further work required to   develop a 

specific proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.
0 0.000 

Total 0.413

 

M 

 The mandatory duties to 

provide a planning service 

and regulatory services such 

as animal and pest control 

are not compromised by 

these efficiencies 

0.101           



Appendix 9

Business Plan Efficiencies  for Streetscene and 

Transportation Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 MANDATORY 

duties 

Categorisation of 

financial 

robustness

Explanation

CHANGES TO STAFFING AND CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN THE EXISTING MODEL
4 Introduce an integrated transport unit  Structural Review 0.200 NM 2 County wide transport service includes - Public, Social care and 

Schools transport

5 Shared Specialist Plant with neigbouring authority  Collaboration 0.050 NM 2 The opportunity exists to share specialist plant, e.g. streetlighting 

equipment, traffic management equipment with another Council.

6 Staffing Structure following Organisation Design review Structural Review 0.150 NM 1 The recent Organisation Design review has brought together a 

number of services under the new Portfolio and the staff will be 

reviewed in order to reduce numbers and provide more generic 

roles operating to the new business plan.

8 Introduce non-generic streetscene roles (3 year plan) Structural Review 0.115 NM 2 The Council introduced a generic Streetscene operative role in 

2012.  The new role requires the staff to work across the sections 

of Streetscene services in return for an increased salary.   Whilst 

there are clear benefits in this arrangement, having operated this 

for a period of two years, it has become clear that a generic 

workforce across the overall service is unnecessary.  The 

intention therefore is to replace any service leavers or new 

starters with non-generic (service specific) roles on lower 

salaries.

Totals 0.515

REVIEW OF STANDARDS AND OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN WASTE
1 Develop energy production at landfill Income Generation 0.100 NM 3 The landfill sites at Brookhill and Standard currently produce 

energy through gas turbines.  The gas supply is reducing 

resulting in capacity in the connection to the mains grid.  With 

investment, it is intended to increase the level of energy 

produced by introducing photo voltaic panels to both landfill 

sites.  The potential to extend the energy source to Alltami depot 

opens the opportunity for utilising the energy to power the fleet 

(1.7M INVESTMENT REQUIRED)

2 Rationalise Household Recycling Centres provision and provide the 

service through a performance based contract which would include 

bulky collections.  

Service Reduction 0.250 NM 3 The Council currently operates 7 Household Recycling Centre 

sites.  The sites are operated utilising in-house labour.  The 

proposal is:

(1) to reduce the number of sites in the County to three, 

suggested locations to be decided based on optimising resident 

access to the sites

(2) contract the management of the sites based on an 

incentivised contract which will improve the recycling levels at 

the sites.  The opportunity to tender the work to a Social 

Enterprise will be considered.

3 Removing the waste containers delivery service                                   

2015/16 Proposal Only

 Service Reduction 0.000 NM 2 Residents requiring new waste containers such as recycling 

boxes, bags, food caddies etc. currently call the Contact Centre 

and bags are delivered to their address.  The proposal will be for 

residents to collect any new containers they require from:

1.    Household Recycling Centre sites

2.    Flintshire Connect Centres

3.    Housing Offices

Deliveries to assisted collection properties would continue and 

delivery of wheelie bins will also remain unchanged.

5 Introduce a charge for second garden waste bin                                 

2015/16 Proposal Only

Income Generation 0.000 NM 1 The Council currently provides a free collection of garden waste 

and whilst the new policy limits the number of bins provided to 

two, there are many properties within the County with 

significantly more than this number.  The proposal is to provide a 

single bin collection free of charge for a second and subsequent 

bin.

6 Introduce 7 day working and no Christmas collection catch up   Service Efficiency 0.050 NM 2 Currently we collect waste over a six day period and the proposal 

is to extend that to seven days.  The saving will be generated by 

the reduced number of vehicles within Waste.

7 Diagnostic proposals waste Service Review 0.050 NM 1 Following the template of the Fleet Review we have engaged 

with a diagnostic partner to carry out a review of all operations 

within the waste service and make recommendation to improve 

efficiencies.  Implementation of these changes will be on a no 

win/no fee basis.

8 Suspend garden waste collections November to February   Service Reduction 0.025 NM 3 During this period there is a limited amount of garden waste 

material made.  The proposal is to cease all garden waste 

material collections whilst maintaining the black bin collections.

12 Remove the existing policy of returning for missed bin waste 

collections

Service Reduction 0.075 NM 3 The Council will not in future return to collect any containers not 

collected in the original visit to that area.

14 Review of Bulky Waste Collection Service Reduction 0.025 NM 2 Charging all residents / Contracting the service to Social 

Enterprise

15 Construction of a waste handling and biomass production facility at 

Greenfield

Service Reduction 0.100 NM 2 Waste handling facility will reduce fleet mileage and fuel costs.  

Biomass facility will feed Council boilers, invest to save proposal 

(£1m)

10 Car Parking Charges  Income Generation 0.200 NM 2 Revise the Councils Car Parking Strategy introducing parking 

charges to all town centre car parks in Flintshire

Totals 0.875

REVIEW OF STANDARDS AND OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN TRANSPORT AND TRANSPORTATION
2 Replace Demand Responsive Transport with  non-subsidised service  Service Reduction
 0.250 NM 2 Deeside Shuttle - Demand for the service has grown to the 

extent that a regular and potentially non-subsidised defined route 

can replace the existing arrangements.  The savings would be 

generated by a reduction in back office staff costs. Full year 

effect

5 Charge maintenance of Bus Shelters to Community & Town Councils  Income Generation 0.025 NM 1 Discussions will commence with Town & Community Councils in 

respect of taking maintenance responsibility for shelters.

6 Review subsidised bus routes  Service Reduction 0.075 NM 3 Remove current subsidised bus services and work with Town & 

Community Councils and the local community to deliver local 

community based travel arrangements

Totals 0.350
OTHER 

1 Remove the subsidy for the Community Rail Officer Service Reduction 0.010 NM 1 FCC currently provides £10k towards the funding of the post

4 Externalise the Stores Managed Service  Service Reduction 0.050 NM 2 Align stores delivery to external provision or utilise Housing 

tender

Totals 0.060

REVIEW OF STANDARDS AND OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS WITHIN STREETSCENE
1 Externalise grass cutting service  Service Efficiency 0.025 NM 1 The majority of area grass cutting is carried out by the in-house 

service with agency assistance to support existing staff.  The 

operation requires a large amount of specialised plant and 

equipment which is not owned by the Council and hired at great 

expense.  The intention is to incrementally tender the full 

function over a three year period - market testing against internal 

provision at each stage. 



Appendix 9

2 7 day operations across all service areas  Structural Review 0.025 NM 1 Following the Streetscene Review in 2012, Streetscene now 

operates a six day working week.  The intention is to extend 

operations to Sunday which will require all staff to work some 

weekends during the year.  The savings would be driven by 

reduction of vehicle plant and fleet.

3 Extend night working  Structural Review 0.025 NM 1 Streetscene introduced an evening shift in 2012.  A small 

number of people work through the night (365 days a year) 

dealing with emergencies and small amounts of planned works.  

The proposal will see this level of work increase with operations 

such as gully emptying, town centre sweeping etc. carried out 

during the evening and overnight period.  The saving will be 

generated by reduction of plant and equipment.  

4 Reduced Street Lighting Resource Service Reduction 0.013 NM 2 The current standard of three days for the repair of every light, 

demands that a fixed level of resources is required by the 

service.  By significantly reducing the standard for the majority of 

lights in the County whilst retaining it for those lights adjacent to 

vulnerable residents, e.g. sheltered homes - the number of staff 

required to operate the service and the number of vehicles can 

be reduced. 

5 Remove second grass cut for highways verges Service Reduction 0.020 NM 2 The current standard is to cut all highway verges twice a year.  

The proposal will be to reduce the standard to just once, 

retaining all cuts on visibility splays at the current frequency.

6 Final phase of public convenience review Service Reduction 0.020 NM 2 Implement final phase of the service review as previously 

approved by Cabinet.

7 Pass Maintenance Liability and Cleanliness of Cemeteries to Town & 

Community Councils

Service Reduction 0.050 NM 3 The proposal is to pass all liability for the long term maintenance 

of cemeteries to Community Councils

8 Reducing Cleansing standard in the towns and enforce zero tolerance 

for littering         2015/16 Proposal Only

Service Reduction 0.000 NM 1 The Council currently has both CPE and Environmental 

Enforcement teams.  Whilst numbers will reduce as part of the 

service review - this proposal would reduce or remove the 

service completely.

9 Diagnostic proposals Streetscene Structural Review 0.050 NM 1 Following the Fleet Review the proposal is to engage a 

diagnostic partner to carry out a review of the operations within 

the highway service and make recommendation to improve 

efficiencies.  Implementation of these changes will be on a no 

win / no fee basis

11 Probation Service to take on Litter Collections in some areas Service Reduction 0.100 M 2 Currently all cleaning operations are carried out by full time 

Council employees. The proposal is to engage the Probationary 

Service to provide a resource on the Community payback 

Scheme to carry out this service on an SLA

13 Part night lighting in all residential areas  Service Reduction 0.030 NM 2 Introduce part night lighting in all residential areas.  Subject to 

risk assessment lights will be turned off between 12pm and 5am.

Totals 0.358

STREETSCENE AND TRANSPORTATION TOTAL 2.158

STREETSCENE & TRANSPORTATION

Total value of Business Plan proposals 2.158

* £1.7 m Capital Investment  required for PV panels at Brookhill and 

Standard

CATEGORISATION KEY Count Number Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed costings/modelling 

undertaken and the accuracy can be relied upon not to change 

significantly

10 0.360 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of detail behind the 

costings/modelling is reasonable although further work will be 

required to ensure robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.
17 1.223 

3= High level costing requires detailed further modelling - The figures 

are included at a high level with uncertainty around some of the 

significant detail e.g. further work required to   develop a specific 

proposal such as rationalising services/building 13 0.575 

2.158



Appendix 9

Business Planning Efficiencies for 

Organisational Change Portfolio

ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE 1

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type

16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 

MANDATORY duties 

Categorisation of 

financial 

robustness

Explanation

14 Deeside Library Relocations
Service Reduction 0.030                   1

Re-locate Mancot, Hawarden and Queensferry Libraries to Deeside 

Leisure Centre.

15 Community Asset Transfers

Service Reduction 0.544                   2

Community Asset Transfer of:

i) Connahs Quay Pool, 

ii) Holywell Leisure Centres 

iii) potentially rural libraries

iv) building transfer of Holywell and Broughton libraries.

Totals 0.574                   

Clwyd Theatr Cymru

1 Proposal to reduce shows and increase 

productivity  
Service Reduction/ Service 

Efficiency/ Income Generation
0.150                   NM 1

Reduction in shows from 8 to 6, combined with a reduction in staffing 

costs, and increases in income from productions and related activities.

Total Organisational Change 1 0.724                   

ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE 2 
1 Catering

Work process changes and office efficiency
Service Efficiency 0.005                   NM 1

Review of the office processes and paperwork flows drawing on best 

practice and increased use of electronic delivery.

2 Staff structural change  

Structural Review 0.019                   NM 1

Review of the catering service resources delivered to High Schools, 

Primary Schools, Residential Homes and Day Care Centres and the way 

the current service is delivered.  

3 Stock management and control

Service Efficiency 0.077                   NM 1

Stock control management system has now been purchased and its use 

is being embedded within the service to deliver increased efficiencies.

4

Increase meal numbers (income) Service Efficiency 0.080                   NM 1

Current performance and take up in schools is currently 39% with a 

recent study indicating that 43% should be a target that is achievable.  

This requires improved marketing and promotion of the catering service 

to increase take up.

5
Debt recovery (income) Service Efficiency 0.010                   NM 1

Manage more effectively the levels of debt relating to school meals and 

take appropriate action to tackle debt levels.  This deliverable is now 

linked to a new debt process.

Totals 0.191                   

7 Increased Growth
Income Generation 0.003                   NM 1

Grow cleaning service into other areas such as leisure services, schools, 

care facilites.

8 Different model of delivery (mobile)
Income Generaion 0.004                   NM 1

Deliver a peripatetic cleaning service to areas of the County and in 

addition increase external market contracts.

Totals 0.007                   

9 Security/Caretaking

Staff reductions  Service Reduction 0.056                   NM 1

Review undertaken for County Hall and close down at County Hall in 

place augmented by improved CCTV coverage around the campus.  

10 Lock Down and Shift Pattern modifications
Service Efficiency 0.020                   NM 1

Review position at Flint and modify service.  Continue to review Mold 

service.

Totals 0.076                   

11 CCTV

Staff reductions
Service Reduction 0.040                   NM 1

Rationalise service following a review to create efficiencies.

12 
Income increase
Income Generation 0.010                   NM 1

A number of strands relating to recovery of fee income from system 

users based upon a more responsive and peripatetic provision, and 

reductions in system maintenance costs. 

Totals 0.050                   

13 Other

Campus Management
Structural Review 0.030                   NM 1

Rationalise service following a service review to create efficiencies.

14 Maintenance
Service Efficiency 0.005                   NM 1

Review budgets and reduce the level of maintenance to the main 

campus facility.

Totals 0.035                   

16 Valuations & Estates

Lease renewals
Income Generation 0.023                   NM 1

Increases in rental income on new leases, renewal of leases, agricultural 

rents and grazing licences.

18 Office management

Service Efficiency 0.002                   NM 1

Undertake a LEAN review of the office processes and paperwork flows 

drawing on best practice and increased use of electronic delivery of the 

service.

19 Estate management cost recovery (dilapidations 

etc)
Income Generation 0.005                   NM 1

Increased and more effective recovery from tenants of dilapidation costs 

following tenant vacation of our property assets.

Totals 0.030                   

20 Property Maintenance & Design

Reduce maintenance budget
Structural Review 0.150                    NM 1

Review of the council's existing corporate maintenance budgets in 

conjunction with a reducing property estate, through rationalisation.  The 

Councils performance in relation to its maintenance delivery is already 

upper quartile.  

22 Office running costs 
Service Efficiency 0.004                    NM 1

Undertake a review of the office running costs, reducing accommodation 

space and service cost.

23 Office management
Service Efficiency 0.005                    NM 1

Undertake a review of office processes and paperwork flows drawing on 

best practice.

Totals 0.159                   

Total Organisational Change 2 0.548                

TOTAL ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE 1.272                

ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE

Total value of Business Plan proposals 1.272                                      

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed 

costings/modelling undertaken and the accuracy 

can be relied upon not to change significantly
0.728 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level 

of detail behind the costings/modelling is 

reasonable although further work will be required to 

ensure robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.
0.544 

3= High level costing requires detailed further 

modelling - The figures are included at a high level 

with uncertainty around some of the significant 

detail e.g. further work required to   develop a 

specific proposal such as rationalising 

services/buildings. 0.000 

 M

Statutory duty for a 

comprehensive and 

efficient library service; 

proposals do not 

compromise this 

requirement. 



Appendix 9

Business Plan Efficiencies for Social Care 

Portfolio

No Specific 2016/17 Proposals Type 16-17 

PROPOSALS

£m

16-17 

 MANDATORY duties 

Categorisation 

of financial 

robustness

Explanation

Older People

Learning Disabilities

5 Rationalise the number of sites where In-House short term 

care is provided 

Service Reduction                        0.140  M

The duty to provide short term care is not 

compromised by this full year effect of the 

change introduced last year. 

1 Rationalisation of short term care sites has been achieved and will bring about a full year benefit in 

2016/17.

6 Consult on the potential to commission provision currently 

provided by In House Supported Living houses 

 Service Efficiency                        0.065  M

Duty to provide services for people with 

Learning Disabilites in appropriate 

settings; this model should achieve this. 

2 Criteria developed to identify Supported Living projects that may have the potential to be effectively 

delivered by the independent sector.  There are 6 projects that are being considered.  The number of 

projects that can be appropriately recommissioned from the independent sector, precise savings and 

timings will be clear once consultation has taken place alongside market capacity analysis.  Indicative 

savings are subject to consultation. 

7 Develop a ‘progression’ model for Supported Living Service Efficiency                        0.250 2 Adopt the progression model which supports people to live as independent lives as possible. This 

includes:

• maximising technology as part of the support plan (telecare)

• providing ‘just enough support’ in ways that build autonomy and personal resilience

• maximise the use of Direct Payments

• ensure progression is a key feature of ‘transitional’ arrangements for young people who have eligible 

needs

This approach should improve peoples’ quality of life as well as appropriately reducing support 

packages and the cost of support

14 Develop alternative approaches to in house day services 

and work opportunity schemes

Revenue Efficiencies                        0.200 3 There is a variance in the care and support arrangements for clients across the day care and work 

opportunity settings.  Some schemes support people with more moderate needs and have greater 

potential to move to alternative delivery models.  Some of the services support people with very 

complex needs and the speed at which alternative models can be delivered varies along with the 

timescales and pace for releasing efficiencies.

Children's Services

16 Service redesign in children's services Structural Review                        0.032  M

Duty to provide Childrens and 

Safeguarding Services will not be be 

compromised by this redesign. 

1 Review and realign structure within Childrens/ Safeguarding services. 

22 Review commissioning with Action for Children Voluntary Sector 0.035 

NM

2 Bring together contracts with Action for Children with a view to negotiating a reduction of 10% for the 

Arosfa and Family Project contracts and ending the funding for the summer playscheme and the 

therapeutic service

25 Managing the Childcare market Voluntary Sector                        0.016  M

Duty to provide services for childcare 

sufficiency in appropriate settings in line 

with CSSIW regulations; this model 

should achieve this. 

2 Renegotiate the level of service commissioned from early years child care providers/organisations (3rd 

sector) with support provided to those parents with greatest/critical need

26 Align expenditure to critical statutory provision in Children’s 

Services

Service Reduction                        0.100  M

Critical areas of provision will be 

protected within this proposal 

1 Review and realignment of structure within Children's / Safeguarding service area.

Totals 0.838                       

SOCIAL CARE

Total value of Business Plan proposals 0.838

CATEGORISATION KEY Total 16-17

1 = Fully Costed and Safe - Very detailed 

costings/modelling undertaken and the accuracy can 

be relied upon not to change significantly
0.272 

2= Reasonably costed will need refining - The level of 

detail behind the costings/modelling is reasonable 

although further work will be required to ensure 

robustness and to deal with any  changes in 

circumstances e.g. market conditions.
0.366 

3= High level costing requires detailed further 

modelling - The figures are included at a high level 

with uncertainty around some of the significant detail 

e.g. further work required to   develop a specific 

proposal such as rationalising services/buildings.

0.200 

 M

Duty to provide services for people with 

Learning Development in appropriate 

settings; these models should achieve 

this. 











CABINET MEETING

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Corporate Management

Report Author Chief Officer (Community and Enterprise)

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The current Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) was approved by Flintshire 
County Council on 27th January 2015.

There is a requirement for the Council to formally adopt CTRS for the Authority 
annually.

This report ensures that the Council meet its statutory obligation to adopt the 
scheme for 2016/2017.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Agree to adopt the CTRS and maintain the current discretionary elements 
for 2016 – 17.



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME

1.01 The CTRS in Wales is set by Regulations made under Schedule 1B of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (As inserted by the Local 
Government Finance Act 2012).

1.02 The draft Regulations were laid before the National Assembly for Wales on 
1st December 2015 and will be debated on 19th January 2016 and, subject 
to approval, will come into force on 20th January 2016.

1.03 These Regulations prescribe the main features of the Scheme to be 
adopted by all Councils in Wales.  They ensure that qualifying tax payers 
may continue to receive a reduction up to 100% of their Council Tax bill 
(depending on the level of their income).

1.04 The statutory instrument uprates certain figures used to calculate an 
applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the Scheme.  They also make 
amendments relating to eligibility for a Council Tax Reduction and makes 
consequential amendments as a result of wider changes to welfare 
benefits and to ensure they remain fit for purpose.

1.05 It does not contain provisions to uprate the financial figures in relation to 
rates for working age, disability or carer as the UK is currently in a low 
inflationary period. This means that there will be a 0% increase in these 
rates in 2016-2017.

1.06 The statutory instrument includes amendments to Regulations to uprate 
figures in relation to:

 Personal Allowances in respect of pensioner rates to align these 
with Housing Benefit;

 Non-dependant deductions in relation to income bands and 
deduction amounts.  This amendment is required in order to make 
appropriate deductions from Council Tax Reductions to reflect 
average earnings.

1.07 These uprated figures have been calculated with assistance from the 
Department for Work and Pensions following the Chancellor’s Autumn 
statement.

1.08 In addition to the uprating this statutory instrument amends the 2013 
Regulations to incorporate a number of changes to legislation which 
governs interrelated benefits:

 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the Care Act 
2014 (“the 2014 Acts)

 National Insurance Contributions Act 2015
 Pensions Act 2014

1.09 There is limited discretion given to the Council to apply additional elements 
that are more generous than the normal scheme.



1.10 Discretions exercised in the current Scheme are:
a) Provide an extended payment period of 4 weeks after they return to 

work, when they have been in receipt of a relevant qualifying benefit 
for at least 26 weeks;

b) Disregard the whole amount of War Disablement pensions and War 
Widows pensions when calculating income;

c) Backdate the application of Council Tax Reduction awards for 
working age customers the standard period of 3 months prior to the 
claim.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 The cost of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme is largely covered through 
direct funding from Welsh Government.

2.02 This is a fixed amount and does not increase year on year to take into 
account of the usual inflationary increase in Council Tax.

2.03 To mitigate this the Council budgets for a provision which for 2016/2017 is 
£317,000 to meet the inflationary increase which assumes an annual 
increase in Council Tax of 3.0%.

2.04 Based prior year trends, because of a diminishing caseload and costs, 
there is sufficient budget provision to meet fully the cost of CTRS.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 None Required.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 Based on current levels of claims and the cost of CTRS, there is sufficient 
budget provision to meet the cost of all awards especially given that the 
Council will set aside £371,000 to meet increasing inflationary costs of 
Council Tax Increases.

4.02 The service is demand led and the Council has no control over costs, 
however, there are systems and measures in place to closely monitor 
costs against the budget and to report any discrepancies in year.

4.03 The Cost of CTRS in recent years has not increased and in the current 
year there is a projected surplus, however this is not risk free as any 
changes in the local economy could result in an increased caseload and 
costs.



5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 None.

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default 
Scheme) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2016

Contact Officer: Jen Griffiths – Benefits Manager
Telephone: 01352 702929
E-mail: jen.griffiths@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01

7.02

7.03

7.04

Council Tax Reduction Scheme – The scheme replaced Council Tax 
Benefit in April 2013.  It is a scheme for people on low incomes to claim 
support towards paying their Council Tax bill.  It is means tested and 
awards for eligible tax payers can be up to 100%.

Housing Benefit – A benefit for people on low income who require 
financial assistance with their housing costs.

Personal Allowances – Set by Department for Work and Pensions and is 
a calculation of need based on a set of personal circumstances which is 
then used to calculate benefit entitlement.

Non-dependant deductions – A non-dependant is someone who 
normally lives with the claimant, such as an adult son or daughter, relative 
or friend.  A non-dependant deduction is applied to the calculation of 
Council Tax Reduction based on the income of the non-dependant.

mailto:jen.griffiths@flintshire.gov.uk


CABINET MEETING

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject Review of Discretionary Rate Relief

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Corporate Management

Report Author Chief Officer (Community and Enterprise)

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Although the Discretionary Rate Relief (DRR) scheme is approved annually by 
cabinet, the principles of who gets rate relief and at what level, has not been 
considered in detail since 2010.

There is a growing need to carry out a full review of DRR awards and the 
opportunity to review the current levels of rate relief could potentially provide 
efficiencies for the Council and help to bridge the budget gap from 2017-18 and 
beyond.

If cabinet approves this review, alternative DRR schemes will be explored during 
the early part of 2016-17 which can then be implemented from 2017-18.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 For cabinet to approve the review of DRR leading to the development of a 
new scheme which could be implemented from April 2017.

2 Approve the dispatch of letters in January 2016 to all business ratepayers 
currently in receipt of DRR. This provides ratepayers with the statutory 12 
months lead in time to revoke the current scheme and the existing level of 
awards before changes to DRR levels are implemented in 2017-18.



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING MANDATORY AND DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF

1.01 For Mandatory Rate Relief, relief of 80% of the annual rates bill is 
discounted if a ratepayer is a registered charity or a Community Amateur 
Sports Club (CASC) and the premises are wholly or mainly used for 
charitable purposes. The cost of awarding Mandatory Relief is met entirely 
by the Welsh Government.

1.02 The current scheme also provides Discretionary Rate Relief (either as a 
20% ‘top-up’ to 80% Mandatory awards or as straight Discretionary only 
awards) to 213 organisations.  As a result, rate relief totalling £273,131 is 
awarded, the cost of which is split between the Council and Welsh 
Government. The Council picks up annual costs of £103,000 with the 
Welsh Government picking up the remaining contribution of £170,131. 

1.03 For those organisations that are registered charities, additional 
Discretionary ‘top-up’ relief can be awarded up to the remaining 20% rate 
liability. The cost of funding ‘top-up’ relief is funded 75% by the Council 
and 25% by WG. 

1.04 For Voluntary and Non Profit Making Organisations not registered with the 
Charity Commission, Discretionary only Relief can be awarded at levels up 
to 100%. The cost of awarding discretionary only relief is funded 10% by 
the Council and 90% by WG.

1.05 In line with the existing policy of the Council, levels of rate relief are 
currently determined by the following categories:

 Premises used by for charity purposes by organisations registered 
with the Charity Commission.

(20% discretionary ‘top-up’ is awarded with the exception of CASC’s or 
charity shops operated by national organisations who receive only the 80% 
Mandatory Relief element)

154 organisations currently benefit from discretionary ‘top-up’ relief 
at a cost to the Council of £87,612

 Premises occupied by community sporting clubs, societies or other 
organisations used for recreational, social welfare etc.

(100% Discretionary Relief is awarded with the exception of voluntary golf 
clubs which are awarded 50% Discretionary Relief)

59 organisations benefit from discretionary relief at a cost to the 
Council of £15,388

1.06 There is a legal requirement for the Council to provide ratepayers with one 
full financial year’s notice of an impending change to the scheme or a 
decision to end or vary the level of rate relief already in place.



1.07 If cabinet supports the review of the current scheme, it will be necessary to 
issue letters to all ratepayers in receipt of discretionary rate relief by no 
later than 31/3/2016. This would give a clear indication of the Council’s 
plans to review the policy. It would also provide the necessary statutory 
notice to ratepayers and also provide sufficient time for new a scheme to 
be drafted up and approved during the early part of 2016-17 ready for 
implementation in 2017-18.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 To bridge the budget gap in 2017-18 and beyond, business planning 
proposals for the Community & Enterprise Portfolio reflect the growing 
need to review the existing DRR scheme and consider the implementation 
of a lower cost scheme from 2017-18.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 None at this stage, although if cabinet agree to review DRR there will be a 
need to consult further when a new scheme is formulated.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The future implementation of a lower funded DRR scheme could 
potentially result in creating financial hardship for some of the 
organisations currently in receipt of 100% rate relief but who would might 
be expected to pay some rates in the future.

4.02 To mitigate risks around financial hardship, section 49 of the Local 
Government Finance Act, allows the Council to allow rate relief to relieve 
hardship to any business ratepayer. The conditions are:

o The ratepayer would sustain hardship if the Council did not grant 
relief

o The award of Hardship Rate Relief would be reasonable having 
regard to the interests of Council Tax payers

o There is a requirement of businesses to satisfy the Council that it is 
not able to meet its net liability for business rates, usually as a result 
of insufficient income or bank balances, and that all reasonable 
steps have been taken to meet the rate liability. It is also important 
to determine whether enforced payment of the net liability would 
impact on the ability of the business to continue operating.

4.03 If a ratepayer meets all three requirements and it is in the public interest to 
support the business, Hardship Rate Relief can be awarded – the cost of 
which is funded 75% by Welsh Government and 25% by the Council.

4.04 The review of DRR could also potentially impact on the development of 
existing and new Community Asset Transfers (CAT) as many of the 



groups who want to lease buildings or land from the County Council for 
community benefit, could be entitled to DRR at levels of up to 100% with 
the current DRR scheme.

4.05 If cabinet support the development of other DRR schemes that provide 
lower levels of rate relief from 2017-18, to mitigate risks and secure the 
financial viability of CAT’S, there may be a need to build into future CAT’S, 
additional short term funding to assist community groups with the cost of 
business rate bills.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 None.

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Local Government Finance Act 1988 (sections 43 and 47)
Hardship Rate Relief (section 49)

Contact Office:    David Barnes, Revenues Manager
Telephone:           01352 703652
E-mail:                  david.barnes@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01

7.02

7.03

Mandatory Rate Relief: Where a business property is occupied by a 
charity or a Community Amateur Sports Organisation and the property is 
put to use ‘wholly or mainly’ for charitable purposes, there is an automatic 
entitlement to a 80% reduction in the rate bill, the cost of which is picked 
up by Welsh Government. 

Discretionary Rate Relief: Voluntary Groups and ‘Not for profit’ 
organisations which are not  registered charities are not eligible to receive 
Mandatory Rate Relief, but they are eligible to receive discretionary rate 
relief up to 100% (either as a ‘top-up’ to Mandatory Rate Relief or as an 
award in its own right based on the policy of a local authority). 

To be entitled to Discretionary Rate Relief, organisations must satisfy 
certain rules and conditions where the premises are occupied and put to 
use for charitable or otherwise for used for philanthropic, religious, 
education, social welfare, science, literature, the arts or recreational 
purposes

Hardship Rate Relief: The Council, at its discretion, can sometimes 
award rate relief up to 100% to business ratepayers in exceptional 
circumstances who are experiencing hardship and it is reasonable for the 
Council to grant some relief having regard to the interests of local 
taxpayers who partly fund Hardship awards.

mailto:david.barnes@flintshire.gov.uk


7.04

7.05

Community Asset Transfers: At its simplest level, a community asset 
transfer is a change in management and/or ownership of land or buildings 
from local authorities to communities (usually to community and voluntary 
sector groups or community enterprises) 

Community Amateur Sports Club: The Community Amateur Sports Club 
(CASC) scheme was introduced by HMRC (HM Revenue and Customs) as 
an option for sports clubs to register with HMRC to receive ‘charity type’ 
tax reliefs providing that the club meets certain qualifying conditions. The 
scheme generally requires less regulation than if a sports club registers as 
a charity. Organisations that have CASC status with HMRC automatically 
receive 80% Mandatory Rate Relief for business rates.





CABINET

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject Welsh Local Government Association Manifesto
Localism 2016-21

Cabinet Member Leader of the Council 

Report Author Chief Executive 

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) has recently published its 
Manifesto for local government, Localism 2016-21, in advance of the National 
Assembly for Wales’s elections to be held in May, 2016.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Cabinet is invited to formally support the Welsh Local Government 
Association Manifesto Localism 2016-21; and

2 The Council to engage with the Association and fellow councils in working 
with a newly elected Welsh Government in May to promote adoption of the 
Manifesto proposals in national policy and funding plans.



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 MAKING THE CASE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT

1.01 The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) periodically publishes a 
Manifesto which presents the case for policy and finance reform for local 
government in Wales. The WLGA has recently published the latest 
Manifesto. The Manifesto is timed to influence the commitments being 
made by the political parties in advance of the National Assembly for 
Wales’s elections to be held in May, 2016.

1.02 The Manifesto, Localism 2016-21, calls for:-
Clarity and commitment to partnership: clarity from the Welsh 
Government about the future of local government, its roles and its 
responsibilities, and clarity around the plans and timescales for reform. A 
restatement of a commitment to partnership governance in Wales is 
essential to ensure that local and national government are working 
together based on clear principles or mutual respect and understanding;
 
Fair and flexible funding: councils need greater fiscal autonomy and 
flexibility to respond to local needs and priorities. Specific grants should be 
transferred into the settlement, and the Welsh Government should commit 
to multi-year financial settlements so councils can plan more effectively, 
and should fully cost and fund any new national initiatives or legislation; 
and

Commitment to the principle of Subsidiarity: the Welsh Government 
should commit to the European Charter of Local Self Government and the 
principle of subsidiarity, where the presumption is that power is transferred 
to the level of government closest to the people. The Welsh Government 
has a clear national strategic role, but councils want to see momentum 
behind the devolution of powers beyond Cardiff Bay to local government 
and to local communities. 

1.03 In launching the Manifesto alongside the announcement of the Welsh 
budget by the Welsh Government, the WLGA issued the following 
statement:- 
"The WLGA has only recently published its 'Localism 2016-21' manifesto, 
which offers a 40 point plan for public services in Wales. Key to our call 
was the need to refocus resources on the local public services that make 
such an important contribution to alleviating the build-up of costly 
pressures elsewhere in the system such as in our NHS, and also the need 
for councils to be offered far greater financial flexibility in the future. It is 
heartening to hear these points acknowledged so strongly by Welsh 
Government within today's draft budget announcement.

We have been clear that there is a need to rewrite the rulebook on how our 
councils are funded if we are to avoid a similar situation to that in England, 
where local public services have been cut to the bone and a number of 
councils face the very real possibility of being unable to meet even their 
most basic statutory duties. Today's (budget) announcement offers a 
glimmer of hope that a different reality can be written for vital local public 
services in Wales.”

http://www.wlga.gov.uk/local-government-policy-priorities-for-the-national-assembly-for-wales
http://www.wlga.gov.uk/local-government-policy-priorities-for-the-national-assembly-for-wales


1.04 Localism 2016-21, is accessible by following the hyper link in the 
background documents table or by visiting the WLGA website.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 None directly.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 All member councils, including Flintshire, were consulted by the WLGA in 
the development and drafting of the Manifesto.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 None directly.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 None.

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 'Localism 2016-21' Manifesto of the Welsh Local Government 
Association.

Contact Officer: Colin Everett
Chief Executive

Telephone: 01352 702101
Email:                         chief.executive@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA): the representative body 
of principal councils, fire and rescue authorities, and the national parks in 
Wales.

http://www.wlga.gov.uk/local-government-policy-priorities-for-the-national-assembly-for-wales
mailto:chief.executive@flintshire.gov.uk




 MEETING

Date of Meeting  Tuesday, 19 January 2016 

Report Subject School Organisation – Ysgol Llanfynydd

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Education and Youth 

Report Author   Chief Officer (Education and Youth)

Type of Report   Strategic 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

To inform Cabinet of the responses from the statutory consultation period for Ysgol 
Llanfynyndd.

To inform Cabinet of the outcomes from the Education and Youth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and to invite Cabinet to determine whether to proceed with a 
statutory proposal for school organisational change.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Cabinet is requested to consider the responses from the statutory 
consultation period for Ysgol Llanfynydd.

2 Cabinet is requested to consider comments from the Education and
Youth Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the evidence and analysis 
provided by officers within the reports.

3 Cabinet is requested to determine the next steps for school organisational 
change for Ysgol Llanfynydd.

REPORT DETAILS



1.00 BACKGROUND AND CONSIDERATIONS

1.01 In June 2015, the Cabinet determined that we enter into formal 
consultation on closure and other school organisation options for Ysgol 
Llanfynydd by September 2016.

1.02 The proposal was put forward on the basis of criteria laid down in the 
Council’s School Modernisation Strategy, namely:

 Unfilled places across the primary school portfolio – Ysgol Llanfynydd 
as at January 2015 (based on the Pupil Level Annual School Census or 
PLASC) had 42 full time pupils with unfilled places at 47.5%. As of 
September 2015 the school population had 34 full time pupils with 
unfilled places at 57.5%.

 Diminishing resource criteria (i.e. schools supported by pupils not from 
their local community and/or small numbers within the community raise 
concern regarding sustainability within the school’s portfolio); for 44% 
of pupils attending Ysgol Llanfynydd is not their nearest school, and

 Small School Criteria – the school population and capacity of Ysgol 
Llanfynydd is lower than national designation of a small school, 
additionally school numbers do not meet the minimum requirements of 
primary school models as noted in the Council’s School Modernisation 
Strategy.

1.03 The formal consultation period for Ysgol Llanfynydd commenced on 
Wednesday 21 October 2015 and ended on Wednesday 2 December 
2015.

1.04 The Council has issued consultation documents in accordance with the 
statutory School Organisation Code. 

1.05 Reviewing the future of any school is controversial and emotive. Pupils, 
parents, carers and teachers, past and present, have strong ties to local 
schools as part of their own life-stories. The Council is challenged with 
balancing the sensitivities of community feeling on the one hand, with 
providing a high quality education offer which can be sustained and 
afforded. The Council cannot avoid making decisions for the future which 
are in the best interests of pupils and students.

1.06 During the consultation responses from the pupils, community, staff, 
parents and carers have focused on the following concerns, in summary:

 accuracy of data contained within the consultation documents;
 impact on pupils/transition/friendship groups; 
 education standards;
 capacity of other schools in the area to accommodate pupils;
 admissions to other schools should Ysgol Llanfynydd close;
 transport and traffic.

1.07 As part of the consultation the views of children and young people have 
been sought. The pupils of Ysgol Llanfynydd do not want their school to be 



closed. They have expressed concern that they will lose friendship groups. 
They have expressed concern for their teachers and about transition onto 
a new school. Other nearby school councils consulted were sad that the 
school could close but would try to make Ysgol Llanfynydd pupils welcome 
and would be happy to make new friends should the school close (see 
Appendix 2 Consultation Report).

1.08 Responses also focus on the strengths of the school, such as the family 
ethos and the inclusive nature of the school. These strengths are positively 
acknowledged.

1.09 Additionally an alternative suggestion of federation has been made by a 
number of consultees, notably the governing body. They want the Council 
to use powers to federate Ysgol Llanfynydd with another school. 
Governing Bodies also have the power to promote a federation proposal, 
but a key factor for success is having two or more willing partners. The 
Governing body of Ysgol Llanfynydd have not identified a willing partnering 
school or schools with which to pursue a federation. 

1.10 Neighbouring schools have confirmed that they have not and will not be 
bringing forward a federal proposal.

1.11 The Governing Body has also requested a reduction in its school funding 
formula allocation in order to demonstrate a lower operating cost per pupil. 
This is an innovative suggestion. However, the primary school funding 
formula was fundamentally reviewed in 2013/14 with full involvement and 
consultation with schools and other stakeholders including the Schools 
Budget Forum and Education and Youth Scrutiny.  The formula must be 
applied consistently across all schools with any changes to the formula 
being consulted on and agreed.  There is a primary schools funding 
formula group comprising Authority officers and nominated Headteachers 
which meets regularly to consider formula issues. A key ongoing concern 
from small primary schools has been to secure adequate resources to 
enable school leaders to fulfil their responsibilities.  

1.12 It is for individual schools to ensure that they are deploying the funds 
allocated to them in the best interests of the pupils in the school at that 
time.  Where schools do not fully spend their allocation in year due to staff 
vacancies they are entitled to carry balances forward, however, where 
balances are above 5% they are subject to “claw back” arrangements.

1.13 The consultation documents are subject to rigorous compliance checks 
prior to their publication, which includes verifying information provided by 
the schools and national sources (see Appendix 1 - Compliance 
Statement).

1.14 The Council would take all practicable steps to ease the transition for all 
pupils, most especially for vulnerable learners such as those with 
Additional Learning Needs (ALN).  As part of implementation plans the 
Council would work alongside pupils, their parents, and the relevant 
schools to make appropriate transition arrangements for pupils to 
familiarise themselves with their new environments (subject to parental 



preference).

1.15 The Council has demonstrated in its consultation documents that there is 
sufficient capacity within the local school network to accommodate pupils 
from Ysgol Llanfynydd should it close. This view is upheld by Estyn in its 
response. However, additional places can be established at Ysgol Parc Y 
Llan, Treuddyn, at either no cost or minimal cost for that school to be 
available to all current pupils at Ysgol Llanfynydd.

1.16 Transport eligibility is determined by the Authority in which the pupil 
resides. Seventeen pupils who live in Flintshire would be entitled to free 
home to school transport based on the assumption that pupils transfer to 
their nearest school (Ysgol Parc Y Llan) on the basis of the following 
grounds:

 that the nearest appropriate available school is more than 2 miles 
away;

 that the route to the alternative schools would be considered to be 
hazardous by the Council due to its rural location which has limited 
footpaths in and out of the village.

1.17 Estyn’s formal response to the consultation confirms the independent 
inspectorate’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the 
present standards of education provision in the area. Overall, pupil 
outcomes in all four alternative schools are currently good, with all schools 
judged as having the necessary capacity to improve further. Pupil 
attendance in all of these schools is good.

1.18 Education and Youth Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 6 January 
2016 to consider the outcomes from consultation. The resolution of the 
committee was that comments be collated and presented to Cabinet. 
Comments from individual scrutiny members are included at Appendix 5.

1.19 Previous and current school leaders have worked hard to maintain stability 
within the school’s operations and should be commended for this. 
However, pupil numbers have dropped from 43 full time pupils in January 
2015 to 34 full time pupils at September 2015. This will not provide 
sufficient income to sustain high quality provision at the school. With such 
exceptionally low numbers the quality of the social experience within the 
school will also be limited.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 There is sufficient staff capacity to prepare the detailed transition plans for 
pupils.

2.02 Should the current proposals be implemented, the Council will work with the 
current members of staff at Ysgol Llanfynydd, including teaching and support 



staff, should they seek redeployment opportunities. Staff displaced by the 
proposal may have the opportunity to be employed in the local primary 
network. 

2.03 The estimated net saving that could be achieved if the proposal to close the 
Ysgol Llanfynydd goes ahead, is as follows:-

Saving/Costs Amount
Formula Funding Saving  £94,542 pa
Transport Costs -£16,150 pa
Catering Saving  £5,000
Net Saving £83,392 pa
Backlog Maintenance Saving £102,935 (5 year cycle estimate)

2.04 The estimated annual costs of transport as a result of the proposal are 
£16,150. However, actual transport costs can only be fully assessed once all 
families have chosen their preferred school.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 In addition to consultation undertaken in line with the School Organisation 
Code, consultation has also been undertaken with the Council’s Education 
and Youth Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

3.02 If the Cabinet decision is to proceed, the Council will publish a Statutory 
notice providing a 28 day notice period for objections. If objections are 
received, the Council must publish an objection report providing a 
summary of the objections and their responses to them within 28 days of 
the end of the objection period.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 A Programme Board is set up to oversee the implementation business 
plans and manage risks in close detail. Reports are made to Cabinet and 
Overview and Scrutiny at key stages of decision-taking, performance 
reporting and evaluation. 

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 - Compliance statement
Appendix 2 - Consultation report
Appendix 3 - Estyn response
Appendix 4 - Statutory proposal anticipated timeline
Appendix 5 - Comments raised by Education and Youth OSC

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS



6.01 All responses from the consultation period (and responses received before 
the consultation period) are available in the members’ library.

Contact Officer: Damian Hughes, Senior Manager, School Planning 
and Provision
Telephone: 01352 704135
E-mail: Damian.hughes@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 PLASC – The Welsh Government Pupil Level Annual School Census is 
mandatory with returns for all sectors required every January including 
nursery, primary, middle, secondary and special. Returns are required 
every January.

School Organisation Code – The new School Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 makes Local Authorities responsible (rather 
than the Welsh Ministers prior to October 2013) for the determination of 
most statutory school organisation proposals that receive objections.  Such 
provisions apply to any proposals published on or after 1st October 2013 
that consider the establishment, discontinuance or otherwise significantly 
alter schools.

The Council does this in line with the Welsh Government’s statutory 
School Organisation Code

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dcells/publications/130719-school-
organisation-codes-en.pdf

Estyn - Estyn is the education and training inspectorate for Wales. Estyn 
is responsible for inspecting primary and secondary schools and nursery 
schools maintained by, or receive funding, from local authorities.

Federation – The federation of schools is a legal process which enables 
schools to work together through a formal structured process by sharing a 
governing body that will make decisions in the best interest of all the 
schools, staff and pupils in that federation.

The Welsh Government have brought in new regulations around federation 
of maintained schools in Wales. The Federation of Maintained Schools 
(Wales) Regulations 2014 which came into force on 22 May 2014 gives 
effect to Council’s powers to federate schools. (School governors already 
have powers to federate by choice under provisions introduced in 2010). 
These powers have now been consolidated into the 2014 Regulations.

Estyn’s definition of small school - Is a school of 100 or less.

mailto:Damian.hughes@flintshire.gov.uk
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dcells/publications/130719-school-organisation-codes-en.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dcells/publications/130719-school-organisation-codes-en.pdf


Appendix 1

Compliance Statement in Relation to the Current School Proposals

Introduction: School Organisation:

The School Organisation Code imposes requirements and provides guidelines in 
respect of all school organisation proposals in Wales.

For all of the current school organisation proposals the School Modernisation Team 
have planned the consultations, decision making and statutory notices in line with 
what the Code requires.

Consultation Process Timescales: 

RAG Status: GREEN

The Schools Modernisation Team are required to ensure that timescales are 
adhered to in relation to school organisation proposals.

The timescale and process for consultation, decision making and statutory notice for 
the current school proposals have been checked and verified with Flintshire County 
Council Legal Team and through external verification through the Welsh 
Government Officers. 

Welsh Government Consultation Documentation Checklist.

RAG status: GREEN
 
In the case of all school organisation proposals, the consultation document must 
contain certain information in line with School Organisation Code, July 2013 
(Document number: 006/2016).

A RAG checklist has been produced by Welsh Government School Governance & 
Organisation Branch for the current school organisation proposals.  The RAG 
checklist document follows a colour coding system in order to highlight any missing 
information or areas which Welsh Government felt could have been dealt with more 
thoroughly. 

Ysgol Llanfynydd, Ysgol Maes Edwin and Ysgol Gymraeg Mornant proposals have 
all been assessed by the external Welsh Government Officers as having no 
concerns identified.

Flintshire County Council Consultee Checklist:

RAG status: GREEN

When bringing forward statutory proposals the School Organisation Code provides 
a full list of consultees that the proposer should consult with during the statutory 
process.  An internal checklist has been produced by the School Modernisation 
Team to assess if the required statutory consultees have been identified.  

Ysgol Llanfynydd, Ysgol Maes Edwin and Ysgol Gymraeg Mornant consultee 
checklist have all been assessed by the external Welsh Government Officers as 
having no concerns identified.



Appendix 1

Verification of Data in the Consultation Document: 

RAG status: GREEN

The School Modernisation Team uses the latest verified data at the time of 
constructing the consultation documents:

 School pupil numbers and more detailed information around pupils (for example 
Additional Learning Needs, English as an Additional Language and School 
action/school action plus/statemented) are obtained from the schools own 
statistical returns (September or January)

 Estyn data is obtained from the schools last Estyn inspection.  Timing of 
inspections will depend on Estyn's own inspection cycle. 

 National Welsh Government categorisation data, is based on the school returns. 
The Council use the most up to date data at the time of document construction 
from the Welsh Government website. Welsh Government update their national 
data base annually.

 GwE (The Regional School Improvement Service) data is fed into the Welsh 
Government's national categorisation system. 

 The Welsh Government's national Measuring Capacity of Schools in Wales 
forms are verified by Head teachers, this provides the School Capacity and 
Admission Number.

 Unfilled places are recorded by Welsh Government; the Council provide its 
returns to Welsh Government annually; they are also based on official school 
returns.

 Birth Information by area is obtained from the Office of National Statistics
 Pupil projections are aligned with the methodology as neighbouring Authorities 

with North Wales 
 Housing development information is based on actual current housing 

applications provided from the Planning Officers.
 Potential pupils which may be generated from new housing developments is 

calculated using a formula providing by a partnering Authority (Conwy CBC) 
who derive the formula based on the latest census returns.

 Pupil teacher ratios are provided by publically available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), provided by Welsh Government and is 
updated on an annual basis.  

 Foundation Phase and Core Subject Outcomes are provided by publically 
available statistics on a school (http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), provided by 
Welsh Government is updated on an annual basis

 School Building condition information is provided by an external company who 
compare the school building condition against the building bulletin for Primary 
and Secondary schools

 Backlog maintenance information is provided by through independent 
consultants Property Condition Surveys are undertaken on a 5 year cycle.

Priority Codes [definition] are as follows:-

Priority 1: Urgent work required to be undertaken within 1 year
Priority 2: Essential work required to be undertaken within 2 years
Priority 3: Desirable work [deemed as] required to be undertaken within 3 to 5 
years
Priority 4: Long term work [deemed as] required to be undertaken outside the 5 
year [cycle] period

http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/
http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/


Appendix 1

The element Total 1 - 3 defines a five year financial investment and element 4 
defines a six - ten year financial investment.

Work items are costed by the Consultant and include for preliminaries, labour, 
plant and materials etc. These costs are based on the current building cost 
information service [BCIS] provided by the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors, [RICS] as the leading provider of cost and price information within 
the construction and maintenance areas. These costs [Unit Rates] are present 
within the condition survey software to a default figure and amended/updated as 
required by the Consultant. The budget costings are exclusive of VAT, updated 
annually [using inflation indices] and reviewed post completion of work.

 School suitability information is provided from Suitability surveys undertaken 
independently in line with DffE Asset Management guidance and reviewed by 
FCC officers and amended if work has been completed at schools post initial 
survey.

 School Budgetary Work is conducted using agreed formula as per the School 
budget forum. Cost per pupil data is obtained from the Authority’s section 52 
budget statements.

 Travel distances between school sites is provided by the Flintshire County 
Council mapping system Route Finder 3.41

 Transport costs are provided by the infrastructure unit who administer home to 
school transport contracts.

 
 





APPENDIX 2 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

 
For the proposal to close Ysgol Llanfynydd (English Medium, 

Community School) as of 31st August 2016 with pupils transferring to 

other schools in the local area subject to parental preference. 

 

 

 

DECEMBER 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 2 
 

2 
 

Index  

 

 
Number 

 

 
Section 
 

 
Page 

1 Introduction 
 

3 

2 The Proposal and consultation 
 

3 

3 Consultation Events/Meetings 
 

4 

4 Consultation Responses 
 

5 

5 Response forms and correspondence 
 

12 

6 Response from Estyn 
 

12 

7 Response from Assembly Members and Members of 
Parliament 

13 

8 Response from Governors 
 

14 

Appendix A Consultation Document recipient list 
 

 

Appendix B Summary of issues raised in meetings 
 

 

Appendix C School Council findings 
 

 

Appendix D 
 

Headteacher/Governors Minutes  

Appendix E Summary of Issues and Responses 
 

 

Appendix F Summary of responses to Standard Response Form 
 

 

Appendix G Estyn’s response to the Formal Consultation 
Document 

 

Appendix H Assembly Members and Members of Parliament to 
the Formal Consultation Document 

 

Appendix I Governors response to the Formal Consultation 
Document 

 

  



APPENDIX 2 
 

3 
 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 Following the end of a school organisation consultation period, the Welsh 

Government’s School Organisation Code requires the proposer (the Council) 

to publish a consultation report.  In this document the proposer is required to: 

 

 Summarise each of the issues raised by consultees. 

 Respond to these by means of clarification.  

 Set out Estyn’s view (as provided in its consultation response) of the 

overall merits of the proposal. 

 

1.2 This report should be considered by decision-makers prior to determining any 

recommendation relating to the proposal. 

 

2.0 The Proposal and Consultation 

 

2.1 On Tuesday 16 June 2015, Cabinet resolved to:  

  

Open a period of formal consultation with key stakeholders for Ysgol 

Llanfynydd with a future report to be provided to Cabinet. 

 

2.2 Consultation was carried out in accordance with the School Organisation 

Code. The consultation period commenced, Wednesday 21st October 2015 

and ended, Wednesday 2nd December 2015. 

 

2.3 In accordance with the code, the consultation documents were published on 

Flintshire County Council’s website, Wednesday, 21st October 2015, and a 

link to the consultation documents was provided to stakeholders.  A complete 

list of recipients can be found in Appendix A.   

 

2.4 A special version of the consultation document, for primary school children, 

was also published on the Flintshire County Council website and provided to 

all pupils at Ysgol Llanfynydd. Copies of this document were also provided to 

the school councils at Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn, Abermorddu CP School, 

Ysgol Estyn, Hope and also Bwlchgwyn CP School.  Both versions of the 

consultation document can be found in the school modernisation section of 

the Flintshire County Council website at the following link:- 

 

 https://t.co/Cn5xTEZMVU  

 

2.5 Hard copies of the consultation documents were delivered to Ysgol 

Llanfynydd, Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn, Abermorddu CP School, Ysgol 

Estyn, Hope and also Bwlchgwyn CP School for people to view if they were 

unable to access the website. Hard copies were also available on request and 

were either posted or collected from County Hall, Mold. 

 

https://t.co/Cn5xTEZMVU


APPENDIX 2 
 

4 
 

2.5 A post box was made available at Ysgol Llanfynydd for consultation 

responses to be posted and collected by a member of the school 

modernisation team. 

 

2.6 The Council produced a response document (standard response form) to 

assist and encourage people to give their views. This formed part of the 

consultation document and was also published on the Council’s website.  The 

children and young people’s version of the consultation document contained 

a simpler response form.  The consultation response form was converted into 

an online survey using the survey monkey online tool. Links to the survey 

were also published on the website. 

 

2.7 All consultees received an e-mail with the link directing them to the formal 

consultation document, supplementary documents, and also the link to the 

online survey on the first day of the consultation 21st October 2015. 

 

2.8 Documents were produced in both Welsh and English. 

 

3.0 Consultation events/meetings 

3.1 Whilst not a requirement under the Code, the Council held separate 

consultation meetings on Monday, 23rd November 2015 with: 

 
 Teachers and support staff and governing body of Ysgol Llanfynydd 
 
 Officers from Flintshire County Council attended these meetings.  Officers 

informed those in attendance at the meetings of the process to date and what 
would happen if the proposal were approved.  The attendees had the 
opportunity to ask questions and express their views and opinions. 

 
A summary of the points raised at these consultation events/meetings, 
together with the responses given at the time in Appendix B. 

 
Parents/carers/guardians of pupils at Ysgol Llanfynydd 

 
 The parents/carers/guardians meeting took place in Ysgol Llanfynydd. Each 

parent/carer/guardian received a letter containing the date, time and location 
asking them to register their attendance at the event. 

 
 The consultation event allowed for parents/carers/guardians to meet with 

Council representatives and ask questions or raise issues which were 
pertinent to them as individuals and also the wider views regarding the school 
and community. 

 
The summary of the points raised at these consultation events/meetings, 
together with the responses given at the time in Appendix B. 

 



APPENDIX 2 
 

5 
 

3.2 A school council consultation event was arranged for Ysgol Llanfynydd.  The 
event was facilitated by the Healthy Schools Co-ordinator whose role includes 
engaging and consulting with school councils.  A member of the school 
modernisation team was also present at the school council meetings.   

 
3.3 Consultation events were also arranged with the School Councils at Ysgol 

Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn, Ysgol Estyn, Hope, and Bwlchgwyn CP School.  A 
member of the school modernisation team was also present at the School 
Council meetings.  Abermorddu C.P. School, chose to facilitate their own 
meeting with the School Council to discuss the proposal. 

 
The findings of the School Council meetings are set out in Appendix C. 

 
3.4 The School Modernisation Team met with the Headteacher and Chair of 

Governors of the nearby affected schools.  (Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn, 
Abermorddu CP School, Ysgol Estyn, Hope and also Bwlchgwyn CP School).    

 
 A record of the Headteacher and Chair of Governors meetings are set out in 

Appendix D. 
 
4.0 Consultation responses 

4.1 In total 153 responses were received before and during the consultation 

period. These included a response from Estyn in the form of a report. A 

number of responses were received on electronic response forms, e-mails 

and letters. 

4.2 The table below show the methods people used to respond to the consultation: 

Method of contact Number of Contacts Received 

Consultation Response Forms (all 
online) 

35 

Children & Young People’s Response 
Forms  

40 

Letters and E-mails 25 

Children and Young People Letters and 
E-mails 

35 

School Council Responses 5 

School Governors Responses 5 

U Tube Clip 1 

Union Response 1 

Estyn Response 1 

AM and MP Response 5 

Total number of contacts 153 

 

The number of contacts made pre and during the consultation are listed on 

the next page.  



APPENDIX 2 
 

6 
 

Method of contact Pre Consultation During 
Consultation 

Total 
Number of 
Contacts 
Received 

Consultation 
Response Forms 
(online) 

0 35 35 

Children & Young 
People’s 
Response Forms  

0 40 40 

Letters and E-
mails 

10 15 26 

Children and 
Young People 
Letters and E-
mails 

35 0 35 

School Governors 
Responses 

0 5 5 

School Council 
Responses 

0 5 5 

U Tube clip 1 0 1 

Union Response 0 1 1 

Estyn Response 0 1 1 

AM and MP 
Responses 

2 3 5 

Total number of 
contacts 

48 105 153 

 

4.3 Breakdown of Petition Information  

No Response Type No of signatures 

1 Online Petition 1175 

2 Handwritten Petition 433 

Totals 1608 
 

4.4 An analysis of the frequency of issues being raised within the correspondence  
received from adults highlighted the following issues: 

 

Rank Issue Description Frequency 
of issue 
raised 

1 Consultation 
Document 

The information in the consultation 
document is incorrect.  The information 
is out of date.  The pupil numbers in the 
school would not fit into any of the 
alternative schools.  The Estyn report for 
the school is old.  The document is 
biased and negative.  The information 
for the roof repairs seems high and 

42 
comments 



APPENDIX 2 
 

7 
 

incorrect.  The Schools Capacity looks 
incorrect.  The diminishing resources 
criteria is flawed.  Projections for the 
school look incorrect. 

2 Impact on 
the 
community 

Closing the school down would 
significantly affect the local community.  
The school is at the heart of the 
community. Closing the school would rip 
the heart of the community.  The school 
has been in the village for hundreds of 
years. 

35 
comments 

3 Positives of 
the school 
itself 

The school has many positives, it’s a 
family school, and it’s a lovely 
community school.  The school is in a 
lovely building.  The building is DDA 
compliant.  The school has lovely 
supportive teaching staff. The Castell 
Alun Consortium arrangement is very 
strong.  Strong connections of the 
school with Welsh culture and language. 

34 
comments 

4 Alternative 
suggestions: 
Federation 
for the 
school 

The school should be able to explore 
Federation with Ysgol Parc Y Llan, 
Treuddyn.  There is evidence that a 
Federation would work as the current 
Headteacher is currently being shared 
with Ysgol Parc Y Llan. 

32 
comments 

5 Housing 
Development 

Local housing developments in the local 
area have not been fully taken into 
consideration. 

16 
comments 

6 Alternative 
Provision 
and 
educational 
standards 

The only alternative school that meets 
the current standards of the education is 
Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn.  There is 
not enough room for the full cohort to 
transfer to Parc Y Llan. 

15 
comments 

7 Traffic and 
transport 

Traffic will increase in the Abermorddu 
area.  Transport costs do not seem to 
be correct. 

10 
comments 

8 Impact on 
pupils 

Concern about impact of closing school 
on the current pupils.  Concern peer 
groups and siblings will be split up, 
emotional welfare has not been taken 
into consideration, breaching UN rights 
of the child. 

8 
comments 

9 Transition 
and 
timetable 

Concern about the transition for pupils.  
Timetable for the proposal is a concern 
with only a term to make a decision 
which alternative school to send to. 

8 
comments 

10 Family 
connections 

Request that siblings should be able to 
attend this school.  Family connections 
with the school and a number of families 

7 
comments 



APPENDIX 2 
 

8 
 

with the 
school 

attended the school historically.  The 
school has been in the village for 
hundreds of years. 

11 Other 
schools 
overfilled 

Overfilled popular schools should send 
their children to this school.  We should 
be helped to promote the school. 

7 
comments 

12 Impact on 
Teaching 
Staff 

Concern about what will happen to the 
Teaching and support staff at the 
school. 

6 
comments 

13 Financial 
information 

The financial modelling seems incorrect.  
How have the Wrexham based pupils 
been factored into the funding?  The 
school has been overfunded for a 
number of years. 

5 
comments 

14 Impact of 
threat of 
closure 

Threat of closure is putting other parents 
off selecting this school, making it hard 
to reduce our unfilled places. 

4 
comments 

15 Comments 
supporting 
the proposal 

Supportive of the proposal.  There is 
clear rationale to support the proposal. 

3 
comments 

16 Additional 
Learning 
Needs 

There is a high percentage of Additional 
Learning Needs pupils in the school. 

3 
comments 

17 New 
uniforms and 
bags 

How will we pay for new uniforms and 
bags. 

3 
comments 

18 Admission 
process 

The admission process for the 
alternative schools is not clear.  It’s not 
clear how the risks for parents not being 
able to select their preferred school will 
be managed. 

3 
comments 

19 Childcare There is no afterschool club at Parc Y 
Llan, Treuddyn, but there is one at this 
school.  There is wrap around care 
available at the school through the 
Montessori Play School. 

3 
comments 

20 Parental 
choice 

Our parental choice is being taken 
away. 

2 
comments 

21 School site What will happen to the school site 
should the school close? 

2 
comments 

22 Consultation 
Process 

There was no community engagement. 1 
comment 

 
  



APPENDIX 2 
 

9 
 

 
4.5 An analysis of the frequency of issues being raised within the children’s and 

young people’s correspondence received highlighted the following issues: 
 

Rank Issue Description Frequency 
of issue 
raised 

1 Positives of 
the school 
itself 

The school has many positives, it’s a 
family school, and it’s a lovely 
community school.  The school is in a 
lovely building.   The school has lovely 
excellent supportive teaching staff.  We 
are a small school that can do many 
things, we raise lots of money for 
charity, we have lots of after school 
clubs. 

83 
comments 

2 Impact on 
pupils 

Concern about impact of closing school 
on the pupils.  Concern peer groups and 
siblings will be split up, emotional 
welfare has not been taken into 
consideration, the upset that closing the 
school would have on us, concern over 
friends being split up. 

82 
comments 

3 Family 
connections 
with the 
school 

Siblings should be able to attend the 
school.  There are many family 
connections with the school.  A number 
of families have attended the school.  
The school has been in the village for 
hundreds of years. 

28 
comments 

4 Alternative 
suggestions: 
Federation 
for the 
school 

The school should be able to explore 
Federation with Ysgol Parc Y Llan, 
Treuddyn.  There is evidence that a 
Federation would work as the current 
Headteacher is currently being shared 
with Ysgol Parc Y Llan, we are saving 
money. 

13 
comments 

5 Impact on 
Teaching 
Staff 

Concern about what will happen to the 
Teaching and support staff at the 
school. 

10 
comments 

6 Impact on 
the 
community 

Closing the school down would 
significantly affect the local community.  
The school is at the heart of the 
community. Closing the school would rip 
the heart out of the community.  The 
school has been in the village for 
hundreds of years. 

8 
comments 

7 Consultation 
Document 

The information in the consultation 
document is incorrect.  The pupil 
numbers in the school would not fit into 
any of the alternative schools.   

4 
comments 



APPENDIX 2 
 

10 
 

8 School site What would happen to the school 
building should it close? 

4 
comments 

9 Alternative 
Provision 
and 
educational 
standards 

There is not enough room for the full 
cohort to transfer to Ysgol Parc Y Llan. 

2 
comments 

10 Housing 
Development 

Local housing developments in the local 
area have not been fully taken into 
consideration. 

1 
comment 

11 Financial 
information 

Savings would not be that much. 1 
comment 

 
4.6 An analysis of the frequency of issues raised within the children and young 

people’s correspondence received from School Councils highlighted the 
following issues: 

 

Rank Issue Description Frequency 
of issue 
raised 

1 Impact on 
pupils 

Pupils comments: 
 

 Concern about impact of closing 
school on the pupils.  

 Concern peer groups and siblings 
will be split up.   

 Emotional welfare has not been 
taken into consideration.  

 The upset that closing the school 
would have on us. 

 Concern over friends being split up. 

 Sadness and anger should the 
school close.  

 It would be strange 

 New teachers would not know us 
that well.   

 Would be concerned about losing 
current friends. 

 
Other terminology used:  
 

 Heartbroken, traumatised, 
devastated, awkward, scary, 
nervous and shy 

 

144 
comments 

2 Comments 
supporting the 
proposal 

 Mixed emotions.  

 Would like to make new friends. 

 It may be okay. 

 It may be nice to have new teachers.  

40 
comments 



APPENDIX 2 
 

11 
 

 I would be happy to make new 
friends. 

3 Alternative 
suggestions 

 We should stay open and stay 
together 

 We should join another school 

 Build an extension 

 We could save money 

 Our new headteacher works in 
another school: that should save 
money 

 They could do some fundraising 

 They could get more pupils in 

31 
comments 

4 Positives of 
the school 
itself 

Pupils’ comments 

 The school has many positives, 
it’s a family school. 

 It’s a lovely community school.  
The school is in a lovely building. 

 The school has lovely excellent 
supportive teaching staff.   

 We are a small school that can do 
many things 

 We raise lots of money for charity, 
and we have lots of after school 
clubs.   

 We are friendly and happy.   

 We are an Eco School. 

18 
comments 

5 Impact on 
Teaching Staff 

 Concern about what will happen to 
the Teaching and support staff at 
the school 

11 
comments 

6 Impact on 
Other Affected 
Schools 

 We would have some concerns 
about the impact on our school. 

 We have full classes and some 
classes with spaces and would be 
worried about full classes.   

 We currently share our 
headteacher with Ysgol 
Llanfynydd - what are we getting 
in return.   

 Will there be a bigger bus from 
Leeswood to our school? 

7 
comments 

7 Impact on the 
Community 

 It would rip the heart out of the 
community.   

 The village would be a ghost town. 

 We have lots of services at the 
local church. 

5 
comments 

8 Housing 
Developments 

 What about the new housing 
developments in the local area? 

1 
comment 



APPENDIX 2 
 

12 
 

9 Childcare  The school has a good breakfast 
and after school club, not all 
schools have these. 

1 
comment 
 

 
 
4.5 The Council’s response to the concerns raised can be found in Appendix E. 

 

5.0 Response forms and correspondence 

 

5.1 The standard response form was designed to establish: 

 

 whether or not people were in favour of the proposal; 

 the capacity in which they were responding; 

 whether or not they were linked to the school; 

 what alternative suggestions they would have for sustaining education in 

the area; and 

 whether they wanted to make any other comments. 

 

5.2 A summary of the responses to the standard response form is set out in  

Appendix F. 

 

5.3 On the response forms, we asked people to confirm whether they were 

responding as a pupil, parent, governor, teacher, support staff, local resident 

or other.  Details of the respondents are set out in Appendix F.  

 

6.0 Response from Estyn 
  

The main points made by Estyn in response to the proposal and the Council’s  
response to them are set out below.  A full response from Estyn is set out in  
Appendix G. 
 

Estyn Comment Comments which require 
response 

The proposal is likely to at least maintain the present 
standards of education provision in the area. 

n/a 

Would be sufficient unfilled places to accommodate all 
pupils currently attending Ysgol Llanfynydd. The 
proposer has demonstrated capacity within the 
existing four schools to manage this increased 
demand for school places. 

n/a 

The proposal outlines the expected benefits and 
disadvantages of each option against the key drivers 
of educational improvement, suitable buildings, 
unfilled places, diminishing resources and resilient 
school leadership. 

n/a 

The proposer have also recognised the potential 
impact of closure on the local community and have 
completed a community impact assessment. 

n/a 



APPENDIX 2 
 

13 
 

The proposal appropriately outlines the reasons for 
discounting alternative options and the reasons for 
their preferred option.  The Local Authority believes 
that longer-term benefits for pupils outweigh any 
disadvantages 

n/a 

The proposer has suitably identified the relevant risks 
relating to the proposal and has outlined clearly how 
these risks will be managed.  However the proposer 
has not clearly identified how they will manage the risk 
of parents not being able to choose their preferred 
alternative school. 

A bespoke admission cycle will be 
run by Flintshire’s Admission’s team 
in accordance with its admission’s 
policy.  
The Council has demonstrated in its 
consultation documents that there 
is sufficient capacity within the local 
school network to accommodate 
pupils from Ysgol Llanfynydd 
should it close. However, additional 
places if required can be 
established at Ysgol Parc y Llan, 
Treuddyn. 

The proposer has given suitable consideration to the 
impact of the proposal on pupils travel arrangements 
and their ability to access the provision 

Agreed 

The proposer has completed a detailed separate 
equality and Welsh language impact assessment  

Agreed 

The document also gives a detailed analysis of each 
school’s most recent property building survey.  These 
show that each school is in a similar satisfactory 
condition fit to effectively deliver the primary 
curriculum 

Agreed 

The proposer has undertaken a detailed equality 
impact assessment that carefully considers the impact 
of the proposal on vulnerable groups including those 
with special educational needs and mobility issues.  
Where available, comments from the most recent 
Estyn reports from each of the alternative providers, 
judges their provision for pupils with additional 
learners needs as good. 

Agreed 

The proposer suitably recognises the potential 
additional challenge of change for many pupils and 
accurately considers how transition would be 
managed successfully these more vulnerable groups 
of learners  

Agreed 

 
  

7.0 Responses from Assembly Members and Members of Parliament 

 
In total 5 responses were received during the consultation period from  
Assembly Members and Members of Parliament.  
 
The table below show the methods Assembly Members and Members of 
Parliament used to respond to the consultation: 
 
Breakdown of Responses from Assembly Members & Members of Parliament  
 

No Response Type Response from Assembly 
Members & Members of 

Parliament 



APPENDIX 2 
 

14 
 

AMs MPs 

1 Consultation Response Form 0 0 

2 Letters and Emails 1 4 

Totals 1 4 

 

The letters from Assembly Members and Members of Parliament and responses  
from the authority can be viewed in Appendix H. 

 

8.0 Responses from Governors 

In total 5 responses were received during the consultation period from governors. 
The table below show the methods governors used to respond to the 
consultation: 
 
Breakdown of Responses from Governors  
 

No Response Type Amount of Governors 
received 

1 Consultation Response Form 1 

2 Letters and Emails 4 

Totals 5 

 

The correspondence from governors can be viewed in Appendix I. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 
 

  



 

 

APPENDIX A 

Consultation Document (Adult and Children’s and Young People Versions); 

Transport Assessment, Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessment, 

Community Impact Assessment Recipient List 

 

No Stakeholder Number of 
Recipient 

List 

1 Maintaining or proposed maintaining authority for any school likely 
to  

be affected by the proposal 

20 

2 Any other local authority likely to be affected 
Denbighshire County Council – School Modernisation 
Conwy County Council – School Modernisation 
Wrexham County Borough Council – School Modernisation 

3 

3 The Church in Wales 1 

Roman Catholic Diocesan Authority 1 

4 School Governing body for Ysgol Llanfynydd 11 

School Governing body for Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn 11 

School Governing body for Abermorddu CP School 11 

School Governing body for Bwlchgwyn CP School 11 

School Governing body for Ysgol Estyn, Hope  11 

5 Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Ysgol Llanfynydd 

61 

Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn 

104 

Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Abermorddu CP School 

229 

Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Bwlchgwyn CP School 

134 

Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Ysgol Estyn, Hope 

258 

6 The Welsh Ministers, AMs and MPs 7 

7 Estyn 1 

8 Teaching and Staff trade unions 17 

9 North Wales Regional School Effectiveness and Improvement Service 
–  

Consortium - GWE 

2 

10 Regional Transport Consortium 4 

11 Police and crime commissioner 
 

1 

12 Any community or town council for the area served by/intended to 
be served by any school which is subject to the proposal 

4 

13 The local communities first partnership 1 

14 In the case of proposals affecting nursery provision, any 
independent provider 

1 

15 In the case of proposal affecting nursery provision, the Children and 
Young People Partnership 

1 

16 URDD 1 



 

 

17 Welsh Government Schools Management 4 

18 Local Members 5 

19 Equality and Welsh Language 2 

20 Local High School – Headteacher and Chair of Governor 1 

21 Local Health Authority 1 

 TOTAL 919 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

  



 

 

APPENDIX B 

YSGOL LLANFYNYDD 23 NOVEMBER 2015, 4PM 

TEACHERS, SUPPORT STAFF AND GOVERNORS MEETING 

 

 
In attendance: Flintshire County Council: Ian Budd; Claire Homard; Damian Hughes; 
Steven Gow, Brian Rozier, Sarah Thomas; Jennie Williams. School staff & 
Governors: Joy Gladman, Emma Jones, Belinda Evans, Lowri Evans, Carol Pye, 
Samantha Hanmer, Dafydd Morgan, Martin Hanmet, Mary Nightingale, Louise 
Thompson, Barbara Connor, Dawn Westaway, Neil Worthington, Paul Whybro, 
Meilir Ashford,  
 
IB Introduction and presentation. Points raised noted down. Make most of the 
opportunity to ask questions but also use email/letters to give your points of view 
Headteacher encouraged all to ask questions 
 

Q: PW - Why have we ended up being reviewed? 
I would also like to raise the issues of the maintenance costs and suitability on page 
51 which quotes £81,000 – I would like to know what quotes and what does it relate 
to? 
 
A: DH - Local Authority use an independent contractor who complete condition 
surveys and who are also qualified building surveyors.  They refer to DFES guidance 
who use building construction indices to provide the Authority with estimated costs 
repairs and maintenance activities required on a five year cycle.. 
 
Q: PW - Would you not get 3 quotes 
 
A: DH - The estimates provides the Council with a strategic overview of maintenance 
and repairs and enables the Council to prioritise maintenance programme. Priority 1 
works would be looked at first, if the work was required then the Council would 
procure via competitive tendering.  
Q: PW - The backlog maintenance for this site is not much money, when compared 
to the upheaval for staff and parents.  My view is that the costs should be more 
precise.  Also the school building provides energy saving and I would have liked to 
have seen this in the document.  The document has been written in a negative way 
which I feel is unfair. 
 
A: IB - We all want to see fairness whilst we complete this process.  The document 
has been developed in line with the School Organisation Code and also checked 
with Welsh Government to see if it meets their WRAG status.  The school has been 
selected for review on the grounds of unfilled places, diminishing resources and also 
the school sustainability against the levels of austerity facing the Local Authority. 
 



 

 

Comment: NW - I was not aware that the school had a roof issue. 
DH - The maintenance and backlog programmes is a global assessment of the 
issues for a site, and are based on estimates, we can provide you with more detailed 
explanation of the roof situation from our Maintenance Team. 

Q: NW - I have downloaded from the Stats Wales school pupil numbers, the number 
of unfilled pupil places and it looks to be in region of 451, is there something wrong 
with your statistics, and I am keen to understand your views on this. 
A: DH - firstly the total schools capacity is reviewed, so we look the individual 
capacity of a school.  The capacity of each school is formulae driven and also signed 
off by the school. 
The surplus places of each school is calculated against the capacity and the actual 
school PLASC returns, this provides a global pupil surplus total.  It would be helpful 
for you to share the figures either way to help understand what information is being 
referred to. 
 

Q: DW - On page 40 of the document it refers to ensuring that the alternative 
provision under the School Organisation Code section 14 is of equivalent standard, 
looking at the information the only school that can be considered as an alternative is 
Parc y Llan. 
Also on point 10.10 it states that there is no capital investment required, if pupils did 
go to Ysgol Parc Y Llan. 
A: CH - There is a new Welsh categorisation model, and Estyn have graded Parc Y 
Llan as a grade 2.  This is based on the quality of leadership and ability to improve 
and other factors.   
Use of data can vary, a number of factors are considered when looking at equivalent 
standards. 
Parents can express a preference to an alternative school, and parents would be 
advised to visit the school so they can understand their ethos and ensure confidence 
in the leadership of the school. 
Estyn as an independent inspectorate produce their own report on content of 
proposal which looks at the standards and provides a view on the standards of 
education within the area, this will be made a public report. 
 
DH - In terms of revenue funding for schools, funding follows the learners.   
In terms of capital funding, the Local Authority has a statutory role to ensure the right 
number of schools in the right condition. In general terms what most Authorities are 
appreciating is more parents are expressing a preference for a school other than 
their local school. The movement of pupils means that it becomes more difficult to 
manage the school estate.  It is the Local Authority view that the existing schools 
estate could accept pupils without the need for capital investment. 
 

Q: DW - Looking at the Admission Policy, it looks that depending on places there is 
no guarantee of admission.  As a governing body we believe that the admissions 
policy is a concern.  
 



 

 

A: CB: The Admission policy is managed by the admission teams, when parents are 
not provided with their chosen school because they are oversubscribed, then they 
can appeal against this decision, the panel is completely independent of the Local 
Authority.   It is often difficult to manage school preference issues, and management 
of places compared to national legislation around admissions. 
 

Q: BC -  We appreciate there is information and guidance on these processes, but 
the document is full of jargon, leaving parents totally confused, in Annex A of the 
School Organisation Code there is an easy to follow format.  Also the admissions 
school timetable does not match the timetable for this review.  There is also missing 
information there is no mention finding a school place and no guidance on it. 
The admission system is supposed to minimise concerns.  When we don’t know the 
final date for decisions, and the school finds out in April, how are the parents and 
children supposed to secure a place elsewhere?  There are 11 siblings in this school 
and very few places in each year. 
Also when do parents of nursery children know their choice – will parents receive a 
letter? 
Year 1 when do they apply? 
Will priority will be extended to siblings so they can attend the same school 
together? 
Is there any feasibility to be flexible with the admission process? 
With the decision due in Spring this is stressful and we have a duty of care on these 
families. 
 
A: IB – The documents are large documents, which follow the School Organisation 
Statutory code, this was as result of a judicial review, so the documents have got 
more complex.  The Children and Young Peoples document is much more 
accessible.  The Admissions team will work closely with families as the Local 
Authority is the admitting body.  The admission policy will be followed, and with any 
appeals the Panel may take a view and may warrant over admitting to a school. 
 
IB - Aligning the timetable is difficult because of the national timetable that the Local 
Authority is required to follow.  The Admission Team will complete a mini 
assessment process and will have dialogue with the school and local school 
network. 
 

Comment: BC - Abermorddu C.P. School have a sign outside their school indicating 
they still have nursery places available.  The uncertainty does breed panic.  On page 
43, it indicates that small schools face a greater challenge.  The document fails to 
mention the Castell Alun consortium, and that we have been held up as a good 
model with links between primary and secondary. 

Comment: NW – It was disappointing to see that federation for this school had such 
a small section in the document, and this also included the advantages of a small 
school, there were no costings on federation. 
IB: There is a separate substantial document providing advice on federation, it 
provides practical advice around pay and conditions. 



 

 

Comment: LT – I would be interested to hear the policy on sustaining rural 
communities, the school closing would impact on community, the school use the 
church, and there is a remembrance garden and Brymbo choir visit.  This proposal 
has caused a lot of worry and concern in the community. 
CH - no one wants to sit here discussing closing schools, however with the funding 
crisis there is a major black hole in budgets and this is why we have to protect 
learners by removing inefficiency from the system.  There is of course a recognition 
the contribution the school makes to the community. 

Comment LT – Closing the school would be a drop in ocean to the savings they are 
so insignificant, we can prove we can federate.  The report is biased, why didn’t we 
get more notice it’s unfair. 
CB - School budget forum should have done something earlier, the schools 
modernisation strategy has been in place since 2010, the policy has always been 
there, but the drivers for change have not been as pressing as they are now. 

Comment NW – with the cost per pupil figure, the school has been overfunded 
massively, we have used this money to fund additional teachers to drive up 
standards.  This has been in the region of around £35000, I think this is County 
Hall’s fault. 
IB: Schools budget are kept under regular review, and discussed through the 
primary Headteacher Federation.  Future budget projections will see a 4-5% gap 
between funding this is due to increases in National Insurance, Superannuation and 
increases in pay awards.  The level of cuts schools will be dealing with are 
significant. 
Comment NW – we received the budget information for this year, and it was not as 
bad as we thought it was going to be. 

Comment DW – The community impact assessment talks about the building and not 
people, the village without schools would have a significant detriment on the 
community.  I think the community impact assessment was biased to buildings. 
DH: We asked the Headteacher to complete information about the community links 
with the school, that information is not censored, the community impact assessment 
return is based on the headteacher questionnaire return. 
 

Q: JG : I would like to ask about the situation with redeployment 
MA: HR are going to stay behind to answer any questions if staff wanted to ask more 
individual questions 
JG: Section 14.3 of the document talks about working with current staff what does it 
mean? 
SG: Assuming the worst case scenario then staff would be issued with notice, this 
would be for the Governing body to confirm a compulsory redundancy situation.  
There is also a legal duty to support staff to find suitable alternative employment, 
staff are provided with access to vacancies throughout the council.  We do 
encourage other schools to work positively with those at risk but there is no 
obligation for other Governing bodies to take displaced staff. 
JG: There is normally a windows in school year when vacancies come out, I have 
looked for jobs on FCC, Denbighshire and e-teach 



 

 

SG: I have to confirm that there is not a lot of opportunities out there and it is getting 
harder 
CH: The Local Authority and Governing body cannot stand in your way for you to 
find job opportunities, if the decision is made to close the school the Local Authority 
will act as an advocate on your behalf to help you find vacancies.  
SG: There may also be different scenarios for staff depending on their own personal 
circumstances.  
SG: The level of recruitment is dropping rapidly, also there have been lots of 
redundancies this year and last year, we will work closely to maximise redeployment 
opportunities, and ensure all at risk are guaranteed an interview. 

Q: BC - Why have you extended the timetable?  
A: DH – the timelines have been working towards a closure date of September 2016, 
the timetables were an indicative draft programme, due to the complexity of 
documents, and preparations have taken longer than originally anticipated.  

Q: BE – This is a good school its high achieving why are you trying to close it? One 
of our Year 3 has just been told she has won local eisteddfod champion of arts 
A: CH – this is not about the school not achieving on education standards, the 
drivers are around the financial budget challenge, and a time when the council has 
diminishing resources, it is just not possible to review every school. 

Comment: EJ – I am a transporter for the school, and as far as I can see you cannot 
guarantee me work. 
A: No we could not guarantee work at this stage, as we have no decision on the 
schools future yet. 

Comment: LE: Comments made about teachers workload in smaller schools I 
disagree with, as staff we work together to ensure the work is shared compared to 
larger school, we have less marking at the end of year assessments 
CB – we note your point, the challenge for smaller schools is that they often share 
curriculum leads 

Comment: CP - But the school has high standards  
CH: The challenge for smaller school is how they can maintain standards, as 
budgets impact, and Teacher pupil ratios increase, Governors will have to make 
harder decisions. 
IB: The Cabinet will need to be confident that standards in the area will be 
maintained  
Since 2010/2015 the school modernisation policy has provided opportunity for 
governors to put forward sustainable proposals for their school, this includes putting 
forward any proposal in relation to federation with another school.  In order for this 
be a realistic option, the governors need to identify a willing partner and pass a 
number basic tests, the proposal has to be resilient and sustainable, no one has 
come forward with this proposal.  Federate requires more resources. 

Q: SH: If the majority of children in key stage 2 and Foundation phase move would 
you consider the staff moving with them 
A: IB: If the transfer of pupils takes the school over their staffing rota, then the  
governing body of that school would consider that the existing staff would be a  
valuable asset, the funding follows the pupils, and it would be wise to look at staff 



 

 

who are familiar to the pupils.  We would support a sensitive approach to transition 
for pupils.  

Comment: SH: If this is about saving money, I don’t think the Local Authority is going 
to save money with this proposal. 
IB: Budgets are based on the school funding formula, savings can be made if a 
schools federate in relation to their leadership costs. 
CB: In relation to the building, the local community can make a bid for the building. 
IB: The building could be transferred over under a community asset transfer 
arrangement. 

Comment: BC - invite local communities 2030 budget demands 
5/10years time 
Hope building were going to education the children 
Could be growth area 

Comment – There are no issues with the children’s education in Llanfynydd.  Why 
don’t you look at other larger schools which are failing? 
IB – Just like to make it clear that there are no schools in Flintshire which are failing. 

Comment – Pupils have been moved to Llanfynydd School and are now gaining 
confidence and doing well. 

 

 

 



 

 

YSGOL LLANFYNYDD - PARENT/CARER/GUARDIANS CONSULTATION EVENT ,  
23 November 2015, 18.00pm 

Council attendees: 
Councillor Chris Bithell, Ian Budd; Damian Hughes, Claire Homard; Gill Yates, Jennie Williams, Sarah Thomas 

IB welcomed parents, carers and guardians to the meeting noting their concerns and anxieties. It was stated that the review was to ensure that their concerns 
can be aired. He confirmed that the meeting would be recorded and shared with school and with decision makers. It is a public record and made available to all. 
All views will be shared with Cabinet members and these will be taken into account in their considerations. 
 
IB advised that a Questions and Answer session would follow after a short powerpoint presentation and drew attention to council prioritisation of funding for 
learners and safeguarding of the vulnerable; £52m reduction in public services over next 3 years; a priority is low pupil teacher ratio; funding challenge ahead 
for the community to participate in; a challenge for small schools and how they could be organised in the future as they have to manage diminishing resources; 
the admissions process will assist families with their preferences; pupils with additional learning needs will be supported through transition arrangements with 
this school and receiving schools.  
 
GY referenced the national admissions regulations, Flintshire’s policy and how parents can apply for a space. Each schools has a year group number limit but in 
limited circumstances a right of appeal to an independent panel could be made; parents were advised of the link to Flintshire’s School Transport policy on the 
web; pupils have entitlement to free school transport if they live 2 miles from their nearest appropriate. 
 
IB stated that options for families would be worked through on an individual basis; the meeting was an initial consultation process to identify the issues; the 
indicative timeline was responses by 2 December 2015 with report back to Council Cabinet in January which will include copy of all correspondence from school 
community along with identification of the issues raised and council responses. The Cabinet will then decide to issue either a statutory proposal to close or some 
other option. There will be a need to publish objections received to a statutory notice. Views and objections can be submitted to the council in a variety of ways.   
 

Questions and Answers : 

IB asked the meeting to note some ground rules to help ; to avoid interrupting when another person talking; to avoid distracting side conversations and to 
respect each other’s views’   

Q – You refer to a 3 year cycle of financial planning ahead – why only 3 years? 
A – DH – The Local Authority has a statutory duty to provide the right number of places in the right locations.  We do not look at 10/20 years ahead with the 
pending budget situation.  We have to look at the holistic view with the cuts in budgets.  We are confident there is enough pupil places within the local schools 
network for future approved housing development.  DH explain how housing development is calculated (see 4.16 of the Formal Consultation Document) 

Q – As one of the 44% who are not from the local area.  Do the projections take account of the pupils who choose to come to this school from out of the area? 



 

 

A – The projections are based on a 3 year average of nursery intake based on school returns.  Projections are produced annually following the school statistical 
returns. 

Comment – We have been looking at new strategies to increase the numbers at the schools i.e. the Montessori Play Group this might attract pupils and they 
then follow on into the school. – There may be the possibility of using part of the Foundation Phase classroom and using it for pre-school provision – we are 
looking to apply for registration. 

Q - Number of children from new local housing developments in Hope cannot get into their local schools.  Looking at all the information in the consultation 
document, I don’t think that the council has taken into consideration what is actually happening on the ground. 
A – DH – We work with the information we have available to us.  Information about schools including their Capacity and Admission Number for schools is based 
on the standard formula across Wales ‘Measuring the Capacity of Schools in Wales’.  Surplus places in the area are reviewed by returns we get back from schools 
themselves.     

Q – The document is more about figures and surely this is more than about cutting costs 
A – IB – The document has to provide information in line with the School Organisation Code, they are weighty documents and not always an easy read, but this 
is because of the legal requirements, information commentary on the quality of educational standards is also part of this information which is supported by 
GWe and also the national category system. 

Q – I live out of the area and have two children in different schools.  How can you ensure this doesn’t happen? 
A – GY – We cannot hold pupil places – it is not legal to do this.  For example – A local primary school has reached it’s admission number in some year groups.  
If parents/carers/guardians express a preference and there is available space for 1 child but the other year group is full.  Parents/Carers/Guardians can go to an 
independent appeals panel.  GY confirmed Flintshire County Council’s admissions policy is the same for both Primary and Secondary Schools.  There is no feeder 
school system going into secondary schools 

Q – I refer to page 4 of the Formal Consultation document.  How can you promise to maintain/raise education standards?  The only option left for parents are 
in a lower category which is limiting the options to parents. 
A – CH – School Categorisation is based on a number of factors which is why the schools have different categorisation, such as the number of Free School Meals, 
performance, additional learning needs are often not taken into account.  If there are small numbers in a school cohort this can make the numbers go up and 
down, and this is no fault of the school.  It is the Local Authorities view that all of the schools identified as alternative schools are good schools and require light 
touch support.  CH advised that as a parent when looking at another school, it is important to visit and all consider all the aspects of the school such as its ethos. 
IB – There is also an independent report produced by Estyn who are statutory consultees during the consultation process.  Estyn provide their own report on 
the proposal providing their point of view on the standards of education in the area. 

Q – In the School Organisation Code – it says that you have to provide equivalent or better standards of education 
Q – Llanfynydd’s Estyn Inspection Report is based on old data, couldn’t you of waited until after we had been inspected?  
A – CH – The Authority has no control over when a school inspection will take place.  Estyn used to inspect on a 6 year cycle but this does not happen anymore, 
and they are calling schools out of cycle.  The report also includes information on standards from GWE School Improvement Service.   

Q –You are only basing judgements on half of the facts. 
A – IB -  All education standards information and performance is based on information contained within the website ‘My Local School’ www.mylocalschool.com 

http://www.mylocalschool.com/


 

 

There is a lot of different sources of information that are used to look at the standards of education. 

Q – I am disappointed by the presentation as it contained no information on how to keep the school open, and the document is one sided and it appears the 
decision has already been taken, there are no options on federation.  If I was reading the Formal Consultation document based on the information you have 
provided it would be difficult to justify keeping the school open. 
A – DH - The Formal Consultation Document follows the School Organisation Code and has been checked by Welsh Government.  The Governors/Community 
are able to put forward alternative sustainable options. This is a period of consultation and there has been no pre-determination of the decision that would be 
illegal. 

Q – There is nothing wrong with Ysgol Llanfynydd’s roof and there is a maintenance figures of £80,000.  Where has this come from? 
A – DH – Condition Surveys of school buildings are carried out on 5 year cycle by independent qualified building surveyors based on DFES guidance who produce 
a report.  The costs are estimates based on construction indices.  The information is used to prioritise the council’s maintenance programme in schools Q – Why 
have you published maintenance figures that are estimates why not get quotes? 
A – If the works were in Prioritised the Authority would need to tender for the work.  

Q – Why has the original timescale slipped?  This only gives us one term to decide where to move our children if the decision is taken in April to close Ysgol 
Llanfynydd. 
A – GY – Once we are aware of the decision we will hold a mini admissions process but we cannot take this forward at this stage until a decision is made. 
A – IB – Parents/Carers/Guardians will be able to express a preference for their child/children.  If the decision is made to close Ysgol Llanfynydd a further meeting 
will be held with Parents/Carers/Guardians or individuals can individually contact the Admissions Team at any time.  

Q – If a child lived 7 miles away but got their admission form in early would they get in before a child that leaved 3 miles away? 
A – GY – Once a decision is made we will run a mini admissions process and look at all the applications together. 

Q – If we decide to request a place at an alternative school now.  Does that not make it is easier for you? 
A – IB – The Governors of Ysgol Llanfynydd would not want you to do that until a decision has been made, it is important that the schools stability is maintained 
until a decision has been made.  That does not stop a parental right to request a new school. 

Q – It is testament to the quality of the school that only 3 children have not come back in September 2015.  You ‘MUST’ be able to provide education – my child 
is in Year 6 and it is the right of the child to provide them continuity.  Will Wrexham children be treated equally? 
A – IB – With regard to admissions – Yes. With regard to transport this will depend in which Authority they reside.  Children leaving in Wrexham will have to 
apply to Wrexham County Council for Transport. 

Q – Who is entitled to Transport? 
A – GY – Pupils who leave more than 2 miles from their nearest school and pupils who walking route is deemed hazardous to the nearest school. 

Q – Why are you giving people from Cymau free transport to Abermorddu School? 
A – GY – I am unable to comment on individual schools but it may depend on where you live in Cymau as Abermorddu may be the nearest school and deemed 
a hazardous route. 

Q – You commented on the standards and the general feel and ambience for a school before, will Cabinet be taking your advice and visiting this fantastic school 
or will they be taking recommendations of the categorisation? 



 

 

A – CH – Cabinet Members have already received an invitation to the schools open day.  It is up to them if they attend. 

Q – Will every letter/email be sent to Cabinet? 
A – DH – All correspondence both pre-consultation and during the consultation will be made available to Cabinet Members 

Q – Would the school be left to go derelict if there is a decision to close Ysgol Llanfynydd? 
A – DH – No decisions can be made on the future of the building until a decision has been made on the future of the school.  If the community wish to put a 
robust business case forward for community use they can do.  If the decision is made to close Ysgol Llanfynydd, Education and Youth will declare the building/site 
surplus to education requirements and passed over to Asset Management Section. 

Q – There has been lots of instability at the school recently and since Mr Ashford has been here the pupils are happy and they think he is funny – we are not 
against Federation 
A – IB – I am glad to hear that Mr Ashford’s leadership and his work has been recognised.  Governors have the powers to Federate – if you can get a willing 
partner to work with and provide a sustainable option including working through the governance/leadership and staffing issues by 2nd December and provide 
as much detail as you can.  Cabinet will have to look at this option.  Governors have had the power to federate for some time, the Local Authority has only just 
been given powers to propose federation.  Often the stumbling block for Federation has been finding a willing partner.  During the last meeting we have checked 
with Governors that they have a full copy of the Federation guidelines. 
Q – Can Ysgol Terrig be included in this option of Federation as Mr Ashford is a Welsh speaker 
A – IB – There can be more than two federation partners, Governors would have to agree and be willing partners. 
CH – It could be that federating with a Welsh medium school is more sensitive and controversial as it may be that school would want to preserve the welsh 
culture at the school. 
Q – would that be your advice to Federate? 
A – IB – Governors can make the proposal to federate and the Local Authority can propose to Federate, but that does not absolve school organisation 
intervention, and we would still have to work through the process.  If the school wanted to advocate Federation, then this would need to presented as an option 
and Members of the Cabinet would need to determine the schools future.   

Q – I didn’t fully understand the timetable? 
A – IB – During the consultation period, responses to the proposal are collected, this is then reported back to cabinet, a consultation report is produced which 
includes all the issues raised during the consultation period and the Councils response to them.  If the Cabinet decided to support that proposal then a statutory 
notice is issued, this is a legal part of the process which indicates that formalities around the school closure and on what date, with the arrangements for 
transition.  The statutory notice is published for 28 days, during which time anyone can object to the proposal.  Following this statutory notice period a post 
objection report is completed and then Cabinet make a final decision. 
The process can stop via Cabinet should a new option come to light, this may lengthen the timetable for further considerations. 

Q – Are there 34 pupil places available in the local schools network? 
A – GY – There is available places in the other schools, no school is completely full, space depends on the school.  Pupil numbers change on a daily basis as pupils 
move schools all of the time, so it would be better for contact the Admissions team to get an up to date picture. 

Comment - As most of spaces in Ysgol Parc Y Llan, if this school did close I would prefer the children to be together, as less disruption for our children. 



 

 

IB – If the difficult decision was made to close this school, then the number one priority will be working with pupils and parents, alongside the local authority 
officers to develop transition plans. 

 
 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

 
 

 























































































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

  



 

 

APPENDIX D 

 

Llanfynydd C.P. School 

Proposal to close Llanfynydd C.P. School from 31st August 2016 

Meeting with affected Primary Schools Headteachers and Chair of Governors 

Tuesday, 17th November 2015 at 2.00 p.m. at County Hall, Mold 

 

Present:- 

Damian Hughes, Senior Manager School Place Planning and Provision 

Jennie Williams, 21st Century Schools Project Officer 

Meilir Ashford, Headteacher, Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn 

Sue Williams, Headteacher, Bwlchgwyn C.P. School (Wrexham County) 

Alison Fisher, Chair of Governors, Bwlchgwyn C.P. School (Wrexham County) 

 

 

  ACTION 

1. Apologies 
 
Dafydd Ifans, Head of Education Transformation and Workforce 
Development, Wrexham County Borough Council 
 

 

2. 
 

Introduction and Welcome 
 
DH welcomed the group and advised that he will be meet with the 
Headteachers and Chair of Governors of the other affected schools 
Ysgol Estyn, Hope and Abermorddu on Wednesday, 18th 
November 2015 at 3.30 p.m. at Ysgol Estyn. 
 

 

3. School Modernisation  
 
DH advised that Flintshire County Council’s Cabinet approved the 
revised School Modernisation Strategy in January 2015.  This 
document is available at www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation 
 
As part of the School Modernisation Programme we are required 
to:  

 Ensure education provision is both high quality and 
sustainable 

 Improve the quality of school buildings and facilities 

 Provide the right number of school places, of the right type, 
in the right locations 

 Address unsustainable school buildings and supporting 
infrastructure 

 Recognise that doing nothing means higher pupil teacher 
ratios as funding reduces 

 Ensure that we maximise external funding through the 
Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools Programme. 

 

 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation


 

 

As of PLASC January 2015 the primary school portfolio has 
17.15% unfilled places, whilst the national target set by Welsh 
Government is to reduce this level to under 10%. 

4. Consultation Documents 
 
The formal consultation period commenced on Wednesday, 21st 
October 2015 and ends on Wednesday, 2nd December 2015 on the 
‘Proposal to close Ysgol Llanfynydd (English Medium, Community 
School) as of 31st August 2016 with pupils transferring to other 
schools in the local area subject to parental preference. 
 
A formal consultation document along with supporting Impact 
Assessments (Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessment, 
Transport Impact Assessment and Community Impact Assessment) 
and a Children and Young People’s document has been produced 
and is available to view either on-line at 
www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation or hard copies are 
available on request by either emailing 
21stcenturyschools@flintshire.gov.uk or telephoning 01352 
704134. 
 
The majority of the data included within the document is based on 
information returns provided by the school (i.e. PLASC; My Local 
School etc.) 
 
DH asked the Headteachers of Ysgol Parc Y Llan and Bwlchgwyn 
for confirmation on the follows: 
 

 The school received a copy of the email from School 
Modernisation on 21st October 2015 at 14.17, requesting 
that the school make Parents/Carers/Guardians/ 
Pupils/School Council/Governors/Staff Members and 
Prospective Parents aware of the link to the Consultation 
documents. 

 5 x Hard copies of the Formal Consultation Document, 
Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessment, 
Community Impact Assessment, Transport Impact 
Assessment and Children and Young People’s Document 
were hand delivered by the School Modernisation Team on 
21st October 2015 and are available to view at the school’s 
reception for Parent/Carers/Guardians/Pupils/School 
Council/Governors/Staff Members and Prospective Parents.  
These were also signed for on delivery by a member of staff 
at the affected school. 

 The format in which they made Parent/Carers/ 
Guardians/Pupils/School Council/Governors/Staff Members 
and Prospective Parents aware of the link. 
 
Ysgol Parc Y Llan and Bwlchgwyn confirmed they had 
received the documentation and Parent/Carers/ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation
mailto:21stcenturyschools@flintshire.gov.uk


 

 

Guardians/Pupils/School Council/Governors/Staff Members 
and Prospective Parents had been made aware of the link 
via an A5 hard copy note advising of the link. 
 

As part of the School Organisation Code Consultation process the 
Authority is required to consult with the School Council of the 
affected Schools.   
 
The Headteacher of Ysgol Parc Y Llan Treuddyn confirmed that 
Claire Broad and Jennie Williams had met with the School Council 
of Ysgol Parc Y Llan on 10th November 2015 at 11.00 a.m.  

 
The Headteacher of Bwlchgwyn C.P. confirmed that Claire Broad 
and Jennie Williams were meeting with the School Council of 
Bwlchgwyn C.P. on 24th November 2015 at 1.00 p.m.  
 
All consultation feedback will be collated and form part of the 
consultation report which will be considered by Cabinet, who will 
decide on whether to proceed with the proposal. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

5. Revised Timeline 
 
DH circulated a copy of the revised (October 2015) anticipated 
Timetable Statutory Proposals Llanfynydd C.P. showing the key 
milestones. 
 

 
 
 

6. Actions for Headteachers/Governors 
 
As an affected primary school to the proposal, the Authority would 
be hopeful to receive a response from the Governors.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Llanfynydd C.P. School 

Proposal to close Llanfynydd C.P. School from 31st August 2016 

Meeting with affected Primary Schools Headteachers and Chair of Governors 

Wednesday, 18th November 2015 at 3.30 p.m. at Ysgol Estyn, Hope 

 

Present:- 

Damian Hughes, Senior Manager School Place Planning and Provision 

Jennie Williams, 21st Century Schools Project Officer 

Gareth Jones, Headteacher, Ysgol Estyn, Hope 

Chair of Governors, Ysgol Estyn, Hope 

Ian Roberts, Headteacher, Ysgol Estyn, Hope 

 

  ACTION 

1. Apologies 
 
None 
 

 

2. 
 

Introduction and Welcome 
 
DH welcomed the group and advised that he will be meet with the 
Headteachers and Chair of Governors of the other affected schools 
Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn and Bwlchgwyn C.P. on Tuesday, 
17th November 2015 at 2.00 p.m. in County Hall, Mold. 
 

 

3. School Modernisation  
 
DH advised that Flintshire County Council’s Cabinet approved the 
revised School Modernisation Strategy in January 2015.  This 
document is available at www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation 
 
As part of the School Modernisation Programme we are required 
to:  

 Ensure education provision is both high quality and 
sustainable 

 Improve the quality of school buildings and facilities 

 Provide the right number of school places, of the right type, 
in the right locations 

 Address unsustainable school buildings and supporting 
infrastructure 

 Recognise that doing nothing means higher pupil teacher 
ratios as funding reduces 

 Ensure that we maximise external funding through the 
Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools Programme. 

 

 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation


 

 

As of PLASC January 2015 the primary school portfolio has 
17.15% unfilled places, whilst the national target set by Welsh 
Government is to reduce this level to under 10%. 
 
 

4. Consultation Documents 
 
The formal consultation period commenced on Wednesday, 21st 
October 2015 and ends on Wednesday, 2nd December 2015 on the 
‘Proposal to close Ysgol Llanfynydd (English Medium, Community 
School) as of 31st August 2016 with pupils transferring to other 
schools in the local area subject to parental preference. 
 
A formal consultation document along with supporting Impact 
Assessments (Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessment, 
Transport Impact Assessment and Community Impact Assessment) 
and a Children and Young People’s document has been produced 
and is available to view either on-line at 
www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation or hard copies are 
available on request by either emailing 
21stcenturyschools@flintshire.gov.uk or telephoning 01352 
704134. 
 
The majority of the data included within the document is based on 
information returns provided by the school (i.e. PLASC; My Local 
School etc.) 
 
DH asked the Headteachers of Ysgol Estyn, Hope and Abermorddu 
C.P.  for confirmation on the follows: 
 

 The school received a copy of the email from School 
Modernisation on 21st October 2015 at 14.17, requesting 
that the school make Parents/Carers/Guardians/ 
Pupils/School Council/Governors/Staff Members and 
Prospective Parents aware of the link to the Consultation 
documents. 

 5 x Hard copies of the Formal Consultation Document, 
Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessment, 
Community Impact Assessment, Transport Impact 
Assessment and Children and Young People’s Document 
were hand delivered by the School Modernisation Team on 
21st October 2015 and are available to view at the school’s 
reception for Parent/Carers/Guardians/Pupils/School 
Council/Governors/Staff Members and Prospective Parents.  
These were also signed for on delivery by a member of staff 
at the affected school. 

 The format in which they made Parent/Carers/ 
Guardians/Pupils/School Council/Governors/Staff Members 
and Prospective Parents aware of the link. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/schoolmodernisation
mailto:21stcenturyschools@flintshire.gov.uk


 

 

Ysgol Estyn, Hope and Bwlchgwyn C.P. confirmed they had 
received the documentation and Parent/Carers/ 
Guardians/Pupils/School Council/Governors/Staff Members 
and Prospective Parents had been made aware of the link 
via an A5 hard copy note advising of the link. 

 As part of the School Organisation Code Consultation process the 
Authority is required to consult with the School Council of the 
affected Schools.   
 
The Headteacher of Ysgol Estyn, Hope confirmed that Claire Broad 
and Jennie Williams had met with the School Council of Ysgol 
Estyn, Hope on 11th November 2015 at 11.00 a.m.  

 
The Headteacher of Abermorddu C.P. confirmed that the school 
had carried out their own consultation with the School Council and 
would provide the notes to the School Modernisation Team. 
 
All consultation feedback will be collated and form part of the 
consultation report which will be considered by Cabinet, who will 
decide on whether to proceed with the proposal. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

5. Revised Timeline 
 
DH circulated a copy of the revised (October 2015) anticipated 
Timetable Statutory Proposals Llanfynydd C.P. showing the key 
milestones. 
 

 
 
 

6. Actions for Headteachers/Governors 
 
As an affected primary school to the proposal, the Authority would 
be hopeful to receive a response from the Governors.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 
 

  



 

 

APPENDIX E 

Summary of Issues and Responses 

Impact on pupils 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Peer groups and siblings may be split 
up. 

 Breaches the UN rights of the child. 

 Children will lose friends. 

 Distress and psychological impact. 

 Detrimental effect on pupils. 

 Children will be heartbroken. 

 Transition and how it can be managed 
successfully for vulnerable learners. 

 Timeline changes means less time to 
find a new school. 

 There is a high % of additional learning 
children at the school. 

 Some pupils have already transferred 
from large primary schools. 

 Wish not to send child to large primary 
school. 

Positive Comments 

 Our school would welcome any pupils 
wishing to transfer. 

 

 
When proposing changes to school 
organisation it is acknowledged that there 
will be some changes for pupils.  Should the 
proposal be implemented and Ysgol 
Llanfynydd be closed it would result in 
changes for the existing pupils such as: 
 

 A marginally longer route to school 
for pupils who reside in the 
Llanfynydd area 

 A shorter journey time for pupils who 
reside in the Wrexham area 

 A new school uniform 

 New teachers and support staff 

 New learning environment 

 Friendship groups may be affected, 
however, new friendships can be 
formed. 

 
The council and affected schools have a 
duty to support appropriate transition 
should Ysgol Llanfynydd close.  
 
The Council would take all practicable steps 
to ease the transition for all pupils, most 
especially for vulnerable groups of learners 
such as Additional Learning Needs (ALN).  
Should the proposal be implemented the 
Council would work alongside pupils, their 
parents, and the relevant schools to make 
appropriate transition arrangements for 
pupils to familiarise themselves with their 
new environments (subject to parental 
preference). 
 
Where pupils have specific ALN needs the 
resource and support they require would be 
replicated in their new learning 
environments. 

 
The Council will run a mini admissions cycle 
to support parents with transition to another 
school should the school close. 
 
The Statutory timeline, complies with the 
School Organisation code. The timeline 
allows sufficient time for parent/carers and 
pupils to select an alternative school and 
allow effect transition should Ysgol 
Llanfynydd close. 

 
Pupils comments: 

 Concern about impact of closing school.  

 Concern peer groups and siblings will be 
split up.   

 The upset that closing the school would 
have on us. 

 Concern over friends being split up. 

 Sadness and anger should the school close.  

 It would be strange. 

 New teachers would not know us that well.   

 Would be concerned about losing current 
friends. 

 Please don’t separate us. 

 Keep us together. 

 I love my teachers. 

 I feel safe. 
 

Other terminology used:  
 

 Heartbroken, traumatised, devastated, 
awkward, scary, nervous, annoyed, 
angry and shy. 

 
Positive Comments: 
 
Would like to make new friends. 
Would be happy to make new friends. 

 
 



 

 

Strengths of Ysgol Llanfynydd 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 The school is amazing. 

 The school has a community/family feel. 

 The small school environment works for 
my child. 

 Quality of the Teaching staff. 

 School is the hub of the community. 

 It would be a shame to close a good 
school. 

 Small school is good. 

 High standards at the school. 
 

 
The positive responses from consultees 
regarding Ysgol Llanfynydd are noted. 
 
 
Reviewing the future of any school is 
controversial and emotive. Pupils, parents, 
carers and teachers, past and present, have 
strong ties to local schools as part of their 
own life-stories. The Council is challenged 
with balancing the sensitivities of 
community feeling on the one hand, with 
providing a high quality education offer 
which can be sustained and afforded. The 
Council cannot avoid making decisions for 
the future which are in the best interests of 
pupils and students. 
 

 
Pupils comments 

 The school has many positives, it’s a 
family school. 

 It’s a lovely community school.  The 
school is in a lovely building. 

 The school has lovely excellent 
supportive teaching staff.   

 We are a small school that can do many 
things 

 We raise lots of money for charity, and 
we have lots of after school clubs.   

 We are friendly and happy.   

 We are an Eco School. 

 I love my school. 

 It’s a historic building. 

 It’s quite small so you get a lot of 
attention. 

 

Alternative Suggestions:  
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 Would should federate with another 
school. 

 Federation with Ysgol Parc Y Llan, 
Treuddyn. 

 We are already sharing the 
Headteacher with Parc Y Llan. 

 We are proving we can make federation 
work. 

 The Council should support community 
regeneration to help increase the 
numbers of families in the area. 

 Offer places to parents out of the area. 

 Advertise places to overfilled schools. 

 The school can save more money. 
 
 

 
The Council has given careful consideration 
to a range of alternative options as part of 
the development of the current proposal.  In 
considering these options reference has 
been made to the main investment 
objectives of the school modernisation 
strategy which are as follows: 
 

 Continuing to raise educational 
standards 

 Creating the conditions for school 
leaders to succeed 

 Ensuring that school buildings are 
attractive learning and working 
environments 

 Reducing the number of unfilled 
places and the inequity of variation 
in cost per pupil; and 

 Providing resilience against falling 
revenue funding 
 



 

 

In Ofsted’s report on Federation (2011) Three 
main reasons were given for federating. 
Some schools had been approached by a 
Council to help a struggling school; others 
were small schools in danger of closure or 
unable to recruit high quality staff; and 
others were seeking to strengthen the 
overall education of pupils in their 
communities. 

 
There are clear benefits by working 
together, through federation and other 
partnership arrangements, schools can: 
 

 raise their standards, for example, by 
shared training and working 
practices, encouraging their staff to 
support each other and developing 
integrated curriculum and pastoral 
policies;  

 offer pupils a wider range of 
opportunities, for example, by 
holding joint activities or sharing 
facilities or teachers that might be 
difficult to sustain individually;  

 develop a range of extended services 
and activities for pupils and the 
wider community;  

 improve their leadership and 
management, for example, through 
shared headship; and  

 maximise the sharing of resources, 
taking advantage of economies of 
scale. 

 
However, Federal arrangements in schools 
often fail to meet a number of the key drivers 
of school modernisation. Key issues 
include: 
 

 Suitable Buildings – The 21st Century 
programme funding arrangements 
from WG rely on rationalisation of 
school estate to generate revenue 
saving to enable access prudential 
borrowing. Additionally in some 
cases sale of surplus estate, will also 
generate capital receipts both are 
used to find the Local Authority’s 
50% contribution to the programme. 
Federal arrangements will not 
rationalise the estate, therefore the 
revenue saving will be either nil or 
limited to small potential savings in 
the school allocations and only if 
formula allocations and/ or 
structures can be changed. 

  

 Unfilled Places -  As Federal 
arrangements do not rationalise 



 

 

school estate, reducing unfilled 
places is limited to mothballing areas 
of schools, this may or may not be 
achievable in individual schools for 
operational, practicable or building 
related reasons 

 

 Diminishing Resources – Federal 
arrangements do not support large 
revenue savings, instead small 
potential savings in the school 
allocations could potentially be 
achievable through the formula 
allocations if staffing structures were 
changed. The building related costs 
would remain as they are currently. 

 
 
At the time of writing this report the 
Governing body of Ysgol Llanfynydd have 
not identified a willing partnering school or 
schools in which to pursue a federation. 

 

 

Impact on Community 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 School has been an integral part of this 
community and outlying villages. 

 Devastating effects on the community 
and local businesses. 

 Detrimental impact on the village. 

 Going against the corporate governance 
document under responsibilities that the 
Council should ‘work for and with its 
communities. 

 School have served the village for 
years. 

 If the school closes the Council would 
be ripping the heart out of the 
community. 

 Links with community groups, church 
etc. would be removed if the school 
closed. 

 
A Community Impact Assessment has been 
carried out and the Council acknowledges 
that where a school closure is proposed it 
will have some impact on the local 
community. The school is not widely used 
by the community. 
 
However, the Council will work with the 
schools and community to mitigate impacts 
where possible. 
 
The Council have no plans for the site, and 
will not consider the future of the site until 
such time as the school’s future is 
determined. 
 
The Council could consider transferring the 
asset or part of the asset to a constituted 
community group where it can demonstrate 
a need and ability to take over the running of 
the site.   
 
 

 
Consultation Document 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Inaccurate information. 

 Estyn report is outdated. 

 Costs for the roof seems overestimated. 

 Document is negative. 

 
The School Modernisation Team uses the 
latest verified data at the time of 
constructing the consultation documents: 
 



 

 

 Document is biased towards closure. 

 Document is not balanced. 

 Information has been cherry picked. 
 
 

School pupil numbers and more detailed 
information around pupils (for example 
Additional Learning Needs, English as an 
Additional Language and School 
action/school action plus/statemented) are 
obtained from the schools own statistical 
returns (September or January) 

 Estyn data is obtained from the schools 
last Estyn inspection.  Timing of inspections 
will depend on Estyn's own inspection cycle.  

 National Welsh Government categorisation 
data, is based on the school returns. The 
Council use the most up to date data at the 
time of document construction from the 
Welsh Government website. Welsh 
Government update their national data base 
annually. 

 GwE (The Regional School Improvement 
Service) data is fed into the Welsh 
Government's national categorisation 
system.  

 The Welsh Government's national 
Measuring Capacity of Schools in Wales 
forms are verified by Head teachers, this 
provides the School Capacity and Admission 
Number. 

 Unfilled places are recorded by Welsh 
Government; the Council provide its returns 
to Welsh Government annually; they are also 
based on official school returns. 

 Birth Information by area is obtained from 
the Office of National Statistics 

 Pupil projections are aligned with the 
methodology as neighbouring Authorities 
with North Wales  

 Housing development information is based 
on actual current housing applications 
provided from the Planning Officers. 

 Potential pupils which may be generated 
from new housing developments is 
calculated using a formula providing by a 
partnering Authority (Conwy CBC) who 
derive the formula based on the latest 
census returns. 

 Pupil teacher ratios are provided by 
publically available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), 
provided by Welsh Government and is 
updated on an annual basis.   

 Foundation Phase and Core Subject 
Outcomes are provided by publically 
available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), 
provided by Welsh Government is updated 
on an annual basis 

 School Building condition information is 
provided by an external company who 
compare the school building condition 

http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/
http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/


 

 

against the building bulletin for Primary and 
Secondary schools 

 Backlog maintenance information is 
provided by through independent 
consultants Property Condition Surveys are 
undertaken on a 5 year cycle. 
 
Priority Codes [definition] are as follows:- 
 
Priority 1: Urgent work required to be 
undertaken within 1 year 
Priority 2: Essential work required to be 
undertaken within 2 years 
Priority 3: Desirable work [deemed as] 
required to be undertaken within 3 to 5 years 
Priority 4: Long term work [deemed as] 
required to be undertaken outside the 5 year 
[cycle] period 
 
The element Total 1 - 3 defines a five year 
financial investment and element 4 defines a 
six - ten year financial investment. 
 
The roof at Ysgol Llanfynydd has slipping 
slates due to nail [fixings] fatigue associated 
with the main duo pitched roof. Additionally 
the roof has the original old lath and plaster 
beneath, which would also need to be 
replaced. 
 
Work items are costed by the Consultant and 
include for preliminaries, labour, plant and 
materials etc. These costs are based on the 
current building cost information service 
[BCIS] provided by the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors, [RICS] as the leading 
provider of cost and price information within 
the construction and maintenance areas. 
These costs [Unit Rates] are present within 
the condition survey software to a default 
figure and amended/updated as required by 
the Consultant. The budget costings are 
exclusive of VAT, updated annually [using 
inflation indices] and reviewed post 
completion of work. 
 

 School suitability information is provided 
from Suitability surveys undertaken 
independently in line with DffE Asset 
Management guidance and reviewed by FCC 
officers and amended if work has been 
completed at schools post initial survey. 

 School Budgetary Work is conducted 
using agreed formula as per the School 
budget forum. Cost per pupil data is 
obtained from the Authority’s section 52 
budget statements. 

 Travel distances between school sites is 
provided by the Flintshire County Council 
mapping system Route Finder 3.41 



 

 

 Transport costs are provided by the 
infrastructure unit who administer home to 
school transport contracts. 
 
The Council has demonstrated in its 
consultation documents that there is 
sufficient capacity within the local school 
network to accommodate pupils from Ysgol 
Llanfynydd should it close, this view is 
upheld by Estyn. However, additional places 
if required can be established at Ysgol Parc y 
Llan, Treuddyn at either no cost or minimum 
cost. 

 

 
Alternative Provision and Educational Standards 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Llanfynydd is a very good school 
education wise - why are children 
having this opportunity taken from them. 

 It’s a successful school. 

 Only one of the alternative schools meet 
the standards of the school and there is 
not enough space. 

 
The consultation document has identified 
alternative schools that at least maintain the 
present standards of education provision in 
the area. 
 
Estyn have provided a response it the 
consultation. It is Estyn’s opinion that this 
proposal is likely to at least maintain the 
present standards of education provision in 
the area. Overall, pupil outcomes in all four 
alternative schools are currently good, with 
all schools judged as having the necessary 
capacity to improve further. Pupil attendance 
in all of these schools is good. 
 

 
Housing Development 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 Housing development is Abermorddu 
have been underestimated. 

 The report does not take into account 
the Local Development Plan for 
potential housing developments. 

 The development in Parc Celyn has not 
been fully taken into consideration. 

 

 
 The Council has fully considered school 
capacity in the area together with potential 
housing development yield within its 
consultation documents.  
 
Data regarding potential pupils which 
could be generated from new housing 
developments is calculated using a 
housing yield formula. The housing yield 
formula has been derived from research 
work based on national census data from 
a partnering authority. This was applied to 
all current housing development planning 
applications approved by the planning 
authority.  
 
The housing yield figures produced are a 
maximum figure and do not take into 
account parental choice and/or pupil 
movement i.e. pupils moving into the new 
homes but who are already in the local 
education system.  



 

 

 
The pace of housing developments will be 
constrained by the plans of the site 
owners/developers, the housing market, 
current economic climate and other 
factors which are unpredictable.  
 
The Council is satisfied that should Ysgol 

Llanfynydd close, the local school 

network has the capacity to sustain the 

necessary potential impact of current and 

future housing developments. 

 

 
Consultation Process 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 You have not held a consultation 
meeting for the community. 

 The timescales have moved which 
means less time to sort a new school 
out for my child. 

 
The process follows regulatory guidance as 
set out in the Welsh Government’s School 
Organisation Code 2013. 
 
There is no requirement contained within the 
School Organisation Code to hold meetings. 
 

 

 

Family Connections with the School 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 The school has been open for over 150 
years.  

 It’s a historic building. 

 Many families have been through the 
school. 

 All my family have been educated at 
this school. 

 
The responses from consultees regarding 
Ysgol Llanfynydd are noted. 
 
Reviewing the future of any school is 
controversial and emotive. Pupils, parents, 
carers and teachers, past and present, have 
strong ties to local schools as part of their 
own life-stories. The Council is challenged 
with balancing the sensitivities of community 
feeling on the one hand, with providing a high 
quality education offer which can be 
sustained and afforded. The Council cannot 
avoid making decisions for the future which 
are in the best interests of pupils and 
students. 

 

 

  



 

 

Admission Process 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 The admissions procedure is not clear  

 
The Admissions information is available on 
the council’s website on the following link: 
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Sch
ools/School-Admissions.aspx 
 
The council will run a mini admission 
process once the future of the school has 
been decided.  The Admissions Team will 
work with each individual family to discuss 
their options. 

 

Impact of the Proposals on School Numbers 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 Flintshire's own actions have created an 
atmosphere of uncertainty for parents of 
school age children  

 Parents who would have had their 
children admitted to Llanfynydd have 
been scared away by the authority's 
actions particularly since 2012. 

 Current low numbers are at least partly 
due to the uncertainty about the 
school's future. 

The Council has to follow the process as 
defined by the School Organisation Code. 
 
The Council acknowledges that statutory 
consultation around school organisation 
change will cause a level of uncertainty 
within the local school community, which 
can be a contributory factor in pupil number 
reduction. 
 
 

 

Impact of the Proposals on Other Schools 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 Traffic will increase in the Abermorddu 
area. 

 Our classes will increase in numbers. 

 
Currently there is no free transport provision 
to Ysgol Llanfynydd. The proposal would 
mean that some parents would be entitled to 
free home to school transport (subject to 
transport policy) for their children, which 
would reduce the number of parental 
vehicles transporting children to and from 
school. 
 
An excessive number of unfilled places 
unproductively tie up resources. As schools 
funding and provision are largely driven by 
pupil numbers, unfilled capacity means a 
disproportionate amount of funding is spent 
on infrastructure (such as buildings) and the 
“fixed costs” of running a school (such as 
leadership and administration). 
 
This funding could be better used to ensure 
that pupil teacher ratios are maximised to 
make a direct difference to learners. As 
public service funding reduces over 
forthcoming years the case for 
reprioritisation and change becomes even 
more compelling. 

 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Schools/School-Admissions.aspx
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Schools/School-Admissions.aspx


 

 

Impact of the Proposals on Transport Costs 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 The transport costs to do not look 
correct. 

 
Transport eligibility is determined by the 
Authority in which the pupil resides. 
Seventeen pupils who live in Flintshire 
would be entitled to free home to school 
transport based on the assumption that 
pupils transfer to their nearest school (Ysgol 
Parc Y Llan) on the basis of the following 
grounds: 
 

 That the nearest appropriate 
available school is more than 2 miles 
away; 

 That the route to the alternative 
schools would be considered to be 
hazardous by the Council due to its 
rural location which has limited 
footpaths in and out of the village. 

 
The estimated annual costs of transport as a 
result of the proposal are £16,150. However, 
actual transport costs can only be fully 
assessed once all families have chosen their 
preferred school. 

 

Impact of the Proposals on Teaching Staff 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 What will happen to the teaching staff 

 Redundancies 
 

 
 
 

 
Should the current proposals be 
implemented, the Council will work with the 
current members of staff at Ysgol Llanfynydd, 
including teaching and support staff, should 
they seek redeployment opportunities. Staff 
displaced by the proposal may have the 
opportunity to be employed in the local 
primary network.  

 

 

Other comments 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 Who will be expected the pay for all the 
new uniforms, book bags and PE kits. 

 

 
A school uniform exchange is available for 
Flintshire pupils. The School Uniform 
Exchange aims to encourage the people of 
Flintshire to recycle and donate unwanted or 
unused school uniform items rather than 
putting them in the bin. All donated school 
uniform is available for sale in Nightingale 
House.  Hospice shops throughout Flintshire 
at a significantly reduced cost compared to 
high street prices. 
 
It is also fairly typical that most pupils will 
require new uniforms as they enter into a 
new academic year, therefore there may be a 



 

 

requirement to purchase a new uniform 
regardless of what school the pupil 
attended. 

 

 Ysgol Llanfynydd has an breakfast club 
and after school club and Ysgol Parc Y 
Llan, Treuddyn doesn’t 

Ysgol Parc Y Llan, Treuddyn does have a 
breakfast club and after school club facility 
 

 What will happen to the school site 
should the school close? 

The Council has no plans for the site, and will 
not consider the future of the site until such 
time as to the school’s future is determined. 
Should the proposal be implemented Ysgol 
Llanfynydd (building and site) would be 
declared surplus to Education and 
transferred to the Property Asset Team at 
Flintshire County Council. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX F 
 

  



 

 

APPENDIX F 

Summary of responses to Standard Response Forms 

 

Question 1 Do you are agree with the proposal to close Ysgol Llanfynydd by 31st 

August 2016? 

 Total Percentage 

Yes 0 0% 

No 35 100% 

 35  

 

Question 2 Please tell us if you are responding as: 

Type Total Percentage 

Pupil 0 0% 

Parent/Carer 11 31.4% 

Governor 0 0% 

Teacher 0 0% 

Support Staff 2 5.7% 

Local Resident 17 48.6% 

Other 11 31.4% 

Skipped Question 8 22.9% 

 49*  

 

* Respondents were able to respond in more than one capacity.  This explains 

why the total is greater than the number of respondents. 

Comment: All of the respondents who are directly involved with the school (e.g. 

staff, governors, pupils, parents, carers, guardians) were against the proposal. 

Question 3 Please tell us do you have any alternative suggestions for sustainable 

education provision in Flint Mountain? 

Alternative Suggestion Total Percentage 

Federation 19 54.3% 

The school should remain open 5 14.3% 

Pupil numbers could be increased by 
promotion and community regeneration 

3 8.6% 

Use some space to establish warp around 
care, making some income 

1 2.9%  

The school could try and save more 
money 

1 2.9% 

The roof costs are exaggerated and work 
could be undertaken much cheaper 

1 2.9% 

Pupil numbers have been detrimentally 
affected by the inability of previous 
Governors and teaching staff 

1 2.9% 



 

 

Could the school become an academy 1 2.9% 

Consultation document has been 
commissioned to justify closure and is not 
objective 

1 2.9% 

Reduce the schools capacity  1 2.9% 

Use the building more effectively 1 2.9% 

TOTAL 35  

 
Comment: Of the 35 respondents, 28 answered the question and 8 skipped the 

question. The majority of people who responded said that they would like to see 

Federation with another school as an alternative. 

Question 4 Additional comments or views regarding the proposal. 

Please note that the responses to this question have been considered as part of the 

main consultation responses in Appendix E. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G 

 
 

 



Estyn response to the proposal by Flintshire County Council to close Ysgol Llanfynydd, 
an English medium community primary school as of 31st August 2016  
 
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in 
Wales.  
 
Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn.  However, 
Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no 
statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters.  Therefore as a 
body being consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 
organisation proposals.  
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following 
response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional information such as 
data from Welsh Government.  
 
Introduction/Proposal  

 This is a consultation proposal by Flintshire County Council.  

 The proposal is that Flintshire County Council close Ysgol Llanfynydd from 31st August 
2016 with pupils transferring to other schools in the local area, subject to parental 
preference  

 
Background 

 Ysgol Llanfynydd in a small English-medium primary school situated in the village of 
Llanfynydd, Flintshire.  

 The school currently has 34 pupils on role, a decrease from 42 pupils in January 2015.  
Predictions indicate that over the next four years, pupil numbers are not set to rise.  
Capacity at the school is 80 pupils.  

 The current individual school budget per pupil is £4,838.  This is the highest of all primary 
schools in Flintshire. 

 The Local Authority currently has 17.5% unfilled primary places, which is significantly above 
the national target of less than 10%.  In January 2015, they published a ‘Revised School 
Modernisation Strategy’.  To assist with reducing surplus school places, proposals within 
this strategy include closing any primary school with less than 105 full time places.   

 
Summary/ Conclusion  
 
It is Estyn’s opinion that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the present standards of 
education provision in the area.  Overall, pupil outcomes in all four alternative schools are 
currently good, with all schools judged as having the necessary capacity to improve further.  
Pupil attendance in all of these schools is good. 
 
The four local schools currently have 58 unfilled places between them with the potential for this 
to be increased to 63.  This would be sufficient to accommodate all pupils currently attending 
Ysgol Llanfynydd.  Based on approved planning applications for new housing developments 
within the catchments are of the four schools, the proposers predict that an additional 15 
primary places will be needed.  These figures when added to the pupils at Ysgol Llanfynydd, 
still demonstrate capacity within the existing four schools to manage this increased demand for 
school places.  
 
The proposers have considered two alternative options:  
 

 Maintaining the status quo 



 Federating or amalgamating the school with another school  
 
The proposer outlines the expected benefits and disadvantages of the two options 
appropriately.  The proposal has also appropriately considered the advantages and 
disadvantages of each option against the key drivers of educational improvement, suitable 
buildings, unfilled places, diminishing resources and resilient school leadership.  
 
The proposers have also recognised the potential impact of closure on the local community 
and have completed a community impact assessment.  This has identified a number of 
possible areas where closure could have a negative impact on a small number of local families 
and the village community as a whole.  For example, on long term provision for community 
groups    
 
Based on this process, the proposal appropriately outlines the reasons for discounting 
alternative options and the reasons for their preferred option.  The Local Authority believes that 
longer-term benefits for pupils outweigh any disadvantages  
  
The proposer has suitability identified the relevant risks relating to the proposal and has 
outlined clearly how these risks will be managed.  However, the proposer has not clearly 
identified how they will manage the risk of parents not being able to choose their preferred 
alternative school  
 
The proposer has given suitable consideration to the impact of the proposal on pupils’ travel 
arrangements and their ability to access the provision.  The proposer has clearly identified that 
for 15 of the current 34 pupils attending Ysgol Llanfynydd, this is not their nearest school   
They have predicted that 17 pupils who would have attended Ysgol Llanfynydd in September 
2016 would be entitled to free transport to an alternative school.  This would incur an annual 
cost of £16,150.  The proposal has identified that for most pupils living in the Llanfynydd area, 
distance to school would increase but not in excess of Welsh Government guidelines.  
Routes to and from schools in the area have been considered as hazardous due to its rural 
location and limited safe walking routes through the village.  
 
The proposer has completed a detailed separate equality and Welsh language impact 
assessment to consider the potential impact in respect of all areas of equality and Welsh 
language and the potential ways in which the impact can be limited and a positive impact can 
be promoted.   
 
This assessment summarises that there are no obvious negative impacts on Welsh Language 
provision.  Subject to parental preference, there is the option for pupils from Ysgol Llanfynydd 
to access welsh medium education at other Flintshire schools should the proposal to close the 
school go ahead. 
 
 
Educational aspects of the proposal  
 
The proposal contains useful details about the four alternative schools concerned, including  
 

 Judgements from most recent Estyn reports 

 Current Welsh Government categorisation including Standards groups and capacity to 
improve 

 Current level of support from the local authority  

 Attendance levels over time  

 Class organisation  
 



Three of the four alternative schools are currently in Welsh Government’s ‘Standards Group 3’ 
with one school in ‘Standards Group 1’.  All four schools are currently judged as ‘yellow’ 
effective schools that know the areas in which they need to improve schools.  Their capacity to 
improve is categorised as good.   
 
The proposer provides detailed information on each of the alternative school’s capacity to 
provide a broad and balanced curriculum at both the Foundation Phase and key stage 2.  It 
outlines judgements made in the most recent Estyn inspection reports and progress that each 
school as made in addressing their recommendations.  The proposal judges that each school 
has the capacity to at least maintain current standards in terms of curriculum delivery.  
 
The document also gives a detailed analysis of each school’s most recent property building 
survey.  These show that each school is in a similar satisfactory condition fit to effectively 
deliver the primary curriculum.  
 
The proposer has undertaken a detailed equality impact assessment that carefully considers 
the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups including those with special educational needs 
and with mobility issues.  Where available, comments from the most recent Estyn reports from 
each of the alternative providers, judges their provision for pupils with additional learners 
needs as good.   
 
The proposer suitably recognises the potential additional challenge of change for many pupils 
and accurately considers how transition would be managed successfully these more 
vulnerable groups of learners.   
 
 

 

 



































































































































Estyn response to the proposal by Flintshire County Council to close Ysgol Llanfynydd, 
an English medium community primary school as of 31st August 2016  
 
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in 
Wales.  
 
Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn.  However, 
Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no 
statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters.  Therefore as a 
body being consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 
organisation proposals.  
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following 
response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional information such as 
data from Welsh Government.  
 
Introduction/Proposal  

 This is a consultation proposal by Flintshire County Council.  

 The proposal is that Flintshire County Council close Ysgol Llanfynydd from 31st August 
2016 with pupils transferring to other schools in the local area, subject to parental 
preference  

 
Background 

 Ysgol Llanfynydd in a small English-medium primary school situated in the village of 
Llanfynydd, Flintshire.  

 The school currently has 34 pupils on role, a decrease from 42 pupils in January 2015.  
Predictions indicate that over the next four years, pupil numbers are not set to rise.  
Capacity at the school is 80 pupils.  

 The current individual school budget per pupil is £4,838.  This is the highest of all primary 
schools in Flintshire. 

 The Local Authority currently has 17.5% unfilled primary places, which is significantly above 
the national target of less than 10%.  In January 2015, they published a ‘Revised School 
Modernisation Strategy’.  To assist with reducing surplus school places, proposals within 
this strategy include closing any primary school with less than 105 full time places.   

 
Summary/ Conclusion  
 
It is Estyn’s opinion that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the present standards of 
education provision in the area.  Overall, pupil outcomes in all four alternative schools are 
currently good, with all schools judged as having the necessary capacity to improve further.  
Pupil attendance in all of these schools is good. 
 
The four local schools currently have 58 unfilled places between them with the potential for this 
to be increased to 63.  This would be sufficient to accommodate all pupils currently attending 
Ysgol Llanfynydd.  Based on approved planning applications for new housing developments 
within the catchments are of the four schools, the proposers predict that an additional 15 
primary places will be needed.  These figures when added to the pupils at Ysgol Llanfynydd, 
still demonstrate capacity within the existing four schools to manage this increased demand for 
school places.  
 
The proposers have considered two alternative options:  
 

 Maintaining the status quo 

llcpdxh
Typewritten Text

llcpdxh_1
Typewritten Text

llcpdxh_2
Typewritten Text

llcpdxh_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3

llcpdxh_4
Typewritten Text

llcpdxh_5
Typewritten Text

llcpdxh_6
Typewritten Text



 Federating or amalgamating the school with another school  
 
The proposer outlines the expected benefits and disadvantages of the two options 
appropriately.  The proposal has also appropriately considered the advantages and 
disadvantages of each option against the key drivers of educational improvement, suitable 
buildings, unfilled places, diminishing resources and resilient school leadership.  
 
The proposers have also recognised the potential impact of closure on the local community 
and have completed a community impact assessment.  This has identified a number of 
possible areas where closure could have a negative impact on a small number of local families 
and the village community as a whole.  For example, on long term provision for community 
groups    
 
Based on this process, the proposal appropriately outlines the reasons for discounting 
alternative options and the reasons for their preferred option.  The Local Authority believes that 
longer-term benefits for pupils outweigh any disadvantages  
  
The proposer has suitability identified the relevant risks relating to the proposal and has 
outlined clearly how these risks will be managed.  However, the proposer has not clearly 
identified how they will manage the risk of parents not being able to choose their preferred 
alternative school  
 
The proposer has given suitable consideration to the impact of the proposal on pupils’ travel 
arrangements and their ability to access the provision.  The proposer has clearly identified that 
for 15 of the current 34 pupils attending Ysgol Llanfynydd, this is not their nearest school   
They have predicted that 17 pupils who would have attended Ysgol Llanfynydd in September 
2016 would be entitled to free transport to an alternative school.  This would incur an annual 
cost of £16,150.  The proposal has identified that for most pupils living in the Llanfynydd area, 
distance to school would increase but not in excess of Welsh Government guidelines.  
Routes to and from schools in the area have been considered as hazardous due to its rural 
location and limited safe walking routes through the village.  
 
The proposer has completed a detailed separate equality and Welsh language impact 
assessment to consider the potential impact in respect of all areas of equality and Welsh 
language and the potential ways in which the impact can be limited and a positive impact can 
be promoted.   
 
This assessment summarises that there are no obvious negative impacts on Welsh Language 
provision.  Subject to parental preference, there is the option for pupils from Ysgol Llanfynydd 
to access welsh medium education at other Flintshire schools should the proposal to close the 
school go ahead. 
 
 
Educational aspects of the proposal  
 
The proposal contains useful details about the four alternative schools concerned, including  
 

 Judgements from most recent Estyn reports 

 Current Welsh Government categorisation including Standards groups and capacity to 
improve 

 Current level of support from the local authority  

 Attendance levels over time  

 Class organisation  
 



Three of the four alternative schools are currently in Welsh Government’s ‘Standards Group 3’ 
with one school in ‘Standards Group 1’.  All four schools are currently judged as ‘yellow’ 
effective schools that know the areas in which they need to improve schools.  Their capacity to 
improve is categorised as good.   
 
The proposer provides detailed information on each of the alternative school’s capacity to 
provide a broad and balanced curriculum at both the Foundation Phase and key stage 2.  It 
outlines judgements made in the most recent Estyn inspection reports and progress that each 
school as made in addressing their recommendations.  The proposal judges that each school 
has the capacity to at least maintain current standards in terms of curriculum delivery.  
 
The document also gives a detailed analysis of each school’s most recent property building 
survey.  These show that each school is in a similar satisfactory condition fit to effectively 
deliver the primary curriculum.  
 
The proposer has undertaken a detailed equality impact assessment that carefully considers 
the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups including those with special educational needs 
and with mobility issues.  Where available, comments from the most recent Estyn reports from 
each of the alternative providers, judges their provision for pupils with additional learners 
needs as good.   
 
The proposer suitably recognises the potential additional challenge of change for many pupils 
and accurately considers how transition would be managed successfully these more 
vulnerable groups of learners.   
 
 

 

 





Appendix 4

Revised (October 2015) Anticipated Timetable
 for Ysgol Llanfynydd Statutory Proposals 

 DATES School Terms KEY MILESTONES

16/6/2015 Summer 2015
Cabinet approval obtained to commence 

consultation

Start 14/5/2015 finish 
21/10/2015

Spring/Summer Term 
2015

Preparation of Impact Assessments: 
Transport, Equality, Welsh Language, 
Buildings fit for purpose, Community

Start 14/5/2015 finish 
21/10/2015

Spring/Summer Term 
2015

Preparation of Consultation document 
(including young person’s version) 

Start 21/10/2015

Finish 2/12/2015

Autumn/Winter Term 
2015

Consultation document published

Must be published on a school day

(42 days with 20 school days)

12/11/2015 Winter Term 2015 School Council Children’s Consultation 

23/11/2015 Winter Term 2015
Governors/Teachers and Support Staff 

Consultation Event

23/11/2015 Winter Term 2015
Parents/Carers/Guardian Consultation 

Event

Between 21/10/2015 
and 2/12/2015

Autumn/Winter Term 
2015

School Council Children’s Consultation 
with nearby affected Primary Schools 

Between 21/10/2015 
and 2/12/2015

Autumn/Winter Term 
2015

Meeting with Headteachers and Chair of 
Governors with nearby affected 

Primary Schools 
Deadline 2/12/2015 Winter Term 2015 Consultation Ends

Deadline by 
30/12/2015

Winter Term 2015
Consultation Report must be published 

within  3 months

19/1/2016 Winter Term 2016
Cabinet – Seeking Approval to go to next 

phase (Statutory Proposals)

Start 29/1/2016

Finish 26/2/2016
Spring Term 2016

Statutory Notice (28 days, with 15 school 
days)

Must be issued on a school day

Deadline 26/2/2016 Spring Term 2016 End of Objection Period



Appendix 4

Deadline 26/2/2016 – 
24/3/2016 

Spring Term 2016 Objection Report published within 28 days 
and with Cabinet within 35 days

19/4/2016 Spring Term 2016 Cabinet Decision

March – May 2016 
(latest)

Spring Term 2016 Workforce Collective Consultation

May 2016 Spring Term 2016
Workforce Individual Consultation/Notice 

with Teachers/Staff

31/08/2016 Autumn 2016 Implementation of School Closure



APPENDIX 5

Education & Youth Overview & Scrutiny Committee – 6th January, 2016

School Modernisation – School Standards and Reorganisation Action 2013 – 
Ysgol Llanfynydd

The comments and concerns raised by Members of the Committee focused on the 
following areas:-

 Transport and traffic
A number of concerns were expressed around the impact school closure 
would have on the increased volume of traffic at neighbouring schools, with 
an example given on traffic problems currently being experienced at 
Abermorddu School.  

Questions were also asked around whether the Council would provide 
transport to pupils at Ysgol Llanfynydd in the event of schools closure with a 
suggestion that the School Transport Task & Finish Group be made aware of 
any recommendation on transport from Cabinet, to ensure that when 
reviewing future school transport, no amendment be made to school transport 
eligibility for pupils where there has been a school closure.   

The Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision confirmed that the 
school closure could result in less traffic if the cohort of pupils 
transferred to Ysgol Parc y Llan as transport could be provided.  
Modelling work on transport issues had been undertaken on the basis of 
pupils transferring to Ysgol Parc y Llan.

The Chief Officer for Education & Youth commented that the issues 
raised about parking problems at Abermorddu School were being 
considered by County Council colleagues in Streetscene and 
Transportation.  He also confirmed that transport would be provided for 
the current cohort of pupils at Ysgol Llanfynydd in the event of school 
closure, but explained that transport eligibility is based on the Authority 
where pupils live. 

 Consultation process/documentation
Concerns were raised around the consultation process, with comments made 
that all conclusions within the consultation document justified school closure 
and that the consultation documents did not measure the effect of school 
closure on the community and the lives of individuals.

Concern was also raised around the general process which was believed to 
be the first step in the Authority re-organising the whole excellent primary 
school network across Flintshire.  



The Chief Officer and Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision 
provided information on the consultation process and the legal 
requirements which the Authority had to follow.  

The Cabinet Member for Education responded to the comments and 
outlined the level of austerity faced by the Authority.  He outlined the 
impact of current and future cuts to the level of funding received on 
education and other areas of public service.     
  

 Alternative School capacity and transition arrangements
Questions were asked around capacity at neighbouring Schools to ensure 
sibling/friend groups remained together in the event of a school closure and 
whether childcare provision was similar at neighbouring Schools.

Further information on future transition arrangements, in the event of school 
closure, was requested, especially for those vulnerable groups of learners 
with Additional Learning Needs. 

The Chief Officer outlined the importance of supporting all children 
through the transition of school organisational change before, during 
and after the process and referred to the provision of individual plans 
for pupils, especially for those vulnerable groups of learners with 
Additional Learning Needs, in the event of school closure and transfer 
to other schools. 

The Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision provided 
information on the childcare provision at neighbouring schools.  He 
reported that Ysgol Llanfynydd did not offer ‘wraparound’ care and that 
the provision was similar at neighbouring schools. 

 Federation
A number of comments were made around the possibility of a federation, with 
questions being asked on whether enough time had been given to the school 
to explore the possibility of a federation.  

The Chief Officer for Education & Youth and Senior Manager, School 
Planning and Provision confirmed that no neighbouring school was 
willing to form a federation with Ysgol Llanfynydd.

A number of questions were raised around the school funding formula in light of the 
request from Ysgol Llanfynydd for a reduction in its school funding formula 
allocation.  Concern was raised on the cost per pupil at Ysgol Llanfynydd which was 
higher than at the nearest secondary school.  A suggestion was made that the 
Council look to review the school funding formula in view of these comments.  
 



The Chief Officer confirmed that the School Budget Forum continued to 
monitor the funding formula following review and implementation of current 
arrangements in 2013/14.  He confirmed that the Forum could consider the 
submission from Ysgol Llanfynydd when updating the formula for the next 
financial year.

Comments were also made around pupils who thrive in a small school environment 
and would be disadvantaged by the school closure.  A suggestion was made that the 
Committee monitor the effect of re-organisation on pupils and schools in the future. 

The Chief Officer commented that the neighbouring schools which pupils 
would be transferred to in the event of school closure were also small rural 
schools.  He also agreed, in the event of school closure, to provide a report to 
the Committee a year after implementation to monitor the effect of re-
organisation to ensure learning for all is shared. 

The Committee also asked questions on the projected savings from school closure 
and how these would be re-invested.  Questions were also asked around the 
projected cost of replacing the roof at Ysgol Llanfynydd and in the event of a 
community asset transfer of the building, who would meet this cost. 

The Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision outlined the projected 
savings and commented that funding for pupils would ‘follow’ the pupil in the 
event of school closure.  He also provided information on the projected cost of 
replacing the roof which had been provided by an independent contractor 
carrying out a condition survey.

The Chief Officer explained that the Authority would not determine the future 
use of a school building until it had become vacant.  He added that 
discussions would need to take place, if the building was transferred, on 
funding for any necessary repairs and maintenance.

A number of Members, raised concerns on the Welsh Government National 
Categorisation Model and that in the event of school closure, pupils would receive a 
similar standard of education at a neighbouring school.  

The Chief Officer and Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision 
explained that it was the opinion of Estyn that the proposals would at least 
maintain the quality of learning for the pupils in the event of school closure.

RECOMMENDATION

That the comments of the Committee be collated and presented to Cabinet at its 
meeting on the 19th January 2016.   





 MEETING

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject School Organisation – Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Education and Youth

Report Author Chief Officer (Education and Youth)

Type of Report Strategic 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

To inform Cabinet of the responses from the statutory consultation period for Ysgol 
Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain.

To inform Cabinet of the outcomes from the Education and Youth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and to invite Cabinet to determine whether to proceed with a 
statutory proposal for school organisational change.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Cabinet is requested to consider the responses from the statutory 
consultation period for Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain.

2 Cabinet is requested to consider comments from the Education and
Youth Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the evidence and analysis 
provided by officers within the reports.

3 Cabinet is requested to determine the next steps for school organisational 
change for Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain.

REPORT DETAILS



1.00 BACKGROUND AND CONSIDERATIONS

1.01 In June 2015, Cabinet determined that we enter into formal consultation on 
closure and other school organisation options for Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint 
Mountain by September 2016.

1.02 The proposal was put forward on the basis of criteria laid down in the 
Council’s School Modernisation Strategy, namely:

 Unfilled places across the primary school portfolio – Ysgol Maes Edwin, 
Flint Mountain as at January 2015 (PLASC) had 66 full time pupils with 
unfilled places of 13.16%.  As of September 2015 the school population 
has 55 full time pupils with unfilled places at 27.63%;

 Diminishing resource criteria (i.e. schools supported by pupils not from 
their local community and/or small numbers within the community raise 
concern regarding sustainability within the school’s portfolio) - 83.63% 
of pupils attending Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain are not attending 
their local school;

 Small School Criteria – The School population and capacity of Ysgol 
Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain is lower than national designation of a 
small school, additionally school numbers do not meet the minimum 
requirements of primary school models as noted in the Council’s 
School Modernisation Strategy, and

 Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain is currently (July 2015) in Welsh 
Government categorisation 4, on a scale of 1 - 4, with 4 being the 
lowest for educational standards.  

1.03 The formal consultation period for Ysgol Maes Edwin commenced on 
Wednesday 21 October 2015 and ended on Wednesday 2 December 
2015.

1.04 The Council has issued consultation documents in accordance with the 
statutory School Organisation Code. 

1.05 Reviewing the future of any school is controversial and emotive. Pupils, 
parents, carers and teachers, past and present, have strong ties to local 
schools as part of their own life-stories. The Council is challenged with 
balancing the sensitivities of community feeling on the one hand, with 
providing a high quality education offer which can be sustained and 
afforded. The Council cannot avoid making decisions for the future which 
are in the best interests of pupils and students.

1.06 During the consultation responses from the pupils, community, staff, 
parents and carers have focused on the following concerns, in summary:

 impact on pupils/transition/friendship groups;
 impact on community; 
 impact of housing developments in the area;
 accuracy of data contained within the consultation documents;



 capacity of other schools in the area to accommodate pupils;
 admissions to other schools should Ysgol Maes Edwin close;
 transport. 

1.07 Responses also focus on the strengths of the school, such as the family 
ethos, the condition of the building and the inclusive nature of the school.

1.08 As part of the consultation the views of children and young people have 
been sought. The pupils of Ysgol Maes Edwin do not want their school to 
close. They have expressed concern that peer groups and siblings will be 
split up and that their emotional welfare has not been taken into 
consideration. Other nearby school councils consulted wanted to make 
Ysgol Maes Edwin pupils welcome and hoped to make new friends should 
the school close. (see Appendix 2 Consultation Report).

1.09 An alternative suggestion of federation has been suggested by a number 
of consultees, notably the governing body. They wish for Cabinet to use 
powers to promote a federation with another school or schools. The 
Governing Body of a maintained school can also promote a federation. 
The Governing body of Ysgol Maes Edwin has not been able to identify a 
willing partnering school or schools with which to pursue a federation. The 
prospect of developing a successful federation without a willing partner or 
partners is minimal.

1.10 Neighbouring schools have confirmed that they have not and will not be 
bringing forward a federation proposal with Ysgol Maes Edwin.

1.11 School organisation consultation documents are subject to rigorous 
compliance checks prior to their publication, which includes verifying 
information provided by the schools and national sources (see Appendix 1- 
Compliance Statement).

1.12 The Council would take all practicable steps to ease the transition for all 
pupils, most especially for vulnerable groups of learners such as Additional 
Learning Needs (ALN).  Should the proposal be implemented the Council 
would work alongside pupils, their parents and the relevant schools to 
make appropriate transition arrangements for pupils to familiarise 
themselves with their new environments (subject to parental preference).

1.13 The Council has fully considered school capacity and potential housing 
development yield within its consultation documents.

1.14 Data regarding potential pupils which could be generated from new 
housing developments is calculated using a housing yield formula.  The 
housing yield formula has been derived from research work from a 
partnering authority.  This was applied to all current housing development 
planning applications approved by the planning authority.

1.15 The housing yield figures produced are a maximum figure and do not take 
into account parental choice and/or pupil movement i.e. pupils moving into 
the new homes but who are already in the local education system.



1.16 The pace of housing developments will be constrained by the plans of the 
site owners/developers, the housing market, current economic climate and 
other factors which are unpredictable.

1.17 It is the Council’s view that there is sufficient capacity within the local 
school network to accommodate pupils from Ysgol Maes Edwin should it 
close.  Estyn have commented that ‘The local authority has given a clear 
rationale for the proposed expected benefits when compared with the 
status quo in relation to finance, surplus places and the continuity and 
progression in pupils’ learning.’

1.18 Under current transport policy fewer than ten pupils would be entitled to 
free home to school transport based on the assumption they transfer to 
their nearest school Ysgol Owen Jones, Northop. This would be on the 
basis that the route to the alternative school from Flint Mountain would be 
considered to be hazardous due to its rural location which has limited 
footpaths in and out of the village.

1.19 At the time of writing the admissions team have approved fifteen 
applications from Ysgol Maes Edwin pupils wishing to transfer to other 
schools in line with the Council’s Admissions Policy. A mini admissions 
process will be administered to assist families in transition to other school 
should Cabinet determine closure.

1.20 The community impact assessment has identified the impact of closure on 
a small number of local families and on the local community. The loss of 
the school would impact on a small number of community activities taking 
place and the range of community facilities within Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint 
Mountain.  

1.21 The Council has no plans for the school site should the school close. In 
line with established practice, future usage of the school site will only be 
determined following confirmation that the school site is no longer required 
for educational purposes.  

1.22 Estyn has provided its statutory response to the consultation. It is Estyn’s 
view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the present standards of 
education provision in the area. They noted that consultation 
documentation appropriately set out the advantages of the proposal, which 
include the efficient and effective use of resources; a reduction of unfilled 
pupil places within the primary school network; at least maintaining the 
current standards and the quality of education in the area; and the 
reduction in travel to school for the majority of pupils should they choose 
their local school.

1.23 Education and Youth Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 6 January 
2016 to consider the outcomes from consultation. The recommendations 
of the committee to Cabinet were: 

(i) That the process be suspended for two months to allow the opportunity 
for federation to be reviewed and (ii) that comments be collated and 



presented to Cabinet.

Comments from individual scrutiny members are included in Appendix 5.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 There is sufficient team capacity to prepare the detailed transition plans for 
students.

2.02 Should the current proposals be implemented, the Council will work with 
the current members of staff at Ysgol Maes Edwin, including teaching and 
support staff, should they seek redeployment opportunities. Staff displaced 
by the proposal may have the opportunity to be employed in the local 
primary network. 

2.03 The estimated net saving that could be achieved if the proposal to close 
the Ysgol Maes Edwin goes ahead, is as follows:-

Saving/Costs Amount
Formula Funding Saving £106,606 pa
Transport Costs -£9,120 pa
Catering Saving £5,000 pa
Net Saving £102,486 pa
Backlog Maintenance Saving £129,694 (5 year cycle estimate)

2.04 The estimated annual costs of transport as a result of the proposal are 
£9,120. However, actual transport costs can only be confirmed once all 
families have chosen their preferred school.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 In addition to the consultation undertaken in line with the school 
Organisation Code, consultation has also been undertaken with the 
Council’s Education and Youth Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

3.02 If the Cabinet decision is to proceed, the Council will publish a Statutory 
Notice providing a 28 day notice period for objections. If objections are 
received, the Council must publish an objection report providing a 
summary of the objections and their responses to them within 28 days of 
the end of the objection period.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 A Programme Board is set up to oversee the implementation of business 
plans and manage risks in close detail. Reports are made to Cabinet and 
Overview and Scrutiny at key stages of decision-taking, performance 



reporting and evaluation.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 – Compliance statement
Appendix 2 – Consultation report
Appendix 3 – Estyn response
Appendix 4 – Statutory proposal anticipated timeline
Appendix 5 – Comments raised by Education and Youth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 All responses from the consultation period (and responses received before 
the consultation period) are available in the members’ library.

Consultation documentation links:

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Schools/School-Modernisation-
Related/Home.aspx

Contact Officer: Damian Hughes, Senior Manager, School Planning 
Provision
Telephone: 01352 761209
E-mail: Damian.hughes@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 PLASC – The Welsh Government Pupil Level Annual School Census is 
mandatory with returns for all sectors required every January including 
nursery, primary, middle, secondary and special. Returns are required 
every January.

School Organisation Code – The new School Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 makes Local Authorities responsible (rather 
than the Welsh Ministers prior to October 2013) for the determination of 
most statutory school organisation proposals that receive objections.  Such 
provisions apply to any proposals published on or after 1st October 2013 
that consider the establishment, discontinuance or otherwise significantly 
alter schools.

The Council does this in line with the Welsh Government’s statutory 
School Organisation Code

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dcells/publications/130719-school-
organisation-codes-en.pdf

mailto:Damian.hughes@flintshire.gov.uk
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dcells/publications/130719-school-organisation-codes-en.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dcells/publications/130719-school-organisation-codes-en.pdf


Estyn - Estyn is the education and training inspectorate for Wales. Estyn 
is responsible for inspecting primary and secondary schools and nursery 
schools maintained by, or receive funding, from local authorities.

Federation – The federation of schools is a legal process which enables 
schools to work together through a formal structured process by sharing a 
governing body that will make decisions in the best interest of all the 
schools, staff and pupils in that federation.

The Welsh Government have brought in new regulations around federation 
of maintained schools in Wales. The Federation of Maintained Schools 
(Wales) Regulations 2014 which came into force on 22 May 2014 gives 
effect to Council’s powers to federate schools. (School governors already 
have powers to federate by choice under provisions introduced in 2010). 
These powers have now been consolidated into the 2014 Regulations.

Estyn’s definition of small school - Is a school of 100 or less.





Appendix 1

Compliance Statement in Relation to the Current School Proposals

Introduction: School Organisation:

The School Organisation Code imposes requirements and provides guidelines in 
respect of all school organisation proposals in Wales.

For all of the current school organisation proposals the School Modernisation Team 
have planned the consultations, decision making and statutory notices in line with 
what the Code requires.

Consultation Process Timescales: 

RAG Status: GREEN

The Schools Modernisation Team are required to ensure that timescales are 
adhered to in relation to school organisation proposals.

The timescale and process for consultation, decision making and statutory notice for 
the current school proposals have been checked and verified with Flintshire County 
Council Legal Team and through external verification through the Welsh 
Government Officers. 

Welsh Government Consultation Documentation Checklist.

RAG status: GREEN
 
In the case of all school organisation proposals, the consultation document must 
contain certain information in line with School Organisation Code, July 2013 
(Document number: 006/2016).

A RAG checklist has been produced by Welsh Government School Governance & 
Organisation Branch for the current school organisation proposals.  The RAG 
checklist document follows a colour coding system in order to highlight any missing 
information or areas which Welsh Government felt could have been dealt with more 
thoroughly. 

Ysgol Llanfynydd, Ysgol Maes Edwin and Ysgol Gymraeg Mornant proposals have 
all been assessed by the external Welsh Government Officers as having no 
concerns identified.

Flintshire County Council Consultee Checklist:

RAG status: GREEN

When bringing forward statutory proposals the School Organisation Code provides 
a full list of consultees that the proposer should consult with during the statutory 
process.  An internal checklist has been produced by the School Modernisation 
Team to assess if the required statutory consultees have been identified.  

Ysgol Llanfynydd, Ysgol Maes Edwin and Ysgol Gymraeg Mornant consultee 
checklist have all been assessed by the external Welsh Government Officers as 
having no concerns identified.



Appendix 1

Verification of Data in the Consultation Document: 

RAG status: GREEN

The School Modernisation Team uses the latest verified data at the time of 
constructing the consultation documents:

 School pupil numbers and more detailed information around pupils (for example 
Additional Learning Needs, English as an Additional Language and School 
action/school action plus/statemented) are obtained from the schools own 
statistical returns (September or January)

 Estyn data is obtained from the schools last Estyn inspection.  Timing of 
inspections will depend on Estyn's own inspection cycle. 

 National Welsh Government categorisation data, is based on the school returns. 
The Council use the most up to date data at the time of document construction 
from the Welsh Government website. Welsh Government update their national 
data base annually.

 GwE (The Regional School Improvement Service) data is fed into the Welsh 
Government's national categorisation system. 

 The Welsh Government's national Measuring Capacity of Schools in Wales 
forms are verified by Head teachers, this provides the School Capacity and 
Admission Number.

 Unfilled places are recorded by Welsh Government; the Council provide its 
returns to Welsh Government annually; they are also based on official school 
returns.

 Birth Information by area is obtained from the Office of National Statistics
 Pupil projections are aligned with the methodology as neighbouring Authorities 

with North Wales 
 Housing development information is based on actual current housing 

applications provided from the Planning Officers.
 Potential pupils which may be generated from new housing developments is 

calculated using a formula providing by a partnering Authority (Conwy CBC) 
who derive the formula based on the latest census returns.

 Pupil teacher ratios are provided by publically available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), provided by Welsh Government and is 
updated on an annual basis.  

 Foundation Phase and Core Subject Outcomes are provided by publically 
available statistics on a school (http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), provided by 
Welsh Government is updated on an annual basis

 School Building condition information is provided by an external company who 
compare the school building condition against the building bulletin for Primary 
and Secondary schools

 Backlog maintenance information is provided by through independent 
consultants Property Condition Surveys are undertaken on a 5 year cycle.

Priority Codes [definition] are as follows:-

Priority 1: Urgent work required to be undertaken within 1 year
Priority 2: Essential work required to be undertaken within 2 years
Priority 3: Desirable work [deemed as] required to be undertaken within 3 to 5 
years
Priority 4: Long term work [deemed as] required to be undertaken outside the 5 
year [cycle] period

http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/
http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/


Appendix 1

The element Total 1 - 3 defines a five year financial investment and element 4 
defines a six - ten year financial investment.

Work items are costed by the Consultant and include for preliminaries, labour, 
plant and materials etc. These costs are based on the current building cost 
information service [BCIS] provided by the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors, [RICS] as the leading provider of cost and price information within 
the construction and maintenance areas. These costs [Unit Rates] are present 
within the condition survey software to a default figure and amended/updated as 
required by the Consultant. The budget costings are exclusive of VAT, updated 
annually [using inflation indices] and reviewed post completion of work.

 School suitability information is provided from Suitability surveys undertaken 
independently in line with DffE Asset Management guidance and reviewed by 
FCC officers and amended if work has been completed at schools post initial 
survey.

 School Budgetary Work is conducted using agreed formula as per the School 
budget forum. Cost per pupil data is obtained from the Authority’s section 52 
budget statements.

 Travel distances between school sites is provided by the Flintshire County 
Council mapping system Route Finder 3.41

 Transport costs are provided by the infrastructure unit who administer home to 
school transport contracts.

 
 





APPENDIX 2 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

 
To the proposal to close Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain (English Medium, 

Community School) as of 31st August 2016 with pupils transferring to other 

schools in the local area subject to parental preference. 

 

 

 

DECEMBER 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 2 
 

2 
 

Index  

 

 
Number 

 

 
Section 
 

 
Page 

1 Introduction 
 

3 

2 The Proposal and consultation 
 

3 

3 Consultation Events/Meetings 
 

4 

4 Consultation Response 
 

5 

5 Response forms and correspondence 
 

7 

6 Response from Estyn 
 

9 

7 Response from Members of Parliament 
 

11 

8 Response from Governors 
 

11 

Appendix A Consultation Document recipient list 
 

 

Appendix B Summary of issues raised in meetings 
 

 

Appendix C School Council findings 
 

 

Appendix D Headteacher/Governors Minutes 
 

 

Appendix E Summary of responses to standard response form 
 

 

Appendix F Summary of issues and responses 
 

 

Appendix G Estyn’s response to the Formal Consultation 
Document 

 

Appendix H Assembly Members and Members of Parliament to 
the Formal Consultation Document 

 

Appendix I Governors response to the Formal Consultation 
Document 

 

  



APPENDIX 2 
 

3 
 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 Following the end of a school organisation consultation period, the Welsh 

Government’s School Organisation Code requires the proposer (the 

Council) to publish a consultation report.  In this document the proposer is 

required to: 

 

 Summarise each of the issues raised by consultees. 

 Respond to these by means of clarification.  

 Set out Estyn’s view (as provided in its consultation response) of the 

overall merits of the proposal. 

 

1.2 This report should be considered by decision-makers prior to determining 

any recommendation relating to the proposal. 

 

2.0 The Proposal and Consultation 

 

2.1 On the Tuesday, 16th June 2015, Cabinet resolved to:  

  

Open a period of formal consultation with key stakeholders for Ysgol Maes  

Edwin, Flint Mountain with a future report to Cabinet. 

 

2.2 Consultation was carried out in accordance with the School Organisation 

Code. The Consultation period commenced on Wednesday 21st October 

2015 and ended on Wednesday 2nd December 2015. 

 

2.3 In accordance with the code, the consultation documents were published 

on Flintshire County Council’s website on Wednesday, 21st October 2015, 

and a link to the consultation documents was provided to stakeholders.  You 

can see the complete list of recipients in Appendix A.   

 

2.4 A special version of the consultation document, for primary school children, 

was published on the Flintshire County Council website and a hard copy 

provided to all pupils at Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain with a copy to 

the School Council at Gwynedd C.P. School, Flint; Cornist C.P. School, 

Flint and Ysgol Owen Jones, Northop.  Both versions of the consultation 

documents can be found in the school modernisation section of Flintshire 

County Council website using the following link:-  

 

 http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Schools/School-Modernisation-

Related/Ysgol-Maes-Edwin-Flint-Mountain.aspx 

 

2.5 Hard copies (5) of the consultation documents were delivered to Ysgol 

Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain; Gwynedd C.P. School, Flint; Cornist C.P. 

School, Flint; and Ysgol Owen Jones, Northop for people to view if they 

were unable to access the website. Additional hard copies were also 

http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Schools/School-Modernisation-Related/Ysgol-Maes-Edwin-Flint-Mountain.aspx
http://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Schools/School-Modernisation-Related/Ysgol-Maes-Edwin-Flint-Mountain.aspx


APPENDIX 2 
 

4 
 

available on request and were either posted or collected from County Hall, 

Mold. 

 

2.6 A postbox was also made available at Ysgol Maes Edwin for consultation 

responses to be posted and collected by a member of the School 

Modernisation Team. 

 

2.7 The Council produced a response document (standard response form) to 

assist and encourage people to give their views. This formed part of the 

consultation document and was also published on the Council’s website.  

The children and young people’s version of the consultation document 

contained a simpler response form.  The consultation response form was 

converted into an online survey. Links to the survey were also published on 

the website. 

 

2.8 All consultees, received an e-mail with the link directing them to the formal 

consultation document and supplementary documents on the first day of 

the consultation (21st October 2015). 

 

2.9 Documents were produced in both Welsh and English. 

 

3.0 Consultation events/meetings 

3.1 Whilst not a requirement under the Code, the Council held separate  
consultation meetings on Wednesday, 11th November 2015 at Ysgol Maes  
Edwin, Flint Mountain with: 
 

 Teachers and support staff and governing body of Ysgol Maes Edwin 
 
 Officers from Flintshire County Council attended these meetings.  Officers 

informed those in attendance at the meetings of the process to date and 
what would happen if the proposal were approved.  The attendees had the 
opportunity to ask questions and express their views and opinions. 

 
 An additional meeting was held with the Governing Body of Ysgol Maes 

Edwin on Thursday, 26th November 2015. 
 

Parents/carers/guardians of pupils at Ysgol Maes Edwin 
 
 The Parents/Carers/Guardians meeting took place at Ysgol Maes Edwin. 

Each Parent/Carer/Guardian received a letter containing the date, time, and 
location asking them to register their attendance for the event. 

 
 The consultation event allowed for parents/carers/guardians to meet with 

Council representatives and ask questions or raise issues which were 
pertinent to them as individuals and also the wider views regarding the 
school and community. 

 



APPENDIX 2 
 

5 
 

You can read a summary of the points raised at these consultation 
events/meetings, together with the responses given at the time in 
Appendix B. 

 
3.2 The Governors of Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain requested that the 

Council did not meet with the School Council of Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint 
Mountain.  The Governors felt that the pupils had already submitted their 
views on the proposed closure of the school in letter format.  The Governing 
Body confirmed via correspondence dated 11th November 2015 and 30th 
November 2015 that they were satisfied that the pupils have been able to 
submit their views with regard proposed school closure.  They were firmly 
of the view that it was not in the children’s best interests to experience the 
anxiety and upset all over again by completing the children’s and young 
person’s version of the consultation document. 

 
 
3.3 Consultation events were also arranged with the school council at Cornist 

C.P. School and Ysgol Owen Jones, Northop.  The events were facilitated 
by the Healthy Schools Lead Practitioner whose role included engaging and 
consulting with pupils.  A member of the School Modernisation Team was 
also present at the School Council meetings.  Gwynedd C.P. School, Flint 
chose to facilitate their own meeting with the school council to discuss the 
proposal. 

 
 The Governors letter from and findings of the School Council meetings are 

set out in Appendix C. 
 
3.4 The School Modernisation Team met with the Headteacher and Chair of 

Governors of the nearby affected schools.  (Gwynedd C.P. School, Flint; 
Cornist C.P. School, Flint and Ysgol Owen Jones, Northop). 

 
 A record of the Headteacher and Chair of Governors meetings are set out 

in Appendix D. 

 
4.0 Consultation responses 

4.1 In total 197 responses were received during the consultation period. These  
included a response from Estyn in the form of a report. A number of responses  
were received on electronic response forms and letters. 
 

4.2 The table below show the methods people used to respond to the consultation: 

Method of contact Number of Contacts Received 

Consultation Response Forms 53 

Children & Young People’s Response 
Forms 

5 

Letters and E-mails 56 

Letters and E-mails – Children and 
Young People 

83 

Total number of contacts 197 



APPENDIX 2 
 

6 
 

4.3 The number of contacts made pre, post consultation are listed below 

Method of Contact Pre 
Consultation 

During 
Consultation 

Post 
Consultation 

Total 
Number 

of 
Contacts 
Received 

Consultation Response 
Forms (Online) 

0 53 0 53 

Letters and E-mails 15 31 0 46 

School Governors 
Responses 

0 3 0 3 

Children and Young 
Peoples Response Forms 

0 5 0 5 

Letters and E-mails – 
Children and Young 
People 

80 0 0 80 

School Council 
Responses 

0 3 0 3 

Union Response 0 1 0 1 

Estyn Response 0 1 0 1 

AM and MP Response 4 1 0 5 

Total number of 
Contacts 

99 98 0 197 

 

 

4.4 An analysis of the frequency of issues being raised within correspondence  
received from Adults highlighted the following issues: 

 

Rank Issue Description Frequency 
of issue 
raised 

1 Impact on Pupils Concern about impact of closing 
school on the current pupils.  
Concern peer groups and siblings 
will be split up, emotional welfare 
has not been taken into 
consideration. 

30 

2 Strengths of Ysgol 
Maes Edwin 

The school has many positives, 
it’s a family school, it’s a lovely 
community school.  The school is 
in a lovely building.  The building 
is DDA compliant.  The school has 
lovely supportive teachers and 
staff.  The school has lots of 
additional activities/clubs/trips. 

57 

3 Impact on 
Community 

Closing the school down would 
significantly affect the local 
community.  The school is at the 
heart of the community and has 
been there for 103 years. 

13 

4 Consultation 
Document 

The information in the consultation 
document is incorrect.  The 

13 



APPENDIX 2 
 

7 
 

information is out of date.  The 
Estyn report for the school is old.  
The document is biased and 
negative.  The information for the 
roof repairs seems high and 
incorrect. 

5 Parental Choice Parental Choice has been taken 
away 

11 

6 Alternative 
suggestions: 
Federation for the 
school 

The school should be able to 
explore Federation. 

8 

7 Housing 
Development i.e 
Croes Atti 
Development 

Local housing developments in 
the local area have not been fully 
taken into consideration 

8 

8 Family connections 
with the school 

Request that siblings should be 
able to attend this school.  Family 
connections with the school and a 
number of families attended the 
school historically.   

5 

9 Childcare No transport for pupils to attend 
extra-curricular activities. 

5 

10 Condition of 
building 

DDA money spent on School 4 

11 Consultation 
Process 

Have correct procedures been 
followed?  

2 

12 Other schools are 
full 

Nearby schools have reached 
their Admission Number is certain 
year groups 

4 

13 Traffic and 
Transport 

Additional traffic has not been 
taken into consideration 

1 

14 Comments 
supporting the 
proposal 

Supportive of the proposal. There 
is clear rationale to support the 
proposal 

1 

 
4.5 An analysis of the frequency of issues being raised within the Children and  

Young People’s correspondence received highlighted the following issues: 
 

Rank Issue Description Frequency 
of issue 
raised 

1 Impact on Pupils Concern about impact of closing 
school on the current pupils.  
Concern peer groups and siblings 
will be split up, emotional welfare 
has not been taken into 
consideration. 

117 



APPENDIX 2 
 

8 
 

2 Strengths of Ysgol 
Maes Edwin 

The school has many positives, 
it’s a family school, it’s a lovely 
community school.  The school is 
in a lovely building.  The building 
is DDA compliant.  The school has 
lovely supportive teachers and 
staff.  The school has lots of 
additional activities/clubs/trips. 

78 

3 Impact on the 
Community 

Closing the school down would 
significantly affect the local 
community.  The school is at the 
heart of the community and has 
been there for 103 years. 

8 

4 Consultation 
Document 

The information in the consultation 
document is incorrect.  The 
information is out of date.  The 
Estyn report for the school is old.  
The document is biased and 
negative.  The information for the 
roof repairs seems high and 
incorrect. 

4 

 
 * Respondents were able to state more than one reason.  This explains why the total is 

greater than the number of respondents 
 
4.6 An analysis of the frequency of issues being raised within the Children and  

Young People’s correspondence received from School Councils highlighted  
the following issues: 

 

Rank Issue Description Frequency 
of issue 
raised 

1 Alternative 
suggestions 

Build an extension on Ysgol 
Maes Edwin so more pupils can 
attend 

6 

Fundraising event for Maes 
Edwin to extend their school 

3 

Knock the school down and build 
something else 

3 

Close the school, redesign and 
open it again 

10 

2 Impact on other 
schools  

More pupils to go to Ysgol Maes 
Edwin from schools which are full 

4 

3 Impact on Pupils Emotional welfare  13 

Losing Friends 7 

Bullying 8 

Where pupils would go to school 3 

4 More people supporting our 
school  

3 



APPENDIX 2 
 

9 
 

Comments 
supporting the 
proposal 

Make new friends 31 

5 Uniforms Would have to buy new uniforms 2 

6 Impact on 
Teachers and 
Support Staff 

Teachers would lose their jobs 4 

7 Community What would happen to the building 1 

8 Transport Buses run through the village and 
it takes a long time because of the 
roads 

1 

How would they get to their new 
school 

1 

 
4.7 The Council’s response to the concerns raised can be found in Appendix E. 
 

5.0 Response forms and correspondence 

 

5.1 The standard response form was designed to establish: 

 

 whether or not people were in favour of the Proposal; 

 the capacity in which they were responding; 

 whether or not they were linked to the school; 

 what influenced their views on the Proposal and any negative or positive  

comments they had; 

 whether or not they would send their child(ren) to the proposed alternative  

schools if the proposal was implemented; and 

 whether they wanted to make any other comments. 

 

5.2 A summary of the responses to the standard response form is set out in  

Appendix F. 

 

5.3 On the response forms, we asked people to confirm whether they were responding as 

a pupil, parent, carer, governor, teacher, support staff, local resident or other. Details of 

the respondents are set out in Appendix F. 

 
6.0 Response from Estyn 
  

The main points made by Estyn in response to the proposal and the Councils’  
response to them are set out below.  A full response from Estyn is set out in  
Appendix G. 
 

Estyn Comment Comments which require 
response 

The proposer has provided a clear rationale when 
compared with the status quo in relation to finance, 

N/A 



APPENDIX 2 
 

10 
 

surplus places and the continuity and progression in 
pupils’ learning. 

The proposal clearly defines the expected benefits of 
the proposal which link well to the stated purpose of 
rationale. The local authority has provided sufficient 
evidence to show that the plan is likely to at least 
maintain the standard of education in the Flint 
Mountain, Flint and Northop area. 

N/A 

The proposal notes appropriately the advantages of 
the proposal, which include the efficient and effective 
use of resources; a reduction of unfilled pupil places 
within the primary school network; at least maintaining 
the current standards and the quality of education in 
the area; and the reduction in travel to school for the 
majority of pupils should they choose their local 
school. 

N/A 

The proposer has identified appropriately the 
disadvantages to the current proposal, which focus on 
the impact of the closure of Ysgol Maes Edwin on the 
staff currently employed at the school, the end of 
English medium primary provision in the village of Flint 
Mountain and the increase in travel time for a few 
pupils who live in this village. 

N/A 

The local authority has provided clear evidence to 
show that it has considered other alternatives to this 
current proposal.  These include maintaining the 
status quo and federating Ysgol Maes Edwin with 
another local school.  They have demonstrated clearly 
the advantages and disadvantages of each option and 
the reasons for their preferred option. 

N/A 

The proposer has suitably considered the impact of 
the proposal on pupil travel arrangements.  It intends 
to support home to school travel in line with the 
council’s transport policy.  It further recognises that the 
proposal will potentially result in reduced travel for 
most pupils currently attending Ysgol Maes Edwin.  
However, the proposer recognises that the travel time 
would increase for a few pupils living in Flint Mountain, 
but this would not be in excess of the pupil travel 
guidelines. 

N/A 

The proposal has appropriately shown how the 
proposal will affect surplus places by providing pupil 
numbers and surplus places in 2015 for schools in the 
area. 

N/A 

The proposal appears to have taken appropriate 
account of the impact of the proposal on the Welsh 
Language and the accessibility of Welsh medium 
provision in accordance with parental choice. 

N/A 

The proposer has considered reasonably well the 
impact of the proposals on the quality of the outcomes, 
provision and leadership and management at Ysgol 
Owen Jones.  The proposer has considered the 
outcomes of the most recent Estyn inspection reports 
and each school’s categorisation in relation to the 
National School Categorisation system on the quality 
of leadership and pupil outcomes.  The proposer’s 
summary of outcomes for all four schools is clear and 
compares appropriately with local, national and family 
of schools averages.  However, the proposer has not 

Whilst not a specific requirement of 
the School Organisation Code, in 
future all consultation reports will 
include comparison of performance 
of n-FSM and e-FSM pupils. 



APPENDIX 2 
 

11 
 

commented on comparisons with similar schools 
based on entitlement to free school meals. 

The proposer has appropriately considered the likely 
impact of the proposals on standards, wellbeing and 
curriculum delivery.  The proposer reasonably asserts 
that the proposal would not impact unfavourably on 
the current standards and provision at Ysgol 
Gwynedd, Cornist C.P. School and Ysgol Owen 
Jones. 

N/A 

The proposer has undertaken an appropriate equality 
impact assessment, which considers the impact of the 
proposal on vulnerable groups including those with a 
disability or special educational needs. 

N/A 

 
7.0 Responses from Members of Parliament 

 
In total 5 responses were received pre-consultation period and during the 
consultation period Members of the Parliament. The table below show the 
methods Members of the Parliament used to respond to the consultation: 
 
Breakdown of Responses from Assembly Members & Members of Parliament  
 

No Response Type Response from 
Members of 
Parliament 

MPs 

1 Consultation Response Form 0 

2 Letters and Emails 5 

Totals 5 

 

The correspondence from the Members of Parliament and the authority responses  
can be viewed in Appendix H. 

 

8.0 Responses from Governors 

In total 3 responses were received during the consultation period from governors. 
The table below show the methods governors used to respond to the consultation: 
 
Breakdown of Responses from Governors  
 

No Response Type Amount of 
Governors 
received 

1 Consultation Response Form 0 

2 Letters and Emails 3 

Totals 0 

 



APPENDIX 2 
 

12 
 

The correspondence from governors can be viewed in Appendix I. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Consultation Document (Adult and Childrens); Transport Assessment, 

Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessment, Community Impact 

Assessment Recipient List 

No Stakeholder Number of 
Recipient 

List 

1 Maintaining or proposed maintaining authority for any school likely 
to be affected by the proposal 

20 

2 Any other local authority likely to be affected 
Denbighshire County Council – School Modernisation 
Conwy County Council – School Modernisation 
Wrexham County Borough Council – School Modernisation 

3 

3 The Church in Wales 1 

Roman Catholic Diocesan Authority 1 

4 School Governing body for Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain 11 

School Governing body for Ysgol Gwynedd, Flint 11 

School Governing body for Ysgol Owen Jones, Northop 11 

School Governing body for Cornist CP School, Flint  11 

5 Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/Pupils/School Council of Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain 

150 

Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Ysgol Gwynedd, Flint 

546 

Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Ysgol Owen Jones, Northop 

157 

Parents/Carers/Guardians/Prospective Parents/Teachers/Support 
Staff/School Council of Cornist CP School, Flint 

383 

6 The Welsh Ministers, AMs and MPs 7 

7 Estyn 1 

8 Teaching and Staff trade unions 17 

9 North Wales Regional School Effectiveness and Improvement Service  
– Consortium - GWE 

1 

10 Regional Transport Consortium 4 

11 Police and crime commissioner 1 

12 Any community or town council for the area served by/intended to 
be served by any school which is subject to the proposal 

3 

13 The local communities first partnership 1 

14 In the case of proposals affecting nursery provision, any 
independent provider 

1 

15 In the case of proposal affecting nursery provision, the Children and 
Young People Partnership 

1 

16 URDD 1 

17 Welsh Government Schools Management 4 

18 Local Members 8 

19 Equality and Welsh Language 2 

20 Local High School – Headteacher and Chair of Governor 2 

21 Local Health Authority 1 

 TOTAL 1360 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



































































































































































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



















 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

  



APPENDIX E 

Summary of Issues and Responses 

Housing Development 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 
 Potential new housing in area 
 Application to change use of land in the 

area from agricultural to building 
 Croes Atti Development 
 Expanding residential area 
 New housing has created younger 

families 
 Expected rise in number of school pupil 

due to housing development 
 Authority have approved new housing 

developments in the area 
 
 
 
 

 
The Council has fully considered school 
capacity in the area together with potential 
housing development yield within its 
consultation documents. 
  
Data regarding potential pupils which could 
be generated from new housing 
developments is calculated using a housing 
yield formula.  The housing yield formula 
has been derived from research work based 
on national census data from a partnering 
authority.  This was applied to all current 
housing development planning applications 
approved by the planning authority. 
 
The housing yield figures produced are a 
maximum figure and do not take into 
account parental choice and/or pupil 
movement i.e. pupils moving into the new 
homes but who are already in the local 
education system. 
 
The pace of housing developments will be 
constrained by the plans of the site 
owners/developers, the housing market, 
current economic climate and other factors 
which are unpredictable. 
 
It is the Council’s view that there is sufficient 
capacity within the local school network to 
accommodate pupils from Ysgol Maes Edwin 
should it close.  Estyn have commented that;
 
‘The local authority has given a clear 
rationale for the proposed expected benefits 
when compared with the status quo in 
relation to finance, surplus places and the 
continuity and progression in pupils’ 
learning.’ 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Impact on Community 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 
 School land should only be used for a 

school 
 School/Community must do more to 

attract more pupils 
 Community spirit 
 Central hub of village 
 No amenities left in village 
 School used for clubs/night classes 
 Essential to the community 

 

 
A Community Impact Assessment has been 
carried out and the Council acknowledges 
that where a school closure is proposed it 
will have some impact on the local 
community, although the community use of 
the school is relatively low. 
 
However, the Council will work with schools 
and community to mitigate issues where 
possible. 
 
The Council have no plans for the site, and 
will not consider the future of the site until 
such time as the school’s future is 
determined. 
 
Legal Land ownership issues are still being 
investigated, it has been noted that some of 
the site at Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain 
is part of the Bryn Edwin Trust.  Dependant 
on the formalisation of such matters, the 
Council could consider transferring the 
asset or part of the asset to a constituted 
community group where it can demonstrate 
a need and ability to take over the running of 
the site.   
 

 
Strengths of Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Small class sizes 
 Pupils mix well together 
 Pupil Teacher Ratio 
 Family atmosphere 
 Growth in pupil numbers 
 Successful Clubs/Trips 
 Good Estyn Report 
 Pastoral Care 
 Unique Values 
 Education Standards 
 Happy children 
 Lots of pupils with Additional Learning 

Needs 
 Good Staff and Teachers 
 Amazing school 

 

 
The positive responses from consultees 
regarding Ysgol Maes Edwin are noted. 
 
Reviewing the future of any school is 
controversial and emotive. Pupils, parents, 
carers and teachers, past and present, have 
strong ties to local schools as part of their 
own life-stories. The Council is challenged 
with balancing the sensitivities of 
community feeling on the one hand, with 
providing a high quality education offer 
which can be sustained and afforded. The 
Council cannot avoid making decisions for 
the future which are in the best interests of 
pupils and students. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Impact on pupils 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 
 Pupils already transferred from other 

schools 
 Bullying 
 Unable to get into other nearby schools 

because they are full 
 Increased travel times to school 
 Don’t want to attend larger schools 
 Loss of Friendship 
 Want to be with their siblings 
 Want get the further support they 

require 
 Overcrowded classrooms 
 Won’t get the same standard of 

education 
 Disruption to their education 

 
 
 

 
When proposing changes to school 
organisation it is acknowledged that there 
will be some changes for pupils.  Should the 
proposal be implemented and Ysgol Maes 
Edwin, Flint Mountain be closed it would 
result in changes for the existing pupils 
such as : 

 Shorter journey time to school for 
pupils who reside in the Flint area 

 A marginally longer route to school 
for less than 10 pupils who live in the 
Flint Mountain area 

 A new school uniform 
 New teachers and support staff 
 New learning environment 
 Friendship groups may be affected, 

however new friendships may be 
formed. 

 
The Council will take all practicable steps to 
ease the transition for all pupils, most 
especially for vulnerable groups of learners 
such as Additional Learning Needs (ALN).  
Should the proposal be implemented the 
Council would work alongside pupils, their 
parents, and the relevant schools to make 
appropriate transition arrangements for 
pupils to familiarise themselves with their 
new environments (subject to parental 
preference). 
 
Where pupils have specific ALN needs the 
resource and support they require would be 
replicated in their new learning 
environments. 
 
Under current transport policy fewer than 
ten pupils would be entitled to free home to 
school transport based on the assumption 
they transfer to their nearest school Ysgol 
Owen Jones, Northop. This would be on the 
basis that the route to the alternative school 
from Flint Mountain would be considered to 
be hazardous due to its rural location which 
has limited footpaths in and out of the 
village. 
 
A mini admissions process will be 
administered to assist families in transition 
to other school should cabinet determine 
closure. 
 

 

 



Condition of Building 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 
 Recent spend on DDA (Disability 

Discrimination Act) works and 
maintenance  

 New classroom and library built in 2000 
 
 
 
 

 
The Council cannot predetermine an 
outcome to the proposal and therefore work 
on the principal of spending today’s money 
is spent on today’s pupils. 
 
The condition surveys are carried out by 
independent surveyors, commissioned by 
the Council. They survey schools on a five 
year cycle in line with national guidance and 
provide the Council with maintenance 
priorities. The work to repair the roof was 
identified as a priority, therefore urgent 
repair work was programmed accordingly. 
 
The Local Authority has a legal duty to 
consider the Equalities Act, therefore work 
was completed at the school to facilitate the 
needs of a pupil.

 

Consultation Document 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 
 Out of date figures used in document 
 Document is biased 
 Doesn’t consider Housing Development 
 Data is incorrect 

 
 

 
The School Modernisation Team uses the 
latest verified data at the time of 
constructing the consultation documents: 
 
School pupil numbers and more detailed 
information around pupils (for example 
Additional Learning Needs, English as an 
Additional Language and School 
action/school action plus/statemented) are 
obtained from the schools own statistical 
returns (September or January) 
Estyn data is obtained from the schools last 
Estyn inspection.  Timing of inspections will 
depend on Estyn's own inspection cycle.  
National Welsh Government categorisation 
data, is based on the school returns. The 
Council use the most up to date data at the 
time of document construction from the 
Welsh Government website. Welsh 
Government update their national data base 
annually. 
GwE (The Regional School Improvement 
Service) data is fed into the Welsh 
Government's national categorisation 
system.  
The Welsh Government's national 
Measuring Capacity of Schools in Wales 
forms are verified by Head teachers, this 
provides the School Capacity and Admission 
Number. 
Unfilled places are recorded by Welsh 
Government; the Council provide its returns 



to Welsh Government annually; they are also 
based on official school returns. 
Birth Information by area is obtained from 
the Office of National Statistics 
Pupil projections are aligned with the 
methodology as neighbouring Authorities 
with North Wales  
Housing development information is based 
on actual current housing applications 
provided from the Planning Officers. 
Potential pupils which may be generated 
from new housing developments is 
calculated using a formula providing by a 
partnering Authority (Conwy CBC) who 
derive the formula based on the latest 
census returns. 
Pupil teacher ratios are provided by 
publically available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), 
provided by Welsh Government and is 
updated on an annual basis.   
Foundation Phase and Core Subject 
Outcomes are provided by publically 
available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), 
provided by Welsh Government is updated 
on an annual basis 
School Building condition information is 
provided by an external company who 
compare the school building condition 
against the building bulletin for Primary and 
Secondary schools 
Backlog maintenance information is 
provided by through independent 
consultants Property Condition Surveys are 
undertaken on a 5 year cycle. 
 
Priority Codes [definition] are as follows:- 
 
Priority 1: Urgent work required to be 
undertaken within 1 year 
Priority 2: Essential work required to be 
undertaken within 2 years 
Priority 3: Desirable work [deemed as] 
required to be undertaken within 3 to 5 years 
Priority 4: Long term work [deemed as] 
required to be undertaken outside the 5 year 
[cycle] period 
 
The element Total 1 - 3 defines a five year 
financial investment and element 4 defines a 
six - ten year financial investment. 
 
Work items are costed by the Consultant and 
include for preliminaries, labour, plant and 
materials etc. These costs are based on the 
current building cost information service 
[BCIS] provided by the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors, [RICS] as the leading 



provider of cost and price information within 
the construction and maintenance areas. 
These costs [Unit Rates] are present within 
the condition survey software to a default 
figure and amended/updated as required by 
the Consultant. The budget costings are 
exclusive of VAT, updated annually [using 
inflation indices] and reviewed post 
completion of work. 
 
School suitability information is provided 
from Suitability surveys undertaken 
independently in line with DffE Asset 
Management guidance and reviewed by FCC 
officers and amended if work has been 
completed at schools post initial survey. 
School Budgetary Work is conducted using 
agreed formula as per the School budget 
forum. Cost per pupil data is obtained from 
the Authority’s section 52 budget 
statements. 
Travel distances between school sites is 
provided by the Flintshire County Council 
mapping system Route Finder 3.41 
Transport costs are provided by the 
infrastructure unit who administer home to 
school transport contracts. 
  
 

 
Consultation Process 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Process caused stress and upset 
 Unfairly targeted 

 

 

 
The process follows regulatory guidance as 
set out in the Welsh Government’s School 
Organisation Code 2013. 
 
However, it is acknowledged that the 
process around school organisational 
change can be unsettling for pupils, staff 
and the school community. 
 
The proposal was put forward on the basis 
of criteria laid down in the Council’s School 
Modernisation Strategy, namely: 
 
 Unfilled places across the primary 

school portfolio – Ysgol Maes Edwin, 
Flint Mountain as at January 2015 
(PLASC) had 66 full time pupils with 
unfilled places of 13.16%.  As of 
September 2015 the school population 
has 55 full time pupils with unfilled 
places at 27.63%; 

 Diminishing resource criteria (i.e. 
schools supported by pupils not from 
their local community and/or small 
numbers within the community raise 
concern regarding sustainability within 



the school’s portfolio) - 83.63% of pupils 
attending Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint 
Mountain are not attending their local 
school; 

 Small School Criteria – The School 
population and capacity of Ysgol Maes 
Edwin, Flint Mountain is lower than 
national designation of a small school, 
additionally school numbers do not meet 
the minimum requirements of primary 
school models as noted in the Council’s 
School Modernisation Strategy, and 

 Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain is 
currently (July 2015) in Welsh 
Government categorisation 4, on a scale 
of 1 - 4, with 4 being the lowest for 
educational standards.   

 
 

Alternative Proposals 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 
 The site is perfect for a primary 

education PRU (Pupil Referral Unit) 
which is needed within Flintshire.  

 
Suggestion noted 
 
However, the Council has no plans for 
the site, and will not consider the future 
of the site until such time as to the 
school’s future is determined. 
 

 

 

 



APPENDIX E 

Summary of Issues and Responses 

Housing Development 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 Potential new housing in area 

 Application to change use of land in the 
area from agricultural to building 

 Croes Atti Development 

 Expanding residential area 

 New housing has created younger 
families 

 Expected rise in number of school pupil 
due to housing development 

 Authority have approved new housing 
developments in the area 

 
 
 
 

 
The Council has fully considered school 
capacity in the area together with potential 
housing development yield within its 
consultation documents. 
  
Data regarding potential pupils which could 
be generated from new housing 
developments is calculated using a housing 
yield formula.  The housing yield formula 
has been derived from research work based 
on national census data from a partnering 
authority.  This was applied to all current 
housing development planning applications 
approved by the planning authority. 
 
The housing yield figures produced are a 
maximum figure and do not take into 
account parental choice and/or pupil 
movement i.e. pupils moving into the new 
homes but who are already in the local 
education system. 
 
The pace of housing developments will be 
constrained by the plans of the site 
owners/developers, the housing market, 
current economic climate and other factors 
which are unpredictable. 
 
It is the Council’s view that there is sufficient 
capacity within the local school network to 
accommodate pupils from Ysgol Maes Edwin 
should it close.  Estyn have commented that; 
 
‘The local authority has given a clear 
rationale for the proposed expected benefits 
when compared with the status quo in 
relation to finance, surplus places and the 
continuity and progression in pupils’ 
learning.’ 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Impact on Community 
Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 School land should only be used for a 
school 

 School/Community must do more to 
attract more pupils 

 Community spirit 

 Central hub of village 

 No amenities left in village 

 School used for clubs/night classes 

 Essential to the community 
 

 
A Community Impact Assessment has been 
carried out and the Council acknowledges 
that where a school closure is proposed it 
will have some impact on the local 
community, although the community use of 
the school is relatively low. 
 
However, the Council will work with schools 
and community to mitigate issues where 
possible. 
 
The Council have no plans for the site, and 
will not consider the future of the site until 
such time as the school’s future is 
determined. 
 
Legal Land ownership issues are still being 
investigated, it has been noted that some of 
the site at Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain 
is part of the Bryn Edwin Trust.  Dependant 
on the formalisation of such matters, the 
Council could consider transferring the 
asset or part of the asset to a constituted 
community group where it can demonstrate 
a need and ability to take over the running of 
the site.   
 

 
Strengths of Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 

 

 Small class sizes 

 Pupils mix well together 

 Pupil Teacher Ratio 

 Family atmosphere 

 Growth in pupil numbers 

 Successful Clubs/Trips 

 Good Estyn Report 

 Pastoral Care 

 Unique Values 

 Education Standards 

 Happy children 

 Lots of pupils with Additional Learning 
Needs 

 Good Staff and Teachers 

 Amazing school 
 

 
The positive responses from consultees 
regarding Ysgol Maes Edwin are noted. 
 
Reviewing the future of any school is 
controversial and emotive. Pupils, parents, 
carers and teachers, past and present, have 
strong ties to local schools as part of their 
own life-stories. The Council is challenged 
with balancing the sensitivities of 
community feeling on the one hand, with 
providing a high quality education offer 
which can be sustained and afforded. The 
Council cannot avoid making decisions for 
the future which are in the best interests of 
pupils and students. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Impact on pupils 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Pupils already transferred from other 
schools 

 Bullying 

 Unable to get into other nearby schools 
because they are full 

 Increased travel times to school 

 Don’t want to attend larger schools 

 Loss of Friendship 

 Want to be with their siblings 

 Want get the further support they 
require 

 Overcrowded classrooms 

 Won’t get the same standard of 
education 

 Disruption to their education 
 
 
 

 
When proposing changes to school 
organisation it is acknowledged that there 
will be some changes for pupils.  Should the 
proposal be implemented and Ysgol Maes 
Edwin, Flint Mountain be closed it would 
result in changes for the existing pupils 
such as : 

 Shorter journey time to school for 
pupils who reside in the Flint area 

 A marginally longer route to school 
for less than 10 pupils who live in the 
Flint Mountain area 

 A new school uniform 

 New teachers and support staff 

 New learning environment 

 Friendship groups may be affected, 
however new friendships may be 
formed. 

 
The Council will take all practicable steps to 
ease the transition for all pupils, most 
especially for vulnerable groups of learners 
such as Additional Learning Needs (ALN).  
Should the proposal be implemented the 
Council would work alongside pupils, their 
parents, and the relevant schools to make 
appropriate transition arrangements for 
pupils to familiarise themselves with their 
new environments (subject to parental 
preference). 
 
Where pupils have specific ALN needs the 
resource and support they require would be 
replicated in their new learning 
environments. 

 
Under current transport policy fewer than 
ten pupils would be entitled to free home to 
school transport based on the assumption 
they transfer to their nearest school Ysgol 
Owen Jones, Northop. This would be on the 
basis that the route to the alternative school 
from Flint Mountain would be considered to 
be hazardous due to its rural location which 
has limited footpaths in and out of the 
village. 
 
A mini admissions process will be 
administered to assist families in transition 
to other school should cabinet determine 
closure. 
 

 

 



Condition of Building 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Recent spend on DDA (Disability 
Discrimination Act) works and 
maintenance  

 New classroom and library built in 2000 
 
 
 
 

 
The Council cannot predetermine an 
outcome to the proposal and therefore work 
on the principal of spending today’s money 
is spent on today’s pupils. 
 
The condition surveys are carried out by 
independent surveyors, commissioned by 
the Council. They survey schools on a five 
year cycle in line with national guidance and 
provide the Council with maintenance 
priorities. The work to repair the roof was 
identified as a priority, therefore urgent 
repair work was programmed accordingly. 
 
The Local Authority has a legal duty to 
consider the Equalities Act, therefore work 
was completed at the school to facilitate the 
needs of a pupil. 

 

Consultation Document 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Out of date figures used in document 

 Document is biased 

 Doesn’t consider Housing Development 

 Data is incorrect 
 
 

 
The School Modernisation Team uses the 
latest verified data at the time of 
constructing the consultation documents: 
 

School pupil numbers and more detailed 
information around pupils (for example 
Additional Learning Needs, English as an 
Additional Language and School 
action/school action plus/statemented) are 
obtained from the schools own statistical 
returns (September or January) 

Estyn data is obtained from the schools last 
Estyn inspection.  Timing of inspections will 
depend on Estyn's own inspection cycle.  

National Welsh Government categorisation 
data, is based on the school returns. The 
Council use the most up to date data at the 
time of document construction from the 
Welsh Government website. Welsh 
Government update their national data base 
annually. 

GwE (The Regional School Improvement 
Service) data is fed into the Welsh 
Government's national categorisation 
system.  

The Welsh Government's national 
Measuring Capacity of Schools in Wales 
forms are verified by Head teachers, this 
provides the School Capacity and Admission 
Number. 

Unfilled places are recorded by Welsh 
Government; the Council provide its returns 



to Welsh Government annually; they are also 
based on official school returns. 

Birth Information by area is obtained from 
the Office of National Statistics 

Pupil projections are aligned with the 
methodology as neighbouring Authorities 
with North Wales  

Housing development information is based 
on actual current housing applications 
provided from the Planning Officers. 

Potential pupils which may be generated 
from new housing developments is 
calculated using a formula providing by a 
partnering Authority (Conwy CBC) who 
derive the formula based on the latest 
census returns. 

Pupil teacher ratios are provided by 
publically available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), 
provided by Welsh Government and is 
updated on an annual basis.   

Foundation Phase and Core Subject 
Outcomes are provided by publically 
available statistics on a school 
(http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk), 
provided by Welsh Government is updated 
on an annual basis 

School Building condition information is 
provided by an external company who 
compare the school building condition 
against the building bulletin for Primary and 
Secondary schools 

Backlog maintenance information is 
provided by through independent 
consultants Property Condition Surveys are 
undertaken on a 5 year cycle. 
 
Priority Codes [definition] are as follows:- 
 
Priority 1: Urgent work required to be 
undertaken within 1 year 
Priority 2: Essential work required to be 
undertaken within 2 years 
Priority 3: Desirable work [deemed as] 
required to be undertaken within 3 to 5 years 
Priority 4: Long term work [deemed as] 
required to be undertaken outside the 5 year 
[cycle] period 
 
The element Total 1 - 3 defines a five year 
financial investment and element 4 defines a 
six - ten year financial investment. 
 
Work items are costed by the Consultant and 
include for preliminaries, labour, plant and 
materials etc. These costs are based on the 
current building cost information service 
[BCIS] provided by the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors, [RICS] as the leading 

http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/
http://mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk/


provider of cost and price information within 
the construction and maintenance areas. 
These costs [Unit Rates] are present within 
the condition survey software to a default 
figure and amended/updated as required by 
the Consultant. The budget costings are 
exclusive of VAT, updated annually [using 
inflation indices] and reviewed post 
completion of work. 
 

School suitability information is provided 
from Suitability surveys undertaken 
independently in line with DffE Asset 
Management guidance and reviewed by FCC 
officers and amended if work has been 
completed at schools post initial survey. 

School Budgetary Work is conducted using 
agreed formula as per the School budget 
forum. Cost per pupil data is obtained from 
the Authority’s section 52 budget 
statements. 

Travel distances between school sites is 
provided by the Flintshire County Council 
mapping system Route Finder 3.41 

Transport costs are provided by the 
infrastructure unit who administer home to 
school transport contracts. 

  
 

 
Consultation Process 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 Process caused stress and upset 

 Unfairly targeted 

 

 

 
The process follows regulatory guidance as 
set out in the Welsh Government’s School 
Organisation Code 2013. 
 
However, it is acknowledged that the 
process around school organisational 
change can be unsettling for pupils, staff 
and the school community. 
 
The proposal was put forward on the basis 
of criteria laid down in the Council’s School 
Modernisation Strategy, namely: 
 

 Unfilled places across the primary 
school portfolio – Ysgol Maes Edwin, 
Flint Mountain as at January 2015 
(PLASC) had 66 full time pupils with 
unfilled places of 13.16%.  As of 
September 2015 the school population 
has 55 full time pupils with unfilled 
places at 27.63%; 

 Diminishing resource criteria (i.e. 
schools supported by pupils not from 
their local community and/or small 
numbers within the community raise 
concern regarding sustainability within 



the school’s portfolio) - 83.63% of pupils 
attending Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint 
Mountain are not attending their local 
school; 

 Small School Criteria – The School 
population and capacity of Ysgol Maes 
Edwin, Flint Mountain is lower than 
national designation of a small school, 
additionally school numbers do not meet 
the minimum requirements of primary 
school models as noted in the Council’s 
School Modernisation Strategy, and 

 Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain is 
currently (July 2015) in Welsh 
Government categorisation 4, on a scale 
of 1 - 4, with 4 being the lowest for 
educational standards.   

 

 

Alternative Proposals 

Consultee Comment Local Authority Response 
 

 The site is perfect for a primary 
education PRU (Pupil Referral Unit) 
which is needed within Flintshire.  

 
Suggestion noted 
 
However, the Council has no plans for 
the site, and will not consider the future 
of the site until such time as to the 
school’s future is determined. 
 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX F 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Summary of responses to Standard Response Forms 

 

Question 1 Do you are agree with the proposal to close Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint 

Mountain by 31st August 2016? 

 Total Percentage 

Yes 1 1.9% 

No 52 98.1% 

 53  

 

Question 2 Please tell us if you are responding as: 

Type Total Percentage 

Pupil 3 5.7% 

Parent/Carer 19 35.8% 

Governor 3 5.7% 

Teacher 2 3.8% 

Support Staff 2 3.8% 

Local Resident 25 47.2% 

Other 7 13.2% 

Skipped Question 0 0% 

 61*  

 

* Respondents were able to respond in more than one capacity.  This explains 

why the total is greater than the number of respondents. 

Comment: The majority of respondents who are directly involved with the school 

(e.g. staff, governors, pupils, parents, carers, guardians) were against the proposal. 

Question 3 Please tell us do you have any alternative suggestions for sustainable 

education provision in Flint Mountain? 

Alternative Suggestion Total Percentage 

Federation 11 30.5% 

Use the school as a community hub 5 13.8%  

There is no need to change 5 13.8% 

Close schools that better fit the criteria 3 8.3% 

None 2 6% 

Pupil numbers are growing leave the 
school alone 

2 6% 

Make Chief Executive and Flintshire 
County Council Officers redundant and 
redirect the money to Ysgol Maes Edwin 

1 2.7% 

Sustainable education provision in Flint 
Mountain can only be achieved by keeping 
Ysgol Maes Edwin open. 

1 2.7% 

Mothball school and re-open as pupil 
numbers increase 

1 2.7% 



No surplus places need addressing for the 
benefit of all pupils across Flintshire 

1 2.7% 

Don’t use incorrect data 1 2.7% 

Nowhere within walking distance 1 2.7% 

Selected unjustly 1 2.7% 

Fill it to capacity 1 2.7% 

TOTAL 36 100% 

 
Comment: Of the 53 responded, 36 answered the question and 17 skipped the 

question. The majority of people who responded said that they would like to see 

Federation with another school as an alternative. 

Question 4 Additional comments or views regarding the proposal. 

Please note that the responses to this question have been considered as part of the 

main consultation responses in Appendix E. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Estyn response to the proposal to close Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain, 

with pupils transferring to other schools in the local area subject to parental 

preference. 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales. 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 

associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn.  

However Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 

and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 

organisation matters.  Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 

opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals. 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional 

information such as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional 

Consortia which deliver school improvement services to the schools within the 

proposal. 

Introduction 

The proposal is by Flintshire County Council.   

The proposal is to close Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain from 31st of August 2016 

with existing pupils transferring to other schools in the local area, subject to parental 

preference. 

Summary 

The proposal is part of Flintshire County Council’s School Modernisation Strategy, 

which aims to ensure that there are a sufficient number of school places, of the right 

type, in the right locations.    

It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the current 

standards of education in the area. 

Description and benefits 

The local authority has given a clear rationale for the proposed expected benefits 

when compared with the status quo in relation to finance, surplus places and the 

continuity and progression in pupils’ learning.  

The proposal clearly defines the expected benefits of the proposal which link well to 

the stated purpose and rationale. The local authority has provided sufficient evidence 

to show that the plan is likely to at least maintain the standard of education in the 

Flint Mountain, Flint and Northop area. 



The proposal notes appropriately the advantages of the proposal, which include the 

efficient and effective use of resources; a reduction of unfilled pupil places within the 

primary school network; at least maintaining the current standards and the quality of 

education in the area; and the reduction in travel to school for the majority of pupils 

should they choose their local school. 

The proposer has identified appropriately the disadvantages to the current proposal, 

which focus on the impact of the closure of Ysgol Maes Edwin on the staff currently 

employed at the school, the end of English medium primary provision in the village of 

Flint Mountain and the increase in travel time for a few pupils who live in this village. 

The local authority has provided clear evidence to show that it has considered other 

alternatives to this current proposal. These include maintaining the status quo and 

federating Ysgol Maes Edwin with another local school. They have demonstrated 

clearly the advantages and disadvantages of each option and the reasons for their 

preferred option. 

The proposer has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on pupil travel 

arrangements.  It intends to support home to school travel in line with the council’s 

transport policy.  It further recognises that the proposal will potentially result in 

reduced travel for most pupils currently attending Ysgol Maes Edwin.  However, the 

proposer recognises that the travel time would increase for a few pupils living in Flint 

Mountain, but this would not be in excess of the pupil travel guidelines. 

The proposer has appropriately shown how the proposal will affect surplus places by 

providing pupil numbers and surplus places in 2015 for schools in the area.  

The proposal appears to have taken appropriate account of the impact of the 

proposal on the Welsh language and the accessibility of Welsh medium provision in 

accordance with parental choice. 

The proposer has considered reasonably well the impact of the proposals on the 

quality of the outcomes, provision and leadership and management at Ysgol Maes 

Edwin, Ysgol Gwynedd, Cornist Community Primary School and Ysgol Owen Jones.  

The proposer has considered the outcomes of the most recent Estyn inspection 

reports and each school’s categorisation in relation to the National School 

Categorisation system on the quality of leadership and pupil outcomes.   The 

proposer’s summary of outcomes for all four schools is clear and compares 

appropriately with local, national and family of schools averages.  However, the 

proposer has not commented on comparisons with similar schools based on 

entitlement to free school meals. 

With the exception of Ysgol Owen Jones, Estyn inspected the other three schools 

between January 2014 and February 2015.  The judgements for the current 

performance and prospects for improvement were judged as good for these three 

schools.  Estyn inspected Ysgol Owen Jones in May 2010 and judged six out of the 



seven key questions as grade 2, with one being judged as grade 1. The local 

authority has also evaluated each school’s performance in relation to the National 

School Categorisation System.  Under the system, schools will be in one of four 

standards groups (1 to 4), with schools in standards group 1 demonstrating very 

good overall performance and those in standards group 4 demonstrating the greatest 

need for improved performance.  Ysgol Maes Edwin is currently in standards group 

4, Ysgol Gwynedd in standards group 2 and both Cornist Community Primary School 

and Ysgol Owen Jones in standards group 1. 

The proposer has appropriately considered the likely impact of the proposals on 

standards, wellbeing and curriculum delivery.  The proposer reasonably asserts that 

the proposal would not impact unfavourably on the current standards and provision 

at Ysgol Gwynedd, Cornist Community Primary School and Ysgol Owen Jones.    

The proposer has undertaken an appropriate equality impact assessment, which 
considers the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups including those with a 
disability or special educational needs.   
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX H 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX I 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





































 
Estyn response to the proposal to close Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain, 

with pupils transferring to other schools in the local area subject to parental 

preference. 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales. 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 

associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn.  

However Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 

and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 

organisation matters.  Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 

opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals. 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional 

information such as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional 

Consortia which deliver school improvement services to the schools within the 

proposal. 

Introduction 

The proposal is by Flintshire County Council.   

The proposal is to close Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain from 31st of August 2016 

with existing pupils transferring to other schools in the local area, subject to parental 

preference. 

Summary 

The proposal is part of Flintshire County Council’s School Modernisation Strategy, 

which aims to ensure that there are a sufficient number of school places, of the right 

type, in the right locations.    

It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the current 

standards of education in the area. 

Description and benefits 

The local authority has given a clear rationale for the proposed expected benefits 

when compared with the status quo in relation to finance, surplus places and the 

continuity and progression in pupils’ learning.  

The proposal clearly defines the expected benefits of the proposal which link well to 

the stated purpose and rationale. The local authority has provided sufficient evidence 

to show that the plan is likely to at least maintain the standard of education in the 

Flint Mountain, Flint and Northop area. 



The proposal notes appropriately the advantages of the proposal, which include the 

efficient and effective use of resources; a reduction of unfilled pupil places within the 

primary school network; at least maintaining the current standards and the quality of 

education in the area; and the reduction in travel to school for the majority of pupils 

should they choose their local school. 

The proposer has identified appropriately the disadvantages to the current proposal, 

which focus on the impact of the closure of Ysgol Maes Edwin on the staff currently 

employed at the school, the end of English medium primary provision in the village of 

Flint Mountain and the increase in travel time for a few pupils who live in this village. 

The local authority has provided clear evidence to show that it has considered other 

alternatives to this current proposal. These include maintaining the status quo and 

federating Ysgol Maes Edwin with another local school. They have demonstrated 

clearly the advantages and disadvantages of each option and the reasons for their 

preferred option. 

The proposer has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on pupil travel 

arrangements.  It intends to support home to school travel in line with the council’s 

transport policy.  It further recognises that the proposal will potentially result in 

reduced travel for most pupils currently attending Ysgol Maes Edwin.  However, the 

proposer recognises that the travel time would increase for a few pupils living in Flint 

Mountain, but this would not be in excess of the pupil travel guidelines. 

The proposer has appropriately shown how the proposal will affect surplus places by 

providing pupil numbers and surplus places in 2015 for schools in the area.  

The proposal appears to have taken appropriate account of the impact of the 

proposal on the Welsh language and the accessibility of Welsh medium provision in 

accordance with parental choice. 

The proposer has considered reasonably well the impact of the proposals on the 

quality of the outcomes, provision and leadership and management at Ysgol Maes 

Edwin, Ysgol Gwynedd, Cornist Community Primary School and Ysgol Owen Jones.  

The proposer has considered the outcomes of the most recent Estyn inspection 

reports and each school’s categorisation in relation to the National School 

Categorisation system on the quality of leadership and pupil outcomes.   The 

proposer’s summary of outcomes for all four schools is clear and compares 

appropriately with local, national and family of schools averages.  However, the 

proposer has not commented on comparisons with similar schools based on 

entitlement to free school meals. 

With the exception of Ysgol Owen Jones, Estyn inspected the other three schools 

between January 2014 and February 2015.  The judgements for the current 

performance and prospects for improvement were judged as good for these three 

schools.  Estyn inspected Ysgol Owen Jones in May 2010 and judged six out of the 



seven key questions as grade 2, with one being judged as grade 1. The local 

authority has also evaluated each school’s performance in relation to the National 

School Categorisation System.  Under the system, schools will be in one of four 

standards groups (1 to 4), with schools in standards group 1 demonstrating very 

good overall performance and those in standards group 4 demonstrating the greatest 

need for improved performance.  Ysgol Maes Edwin is currently in standards group 

4, Ysgol Gwynedd in standards group 2 and both Cornist Community Primary School 

and Ysgol Owen Jones in standards group 1. 

The proposer has appropriately considered the likely impact of the proposals on 

standards, wellbeing and curriculum delivery.  The proposer reasonably asserts that 

the proposal would not impact unfavourably on the current standards and provision 

at Ysgol Gwynedd, Cornist Community Primary School and Ysgol Owen Jones.    

The proposer has undertaken an appropriate equality impact assessment, which 
considers the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups including those with a 
disability or special educational needs.   
 

 





Appendix 4

Revised (October 2015) Anticipated Timetable
 for Ysgol Maes Edwin, Flint Mountain Statutory Proposals 

 DATES School Terms KEY MILESTONES

16/6/2015 Summer 2015
Cabinet approval obtained to commence 

consultation

Start 14/5/2015 finish 
21/10/2015

Spring/Summer Term 
2015

Preparation of Impact Assessments: 
Transport, Equality, Welsh Language, 
Buildings fit for purpose, Community

Start 14/5/2015 finish 
21/10/2015

Spring/Summer Term 
2015

Preparation of Consultation document 
(including young person’s version) 

Start 21/10/2015

Finish 2/12/2015

Autumn/Winter Term 
2015

Consultation document published

Must be published on a school day

(42 days with 20 school days)

Winter Term 2015

Alternative School Council Children’s 
Consultation Confirmed by Ysgol Maes 

Edwin, Flint Mountain Governors 
(11/11/2015)

23/11/2015 Winter Term 2015
Governors/Teachers and Support Staff 

Consultation Event

23/11/2015 Winter Term 2015
Parents/Carers/Guardian Consultation 

Event

Between 21/10/2015 
and 2/12/2015

Autumn/Winter Term 
2015

School Council Children’s Consultation 
with nearby affected Primary Schools 

Between 21/10/2015 
and 2/12/2015

Autumn/Winter Term 
2015

Meeting with Headteachers and Chair of 
Governors with nearby affected 

Primary Schools 
Deadline 2/12/2015 Winter Term 2015 Consultation Ends

Deadline by 
30/12/2015

Winter Term 2015
Consultation Report must be published 

within  3 months

19/1/2016 Winter Term 2016
Cabinet – Seeking Approval to go to next 

phase (Statutory Proposals)

Start 29/1/2016

Finish 26/2/2016
Spring Term 2016

Statutory Notice (28 days, with 15 school 
days)

Must be issued on a school day

Deadline 26/2/2016 Spring Term 2016 End of Objection Period



Appendix 4

Deadline 26/2/2016 – 
24/3/2016 

Spring Term 2016 Objection Report published within 28 days 
and with Cabinet within 35 days

19/4/2016 Spring Term 2016 Cabinet Decision

March – May 2016 
(latest)

Spring Term 2016 Workforce Collective Consultation

May 2016 Spring Term 2016
Workforce Individual Consultation/Notice 

with Teachers/Staff

31/08/2016 Autumn 2016 Implementation of School Closure



APPENDIX 5

Education & Youth Overview & Scrutiny Committee – 6th January, 2016

School Modernisation – School Standards and Reorganisation Action 2013 – 
Ysgol Maes Edwin

The comments and concerns raised by Members of the Committee focused on the 
following areas:-

 Federation
A number of comments were made around the possibility of a federation, with 
questions being asked on whether enough time had been given to the school 
to explore the possibility of a federation, the savings which could be achieved 
through federation and whether the departure of the Headteacher had impacted 
the ability to progress with a federation.  

The Chief Officer for Education & Youth and Senior Manager, School 
Planning and Provision explained that it had been confirmed that no 
neighbouring school was willing to form a federation with Ysgol Maes 
Edwin.  The departure of the Headteacher therefore had no impact on the 
ability of local schools to progress with a federation. 

When asked, the officers confirmed that delaying a decision by two 
months to implement a proposal would significantly prolong uncertainty 
for families and the wider school community, as implementation would 
no longer be possible for the commencement of the 2016-17 academic 
year.

 Alternative School Capacity and the impact of Housing Developments
A number of comments were made around capacity at neighbouring Schools, 
with question being asked on whether certain year groups within Ysgol Owen 
Jones were full, the capacity at neighbouring Schools to ensure sibling/friend 
groups remained together in the event of a school closure and whether 
childcare provision was similar at neighbouring Schools. 

Concerns were also raised around the impact the Croes Atti Housing 
Development would have on pupil numbers in Flint and whether closing a 
school in Flint would have negative impact on school places in the future. 

The Chief Officer and Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision 
confirmed that there was sufficient capacity in the local schools network 
to accommodate pupils from Ysgol Maes Edwin in the event of closure.  
The Committee was also informed that capacity was being closely 
monitored.



Some year groups at Ysgol Owen Jones were full but the Committee was 
informed of options available to headteachers to alter class structures at 
the beginning of each academic year.

 Transition Arrangements
Further information on future transition arrangements, in the event of school 
closure, was requested, especially for those vulnerable groups of learners with 
Additional Learning Needs. 

The Chief Officer outlined the importance of supporting all children 
through the transition of school organisational change before, during and 
after the process and referred to the provision of individual plans for 
pupils, especially for those vulnerable groups of learners with Additional 
Learning Needs, in the event of school closure and transfer to other 
schools.  

 Consultation process/documentation
Concerns were raised around the consultation process, with comments made 
that all conclusions within the consultation document justified school closure 
and that the consultation documents did not measure the effect of school 
closure on the community and the lives of individuals.

Concern was also raised around the general process which was believed to be 
the first step in the Authority re-organising the whole excellent primary school 
network across Flintshire.    

The Chief Officer and Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision 
reported on the Authority’s statutory responsibility to manage the supply 
of school places.  Information on the consultation process, which was a 
legal requirement, was also provided to the Committee.

The Cabinet Member for Education responded to the comments and 
outlined the level of austerity faced by the Authority and the current and 
future cuts to the level of funding received which had resulted in 
maximum savings being achieved in other service areas.   

Comments were also made around the improved school pupil numbers since 2008 
and the benefits to pupils of attending a small school.  Concern was also raised around 
the Council’s Policy on parental choice which it was felt was being used against Ysgol 
Maes Edwin as part of the School Modernisation Strategy criteria.  It was felt that there 
was a danger that pupils who attended Ysgol Maes Edwin would have to move back 
to a school they had previously left because of a number of personal reasons.  



The Committee also asked questions on the projected savings from school closure 
and how these would be re-invested.

The Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision outlined the projected 
savings and commented that funding for pupils would ‘follow’ the pupil in the 
event of school closure. 

A number of Members, raised concerns on the Welsh Government National 
Categorisation Model, with a request that the Authority proceed with caution, that in 
the event of school closure, pupils would receive a similar standard of education at a 
neighbouring school.  Concerns were also raised over the Authority’s responsibility 
around the standard of education and school building at Ysgol Maes Edwin.

The Chief Officer and Senior Manager, School Planning and Provision explained 
that it was the opinion of Estyn that the proposals would at least maintain the 
quality of learning for the pupils in the event of school closure.

The Committee also suggested that consideration be given, in the event of school 
closure, to financially assisting parents with the cost of new school uniforms.

The Chief Officer agreed to give consideration to this suggestion as part of the 
planned transition arrangements.

RECOMMENDATION

(a) That the Committee recommend to Cabinet that the process be suspended for 
two months to allow the opportunity for federation to be reviewed; and

(b) That the comments of the Committee be collated and presented to Cabinet at 
its meeting on the 19th January, 2016.   





CABINET MEETING

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject Strategic Housing and Regeneration Project (SHARP)

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Housing

Report Author Chief Officer (Community & Enterprise)

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report seeks Cabinet approval to progress the next key stages of the 
Council’s Strategic Housing And Regeneration Programme (SHARP) and sets out 
proposals to develop the former Custom House School site, Connah’s Quay.

The regeneration of the site will see the development of 12 Council homes which 
will enhance the housing opportunities available to local people living in Connah’s 
Quay.

This report provides an update on the mobilisation works undertaken to date in 
readiness to commence the construction of the scheme in February 2016, 
providing a rationale for the recommended funding model along with proposed 
timeframe for delivery.

The report identifies standard scheme development assumptions which subject to 
approval will be utilised to assess the viability of individual schemes against costs.
 
The report also outline proposals for future sites and Community Benefits which 
will be delivered as part of the overall SHARP.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Cabinet approve the development of 12 new Council homes on Custom 
House School site, Connah’s Quay at a total cost of £1,548,936.

2 Cabinet approve the standard scheme development assumptions as 
identified in 1.20.



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING NEXT KEY STAGES OF THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC 
HOUSING AND REGENERATION PROGRAMME (SHARP)

1.01 BACKGROUND

1.02 At Cabinet in September 2014, approval was given to undertake a major 
procurement process to appoint a development partner, with the aim of 
developing 500 new homes (council housing and affordable housing) at a 
range of sites across the county, alongside commissioning a range of 
linked regeneration initiatives and community benefits. The Programme 
will run for an initial period of 5 years. The Programme is overseen by a 
Partnership Board whose decisions are subject to approval by Cabinet.

1.03 The Commissioning Objectives (as approved by Cabinet in September 
2014) are detailed below and illustrated in Appendix 1.  

 Delivery of the Programme in a manner responsive to local needs 
and priorities;

 Quality of Housing which conforms to at least local planning level 3; 
 A funding model which provides the initial capital investment for the 

Developments through borrowing; lease back; buy back options or 
other arrangements to be recouped through increased income from 
rents;

 Value for money facilitated by competitive pricing; robust and 
transparent costings supported by open book accounting1; 
performance reporting and monitoring;

 Workforce and training initiatives;
 Environmental protection and improvements; 
 Development of sub-contracting and supply chain opportunities 

including transparency of opportunities and award procedures 
including advertisement through Sell2Wales;

 Increased social capital through engagement and consultation with 
the community.

1.04 In June 2015 following an extensive procurement exercise, Wates Living 
Space were appointed as the Council’s preferred Development partner for 
the next five years. 

Considerations

1.05 Custom House School - Site Context

1.06 The site is located in the west of Connah’s Quay on the B5126 named 
Mold Road. The site is within a predominately residential area. The site is 
currently vacant and was most recently occupied by Custom House Lane 
Junior School which has been demolished due to the building of the new 
Ysgol Cae Nant school to provide the services of Custom House Lane 
Junior School and Dee Road Infants School.

1.07 Design and Lay out



1.08 Appendix 2 shows there will be 12 two storey houses on the site arranged 
into 2 terraced blocks and 3 semi-detached blocks. 8 units will be 2 
bedroom properties identified as Type 1. Four units are 3 bedroom 
properties identified as Type 2.  The site is 0.2 hectares and with 12 
properties proposed on the site, maximises the use of land available.

1.09 Properties and land associated with each property will be designed to 
comply with Secured by Design guidelines and the Council’s “Flintshire 
House Standard”. The standard will inform the design and specification of 
all the new housing delivered through the SHARP and form a benchmark 
to ensure consistent, good quality of internal layout, and fixtures and 
fittings, high standards of energy efficiency and external appearance in 
keeping with local circumstance, low maintenance product specifications, 
adequate parking and a public realm designed to promote cohesive and 
inclusive communities. 

1.10 A working group of Cabinet Members, Officers and tenants worked 
together during 2015 to develop the Flintshire House Standard which has 
been approved by Cabinet. This standard was developed following 
rigorous review of industry building standards, Housing Association 
scheme development standards for Social Housing grant, and Lifetime 
Homes Standards. Visits were made to new build schemes to see new 
projects in development and discussion and advice took place with 
development experts.

1.11 The council wanted its own distinctive standard which would provide a high 
quality living environment with adequate storage and living space, which 
was attractive and affordable in use and which could be adapted to suit 
changing needs during a family life course. The full standard is attached at 
Appendix 4.

1.12 Appendix 3 shows that the primary design development of the scheme’s 
appearance has been driven by the appearance of the former Custom 
House School when in existence. It is proposed that materials will respect 
the predominant materials within the surrounding area which are facing 
brick and fibre cement slate. Other materials and features that are 
proposed will be contrasting blue facing brickwork features and courses 
that imitate features that existed on the original school, natural stone cills / 
heads and stone detailing such as date-stones and features recovered 
from the school.  

1.13 Following planning approval on the 15th December 2015, it is proposed 
that the build for the scheme will commence February 2016, with a 
projected completion in February 2017.
 

1.14 Custom House School, Connah’s Quay - Build Costs 

1.15 Appendix 5 provides detail on scheme costs and financial assumptions. 
Total scheme build costs are £1,548,936. This is made up of two 
elements; scheme build costs of £1,496,972, which provide for a 50 year 
pay back and additional investment costs of £51,964. These have arisen 
for a number of reasons; £c6k relates to additional costs to meet the 



councils quality specification for parking and kitchens, £3k party wall 
works, £c6k as a result of changes to Construction Design and 
Management (CDM) Regulations 2015 and the remainder relates to 
additional cost for drainage and foundations due to the development being 
brownfield and specific requirements needed to deal with waste/water 
management. 

1.16 As part of the Wates tender the Flint scheme was used as a model to 
compare the different bidders costs. These were used as a benchmark for 
assessing the costs of the Custom House scheme (and will be for others), 
and assurance has been provided by the councils Quantity Surveyor that 
the scheme meets the councils’ design specification and provides best 
value for the council.

1.17 This development site is on council fund land which will be acquired by the 
HRA.

1.18 Funding Options

1.19 Various funding solutions has been explored for the new Council homes to 
be built. These solutions range from private borrowing; lease back; buy 
back options or Council borrowing which will be then recouped through 
rental incomes (which are predicted through robust models making agreed 
allowances for voids; maintenance costs; rental income levels (including 
CPI etc.). 

1.20 For public-finance routes, the Council’s position is strong given the 
voluntary agreement for Housing Revenue Account (HRA) self-financing.  
This option offers routes to long-term debt which remain good value for 
money for the council. Alongside completion of the Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard (WHQS) for the existing stock, the Council has been successful 
in securing an additional allocation of borrowing headroom for a HRA new 
build programme (£14,757m) and the HRA is likely to generate further 
revenue and borrowing headroom during the life of this programme.

1.21 With this in mind, it is considered appropriate for prudential borrowing to 
be utilised by the Council (as the preferred option) for the provision of new 
Council Housing within the Programme. Whilst this approach will be 
reviewed on a site by site basis, this option is cost effective and 
considered appropriate for the Custom House School scheme as the 
Council properties will remain in the ownership of the Council and the 
anticipated level of expenditure is sustainable within the context of HRA 
self-financing.  

1.22 Now that councils are starting to build new homes it would be beneficial 
(and appropriate) for them to have access to grant and loan funding to 
support new development in the same way that Housing Associations do. 
Work is underway with Welsh Government to consider and develop 
proposals for this.  

1.23 Standard Development scheme assumptions have been developed and 
are described below. These make allowances for voids; maintenance 
costs; rental income levels (including CPI etc.) and will be used to assess 
all potential new build development schemes to determine scheme 



feasibility and viability with a minimum requirement for all Cabinet 
approved schemes to pay back the scheme costs within 50 years.

1.24 Following rigorous bench marking, the following assumptions are 
recommended for approval.

 Management costs     -      £400 per annum

 Maintenance Costs     -     Year 1  - £100 (defects liability should  
                                          cover anything apart from gas servicing) 

Years 2/3 -  £200, yr 4+ £400

 Major repairs              -      0.8%, deferred to 5 year

 Voids/bad debts         -      2.5%

1.25 It is proposed to review the Development Scheme Assumptions 
periodically to ensure these remain prudent.  For major regeneration 
schemes or schemes on difficult brownfield sites, some additional scheme 
grant or scheme investment may be needed to support full scheme by 
scheme cost recovery in 50 years. This could be in the form of Social 
Housing Grant, Housing Finance Grant, commuted sums, or additional 
capital support from HRA/NEW Homes as appropriate. 

1.26 Future SHARP Schemes

1.27 SHARP housing schemes at The Walks, Flint and Maes y Meilion, 
Leeswood will be presented to Cabinet in February 2016 for approval. 

1.28 Detailed financial appraisal work on The Walks scheme is currently being 
jointly being undertaken with Wates Living Space.  This work has taken 
longer than originally estimated due to Archaeology Wales interest in The 
Walks site. In addition the Design Commission for Wales has, at the 
request of the council, reviewed the Walks scheme, which has added a 
few weeks delay in finalising the scheme, but also provides increased 
confidence in a scheme in a major town centre location ahead of Planning 
Committee consideration. It is anticipated that the construction of the 
scheme will begin in Spring 2016 subject to all necessary approvals.

1.29 Community Benefits

1.30 An integral element of the SHARP is to support the achievement of the 
strategic objectives of the Council’s Regeneration Strategy: ‘a competitive 
Flintshire; sustainable communities and the creation of employment and 
skills’ (including working with disadvantaged and targeted groups and 
social businesses; the development of supply chain opportunities 
(including for small and medium enterprises; local employment; education 
and training initiatives). the terms of the SHARP, Wates have 
contractualised performance measures and targets they must achieve in 
the delivery of these community benefits.

1.31 Wates will also employ Social Enterprises as part of the supply chain who 



can provide services such as cleaning, printing, signage and recruitment 
services.  At least two Social Enterprises will be used during the course of 
the SHARP.

1.32 Another element of the approach adopted has been to engage with local 
SMEs at a recent “Meet the Buyer” event held at St David’s Park Hotel, 
Ewloe for local subcontractors.  An estimated £40M worth of sub-
contracting work packages are set to be awarded to local firms through the 
programme  This has been highly successful with a number of local 
contractors now registered with Wates to be considered for contractual 
opportunities for the SHARP.

1.33 A Project Board, chaired by the Chief Officer for Community and 
Enterprise along with representation from Cabinet, Coleg Cambria, 
Contractor Partners and other key local stakeholders is also working to 
develop plans for the creation of a Training Academy to ensure that 
sustainable and meaningful apprenticeship opportunities are created for 
young people to not only work on the SHARP, but also other major Council 
construction programmes including the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 
(WHQS) which will see the Council spending £107 million over six years to 
bring its 7,200 Council homes up to the WHQS.

1.34 Through this partnership approach it is envisaged that an estimated 20 
apprenticeships could be created each year. 

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 £14,757m borrowing approval is available for a council house building 
programme. Each scheme will require individual cabinet approval and 
each scheme will be assessed against the scheme development criteria 
identified in 1.20 of this report. The process for doing this will provide for 
total scheme costs plus financing costs and management costs to be 
offset against rental income over 50 years. 

2.02 Scheme costs and financial analysis are attached at Appendix 5. This 
shows total scheme costs of £1,548,936 and how the scheme performs 
against scheme development assumptions identified in paragraph 1.20. 
The scheme achieves pay back in year 50 with additional investment costs 
of £51, 964, which are required due to the nature of the site, the council’s 
quality standard and changes to CDM regulations. 

2.03 The scheme has been assessed as providing best value for the council by 
qualified cost control staff.  

2.04 The scheme requires acquisition of a council fund site by the HRA and this 
can be achieved in a cost neutral manner.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT



3.01 There has been community consultation throughout Flintshire County 
Council for the site. The proposed scheme was subject to a further 
community consultation on Monday 5th October at St David’s Institute from 
2pm till 7pm. 

3.02 For the event Halliday Clark provided 8 information boards on the proposal. 
The consultation was attended by officers from Flintshire County Council, 
Halliday Clark Architects and Wates Living Space. A register was taken 
with 16 names signed. Consultation comments were submitted along with 
the presentation and register as part of this application. Planning approval 
was granted on 16th December 2015.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The Operational Risk Register is in place for the SHARP Housing 
Programme which is regularly updated in relation to emerging and 
changing risks.  This is in addition to Project specific Risks and Strategic 
Risks.

4.02 The SHARP team continues to develop a framework for managing risk and 
opportunities the programme generates.  Further work is on-going in order 
to improve the robustness in risk identification and management as part of 
the new CAMMS system which will contain Development Framework 
procedures.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 – SHARP Commissioning Objectives

Appendix 2 – Site Layout Plan Custom House School site, Connah’s Quay

Appendix 3 – Architectural Drawing of Custom House School site, 
Connah’s Quay

Appendix 4 - Flintshire House Standard

Appendix 5- Scheme Financial Analysis 

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Contact Office: Clare Budden
Job Title: Chief Officer Community and Enterprise
Telephone: 01352 703800
E-mail: clare.budden@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

mailto:clare.budden@flintshire.gov.uk


7.01 Strategic Housing And Regeneration Programme (SHARP) – Flintshire 
County Council House Building Programme which will build 500 new homes 
(200 Council) and 300 (affordable)

Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) - Flintshire County Council will be 
spending £111 million over six years on a major refurbishment and maintenance 
programme of works bring its 7,200 Council homes up to the Welsh 
Government’s Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) new properties across 
the Council during the next five years.

Standard Development Scheme Assumptions - agreed allowances for 
voids; maintenance costs; rental income levels (including CPI etc.) and will 
be used to assess all potential future development schemes to determine 
scheme feasibility and viability.

Community Benefits – the SHARP has contractualised Community 
Benefits which must be delivered as part of the programme. The Council 
sees an important outcome of the programme is the promotion of quality of 
life for Flintshire residents through improved employment, training and 
education opportunities.

Meet the Buyer – Event organised by the Council and Wates Living 
Space to engage with local SMEs to maximize local supply chain 
opportunities with Flintshire.



NEW HOUSING SUPPORTS ECONOMIC REGENERATION

    

    

HOUSING

      Delivery of the Programme

     Quality Homes

     Provision of Capital Investment

    SHARED OBJECTIVES

Value for Money

Protection and Improvement 

of the Environment

Workforce and Training 

Programmes

Supply Chain Initiatives

Community Engagement

REGENERATION

Regeneration of the Economy

Benefits to the Community

Contribution to Education 

COMMISSIONING OBJECTIVES

IMPROVEMENT  PLAN

SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN

HOUSING STRATEGY

FLINT DEVELOPMENT BRIEF

ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN

REGENERATION STRATEGY

FLINT MASTERPLAN

REGENERATION SUPPORTS EFFECTIVE DELIVERY OF NEW HOUSING

APPENDIX 2





Document for illustration 
purposes only

Document for illustration 
purposes only









Flintshire Housing 
Standard

Draft

24 March 2015

Page 147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL



Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 1

CONTENTS

ABOUT THE FLINTSHIRE HOUSE STANDARD..................................................................................2

DESIGN REQUIREMENTS....................................................................................................................3

1. General Design Requirements 3
2. External Appearance of Homes 3
3. Space Standards and Room Layouts 4
4. Access and Circulation 5
5. Sustainability and Energy Efficiency 6
6. Parking 6
7. Lifetime Homes 7
8. Stairs 7
9. Service Meters 8
10. Sprinkler Systems 8
11. Communal Areas 8
12. Apartments 8
13. Loft Space 9
14. Flooring 9
15. Kitchens 9
16. Bathrooms 9
17. Gardens and Boundaries 10

OTHER REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................................................11

18. Detailed Specification 11
19. Building Information Modelling 12

Produced by Project Development Workshop Ltd for Flintshire County 
Council

Ragan House, 674 Knutsford Road, Warrington, WA4 1JH
:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com

‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 148

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/
http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 2

ABOUT THE FLINTSHIRE HOUSE STANDARD

The Flintshire House Standard is a set of key design principles that is intended to ensure new 
homes built or facilitated by Flintshire County Council are of high quality and excellent value. 

The expectation is that the Standard helps to ensure new homes provide a successful legacy 
in respect of both the individual homes and the neighbourhoods in which they are located. 

The Standard is intended not to be onerous or impractical and seeks to avoid duplicating 
other good practice standards. Instead it should utilise these relevant standards as a frame of 
reference and provide clarity on the extent to which these other standards should be applied. 

The Standard also avoids duplication with principles that are already outlined by the Council’s 
planning guidance and Building Regulations. 

The Council may require different standards on occasion, for instance if attracting funding 
from the Welsh Assembly Government or if there are particular specialist requirements, for 
instance for a supported or specialist housing development.

In addition, the Council understand that quality new homes rely not only on clear design 
requirements, but also quality collaborative processes and strong communication. These are 
equally important aspirations from any of the Council’s partners.

Page 149

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 3

DESIGN REQUIREMENTS

1. General Design Requirements

Building for Life 

The Council require the use of the Building for Life 12 assessment to consider the merits of 
development proposals and what successful, sustainable development looks like. The Building 
for Life 12 principles should be applied to measure how well designed, well integrated, 
functional, attractive, and sustainable new homes and neighbourhoods are.
See: http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/knowledge-resources/guide/building-life-12-third-
edition

The Council will expect all schemes to receive mainly green traffic lights and amber when 
constraints of the site mean that a green is not possible. 

Welsh Housing Quality Standards and Welsh Design Quality Requirements

Welsh Housing Quality Standards (WHQS), which was revised in 2008, outlines the Welsh 
Assembly Government’s vision that all households in Wales should have the opportunity to 
live in good quality homes. WHQS sets standards for all social housing, including existing 
homes.

Welsh Design Quality Requirements of 2005 (WDQR), overlaps to much of an extent with the 
WHQS, but applies to housing association new build projects. As it applies to new build it is 
therefore generally more relevant to the Flintshire Housing Standard. 

General compliance with WHQS and WDQR internally/externally for all Council and Affordable 
Properties is expected, other than where the exceptions detailed within this guidance apply 
and/or where the standards have been superseded by the Flintshire House Standard (e.g. 
amended Lifetime Homes requirements) or have become outdated. 

When viable, the Council would also welcome Private Market properties meeting these 
standards.

2. External Appearance of Homes

External appearance of Council, Affordable, and Private Market Properties should be “tenure 
blind”. This will ensure that the Flintshire Standard will leave a lasting legacy in terms of 
external appearance and creating coherent mixed tenure neighbourhoods. This does not 
mean that properties must be identical or have the same internal layout, nor does it mean 
that the developer’s standard house types cannot be used. 

This means that the external appearance of the properties is not an obvious clear indication 
of occupier’s tenure.

Page 150

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/
http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/knowledge-resources/guide/building-life-12-third-edition
http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/knowledge-resources/guide/building-life-12-third-edition


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 4

The Council also expect that new homes and developments have distinctive character through 
the use of materials, finishes, building styles and landscaping details. This will provide a 
development with a coherent appearance, where new homes complement each other, 
without all homes looking exactly the same. 

The design of homes should also consider how they fit in with the local surroundings and 
topography. 

3. Space Standards and Room Layouts

Flintshire’s new homes should provide sufficient space and smart design to allow the 
intended household size to live, study, play, work, host guests, and comfortably store 
everyday household items.

Floor space dimensions for the Council and Affordable homes should generally be in 
accordance with Welsh Housing Quality Standards (WHQS) and Welsh Design Quality 
Requirements’ (WDQR), stipulated minimum expected furniture per room (and the expected 
size of different furniture items detailed in the WHQS and WDQR), circulation, and storage 
requirements. There is clear guidance in the WDQR on this, so it is not duplicated in the 
Flintshire Standard.

Where viable, it is proposed that these principles will also be applied for private market 
properties

It is important to note that, because of the Council’s flexibility on some elements of Lifetime 
Homes (as listed below), a slightly different set of space standards is included in the Flintshire 
House Standard to the notional standards suggested in the WDQR, which includes provision 
for full Lifetime Homes. Subsequently, the Council expect new homes built to the Flintshire 
House Standard to meet the following space requirements:

Type  Anticipated Metre2 

1 bed 2 person flat 45 – 51

2 bed 3 person flat 57 – 65

2 bed 4 person house 71 – 83

3 bed 5 person house 85 – 94 

The above are some typical expected house types. Further guidance will be provided if other 
house types are required, which will be in alignment with these principles. 

Page 151

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 5

The aim of offering a range of sizes is not to encourage always building to the lower end of 
the range, but to offer some flexibility to respond to site and viability constraints whilst 
maintaining a minimum acceptable level. Generally the Council will expect homes to be built 
towards the middle-higher end of the ranges provided.

The ceiling height is to be 2.4m for all Council, Affordable and Private Market Properties.

Storage

Adequate built in storage should be provided for both clean items (e.g. laundry etc) and dirty 
items (e.g. mops).

Minimum internal storage required should include:

1 bedroom 1.5m2

2 bedrooms  2m2

3 bedrooms 2.5m2

Some storage will need to be 2m high, in order to store tall items – e.g. brooms. 

External storage will be required for bikes and gardening equipment (when applicable) as per 
the WDQR.

Studying and working from home

All new homes should allow space for studying and working from home, with relevant 
services (e.g. plug sockets, internet, telephone connections) relating to the identified space. 

Garden sizes

Gardens for houses and bungalows should be a minimum useable area of 30m2 unless 
otherwise agreed by the Council and should include a level, paved area (min 3m2) accessible 
from the back door, and paved access to the garden gate (if applicable).

Further guidance on sizes and sloping requirements are provided in the WDQR. 

4. Access and Circulation
 
Front entrance

The external front entrance to new houses should be accessible (as per Lifetime Homes), 
covered (e.g. canopy), and illuminated. 

Entrance from front door to living room

Page 152

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 6

The front door to new homes should not open directly into the living room. Front doors 
should open into a lobby area, circulation space, or entrance hall that will act as a buffer.

Access to gardens

Generally it should either be possible to access the garden from the kitchen without needing 
to pass through the living room, or to reach the rear garden from the street without having to 
pass through the main living room.

All family homes should be provided with gardens that are convenient to access and safe for 
small children to play in.

Circulation Space

Generally all separate rooms should be accessed from corridors/circulation space, as opposed 
to through a different room. 

However, this should not discount the option of open plan kitchen-dining-living spaces, which 
could be considered as a single room accessed from the corridor if agreed by the Council and 
if this makes sense to the requirements of the target markets identified for the homes. 

5. Sustainability and Energy Efficiency

Ensuring homes are energy efficient and affordable to keep warm whilst mitigating the impact 
of new homes on the environment are key aims of the Flintshire House Standard.

While noting that the improvement to Building Regulations Part L have superseded elements 
of the Code for Sustainable Homes (CSH), a minimum of CSH Level 3 is required on all 
elements. The only exception is the Energy & C02 element where level 4 standards are 
expected as a minimum for all Council, Affordable and Private Market Properties. 

A “fabric first” approach should be adopted to achieve required levels of energy efficiency.

Due to the high levels of energy efficiency required, it will be essential to demonstrate 
ventilation strategies early on, and how these will help to avoid condensation and meet 
Building Regulations. Sufficient levels of controllable ventilation are essential.

It will also be important to demonstrate strategies for preventing overheating that are not 
reliant on mechanical ventilation.  

6. Parking

The Council wish to see development that is car friendly, but not dominated by cars. The 
maximum parking ratios, as defined in the Council’s supplementary planning guidance on 

Page 153

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 7

parking, should be followed alongside discussions with planners on a site by site basis that will 
also consider visitor parking.

The Council would like parking to be visible to residents, but recognise that the viability of this 
will need to respond to the individual context of each site and its constraints. Therefore this 
will be a planning consideration on a site by site basis.

Guidance should also be taken from Building for Life 12 and WDQR. 

Parking should be easily identified as being linked to the home that the space serves. 

Access from the parking space to the home should be convenient, clear, safe, and well-lit. 
Parking spaces should not be within 2 metres of any window.

7. Lifetime Homes

The Council is eager that new properties are flexible so as to meet future needs of the 
residents.  The Council will not require full Lifetime Homes standards to be met, but will 
welcome proposals from developers on the use of key elements of the Lifetimes Homes 
standard to apply to all Council and Affordable homes, and when viable, Private Market 
Properties. It is anticipated that the most important aspects of Lifetime Homes for the Council 
would be: 

 First floor bathroom side access to WC and bath
 First floor bathroom space potential to convert to walk in shower
 Ground floor level WC
 Sockets controls etc. at a convenient height
 Turning space for wheelchairs in ground floor living rooms
 Space provision for a future stairlift 
 Walls able to accommodate fitting of future handrails etc.
 Wide enough doors and halls to allow wheelchair access
 Accessible threshold, covered and lit
 Level or gently sloping access to entrance (when practical)

While a ground floor WC is required in houses, the ability to create a future ground floor level 
access shower (as per full Lifetime Homes) is not required, as the elements of Lifetime Homes 
retained should enable the continued use of the upstairs bathroom, irrespective of mobility 
(see below). This also mitigates the requirement for a potential through-floor lift. 

For bungalows or specialist homes, full Lifetime Homes and additional standards may well be 
required and details of the different requirements will be confirmed in such instances.

Page 154

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 8

8. Stairs

Due to the design requirement that the upstairs bathroom has the potential to be adapted 
into a level access walk in shower, the potential to install a stairlift is also required. It is 
therefore anticipated that winders on stairs will typically not be appropriate, unless it is clear 
how future adaptations will be possible (i.e. the stairlift) and how other challenges associated 
with winders, such as movement of furniture can be mitigated.

At least one handrail should be provided on the stairs.

9. Service Meters

Service meters for utilities (e.g. gas, electricity, and water) should be clearly marked and 
accessible for utility companies outside of properties. Care should be taken that the meter 
cupboards are discreetly positioned and do not dominate the external appearance of the 
properties in an unattractive manner.

10. Sprinkler Systems

It is important to note the Welsh Assembly’s intention to make sprinkler systems mandatory 
in all new homes, with this expected to come into force in 2016.

11. Communal Areas

Areas that will require maintaining via a service contract (for instance communal landscaping) 
should be minimised as much as possible at the design stage in consultation with the Council. 
This is to reduce the need for service charges, which will have affordability consequences for 
both the Council and its customers.

Detailed specification for communal spaces will be agreed with the Council on a case by case 
basis, but there will be an emphasis on communal space, where it is required, being 
attractive, safe, visible, and cost effective to maintain and manage. 

12. Apartments

While the Flintshire House Standard focuses mainly on houses, the Council recognises the role 
that apartments can play in parts of the Flintshire housing market and that these will be 
appropriate for certain sites for various reasons. 

It is important to the Council to minimise the extent of internal communal circulation space 
within any apartment blocks and to ensure efficient external space that is easy and cost 
effective to manage and maintain whilst still being attractive. 

Page 155

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 9

The council will consider "cottage flat" type arrangements, in which the occupier of the first 
floor apartment can access their home from their front door on street level. The Council will 
also consider access via secure (resident only) open air stairwells that minimise management 
costs and liabilities. These would be subject to the detail of these offering an attractive design 
solution (a return to the 1960’s style deck-access approach would not be welcome). 

The Council understand that in some cases, to achieve high levels of design, cost efficiency, 
and appropriate density, some apartment blocks may require internal circulation space. In 
such instances the Council expect a real emphasis on these being designed to be secure 
spaces, maximising visibility, and designing out communal hidden areas. In these scenarios 
the Council also expects these to be efficient spaces in terms of management and 
maintenance costs.

Lifts will only be considered in older person, specialist, and supported blocks or apartment 
blocks greater than four storeys. The lift manufacturer will need to be agreed with the Council 
and the lift should be open protocol in terms of maintenance. 

13. Loft Space

All roof voids must be have a roof access hatch in a circulation area. Access must avoid door 
swings and stairs. Hatches should be lockable and insulated as per the adjacent ceiling.

The Council does not generally expect lofts to be fully boarded, although boarding should be 
used to prevent any loose/fibrous insulation from becoming airborne. 

Some developments should have full boarding as part of the detailed specification, subject to 
feasibility and whether this will have a detrimental impact on achieving other priorities.

If loft mounted services have been unavoidable, access ways should be provided (e.g. 
plywood) between the access hatch and service area. The hatch should be of an appropriate 
size to allow servicing of equipment. 

14. Flooring

The Council will typically require flooring in kitchens and bathrooms to be non-slip vinyl 
flooring or an alternative (as agreed with the Council), with choices to be agreed with the 
Council.  

15. Kitchens

Kitchens should meet the requirements outlined in WDQR. They should include space for all 
appliances within the kitchen or adjacent utility room if applicable.

16. Bathrooms

Page 156

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 10

All two storey (or more) houses will require an accessible ground floor WC and hand-wash 
basin. 

The first floor bathroom should include a bath and a shower, and have the ability to be 
adapted to a level access shower in the future.

17. Gardens and Boundaries 

WDQR provides guidance on gardens and boundary requirements that should be followed.

Gardens should be turfed or seeded as per agreement with the Council.

Boundaries between gardens should be at least 1200mm high and be fenced with timber 
close boarded fencing or an alternative as per agreement by the Council.

Page 157

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 11

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

18. Detailed Specification

The Flintshire House Standard provides key overarching design principles for Flintshire’s New 
Homes Programme, which will inform the delivery of the Council’s Strategic Housing and 
Regeneration Partnership. 

The Council expect to agree a detailed specification as part of the contract documentation, 
which will include performance requirements for each building contract/site delivered 
through the SHARP or by a separate arrangement.

In addition to further detail on the above items, the Council will require specific agreement, 
as part of any contract documentation of the following items:

Specification

 Heating and hot water  Fire alarms, heat and smoke detectors
 Ventilation systems  Ironmongery
 Internal decoration  Timber and Joinery
 External decoration  Refuse storage
 External doors  Internal lighting
 Internal doors  External lighting
 Windows  Kitchen unit manufacturer and range
 Bathroom and sanitary ware  Sheds (when required)
 Telephone, TV, and internet installations  Rainwater goods
 TV aerials  Service installations
 Communal digital TV services (apartments)  Meter positioning
 Door intercom systems (apartments)  Intruder alarms (when required)
 Warden call systems (when applicable)  Lifts 
 Hard and soft landscaping detail  Site signage
 Sprinkler system  Any other items identified by the Council 

Process and other information

The Council will also expect to obtain and agree detail of the following as part of each 
site/contract: 

 Building warranty  Number of keys

Page 158

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


Flintshire Housing Standard

Project Development Workshop Ltd
St James Business Centre, Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6PS

:  0870 757 0990  : www.pdw-uk.com
                            ‘Copyright © Project Development Workshop Ltd 2015’             

Page 12

 Collateral warranties  Tenant choices 
 Performance bond
 Component whole life costings

 Maintenance and H&S manuals
 Supply chain details

 Handover process requirements for the 
Council 

 Tenant handover packs
 Local labour

 Defects liability information, response 
times, and key performance indicators for 
during the defects period

 Considerate construction scheme
 Fire risk assessments

19. Building Information Modelling 

The Council would encourage the use of Building Information Modelling (BIM), which allows 
greater depth of collaboration at design stage and the modelling of the proposed buildings in 
a digital form. The expectation is that BIM can help encourage a better understanding of what 
is being built, whilst encouraging efficiency and value for money in relation to the 
construction and whole life of the new building. The outcomes of using BIM should also mean 
a more considered design and ultimately a better home for the tenant to live in. 
  

Page 159

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

C
O

N
FI

D
EN

TI
AL

http://www.pdw-uk.com/


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5

FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
Custom House School Site - Financial Analysis
Core Assumptions

Income
Property mix, opening market values (OMV) and Gross rental values (based on 2016/17 rents)

Property type m2 No. Opening 
OMV

Annual
Rent

Weekly Rent  
for Custom 

House

Comparator 
LHA Weekly 

Rent
2B4P house 76 8 140,000           £4,783 £91.67 £111.57
3B4P house 94 4 140,000              £5,261 £100.83 £127.85
TOTAL           12

 Build Cost = £1,496,972 (exc VAT). 

Additional Identified Costs

a. Compliance with Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 2015 - 
£6,240 

b. Extended foul drainage and additional drainage costs - £21,008
c) Car parking spaces - £4,246
d) Works to party wall (shared with No. 33 Mold Road) - £3,000
e) Symphony kitchens in lieu of Regency - £1,798
f) Additional depth of foundations due to poor ground bearing capacity - £12,672
g) Land drainage due to poor porosity of the ground - £3,000

£51,964 Additional costs to be charged separate to scheme.

 Total Cost (Excl. development finance charges) = £1,548,936

Description Assumption
Financial Institution Yield 6.5%
Major Repair fee – years 6-50 0.80%  
Management Fee £400 p.a.
Void allowance 2.5%
Maintenance Yr1 £100 p.a.
Maintenance Yr 2/3 £200 p.a.
Maintenance Yr 4 + £400 p.a.
Indexation of fees CPI (see above)

Resource Implications

Break even – Yr 50 (excluding £51,964 additional costs)





 CABINET MEETING

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject Medium Term Libraries Plan – An Assessment of the 
Feasibility of the Community Asset Transfer of Rural 
Libraries

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Education 
  

Report Author Chief Officer (Organisational Change)

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In March 2015 Cabinet agreed a Medium Term Libraries Plan that outlined a 
sustainable libraries infrastructure for the future. This included designated hub 
libraries in Mold, Holywell, Connah’s Quay, Deeside Leisure Centre, Buckley and 
Flint.  For rural libraries it recommended, during the autumn of 2015, assessing the 
feasibility of community asset transfers. 

The re-location of libraries in Queensferry, Mancot and Hawarden to a new library 
in Deeside Leisure Centre was recommended and approved by Cabinet and this 
will be completed by March 1st 2016. The last element of the proposal was to 
progress with the transfer of library buildings, not services, to communities in 
Holywell and Broughton, this approach along with a continuing mobile and 
housebound provision is seen as a sustainable library service for the foreseeable 
future in Flintshire.

This report provides feedback on the assessment of the feasibility of community 
asset transfers in the areas of Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney. It recommends a 
way forward for each library and a timescale that fits within the context of the 
medium term libraries plan. It aims to support the achievement of the £0.544m of 
savings through Community Asset Transfers put forward as a budget efficiency 
proposal for 2016/17.



RECOMMENDATIONS

1 To consider the assessment of the feasibility of community asset transfers 
for the libraries in Hope, Mynydd Isa, and Saltney in particular reviewing 
the formal consultation with communities and the draft notes from 
Organisational Change Scrutiny Committee.

2 To proceed with community asset transfers in Hope and Mynydd Isa, with 
a target date range of April-June 2016 for completion and, with the final 
basis for transfer to be brought back to Cabinet.

3 In Saltney, based on the formal community consultation, to give to the end 
of February 2016 for further consideration by the community to express an 
interest with a final date of the end of June 2016 for any final transfer.

4 That if no interest is expressed by the community of Saltney by the end of 
February 2016 that provision of a library service is ceased from 31st March 
2016.

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE ASSESSMENT OF THE FEASIBILITY OF A 
COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER FOR RURAL LIBRARIES

1.01 At the March 2015 Cabinet a Medium Term Plan for Libraries was 
proposed and agreed. This report deals specifically with the rural libraries 
(Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney). As agreed in the Medium Term Plan for 
Libraries an assessment of the feasibility of the Community Asset Transfer 
(CAT) of these libraries has taken place and this report now proposes a 
way forward.

1.02 Since March 2015 work has taken place to support ideas brought forward 
by each of the three communities. This includes:-

 Hope, supporting the local Ward Member and the school to look at 
how integrating the school library and community library might 
enable the library to be more sustainable. 

 Mynydd Isa, work has taken place to provide details to Argoed 
Community Council of how a CAT might work and supporting Café 
Isa to consider if a CAT of the community centre, youth centre, and 
library might be feasible. 

 Saltney, where information has been requested about the 
community library then this has been provided, initially an 
expression of interest was received for the CAT of Saltney Library, 
although little discussion has taken place since about finding a 
solution for a CAT of the library to the community.

1.03 To ensure formal as well as informal consultation about the feasibility of a 
CAT of these libraries has been undertaken an information document 
asking for formal responses was sent out in November 2015 to town and 



community councils and schools and was made available in libraries to 
library users. The deadline for responses was Friday 11th December 2015. 
A detailed analysis of these responses is provided at Appendix A including 
a copy of the consultation document. 

1.04 In summary the responses can be detailed as follows

Hope – An interest in a CAT from both an emerging ‘Friends of Hope 
Library Group’ and Hope Community Council. Castell Alun School are 
supportive of working with the community and enabling the library to be 
open to the community during school time. The local Ward Member, while 
supporting the integration of school and community library, asks for 
continuation of paid for library staff during the school holidays.

Mynydd Isa – An interest in a CAT from Caffi Isa. Local Ward Members 
and residents have a range of queries about how this CAT may work

Saltney – No interest at present from the Community Council in taking 
forward the CAT, Ward Members both ask for an extension for 
consideration of a CAT but have differing views about how this might best 
be achieved. 

1.05 There are two potential solutions for a Community Asset Transfer as 
outlined in the consultation document and in line with Welsh Government 
identified best practice

(1)  The community operate a book stock and IT equipment with no 
professional library input. This is relatively low cost with only the 
costs of the building and replacement of book stock and IT 
equipment required.

(2) The community buy back professional librarians and / or access to 
the library management system for recording and ordering issues. 
In this way the library remains part of the library network but the 
community have to pick up a large proportion of the current costs of 
the library.  .

1.06 The early work to support the communities and the formal consultation 
show that a CAT is feasible in both Hope and Mynydd Isa as there are 
community organisations coming forward with a commitment to make a 
CAT work. In both instances it is likely that option (1) in 1.05 is the more 
likely solution. More work is required now to support the community to 
finalise their plan for a CAT. It is proposed a target date of March 31st 2015 
is set for completing this work while recognising it may require more time. 
A final date for completion of these CATs and therefore provision of library 
services in these areas is proposed at the end of June 2016.

1.07 The early work to support the community and the formal consultation show 
that a CAT at present is not feasible in Saltney. Given the consultation 
responses ask for more time, while recognising there are proposed budget 
savings attached to this work for 2016/17, it is proposed to give the 
community of Saltney until the end of February 2016 to consider again if a 
CAT is feasible and how this might work. It is proposed to make clear that 
if an interest is not expressed by this stage then the service ceases at the 
end of March 2016. The final date for completion of this CAT and therefore 



provision of library service in this area is proposed at the end of June 
2016.

1.08 The results of this assessment of feasibility of the community asset 
transfers in these three areas was taken to Organisational Change 
Scrutiny Committee for comment on 11th January 2016. The draft notes 
from a constructive discussion detail the following:

1. That the assessment of the feasibility of community asset transfers for 
the libraries in Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney, in particular the formal 
consultation with communities be received, subject to:
a) the holding of a meeting with interested parties in Saltney within the 
next four weeks;
b) the provision of  the information requested on the operation of the 
Library Management System; how it currently  relates to book stock and 
acquisitions and how it could be developed for the future;
c) the increase in the 'lent book stock' to community operated  libraries  
being set at 100 books

2. That the committee's  views on the feasibility of Community Asset 
Transfers and alternative acceptable solutions for the three libraries is 
noted and referenced  by the officers in further developing solutions.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 Financial Implications

The cost of current library provision in each area are as follow:

Library Cost £
Hope £13,000
Mynydd Isa £34,000
Saltney £41,000

Total £88,000

A Community Asset Transfer of these libraries or a cessation of service 
would, on an annual basis, save the amounts indicated above.

As part of a CAT consideration would be given to one off revenue start-up 
funding for the first year and a one off capital grant towards capital building 
costs associated with the condition survey.  These amounts being capped 
at the maximum figure as outlined in the report to Cabinet on the 15th June 
2015

2.02 Human Resource Implications

If either CATs are progressed as identified in option 1 in 1.05 or a 
cessation of service occurs then no library staff will be required in future.

If either CATs are progressed as identified in option 1 in 1.05 or a 
cessation of service occurs then no library staff will be required in future. 
The total number of staff employed at these libraries at present are 5 



people or 1.08 ftes. The way forward for this is to follow normal Human 
Resource procedure including staff consultation. It is likely in this instance 
that staff will be redeployed/assimilated into vacant posts in the library 
network. 

If communities did identify funding to continue a professional library 
service then posts would be retained, however, this is considered unlikely.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Informal consultation has taken place with parties interested in CATs 
including Town and Community Councils, school and community groups.

Formal consultation with Town and Community, schools and library users 
as detailed in Appendix A.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 Key Risks and Mitigation

(1) That communities do not come forward with a sustainable CAT 
proposal – services cease at the latest in these libraries by the end 
of June 2016.  

(2) Communities do not have the required skills and capacity to take on 
a CAT – support will be provided by the library service and 
Flintshire Local Voluntary Council and if, at the end of this, it is not 
considered feasible then services will cease.

(3) Communities can manage a CAT for a short period of time but not 
in the long term – the building returns to the Council and the Council 
consider best use of the asset.

(4) Loss of these services puts at risk performance against Public 
Library Standards – Flintshire will still meet the standard of 
providing libraries for 75% of the population within 2.5 miles.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix A – Library Service Consultation In Relation to the Feasibility of 
a Community Asset Transfer of Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney Libraries : 
Summary Report

Appendix B – Equality Monitoring and Impact Assessment – CAT for 
Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney Libraries



6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Medium Term Libraries Plan – Cabinet March 2015

Contact Officers: Pennie Corbett, Principal Librarian
Telephone: 01352 704402
E-mail: pennie.corbett@flintshire.gov.uk  

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Community Asset Transfer – The transfer of a building to a community 
organisation with a 27 year lease and peppercorn rent.

Public Library Standards – Welsh Governments assessment of the 
quality of public library services, it is not an assessment of whether library 
services meet their statutory duty.

mailto:pennie.corbett@flintshire.gov.uk


1

Appendix A

Flintshire County Council

Library Services Consultation

In relation to the Feasibility of a Community Asset Transfer of 
Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney Libraries

Summary Report



2

Contents

The Purpose of the Consultation 3

The Period of Consultation 3

Who was consulted 3

Consultation Responses 4

What people told us

Hope

Mynydd Isa

         Saltney

Next Steps

Annex 1. Consultation document

5

5

6

6

7



3

The purpose of the consultation:
During 2014/15 Town and Community Councils have been invited to express an 
interest in taking over council assets in their communities, libraries were included in 
the list of assets. 

The Medium Term Plan for Libraries, agreed by the Council in 2015, to meet the 
anticipated savings of 30-50% by 2018, included the proposal to have full Community 
Asset transfer at Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney. It was agreed that consultation would 
take place during the Summer and Autumn of 2015. Councillors will consider all 
feedback received when making their final decision on whether a Community Asset 
Transfer is possible or what else might be done in light of the conclusion in the Medium 
Term Libraries plan that future Council provision of services is no longer a sustainable 
option for these libraries. 

The consultation paper included the background to the CAT proposals, examples of 
models of community run and community funded libraries, details of how community 
groups could be supported through CAT and information on how to submit responses 
to the consultation.

The period of consultation:
 Monday 2nd November 2015 – Friday 11th December 2015 

Who was consulted?
 Letters outlining the proposals and inviting feedback were sent to:

Argoed Community Council
Hope Community Council
Saltney Town Council

Primary schools
Abermorddu School
Ysgol Estyn, Hope
Ysgol Mynydd Isa
Saltney Ferry  Primary School
Wood Memorial Primary School
St Anthony’s Catholic Primary School

High Schools
Castell Alun High School
Argoed High School
St David’s High School



4

 Consultation documents were deposited in all libraries and on the council’s 
website. Multiple copies were made available in Hope, Mynydd Isa and 
Saltney libraries.

 Meetings were held with ward members representing all 3 communities

 Meetings were held with Head of Castell Alun school as stakeholder of Hope 
library which shares a site with the school

 Meeting held with community interest company at Mynydd Isa Community 
Centre

 Chief Officer Organisational Change and Principal Libraries and Arts Officer 
were invited to attend at Town and Community Councils at two locations

 Chief Officer Organisational Change and Principal Libraries and Arts Officer 
were invited to attend meetings with one community group

 Principal Librarian met with Young People’s Coordinator at Saltney Youth 
Centre

Consultation Responses:

Hope

 Written responses received from one primary school at Hope and from Castell 
Alun High School.

 Expression of interest received from Hope Community Council

 Expression of interest received from Friends of Hope Library community 
group

 Written responses received from  ward member representing Hope

 Three additional written responses were received from residents of Hope 

Mynydd Isa

 Expression of interest received from Caffi Isa Community Interest Company 

 Written responses received from two ward members representing  Mynydd 
Isa

 Five  additional written responses, and one telephone call were received from 
residents of Mynydd Isa.



5

Saltney

 Written response received from one member of Saltney Town Council

 Written response received from ward member for  Saltney Mold Junction

 Written response received from Saltney Town Council

What people told us …
Hope

Responses were received from the ward member, individuals, the primary school, 
the High School, the ‘Friends of Hope Library’ and the Community Council all 
communicating a wish to retain some local library provision in the community.

The High School had been working together with officers and with the local member 
for Hope over the summer, to integrate the school and public libraries to sustain the 
service. This had been achieved by November. Some members of the community 
were concerned that this had happened prior to consultation and that it may limit the 
options for the community to transfer the library service to the community. The 
Friends of Hope Library group met with the school who were able to reassure the 
group that they would support the community use of the library and continue to 
finance the building and allow the community the use of the school Library 
Management System.

A major concern was access to the council’s library book stock and request system. 
The group were reassured that residents could access the online catalogue to 
request books which could be collected from the mobile library, or any library within 
Flintshire’s network of ‘hub libraries’.

Other concerns expressed were about the ability to be able to provide up to date 
books and to refresh the collection in a community run library; and that resources for 
young children would need to be provided as these would not be available in a High 
School library.

The ward member for Hope did not support a Community Asset Transfer for the 
library. He felt that the council should continue to fund some opening hours staffed 
by the council’s library service during the 12 weeks of the year that the school is 
closed, with the school opening to the public for the 40 weeks a year that the school 
is open.

Mynydd Isa

Residents expressed concern over the possible closure of the library and had similar 
queries to Hope residents as to how residents could still access the library network 



6

and utilise the request system.  Other concerns were about the funding of a 
community run library and how volunteers could be helped to run it.

Support was expressed for the local Community Interest Company who proposed to 
run the library as part of the Caffi Isa initiative.

Saltney

The members of the Town Council expressed concern that the library was no longer 
sustainable and proposed to discuss options for running a community library from 
another community building. Members asked for information on running a library 
without a management system, and what arrangements FCC proposed to put in 
place to mitigate the cessation of the service. Mobile stops were suggested.

A formal response was made by Saltney Town council declining to transfer the 
library to the community as plans were already in place to CAT the youth and 
community centres and it was felt that no other suitable building was available. 

The ward member for Saltney Mold Junction requested that the library was kept 
open for a further 12 months to enable the Town Council to investigate the possibility 
of a transfer of the library once CATs had taken place for the community centre and 
youth club. The ward member for Saltney Stonebridge also requested an extension 
of service after the proposed closure/transfer date of 1st April 2016. This was also to 
allow time for a CAT of the Community and youth centres to be completed.

Next steps
The outcomes of this consultation will be presented to the Cabinet of the Council in 
January 2016.

Whatever decisions are taken by cabinet will inform further work which may take 
place with communities to implement these decisions in the best way possible.



7

Annex 1. Consultation document

Flintshire County Council

Library Services Consultation

In relation to the Feasibility of a Community Asset Transfer of 
Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney Libraries

1.  Context 
1.1 During 2014/15 Town and Community Councils have been invited to express an 

interest in taking over council assets in their communities, libraries are included 
in the list of assets. 

1.2 The Medium Term Plan for Libraries, agreed by the Council in 2015, to meet the 
anticipated savings of 30-50% by 2018, includes the proposal to have full 
Community Asset transfer at Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney. It was agreed that 
consultation would take place during the Summer and Autumn of 2015. 
Councillors will consider all feedback received when making their final decision 
on whether a Community Asset Transfer is possible or what else might be done 
in light of the conclusion in the Medium Term Libraries plan that future Council 
provision of services is no longer a sustainable option for these libraries. 

1.3 In some of these areas discussions have already started with interested parties. 
However prior to a final Council decision this formal consultation process will now 
ask Town and Community Councils, Schools and Library users for their views on 
whether there is interest in a Community Asset Transfer of their library to the 
community.

  
2. Background Information about Libraries and Community Asset Transfer
2.1 Through a Community Asset Transfer Flintshire Council is aiming to work with 

communities to try and sustain some provision in each community while 
removing the subsidy the Council provides to the library. While no ongoing 
funding will be available from the Council both one off capital support and one 
off revenue funding could potentially be made available depending on the 
requirements of the Business Plan put forward by the community. 

2.2 The costs to the Council of running a library 
i) Staff – front line staff (library assistants) and managers



8

ii) Premises costs
iii) Resources – books, newspapers
iv) Network and infrastructure: library management system and 

bibliographical services, online catalogue and online resources (ebooks 
etc), request system, delivery system and public access IT.

v) Central support costs: finance, HR, IT, legal 

2.3 What a Community Library might look like
i) Community run library 

This is the most widely adopted model. This option involves
 the community taking over the library building or providing a community 

owned building/venue.
 the bookstock, and public access IT facilities are gifted to the 

community and in some cases fixtures and fittings, shelving  and 
furniture

 the library is run for the community by volunteers

ii) Community funded library
A more expensive model which involves
 the community taking over the library building or providing a community 

owned building/venue.
 the community buying in the staffing, bookstock and infrastructure 

(including an element of the support costs) from the council. 

3. How groups can be supported through a Community Asset Transfer?
3.1 The first step is to put forward your ideas in response to this consultation.

3.2 The library service will then work with community groups supporting them 
through the development of the proposal including submitting a business plan. 
 

3.3 The final Business Plan for the schemes will go through the Community Asset 
Transfer scheme and organisations developing proposals will be eligible for 
support from Flintshire Local Voluntary Council under this scheme. 

3.4 For a Community Asset Transfer to be considered feasible it must be in a position 
to be up and running by 1st April 2016. 

4. Your Response
4.1 The final deadline for your response is Friday 11th December.

4.2 We are happy to meet with your group before the consultation closing date to 
talk through any more detailed information you may need.

4.2 Your response should include the following:
- A view on whether a Community Asset Transfer is feasible in your area;
- Who will be involved in developing the proposal with support from the 



9

Council;
- Initial ideas about how you will achieve this by April 1st 2016;
- Any other options you have for sustaining library provision in your area.

You are invited to respond in writing to Pennie Corbett, Principal Libraries & Arts 
Officer by Friday 11th December 2015.  

Contact information: Pennie Corbett, Principal Libraries & Arts Officer
Organisational Change, Flintshire County Council 
Leisure & Libraries Head Office, First Floor
Deeside Leisure Centre, Chester Road West, 
Queensferry, Flintshire, CH5 1SA. 

                                               e-mail: pennie.corbett@flintshire.gov.uk





1

Flintshire County Council

Equality Monitoring and Impact Assessment
Equality Monitoring

Proposal to transfer provision of library services from the current 
service points at Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney as Community 
Asset Transfers

Officers responsible for developing and implementing the policy: Chief Officer 
Organisational Change 1, Principal Libraries & Arts Officer
  
1. Introduction
1.1 The Equality Act 2010 (“The Act”) sets a General Duty out that as a public body within 

Wales, Flintshire County Council is required to have due regard in its decision making 
processes (including financial decisions) to three factors:

 

 To eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation,

 To advance equality of opportunity, and
 To foster good relations between people who share a protected 

Characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, religious belief and non-belief, race, sex, sexual orientation 
and Welsh Language) and those who do not. (Equality Act 2010).

Duties within the Act require that public authorities demonstrate that the financial 
decisions they make are carried out in a fair, transparent and accountable way and 
consider the needs and the rights of different members of the community.

The specific equality duties of the Act set out that a local authority needs to:

 Make appropriate arrangement for assessing the likely impact of its 

policies and practices on its ability to comply with the General Duty;

 Monitor these impacts; and

 Publish reports in respect of any assessment.



2

2. Background to the proposal

2.1 The Medium Term Plan for Libraries, agreed by the council in 2015, to meet the 
anticipated savings of 30-50% by 2018 includes the proposal to have full Community 
Asset Transfer at Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney.

2.2 During 2013 the council reviewed all assets with the aim of reducing the property 
portfolio in order to sustain services within the reduced budgets of the next five 
years. Libraries were reviewed and some closures were recommended. 

2.3 Welsh Public Library Standards require that where there is a population density 
between  1.1 and 19.9 persons per hectare, a static library service point should be 
within 2.5 miles (or 10 minutes travelling time by public transport) of at least 75% of 
the population. In Flintshire 90.1% of the population are within 2.5 miles of a static 
library. The library network is served by too many buildings, some of which are have 
substantial maintenance and repair backlogs. It was recommended that some 
services be collocated where possible.

2.4 Library opening hours were reviewed in 2012. Some libraries were found to be open 
for too many hours for the levels of use, with staffing resources not deployed 
efficiently. Opening hours were recommended to be reduced by 18% in April 2015 
as part of measures to achieve required 30% budget savings. Therefore some 
library buildings will be open for business for less than 20 hours per week making 
the buildings unsustainable.

2.5 The Community Asset Transfer of current libraries at Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney 
form part of budget efficiency proposals for the year 2016/17.

 Hope Library is situated on the campus of Castell Alun High School and, as 
part of ongoing efficiencies, has been integrated with the school library since 
summer 2015, with separate opening times for school and community. 

 Mynydd Isa Library is situated in Mynydd Isa Community Centre, which also 
houses a youth club and Community Council office.

 Saltney Library has been operated from temporary, leased premises since 
2008. The current premises cost is unsustainable for the 11 hours it is open per 
week.

3. Objectives of the proposal

3.1 Sustain some library provision to the communities Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney 
by transferring buildings as community assets, and offering funding in the form of 
capital support and one off revenue funding to community groups who put forward 
a feasible plan.

4. Impact of the proposal

4.1 All residents in the 3 communities would be able to access the network of libraries 
provided by the council, and the mobile service and service to housebound people. 

4.2 Residents at Mynydd Isa could use Buckley or Mold libraries (Mynydd Isa to Buckley 
1.5 miles or Mynydd Isa to Mold 1.8 miles) Saltney residents could access 



3

Broughton Library (2.7 miles). The mobile library currently serves Caergwrle and 
Abermorddu and would also visit Hope. The proposal, whilst sustaining some library 
provision in the communities will replace the current provision at the three libraries.  
The necessary reduction of 30% to the library budget by 2016-17 has put smaller 
libraries at risk of closure and the proposal is intended to mitigate the effects of the 
loss of three small local libraries.

5. Financial impact for Flintshire County Council

The council would make savings of £88,000. 

Library Cost £

Hope 13,000

Mynydd Isa 34,000

Saltney 41,000

Total 88,000

6. Impact on the community

6.1 These groups will be affected by this policy: 

i) Library service users of Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney
ii) Potential library service users in the communities 
iii) Specific impacts on groups of people within the protected characteristics 

categories. 

The protected characteristics are: 

 Age
 Disability 
 Gender reassignment 
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Race 
 Religion of belief 
 Sex 
 Sexual orientation



4

iv)   Library service users

Registered users

Hope Mynydd Isa Saltney
Adults 655 1426 699
Children 858 955 793
Exempt from charges/special situations 57 15 12
Playgroups 4 9 2
Classes 3 0 6
Reading groups 0 1 0
Total 1577 2406 1512

Active users (i.e have borrowed books in 2014-15)

Hope Mynydd Isa Saltney
Adults 166 368 165
Children 314 294 322
Exempt from charges/special situations 24 8 6
Playgroups 0 5 1
Classes 0 0 3
Reading groups 0 1 0
Total 504 676 497

Use of Book stock - percentage on loan at 1.4.15

Hope Mynydd Isa Saltney All Flintshire libraries
On shelves 5433 7768 5462 203,341
On loan 1554 1951 1482 50,559
Total 6987 9719 6944 253,900
Percentage on loan 22.24% 20.07% 21.34% 19.91%

Usage – from CIPFA sample surveys 2014-15 and Library Management System

Hope % age of 
Flintshire 
total 

Mynydd 
Isa

% age of 
Flintshire 
total

Saltney % age of 
Flintshire 
total

Weekly Requests 73 45 51

Total Annual 
Enquiries

1,650 1.5 3,450 5.6 2,250 3.4

Annual Visits - 
Adults

5,000 0.9 20,250 3.6 7,475 1.3

Annual Visits - 
Children

9,050 8.7 3,100 3 10,075 9.7

Total Annual 
Visits

14,050 2 23,350 3.5 17,550 2.7

Total annual 
loans

21,024 3 23,447 3.5 19,229 2.8



5

Number of children participating in Summer Reading Challenge 2015

Registered at Hope Library = 120 children
Registered at Mynydd Isa Library = 82 children
Registered at Saltney Library = 106 children

Numbers participating by school (4-11yrs)

Rhymetime sessions for under 5s and parents/carers 2014-15

Hope  24 sessions 232 total participants (parents & children)

Mynydd Isa  10 sessions  149 total participants (parents & children)

Saltney    13 sessions 262 total participants (parents & children)

Learning Events

Hope
 2 chatterbox sessions – 13 parents and 13 children
 6 class visits – total attendance 150 children

Mynydd Isa 
 2 summer activity sessions – 28 parents and children attended

Saltney
 1 Author visit
 Class visits from St. Anthony’s Nursery – approx. 400 children visited over 

the year.

School No. of pupils Number of children 
participating in SRC

Ysgol Estyn 229 61

Abermorddu 217 27

Ysgol Mynydd Isa Infants and Junior 555 77
Wood Memorial 186 42
Saltney Ferry 105 4
St Anthony’s 165 54
Castell Alun H S 1359 12
St David’s H S 508 3
Argoed 580 7



6

ii) Potential library service users in the communities 

Population (census 2011)
ward Number of 

people
%  male % female %Age 0-15 %Age 

16-64
%Age 
65+

Hope 1 49.2 50.8 18.1 62 19.9
Hope 2 2606 49.6 50.4 19.3 62.2 18.5
Argoed 1 1241 47.5 52.5 18.3 65.4 16.3
Argoed 2 1579 50.4 49.6 16.6 60.8 22.6
New Brighton 
1

1651 48.7 51.1 16.7 65.7 17.6

New Brighton 
2

1319 47.8 52.2 15.7 61.9 22.5

Saltney Mold 
Junction

1375 49.1 50.9 21.9 63.7 14.5

Saltney 
Stonebridge 
1

2202 49.7 50.3 23.4 64.8 11.8

Saltney 
Stonebridge 
2

1574 49.7 50.3 17.3 70.2 12.5

Economy and employment
ward Hope 

1
Hope 2 Argoed 

1
Argoed 
2

New 
Brighton 
1

New 
Brighton 
2

Saltney 
Mold Jn

Saltney 
stonebridge 
1

Saltney 
Stonebridge 
2

Flintshire

Percentage of 
16-24 yr olds 
who are 
unemployed

0.5 1.1 0.5 0.8 0.9 1 2.5 1.6 0.8 26.7

Percentage of 
economically 
active people 
who are full- 
time 
employees 

39.7 40 44.2 37.9 43.5 36.6 41.2 45.2 44.9 43.4

Health - Percentage of people whose day to day activities are not limited by their 
health

Hope1 Hope 
2

Argoed 
1

Argoed 
2

New 
Brighton 
1

New 
Brighton 
2

Saltney 
Mold Jn

Saltney 
stonebridge 
1

Saltney 
Stonebridge 
2

Flintshire Wales

82.3 80.9 84.7 80.4 83 79.5 81.9 81.4 82.9 80 77

Transport – percentage of households with no access to a a car or van
Hope 1 Hope 2 Argoed 

1
Argoed 
2

New 
Brighton 
1

New 
Brighton 
2

Saltney 
Mold Jn

Saltney 
stonebridge 1

Saltney 
Stonebridge 2

Flintshire Wales

5 17.8 8 9.6 5.6 11.2 28.8 27.3 16.9 17 22.9



7

Children and Education

School No. of 
pupils

%age of pupils 
receiving Free 
School Meals

% of pupils 
achieving 
expected level in 
core subjects at 
KS2

% of pupils 
achieving 
expected 
level in core 
subjects at 
KS3

Ysgol Estyn 229 9.2 92.6
Abermorddu 217 8.6 96.7
Ysgol Mynydd Isa 
Infants and Junior

555 8.5 89.3

Wood Memorial 186 27.4 85.7
Saltney Ferry 105 29.1 70
St Anthony’s 165 15.2 100
Castell Alun H S 1359 5.2 86.1
St David’s H S 508 16.2 79.8
Argoed 580 8.1 91.4

iii)  Specific impacts on groups of people within the protected characteristics categories. 

Library membership is free, accessible and inclusive. No specific information is 
recorded as to age (except for children), ethnicity, belief, sexual orientation or other 
protected characteristics.

Adults provide name, address and gender information.

Children provide name, address, gender and date of birth.

Library services are free to all who join and access to libraries is free to all. 
Membership is required only for using ICT facilities and for borrowing items.

Library services for people from protected characteristics groups are provided in the 
following ways:

 Age

Special collections of books and other items are provided for different ages 
and stages of childhood, as well as Parents Collections 

 Disability 
 Books are provided in different formats such as Large Print, audio, 

downloadable audio (e-audio)
 RNIB membership is funded and administered by the library service 

for visually impaired people 
 The libraries are all DDA compliant
 Adapted ICT facilities are available for people with physical and 

learning needs
 A library service to people who are housebound is available
 Library members who have additional needs are exempted from some 

library charges
 Gender reassignment 

 Libraries can access information on reading material and support 
information for all requirements.



8

 Pregnancy and maternity
 Libraries are child friendly with books for children and parents
 accessible for prams and buggies
 Rhymetime sessions for under 5s and parents/carers held fortnightly 

 Race 
 Religion of belief 
 Sex 
 Sexual orientation

 Library book stock covers a wide range of ethnicity, belief, sexual 
orientation, age and language in representation of subjects and 
authorship to provide a diverse stock.

 Language – Library books and stock are provided in Welsh across 
all categories. Bilingual activities are provided and all 
communications are bilingual. Library staff have access to Language 
Line to assist customers whose first language is not English or 
Welsh.

v) Library staff will be at risk of redundancy but will be considered for any library 
positions that become vacant due to retirement etc. FCC guidelines and procedures 
will be followed.

7. How the proposal  will meet the needs of the community

7.1 Any community run, or community funded facilities provided for the three 
communities would offer local provision and could be used by residents to 
complement the networked library service provided by the council, as a local amenity 
providing some library services.

7.2 Library service users of the three communities will still be able to access the library 
hubs in the main towns of Broughton, Buckley, Connahs Quay, Flint, Holywell, Mold 
and at Deeside Leisure Centre. These locations ensure that 82.2% of Flintshire’s 
population are within 2.5 miles of a library.

a) The hub libraries provide the core entitlements of a 
Welsh Public Library:

 free inclusive access for all/ total community access reaching older people, 
children and families, minority and deprived communities

 Outcomes: learning, reading support (wide range of reader development 
activities that actively feed in to the health and wellbeing agenda), health 
offer, digital support (supported, free online access), information offer (staff 
skilled in info management), inspirational spaces (network of neutral, trusted 
and accessible community spaces), support for under 5s and parent/carers, 
service to people with additional needs (RNIB, LP, audio, housebound, 
residential homes etc)



9

b) Mobile Library will visit the three locations on a 3 weekly rota in addition to the 
existing visits to Saltney Ferry, Abermorddu, Caergwrle, Cymau.
 

c) Services to people who are housebound will be available for residents unable 
to access the hub libraries or the mobile library

7.3 Potential library service users in the communities 

As above

7.4 Specific impacts on groups of people within the protected characteristics categories. 

The services described at i) and ii) above would be available to all residents

8. Additional Financial implications of the proposal

8.1 Infrastructure costs such as IT, HR and management costs could be reduced as a 
result of the 3 libraries ceasing service as part of the network.

8.2 The library budget has to be reduced by 30% thus making it necessary to reduce 
library provision in Flintshire. By reducing the number of library buildings and co-
locating the service with other services costs are reduced and library services to the 
county are sustainable.

9. How the communities are to be consulted

 Communities will be consulted during November to December 2015 via 
the following methods:

 All residents  (including library users) -   information bulletin (paper and 
online)

 Community groups to have meetings with Chief Officer and Principal 
Libraries Officer by request. 

 Community Councils, schools and places of worship will be consulted by 
correspondence 

 Individuals, groups and societies can contact Chief Officer and Principal 
Librarian with any specific concerns or questions.

 People from the protected characteristics groups will be consulted via the 
EIA Quality Assurance group 

 All consultation documents would be bilingual in line with council policy.

10. Dealing with Adverse or Unlawful Impact and Strengthening the Policy 

 Current users will be given notice of any changes to provision and 
explanations as to  how and where alternative  services can be accessed.

 The Library Service for housebound people will be promoted to those with 
mobility impairments in this community who may be eligible to receive it.



10

 Online resources can be accessed from home 24/7, e.g. E-book service and 
 Online Catalogue, books can be reserved for collection at any service point.

11. Measures we will take to strengthen the proposal and foster good relations 
and advance equality of opportunity

 Ensuring that the remaining library network  library and mobile service offers 
an all-round better customer experience for all library service users.

 Increased partnership working with local community groups to ensure we 
make them aware of any new services we offer (including protected 
characteristic groups)

 Ensure robust support, financial and provision of resources and training 
support to community groups prior to transition of CAT

Measures we will take to reduce or remove any adverse impact. 

 By ceasing to provide fragmented opening hours for services at rural 
locations, we will attain more consistency in the number of opening hours 
(and days) that libraries of a larger size (or with higher  usage figures) are 
open.

 To ensure adequate monitoring and evaluation of the changes to the library 
service to these communities, so we can continue to adapt to the changing 
needs and demands of users and potential users in our local communities.

12. Sources used
 CIPFA
 Flintshire County Council Infobase
 Welsh Government  
 Library Management System data for Flintshire Libraries

13. Action Plan

Action Responsible 
Officer

By When Progress

Publish summary of EIA1 I. Bancroft December 

Consult Library users P. Corbett November - 
December

Consult Community 
Councils, FCC local 

P. Corbett November - 

1 summaries of EIAs where there is substantial impact will need to be published



11

members, schools, 
community groups

December

Decision I. Bancroft December/January





CABINET MEETING

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016

Report Subject REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2015/16 (MONTH 7)

Cabinet Member Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance

Report Author Corporate Finance Manager

Type of Report Operational

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This regular monthly report provides the latest revenue budget monitoring position 
for 2015/16 for the Council Fund and Housing Revenue Account.  The position is 
based on actual income and expenditure as at Month 7, and projects forward to 
year-end.

The projected year end position is as follows:

Council Fund

 Net in year expenditure forecast to be £0.387m lower than budget
 Projected contingency reserve balance at 31 March 2016 of £4.923m

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

 Net in year expenditure forecast to be £0.149m lower than budget
 Projected closing balance as at 31 March 2016 of £1.386m

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Note the overall report and the projected Council Fund contingency sum 
as at 31st March 2016.

2 Note the projected final level of balances on the Housing Revenue 
Account.

3 To agree a contribution from the contingency reserve of £0.800m to meet 
the estimated increase in levy required to meet past and future claim 



liabilities in relation to the former Municipal Mutual Insurance company 
(see paragraph 1.13).

4 To agree a contribution from the contingency reserve of £0.100m to meet 
the resource requirements for specialist social work for child protection 
(see paragraph 1.14).

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 THE REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING POSITION FOR MONTH 7 -  
2015/16

1.01 Council Fund Latest In Year Forecast

The table below shows the projected position by portfolio.

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
AND INCOME

Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget

Projected 
Outturn

In-Year 
Over/ 

(Under) 
spend

 £m £m £m £m
Social Services 59.696 59.031 59.248 0.217
Community & Enterprise 12.598 12.719 12.471 (0.248)
Streetscene & 
Transportation 27.782 28.427 29.425 0.998
Planning & Environment 4.887 5.331 5.502 0.171
Education & Youth 13.760 13.184 13.092 (0.092)
Schools 82.670 83.161 83.161 0.000
People & Resources 4.595 4.665 4.546 (0.119)
Governance 8.689 8.715 8.858 0.143
Organisational Change 9.569 9.618 9.229 (0.389)
Chief Executive 3.296 3.177 3.000 (0.177)
Central & Corporate 
Finance 23.915 23.429 22.538 (0.891)
   
Total 251.457 251.457 251.070 (0.387)

1.02 The reasons for the projected variances occurring to date are summarised 
within appendix 2 with movements between periods summarised in appendix 
1.

1.03 Significant budget movements between original and revised budget

There was a significant budget change between the Social Services and 
Streetscene & Transportation portfolios in month 7.  The transport budget of 
£0.656m has been transferred from Social Services to Streetscene & 



Transportation.  This is to reflect the current reporting structure. All 
associated expenditure has also been transferred between these portfolios.

Another significant budget virement is the movement of £0.376m between 
Education & Youth and Central & Corporate Finance. This relates to Local 
Government Borrowing Initiative (LGBI) funding for 21st Century Schools 
which had been included in the Education & Youth portfolio but is now 
reflected within Central & Corporate Finance.

1.04 Streetscene and Transportation

The overall overspend within Streetscene & Transportation has decreased 
from a projected £1.042m overspend at Month 6 to £0.998m as at Month 7. 
The projected overspend within the service is due in part to the delay in the 
implementation of a number of efficiencies as reported to the Programme 
Board.  In addition fluctuations in recycle sales due to a volatile market has 
led to an increased pressure on income projections which have resulted in a 
shortfall of £0.397m. Full details of movements are explained in Appendix 2.

1.05

Programme of Efficiencies

The 2015/16 budget contains £12.874m of specific efficiencies which are 
being tracked.

1.06 Appendix 3 provides detail on the latest position where there is a variation to 
the level of efficiency achievable compared to the budget.

1.07 This shows that it is currently projected that £10.642m (83%) will be achieved 
resulting in a net underachievement of £2.232m. The underachieved 
efficiencies are included within the projected outturn figure.  The position will 
continue to be monitored and reported throughout the monthly monitoring 
process.  Any efficiencies which remain unachievable for future years will be 
taken into consideration as part of the 2016/17 budget setting process.

1.08

Inflation

Included within the 2015/16 budget are provisions for pay (£1.304m), targeted 
price inflation (£0.421m), non-standard inflation (£0.102m) and income 
(£0.254m).

1.09 For 2015/16 the amounts for non-standard inflation (NSI) include an 
allocation for food (£0.064m) and an allocation for Non Domestic Rates 
(£0.038m). 

1.10 There is also an amount of £0.240m remaining from 2014/15 which is 
currently also being held centrally.   Areas subject to NSI increases will be 
monitored throughout the year and allocations made to portfolio areas only 
where a critical funding need is evidenced. 

Reserves and Balances



1.11

Unearmarked Reserves

The 2014/15 outturn reported to Cabinet on 14th July 2015 showed 
unearmarked reserves at 31 March 2015 (above the base level of £5.769m) 
of £4.746m.

1.12 Taking into account previous allocations and the current underspend at 
Month 7 the balance on the contingency reserve at 31st March 2016 is 
projected to be £4.923m.

1.13 The month 6 report identified an emerging risk as described in section 4.01 of 
this report to meet past and future claim liabilities in relation to the former 
Municipal Mutual Insurance company.  It is recommended to use £0.800m 
from the contingency reserve to meet the estimated 20% increase of the levy 
required.

1.14 There is an increased need for specialist social work capacity for child 
protection support working in partnership with statutory agencies.  Currently 
there are projected costs of £0.100m being shown within the Children’s 
Service budget and it is recommended that this be met from the contingency 
reserve.

1.15

Earmarked Reserves

The Council has developed a reserves protocol which was considered by 
Audit Committee and approved by County Council on 24th September 2015.  
This sets out the principles around how the Council will determine, manage 
and review the level of its reserves and includes reference to regular 
reporting of the latest position to Cabinet and Corporate Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

The next updated position on earmarked reserves will be included in the 
Month 9 monitoring report.

1.16

Housing Revenue Account

On 17 February 2015 the Council approved a Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) budget for 2015/16 of £30.776m.  

1.17 The budget provided for a closing balance of £1.396m which at 4.5% of total 
expenditure, satisfies the prudent approach of ensuring a minimum level of 
3%.

1.18 The 2014/15 Outturn Report to Cabinet on 14th July 2015 showed a closing 
balance at the end of 2014/15 of £1.510m.

1.19 The Month 7 monitoring report for the HRA is projecting in year expenditure 
to be £0.149m lower than budget and a projected closing balance as at 31 
March 2016 of £1.386m, which at 4.48% of total expenditure satisfies the 
prudent approach of ensuring a minimum level of 3%.



2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 The Budget Monitoring Report reflects the planned use of the financial 
resources of the Council for the current financial year and details the 
variations occurring to date.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 None Required.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI)
MMI was the predominant insurer of public sector bodies prior to 1992 
when it failed. To ensure an orderly “run off” Flintshire, along with other 
local authorities, was required to pay a levy of 15% of its share of claims 
paid previously and of any future claims.  MMI’s administrator has recently 
published their 2015 accounts which shows that due to an increase in the 
number of claims generally, there will be a need to increase the levy in the 
future, affecting claims paid previously and future claims. There is a 
recommendation in section 1.13 to meet a significant liability which reflects 
a 20% increase in the levy.
Status: unstable/red risk.

4.02 Recycling
The recycling market (paper in particular) is going through a volatile period 
with fluctuating re-cycle sale values. This will impact on 2015/16 recycling 
income levels for the Council. The current impact is reflected in the Month 
7 projections and continues to be monitored throughout the year.
Status: unstable/red risk.

4.03 Car Parking
Due to car parking charges being introduced in some Flintshire towns later 
than anticipated during 2015/16, there will be a shortfall in achieving the 
increased car park income targets. The full impact is being assessed and 
is being built into the projected outturn position.
Status: unstable/amber risk.

4.04 Out of County Placements
The risk is the volatility in demand and the impacts on service costs which 
cannot be predicted with any certainty.  Therefore there is always a risk of 
significant variances occurring although this area continues to be closely 
monitored.
Status: unstable/amber risk.



4.05 Former Euticals Site
Monthly costs for ongoing security and maintenance of the site are in the 
region of £0.030m and will accumulate throughout the financial year until 
site disposal.
Status: unstable/amber risk.

4.06 In Year Reductions in Specific Government Grants
This is a generic risk associated with the risk of some Government grants 
reducing in year.  Whilst these continue to be managed and mitigated 
where known, they can add to cumulative cost pressures.  As we are late 
on in the financial year further reductions are unlikely, therefore this risk 
has been closed.
Status: closed.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Council Fund – Movement in Variances from Month 6 – Appendix 1
Council Fund – Budget Variances – Appendix 2
Council Fund – Programme of Efficiencies – Appendix 3
Council Fund – Movement on unearmarked reserves – Appendix 4
Housing Revenue Account Variances – Appendix 5

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 None required

Contact Officer: Sara Dulson
Finance Manager

Telephone: 01352 702287
E-mail: sara.dulson@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Budget: a statement expressing the Council’s policies and service levels 
in financial terms for a particular financial year.  In its broadest sense it 
includes both the revenue budget and capital programme and any 
authorised amendments to them.

7.02 Council Fund: the fund to which all the Council’s revenue expenditure is 
charged.

7.03 Financial Year: the period of twelve months commencing on 1 April.

7.04 Housing Revenue Account: the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a 
local authority account showing current income and expenditure on 
housing services related to its own housing stock. The account is separate 

mailto:sara.dulson@flintshire.gov.uk


from the Council Fund and trading accounts and is funded primarily from 
rents and government subsidy.

7.05 Projected Outturn: projection of the expenditure to the end of the 
financial year, made on the basis of actual expenditure incurred to date.

7.06 Reserves: these are balances in hand that have accumulated over 
previous years and are held for defined (earmarked reserves) and general 
(general reserves) purposes. Councils are required to regularly review the 
level and purpose of their reserves and to take account of the advice of the 
Chief Finance Officer.

7.07 Revenue: a term used to describe the day-to-day costs of running Council 
services and income deriving from those services. It also includes charges 
for the repayment of debt, including interest, and may include direct 
financing of capital expenditure.

7.08 Underspend: when referring to expenditure the actual expenditure 
incurred is less than budget. Shown as a –ve. When referring to income 
the actual income achieved exceeds the budget. Shown as a –ve.

7.09 Variance: difference between latest budget and actual income or 
expenditure. Can be to date if reflecting the current or most up to date 
position or projected, for example projected to the end of the month or 
financial year.

7.10 Virement: the transfer of budget provision from one budget head to 
another. Virement decisions apply to both revenue and capital expenditure 
heads, and between expenditure and income, and may include transfers 
from contingency provisions. Virements may not however be approved 
between capital and revenue budget heads.

















































CABINET MEETING

Date of Meeting Tuesday, 19 January 2016 

Report Subject Parking Provision in Talacre

Cabinet Member Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Environment

Report Author Chief Officer (Streetscene and Transportation)

Type of Report Operational

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Talacre is an important element of the visitor economy in Flintshire for day visitors 
and in particular due to the concentration of caravan parks in the area. The beach in 
Talacre is popular with Flintshire residents and draws visitors from a wide catchment 
area. Parking provision in the village however is not adequate to cope with demand 
and this impacts on business vitality, the experience of visitors and the quality of life 
of local people.

The report provides a summary of the processes followed to date in tackling the 
parking problems in Talacre and recommends future actions to alleviate the parking 
pressure in the village, recognising that options for parking in the village are limited 
by the wildlife importance of most of the surrounding land.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 That Cabinet approves the proposed plan for providing improved parking in 
Talacre.



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE BACKGROUND ISSUES TO CAR PARKING IN 
TALACRE

1.01 Talacre is an important contributor to the tourism economy in Flintshire. The 
2009 Masterplan stated that “Talacre and Gronant occupy a unique position 
in the county’s tourism offer, being the only significant beach areas and close 
to the major conurbations of the North West.” (Hyder Consulting 2009). The 
tourism economy of Flintshire is dominated by the caravan park 
accommodation base which is predominantly located in the far north west of 
the County.  The caravan parks in Gronant and Talacre have seen major 
investment over the years and offer a very high quality experience to visitors. 
The beach at Talacre draws visitors from a wide catchment area and is 
extensively used by local people. It is also a popular and iconic location for 
photography and filming.

1.02 The visitor experience in Talacre and Gronant, though, does not match the 
quality of the accommodation base. The 2009 Masterplan was 
commissioned to set out an ambitious long term vision for the area to 
improve its visitor appeal and to help to resolve the longstanding conflicts 
between the needs of visitors, businesses, local people and wildlife 
conservation.

1.03 Parking was identified by the stakeholders in Talacre as the most pressing 
issue in the village. The majority of visitors use the beach car park throughout 
the year but this is subject to flooding and when this coincides with peak 
visitor numbers parking demand massively outstrips supply. Visitors park in 
every available space in the village, causing considerable inconvenience to 
local people and choking the narrow roads so that vehicle flows are impeded. 
Visitors face long queues to enter the village to find no available parking and 
then again long waits to leave again. This has a major negative impact on 
the visitor perceptions of Flintshire, on local people and on the viability of the 
businesses in the village. Total parking provision in the village in 2009 was 
429 spaces as 160 spaces had already been lost from the beach car park.



1.04 The 2009 Masterplan set out a wide range of suggested improvements in 
Talacre and Gronant to improve their appeal to visitors. The study gave 
particular emphasis to seeking solutions to the parking issues in the area. A  
wide range of parking options were considered but there were a number of 
constraints:

• The Council owns very little land in and around the village; the majority is 
privately owned, in particular by ENI.

• Most of the land around the village is legally protected for wildlife by Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW) and includes areas protected under international 
law.

• The beach car park is managed by NRW and is subject to gradual 
reduction over time as natural processes regenerate the site and salt 
marsh and sand dunes re-colonise.

The Council, after securing external funding and after a lengthy period of 
negotiation with ENI and NRW, was able to develop a 150 space overspill 
car park in the village which is available for a period of ten years. This came 
into operation early in 2015.

1.05 To alleviate the pressures on the village on busy days it is proposed that:

1. The Lighthouse car park is leased from its owners, extended to include 
the Council owned car park adjacent to the site and managed by the 
Council to maximise parking availability

2. Agreement is sought with the Talacre Community Centre Trust to use the 
land to the rear of the building for parking.

3. An agreement is made with NRW and ENI for the Council to manage the 
hardstanding area at the entrance to the beach car park 

4. Small scale maintenance work is undertaken on the beach car park to 
maximise availability during the year.

5. That a Traffic Regulation Order is put in place to regulate on-street 
parking, reduce congestion on busy days, and alleviate problems for 
residents. The provision of such a traffic order cannot be accommodated 
without the providing some alternative off road parking facilities. In the 
event that the above agreements cannot be made, the Traffic Order will 
need to be reconsidered.

It is expected that subject to the various agreements that these measures 
will be put in place before the summer of 2016.



1.06 The proposed plan for parking provides 415 spaces as follows:

• Overspill car park on Gamfa Wen (already in place) - 150 spaces.
• Lighthouse Inn car park leased from owners and existing Council car park  

- 60 spaces.
• Hard standing area at entrance to beach car park (subject to closure due 

to flooding) - 35 spaces.
• Land to the rear of community centre - 70 spaces.
• A portion of the beach car park is still available for visitor use although it is 

subject to closure due to flooding and will reduce in size over time as the 
natural habitat regenerates - 100 spaces

The parking situation in Talacre will continue to be monitored and an ongoing 
dialogue will be maintained with ENI and NRW to find further long-term 
alternative solutions as the beach car park reduces in size.

1.07 As the proposed charges for car parking in Talacre are above the levels 
charged in most other towns in Flintshire, the local community will share 
some of the financial benefit, in line with the Councils parking strategy. The 
contribution can be used to improve visitor infrastructure in the area.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 There are a number of costs associated with the parking proposals outlined 
above:
• Improvements to Lighthouse Inn car park to maximise capacity and install 

parking ticket machines. 
• Improvements to the beach car park. 
• Improvements to the rear of the community centre (once agreement has 

been reached with organization operating the centre)
• Installation of parking ticket machines. 
• Advertising of off street parking place order and on street TRO, including 

signing and lining works.
• Cleaning and maintenance of car park areas and parking enforcement. 

The costs will be offset by income from annual parking revenues.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Consultation has taken place with the Cabinet Member, Ward Member, 
Natural Resources Wales, ENI.

3.02 Consultations are on-going with the group that hold the long term lease for 
the community centre to gain agreement to the proposals.



3.03 A local publicity event will be held in the village in January to allow local 
businesses and the local community to comment on the proposals.

3.04 Further consultation will be required to take place when the Traffic 
Regulation Order for on-street parking is developed.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The sustainability of the proposed parking provision in Talacre is subject to:

1. The beach car park remaining in operation for a number of further years. 
This is subject, though, to unpredictable natural processes such a major 
flooding event, which could render it permanently unavailable.

2. Levels of parking use matching the estimates used. The estimates of 
demand can fluctuate greatly and are very weather dependent.

3.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 None.

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Talacre and Gronant Masterplan 2009, Hyder Consulting.

Contact Officers: Ruth Cartwright Civil Parking and Environmental 
Enforcement Manager / Niall Waller Enterprise and Regeneration Manager
Telephone: 01352 704796 / 01352 702137
E-mail: ruth.cartwright@flintshire.gov.uk  / niall.waller@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 ENI Liverpool Bay Operating Company Limited (ENI): the company 
operating the gas terminal at Point of Ayr in Talacre.

Natural Resources Wales (NRW): a Welsh Assembly sponsored body, 
created in 2013, to safeguard the environment and natural resources of 
Wales

mailto:ruth.cartwright@flintshire.gov.uk
mailto:niall.waller@flintshire.gov.uk




EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS – DECISIONS TAKEN

Organisational Change 
 Revision of Records Office Fees and Charges

To approve minor changes to charges at the Records Office including 
photocopying and reproduction fees.  These increases are in line with charging 
elsewhere and will make a minor difference to overall finance of the Records 
Office.

Organisational Change
 Museum Accreditation 

To approve a one year extension to the existing Museum Service Collections 
Management Framework and Forward Plan to enable Mold and Buckley 
Museums to continue as fully accredited within the national Museum 
Accreditation Scheme.

Organisational Change
 Leisure Services – Tariff / Price List 2016

The average price increase for 2016 across all Leisure Services’ activities is 
1.8%.  Spa charges are not included in the tariff; they are revised as necessary 
in line with industry norms.  Leisure Services’ tariff runs in accordance with the 
calendar year rather than the financial year.

Copies of the Delegated Powers reports are on deposit in the Team Manager’s 
Room, Committee Services.





FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME ITEMS
COUNCIL, CABINET, AUDIT AND OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY

JANUARY 2016 TO JUNE 2016

COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

January

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

6 January 2016 Education and Youth School Organisational 
Change – Ysgol Maes Edwin
To consult with the Committee 
on the outcome of the 
consultation process for school 
organisational change at Ysgol 
Maes Edwin 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

6 January 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

School Organisational 
Change – Ysgol Llanfynydd
To consult with the Committee 
on the outcome of the 
consultation process for school 
organisational change at Ysgol 
Llanfynydd 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

6 January 2016 Education and Youth Self-evaluation on education 
services
To update Members on overall 
service performance. 

Operational Cabinet Member 
for Education



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

6 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Education & Youth)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Education 

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

14 January 2016 Finance Medium Term Financial 
Strategy
To receive a verbal update on 
the progress of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy for 
2015 - 2018 

Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

14 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Provisional Local 
Government Settlement
To enable the Committee to 
comment on the outline 
response to the Provisional 
Local Government Settlement 
which is to be presented to 
Cabinet at its meeting on 19th 
January. 

Strategic Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Organisational 
Change Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

11 January 2016 Organisational Change Medium Term Libraries Plan : 
Hope, Mynydd Isa and 
Saltney Libraries
To comment on the feasibility 
of Community Asset Transfers 
for these libraries 

Organisational 
Change Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

11 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Q2 - Mid Year Improvement 
Plan Monitoring Report 
(Organisational Change)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring. 

Organisational 
Change Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

11 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Organisational Change)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the 
Organisational Change 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

12 January 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Strategic Housing and 
Regeneration Project 
(SHARP)
To seek Members’ support on 
the first phase Housing 
schemes tenure and size mix 
and funding arrangements.



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

12 January 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Flintshire Business Week 
2015 (FBW15)
To report on the outcomes of 
Flintshire Business Week 

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

12 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Community 
& Enterprise Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

13 January 2016 Streetscene and 
Transportation

Public Conveniences
To update Members of the 
Scrutiny Committee on the final 
stage of the Public 
Convenience Review. 

Deputy Leader of 
the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

13 January 2016 Streetscene and 
Transportation

Energy at Landfill Sites
To provide details of the 
business case for the solar 
panels on Brookhill and 
Standard Landfill Site. 

Deputy Leader of 
the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

13 January 2016 Streetscene and 
Transportation

Bus Subsidy Proposals
To advise and update Scrutiny 
on the proposed review of 
subsidised bus services and 
outline the proposed approach 
for consulting with local 
communities on the 
development of Community 
Transport 

Deputy Leader of 
the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

13 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Environment)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

14 January 2016 Finance Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2015/16 (Month 7)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 7 and projected forward 
to year-end based on the most 
up to date information 
available. 

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

14 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Corporate Resources)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Corporate 
Resources Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

15 January 2016 Finance Housing Revenue Account 
draft budget and Rent 
Increase
To provide the Committee with 
the draft HRA budget and 
proposed rent increase 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Chief Executive's PROVISIONAL LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT 
SETTLEMENT
To invite the Cabinet to make a 
response to the Welsh 
Government Consultation. 

Strategic Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Chief Executive's COUNCIL FUND REVENUE 
BUDGET 2016/17
1) To present both the first 
stage of the draft budget for 
approval and 
recommendations. 
2) To present strategy to close 
the remaining budget gap for 
consultation. 
3) To provide an updated 
overview of the financial 
forecast for 2017/18 based on 
the provisional Local 
Government settlement. 

Strategic Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Chief Executive's WELSH LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT 
ASSOCIATION (WLGA) 
MANIFESTO / LOCALISM 
2016-21
To invite the Cabinet to 
formally support the Manifesto 
'Locally 2016-21' and the case 
it makes for the future of Local 
Government in Wales. 

Strategic Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme
The requirement to adopt the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
for 2016/2017 by 31st January 
2016. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Review of Discretionary Rate 
Relief
To seek approval on the need 
to carry out a Discretionary 
Rate Relief review. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Education and Youth School Organisation - Ysgol 
Llanfynydd
Report back from consultation 
in accordance with the 
Council’s school organisation 
policy. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Education and Youth School Organisation - Ysgol 
Maes Edwin
Report back from consultation 
in accordance with the 
Council’s school organisation 
policy. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Strategic Housing and 
Regeneration Project 
(SHARP)
To agree the next stages of the 
Council's Strategic Housing 
and Regeneration Programme 
(SHARP). 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Housing

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Organisational Change Medium Term Libraries Plan: 
Hope, Mynydd Isa and 
Saltney Libraries
To assess and determine the 
feasibility of a Community 
Asset Transfer or to decide on 
alternative way forward. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Streetscene and 
Transportation

Parking Provision in Talacre
To seek approval for the 
introduction of a parking 
strategy for Talacre. 

Operational Deputy Leader of 
the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment

Cabinet 19 January 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 7)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 7 and projected forward 
to year-end based on the most 
up to date information 
available. 

Operational Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

19 January 2016 Chief Executive's Council Fund Revenue 
Budget 2016/2017
To provide information on the 
budget process and proposals 
for 2016/17. 

Cabinet Member 
for Education, 
Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

19 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2016/17 Budget for the 
Education & Youth Portfolio
The purpose of this report is to 
present the final draft budget 
proposals for the Education & 
Youth portfolio. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education

Social & Health 
Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

21 January 2016 Social Services Adult Safeguarding Report
To update members on Adult 
Safeguarding Performance and 
current issues 

Social & Health 
Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

21 January 2016 Social Services Extra Care
To receive an update on the 
development of Extra Care 
facilities in Flintshire. 

Cabinet Member 
for Social 
Services

Social & Health 
Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

21 January 2016 Social Services CSSIW Annual Report
To receive a presentation from 
CSSIW on their findings 

Cabinet Member 
for Social 
Services



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Social & Health 
Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

21 January 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Social & Health Care)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Social & 
Health Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Flintshire County 
Council

26 January 2016 Chief Executive's LOCAL GOVERNMENT BILL
To inform a debate on the 
Local Government Bill and 
agree Flintshire's response to 
Welsh Government. 

Flintshire County 
Council

26 January 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme
The requirement to adopt the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
for 2016/2017 by 31st January 
2016. 

Flintshire County 
Council

26 January 2016 CHANGE OF COMMUNITY 
COUNCIL NAME
For Council to consider a 
request from Leeswood 
Community Council to change 
its name to Leeswood & 
Pontblyddyn Community 
Council 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Flintshire County 
Council

26 January 2016 APPROVAL OF DRAFT 
LICENSING POLICY 
CONSULTATION 2016-2020
For Members to consider any 
consultation responses and 
approve the Draft Licensing 
Policy for 2016-2020 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Finance Statements of Accounts 
2014/15 – Action Plan
To provide the Audit 
Committee with the Flintshire’s 
response to the Wales Audit 
Office Audit of 2014/15 
accounts. 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Governance CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
REPORT
To agree the annual update of 
the Code of Corporate 
Governance. To agree the 
process for preparing the 
Annual Governance Statement 
for 2015/16. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Governance EXTERNAL REGULATORS 
AND INSPECTIONS 
REPORTS
To consider the annual reports 
issued by external regulators 
and inspectors. 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Governance CONSULTANTS
To present tot he Committee 
the results of a review of 
consultancy. 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Chief Executive's Mid year Improvement Plan 
strategic risks
To review the Improvement 
Plan 2015/16 mid year 
strategic risks. 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Governance PAYROLL FOLLOW UP
To present to the Committee 
the results of a follow up review 
of the Payroll report 2014/15 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Governance INTERNAL AUDIT 
PROGRESS REPORT
To present to the Committee 
an update on the progress of 
the Internal Audit Department. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Governance ACTION TRACKING
To inform the Committee of the 
actions resulting from points 
raised at previous Audit 
Committee meetings. 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Governance FORWARD WORK 
PROGRAMME
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme for the Audit 
Committee. 

Audit Committee 27 January 2016 Finance Treasury Management 
2015/16 Mid Year Report, 
Quarterly Update and 
2016/17 Strategy
To present the draft Treasury 
Management Strategy 2016/17 
for review prior to the 
Committee recommending its 
approval to Cabinet. To provide 
Members with a quarterly 
update 

February



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

5 February 2016 Education and Youth School Organisational 
Change –  Ysgol Mornant 
Gwespyr Picton
To consult with the Committee 
on the outcome of the 
consultation process for school 
organisational change at Ysgol 
Mornant Gwespyr Picton 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

9 February 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Environment)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

10 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Introduction of Council Tax 
Premium for empty and 
second homes
To seek the introduction of a 
local scheme to charge council 
tax premiums for long term 
empty property and second 
homes. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

10 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Supporting People - Local 
Commissioning Plan
To enable the Committee to 
consider appropriate measures 
to manage reductions within 
the Supporting People 
Programme Grant to protect 
service delivery as much as 
possible 

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

10 February 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Community & Enterprise)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Community 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

11 February 2016 Finance Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2015/16 (Month 8)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 8 and projected forward 
to year-end based on the most 
up to date information 
available. 

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

11 February 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Corporate Resources)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Corporate 
Resources Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Organisational 
Change Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

15 February 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Organisational Change)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the 
Organisational Change 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Education and Youth School Organisation Change 
- Ysgol Mornant Gwespyr 
Picton
School Organisation Change 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Education

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Supporting People - Local 
Commissioning Plan
To consider appropriate 
measures to manage 
reductions within the 
Supporting People Programme 
Grant to protect service 
delivery as much as possible. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Housing

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Housing Revenue Account 
Draft Budget and Rent 
Increase
To provide the draft Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) 
Budget and proposed rent 
increase. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Housing



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Vibrant and Viable Places 
Programme 2017 - 2020
To update on the 
implementation of the 2014-17 
programme and seek approval 
for the development of 
proposals for the 2017 - 2020 
programme. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Economic 
Development

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Council Tax & Business Rate 
Statutory Policies
To ratify annual policies for the 
financial year 2016-17 that 
determine discount scheme 
and administrative 
arrangements. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Introduction of Council Tax 
Premium for empty and 
second homes
To seek the introduction of a 
local scheme to charge council 
tax premiums for long term 
empty property and second 
homes 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Economic 
Development



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Purchase of Ex Council 
Stock
To consider proposals and 
criteria for the repurchase of ex 
council property. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Housing

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Flintshire Apprenticeship 
Academy
To update on progress of the 
Flintshire Apprenticeship 
Academy 

Operational Cabinet Member 
for Housing

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Organisational Change Alternative Delivery Model 
consideration of final 
Business Plans
Decisions on final Alternative 
Delivery Model business plans 
and any council wide 
considerations that need 
addressing prior to completion. 

Strategic Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Streetscene and 
Transportation

Energy at Landfill Sites
To provide the business case 
for the solar panels on Brookhill 
and Standard Landfill Site. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Waste 
Strategy, Public 
Protection and 
Leisure



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 8)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 8 and projected forward 
to year-end based on the most 
up to date information 
available. 

Operational Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Finance Treasury Management Mid-
Year Report 2015/16
To present to Members the 
draft Treasury Management 
Mid-Year Report for 2015/16 
for recommendation to Council. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Finance Prudential Indicators 2016/17 
to 2018/19
To present proposals for 
setting a range of Prudential 
Indicators in accordance with 
the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities 
(the Prudential Code). 

Operational

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Finance Minimum Revenue Provision 
- 2016/17 Policy
To present proposals for the 
setting of a prudent Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) for 
the repayment of debt in 
2016/17, as required under the 
Local Authorities (Capital 
Finance and Accounting0 
(Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 ('the 2008 
Regulations). 

Operational



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Finance Treasury Management 
Strategy 2016/17
To present to Members the 
draft Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2016/17 for 
recommendation to Council. 

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Governance ADMINISTRATION REVIEW
To consider an establishment 
structure for generic 
administrative posts and to 
note the savings achieved by 
the administrative review. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Social Services Wellbeing 
Act
To seek Cabinet endorsement 
of the Council’s response to the 
Social Services and Wellbeing 
Act 2014 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Social 
Services



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 16 February 2016 Social Services Children's Services 
Restructure and Inspection 
Action Plan
To seek Cabinet approval for 
the Children's Services 
Restructure in response to the 
Care and Social Services 
Inspectorate Wales 

Operational Cabinet Member 
for Social 
Services

Flintshire County 
Council

16 February 2016 Finance Treasury Management Mid-
Year Report 2015/16
To present to Council the 
Treasury Management Mid-
Year Report for 2015/16 for 
approval. 

Flintshire County 
Council

16 February 2016 Finance Treasury Management 
Strategy 2016/17
To present to Council the 
recommendations of Cabinet in 
relation to Treasury 
Management Strategy for 
2016/17. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Flintshire County 
Council

16 February 2016 LOCAL GOVERNMENT BILL
To inform a debate on the 
Local Government Bill and 
agree Flintshire's response to 
Welsh Government 

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

25 February 2016 Education and Youth Welsh Education Strategic 
Plan
To consider the Councils 
response to the Welsh 
Education Strategic Plan 

Cabinet Member 
for Education

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

25 February 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Education & Youth)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Education & 
Youth Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 

March



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Social & Health 
Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

3 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Social & Health Care)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Social & 
Health Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Organisational 
Change Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

14 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Q3 Improvement 
Plan Monitoring 
(Organisational Change)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring 

Organisational 
Change Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

14 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Organisational Change)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the 
Organisational Change 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Audit Committee 16 March 2016 Finance Wales Audit Office – Audit 
Plan 2016
To provide the Audit 
Committee with the Wales 
Audit Office - Audit Plan for 
2016, 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Audit Committee 16 March 2016 Finance Treasury Management 
2015/16 Update
To provide members with a 
quarterly update on matters 
relating to the Council’s 
2015/16 Treasury Management 
Strategy up to the end of 
February 2016. 

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

16 March 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

The Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard (WHQS) - 
Verification in achieving and 
maintaining the Standard : 
next Steps
Development of a Strategy and 
approach to verifying 
achievement of the Welsh 
Housing Quality Standards. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Housing

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

16 March 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Housing (Wales) Act 2014 – 
Homelessness
To review the implementation 
of the Housing (Wales) Act 
2014 and how the Council 
undertakes its new 
homelessness prevention 
statutory duty 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

16 March 2016 Finance Review of Fair Debt Policy
To review the impact of the Fair 
Debt Policy previously 
approved by Cabinet. 

Operational Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

16 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Q3 Improvement 
Plan Monitoring (Community 
& Enterprise)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring 

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

16 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Community & Enterprise)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Community 
& Enterprise Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

17 March 2016 Finance Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2015/16 (Month 9)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 9 and projected forward 
to year-end based on the most 
up to date information available 

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

17 March 2016 Chief Executive's Welsh Language Standards
Advise members of the 
proposed new Welsh 
Language Standards for 
Flintshire and seek 
endorsement of the Council's 
approach. 

Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

17 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Q3 Improvement 
Plan Monitoring (Corporate 
Resources)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

17 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Corporate Resources)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Corporate 
Resources Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

17 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Q3 Improvement 
Plan Monitoring 
(Environment)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring. 

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

17 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Environment)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 22 March 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

The Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard (WHQS) - 
Verification in achieving and 
maintaining the standard : 
next steps
Development of a Strategy and 
approach to verifying 
achievement of the Welsh 
Housing Quality Standards. 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Housing

Cabinet 22 March 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 9)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 9 and projected forward 
to year-end based on the most 
up to date information available 

Operational Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 22 March 2016 Chief Executive's Quarter 3 Improvement Plan 
Monitoring Report
To receive the 2015/16 Quarter 
3 Improvement Plan monitoring 
reports for the period July to 
September 2015. 

Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management

Cabinet 22 March 2016 Finance Capital Programme 2015/16 
(Month 9)
To provide Members with the 
Month 9 (end of December) 
capital programme information 
for 2015/16. 

Operational

Cabinet 22 March 2016 Education and Youth School Admission 
Arrangements 2017
To advise members of the 
outcome of the statutory 
consultation exercise on the 
admission arrangements for 
September 2017 

Operational Cabinet Member 
for Education



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

24 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 
(Education & Youth)
To consider the Forward Work 
Programme of the Education & 
Youth Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Education and 
Youth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

24 March 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Q3 Improvement 
Plan Monitoring (Education & 
Youth)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring. 

April

Social & Health 
Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

14 April 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Q3 Improvement 
Plan Monitoring (Social & 
Health Care)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

14 April 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 10)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 10 and projected 
forward to year-end based on 
the most up to date information 
available. 

Cabinet 19 April 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 10)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 10 and projected 
forward to year-end based on 
the most up to date information 
available 

Operational Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Community and 
Enterprise Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

27 April 2016 Community and 
Enterprise

Purchase of Ex Council 
Stock
To consider proposals and 
criteria for the repurchase of ex 
council properties 

Strategic Cabinet Member 
for Housing

May

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

12 May 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 11)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 11 and projected 
forward to year-end based on 
the most up to date information 
available. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 17 May 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 11)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 11 and projected 
forward to year-end based on 
the most up to date information 
available. 

Operational Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance

June

Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

15 June 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Year End Reporting 
and Data Submission, 
Improvement Plan 
Monitoring & Chief Officer 
Performance Reports 
(Environment)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring. 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

16 June 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGE 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 12)
To provide Members with the 
latest revenue budget 
monitoring information for 
2015/16 for the Council Fund 
and Housing Revenue Account 
based on actual income and 
expenditure as at month (insert 
month no.) and projected 
forward to year-end based on 
the most up to date information 
available 

Corporate 
Resources Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee

16 June 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Year End Reporting 
and Data Submission, 
Improvement Plan 
Monitoring & Chief Officer 
Performance Reports 
(Corporate Resources)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring 



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Cabinet 21 June 2016 Chief Executive's Year End Improvement Plan 
Monitoring Report
To receive the 2015/16 Year 
End Improvement Plan 
monitoring reports for the 
period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 
2016. 

Cabinet Member 
for Corporate 
Management

Cabinet 21 June 2016 Finance REVENUE BUDGET 
MONITORING 2015/16 
(MONTH 12)
To provide the latest revenue 
budget monitoring information 
for 2015/16 for the Council 
Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account based on actual 
income and expenditure as at 
month 12 and projected 
forward to year-end based on 
the most up to date information 
available 

Operational Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance



COMMITTEE MEETING DATE CHIEF OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO

AGENDA ITEM & PURPOSE 
OF REPORT

REPORT TYPE
(Strategic or 
Operational)

(Cabinet only)

PORTFOLIO
(Cabinet only)

Social & Health 
Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

23 June 2016 Overview and Scrutiny 2015/16 Year End Reporting 
and Data Submission, 
Improvement Plan 
Monitoring & Chief Officer 
Performance Reports (Social 
& Health Care)
To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation to 
performance monitoring. 


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 PROVISIONAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT SETTLEMENT
	Enc. 1 for PROVISIONAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT SETTLEMENT CONSULTATION 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)

	5 COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17
	Enc. 1 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 2 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 3 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 4 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 5 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 6 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 7 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 8 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 9 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 10 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)
	Enc. 11 for COUNCIL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17 (TO FOLLOW)

	6 Council Tax Reduction Scheme
	7 Review of Discretionary Rate Relief
	8 WELSH LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (WLGA) MANIFESTO LOCALISM 2016-21
	9 School Organisation - Ysgol Llanfynydd
	Appendix 1 - Compliance Statement
	Appendix 2 - Consultation Report
	V3 Consultation Report Ysgol Llanfynydd
	APPENDIX A Consultation Report Ysgol Llanfynydd (Consultee List)
	Appendix B Minutes Ysgol Llanfynydd Governors and Staff Meeting 23 November 2015
	APPENDIX B Minutes Ysgol Llanfynydd ParentsCarersGuardians Consultation Event without names
	APPENDIX C School Council Feedback
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX C School Council Feedback
	School Council Feedback Batch 1
	School Council Feedback Batch 2
	School Council Feedback Batch 3
	School Council Feedback Batch 4
	School Council Feedback Batch 5
	School Council Batch 1
	School Council Batch 2
	School Council Batch 1
	School Council Batch 1
	School Council Batch 1


	Appendix D Affected Primary Headteachers Chair of Governors Meeting Notes
	APPENDIX E Summary of Issues and Responses Ysgol Llanfynydd V2
	Appendix F Ysgol Llanfynydd
	APPENDIX G - Estyn Response
	APPENDIX G
	Ysgol Llanfynydd Consultation Response.EN

	APPENDIX H - Response from MP & AMs
	APPENDIX I - Governors Responses

	Appendix 3 - Estyn Response
	Appendix 4 - Statutory Proposal Anticipated Timeline
	Appendix 5 - Comments raised by Education and Youth OSC

	10 School Organisation - Ysgol Maes Edwin
	Appendix 1 - Compliance Statement
	Appendix 2 - Consultation Report
	Consultation Report English YME V3 161215
	APPENDIX A Consultation Recipient List
	APPENDIX B Summary of points raised at Consultation Meetings
	APPENDIX b
	APPENDIX B Summary of points raised at Consultation Meetings

	APPENDIX C School Council findings and YME Governors Letter
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX C School Council findings and YME Governors Letter

	APPENDIX D Findings from Meetings with Affected Nearby Schools
	APPENDIX D
	APPENDIX D Findings from Meetings with Affected Nearby Schools

	APPENDIX E Summary of Issues and Responses
	APPENDIX E Summary of Issues and Responses
	APPENDIX E Summary of Issues and Responses

	APPENDIX F Summary of responses to the Standard Response Form
	APPENDIX G Response from Estyn Ysgol Maes Edwin
	APPENDIX G
	APPENDIX G Response from Estyn Ysgol Maes Edwin

	APPENDIX H Assembly Members and Members of Parliament Responses
	APPENDIX H
	APPENDIX H Assembly Members and Members of Parliament Responses

	APPENDIX I Governors Responses
	APPENDIX I
	APPENDIX I Governors Responses


	Appendix 3 - Estyn Response
	Appendix 4 - Statutory Proposal Anticipated Timeline
	Appendix 5 - Comments raised by Education and Youth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	11 Strategic Housing and Regeneration Project (SHARP)
	Enc. 1 for Strategic Housing and Regeneration Project (SHARP)
	COMMISSIONING OBJECTIVES 2014-07-07.vsd
	Page-1


	Enc. 2 for Strategic Housing and Regeneration Project (SHARP)
	Enc. 3 for Strategic Housing and Regeneration Project (SHARP)
	Enc. 4 for Strategic Housing and Regeneration Project (SHARP)
	9 Flintshire's Strategic Housing and Regeneration Programme (SHARP)
	Enc. 4 for Flintshire's Strategic Housing and Regeneration Programme (SHARP)


	Enc. 5 for Strategic Housing and Regeneration Project (SHARP)

	12 Medium Term Libraries Plan: Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney Libraries
	Enc. 1 for Medium Term Libraries Plan: Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney Libraries
	Enc. 2 for Medium Term Libraries Plan: Hope, Mynydd Isa and Saltney Libraries

	13 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2015/16 (MONTH 7)
	Enc. 1 for REVENUE BUDGE MONITORING 2015/16 (MONTH 7)

	14 Parking Provision in Talacre
	15 EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS
	 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - COUNTY COUNCIL, CABINET, AUDIT AND OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - FOR INFORMATION



